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Letter from the Chairwoman
of the Board
During 2018, most of the Board of Directors’
efforts aimed at implementing a new and updated
management and organization structure for ENAP,
a company with over 3,000 workers, which has
contributed to the energy development of our country
for over 73 years.

This year, we have sought to internalize deeply about
the company, identify its value proposition, which
should be embodied in its Business Plan and the
principles that should guide its actions. To carry out this
vision, we set up new Directors’ Committees in which
we have reviewed the best Corporate Governance
standards, strengthening the way to maintain effective
channels for the company’s strategic management. We
have aimed at identifying gaps, reviewing procedures,
responding to the requirements of different oversight
bodies, conducting a series of audits of certain
critical processes, and collecting the suggestions
and observations made by the Comptroller General
of the Republic, to make the corrections that allow
us to move towards an efficient business model that
generates a value for the country.

The challenge has been to collaborate to ensure ENAP’s
long-term sustainability and to project its strategic role.
Therefore, it is essential to implement, permanently and
progressively, the best practices of management and
corporate governance. We know that all the demands
of an increasingly complex environment, which
requires more and better controls, more transparency
in the decision-making, better corporate responsibility
practices and, in particular, greater aggregation of
public value, besides the efficient use of its resources,
apply to state-owned companies, and sometimes with
greater intensity.

Because of this analysis, we consider it necessary to
implement an Expense Containment and Investment
Review Plan, to reduce the very high debt burden
carried by ENAP and ensure its viability for the future.
During this period, we also had to face a very hard
cycle in terms of oil price variability and a drastic drop
in refining margins and the international price of gas.
Our analysis included a painful but necessary staffing
change, which also pointed to a reduction in the

Every change, even for the better, generates
uncertainty. We have made the road by walking, seeking
to take care of the good running of the company while
using the spaces to strengthen our management with
the best practices.
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number of hierarchical lines within the company, in
management and headships, to speed up decisionmaking and bring management closer to the fieldwork.
In addition, as Board of Directors, we had to tackle
the company’s management in the middle of one
of the deepest social and environmental crises in
the country in recent years, regarding the situation
in Quintero. In this matter, we believe that despite
the events that occurred did not originate in ENAP’s
actions, our commitment is to operate safely and
with the highest respect to the environment, actively
collaborating with plans that seek to solve the problems
of the neighbors in that area.

Although the projections for 2019 are better, they
show that the company’s situation will continue to
be complex. Therefore, we must focus our efforts on
increasing the productivity of each of the Business
Lines, and on strengthening the planning and
evaluation process of the investments necessary to
ensure ENAP’s operational continuity.
We hope to advance together in the long-term
work that aims to provide Chile with a logistics that
guarantees the supply of fuels in every corner of
the country. This implies strengthening our port
capacity, contributing a greater effort in efficiency
and technology, reinforcing our network of pipelines,
improving our storage capacity and strengthening
distribution logistics, which must be managed from
the existing digital potential.

This year has been challenging, but today we have a
clear roadmap to move forward with all the workers
of this great company. Our priority is for ENAP to be
efficient, to generate value for the country through
a new business model, that is under the standards
of a state-owned company, whose Corporate
Governance is of world-class level in accountability
and transparency.

Future tasks are urgent. Fuel consumption is growing
at an annual rate of 3%, which ensures that the national
infrastructure will be insufficient in a very short time.
ENAP is a company called to take charge of this reality.
Chile’s energy security is in our hands. I invite you to
continue working so that ENAP becomes a source of
value and progress for our country, ensures its energy
autonomy and allows it to integrate with its neighbors
and be part of a successful chain for the supply and
exchange of energy.

We must take on this challenge because ENAP has a
strategic role: to ensure the supply of fuels throughout
the country. The company delivers almost 100% of the
gasoline consumed in the country, 60% of the diesel
and 100% of the natural gas used in Magallanes. And
in this role, we have the duty to get involved in projects
that allow the company to fulfill its task by responding
to demanding profitability filters and maintain the
unavoidable social role that the company plays in the
Magallanes Region, with a clean, reliable supply of gas
for the inhabitants of that area.

Kind regards,

The best proof of ENAP’s support for its status as a
state-owned company is its capitalization for US$400
million in August 2018. In response to this signal, we
must build a sustainable company that is not a burden
on the state.

Loreto Silva Rojas
Chairwoman of ENAP Board of Directors

The savings, efficiency, and austerity efforts begun
in 2018 must continue and be maintained over the
next few years.
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Letter from the
Chief Executive Officer
In August 2018, on taking over ENAP’s management, together with the management team, we
set in motion a shock plan to reduce expenses and
investments significantly and increase production
levels. The cost-saving plan implemented during
the last quarter reached US$39.5 million, reducing
consultancies, services, travel expenses and renegotiating supply, services, and transportation
contracts. In addition, about US$125 million in
investment was reduced for this year, prioritizing
operational continuity, internal safety, and environmental compliance. This effort allowed reducing
the cash deficit by almost US$165 million.

We present ENAP’s Annual Report in which we give
an account of the operation and management of
the company in the fiscal year 2018. In the following
pages, you will find a summary of the main issues
and activities that focused the attention of our
board of directors, executives, and collaborators.
2018 was a complex year for ENAP, given the adverse international context in which, despite high
crude oil costs, there was a drastic drop in the
refining margins, even reaching negative margins
with gasoline caused by inventory surpluses.
Not only the external context has been unfavorable
for the company. The company faces a high level
of indebtedness, caused by expenses that have
been increasing above the level of activity and
investments in recent years, with returns have
been below expectations. This situation has led
to negative results and significant cash deficits
that have further leveraged ENAP.

Also, in August, we received from the Treasury the
capitalization of US$400 million, which was used
entirely to repay debt.
In terms of structure, we also optimized staffing,
improving efficiency, streamlining decision-making, and ﬂattening the organizational structure in
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search of higher levels of productivity. The optimization plan, started in December 2018, involved the
departure of 610 employees, both from the plant
and from temporary services and fee contracts,
which means a decrease of 11% in the company’s
own staff, but of 21% in levels of leadership, directors, and managers, together with a significant
reduction in temporary services.

in the implementation of ENAP’s new corporate
governance, which allows us to have an autonomous and professional Board of Directors, under
the requirements of modern management and
international good practices.
In addition, it is noteworthy that two directors of
the board, made up of seven members, are women,
and the fact that almost 40% of the first line is led
by female managers.

In the last quarter of 2018, and under the IFRS
standards, the economic value of ENAP’s productive assets was reviewed, together with the
external auditors, recognizing a lower value in
relation to what was recorded for US$204 million.
This devaluation explains mostly the loss of US$231
million that the company had in 2018.

The establishment of this new governance was
also accompanied by creating a new shareholders’
meeting integrated by the ministers of Finance
and Energy, and by the approval of a Business
and Development Plan for ENAP, which must be
updated each year.

The lower value mentioned above, affected assets
in the Exploration and Production area, where it
reﬂects the decrease in the price of gas that began
to be produced in 2017, which was maintained
throughout 2018 and is not expected to recover
in the medium term. The lower value is also because of the review of gas claims against ENAP
by companies in the Magallanes area.

Other relevant milestones are related to the good
results of the hydrocarbon exploration and production line in its operations in Ecuador and Egypt,
the inauguration of a new loading yard in our San
Fernando plant, and the placement of a US$680
million bond in the international market, with an
issue term of 11 years, which ratified the confidence
of banking, and the support of investors, in the
company’s optimization plan.

All these decisions are part of a plan whose focus
is to advance towards a model that allows ENAP to
become sustainable over time, being responsible
with the company, the community, and its workers.
Therefore, we will maintain in the following years
this effort of austerity, efficiency, and prioritization
of expenses and investments with strict criteria
of profitability, productivity and due care for the
community. We have excellent professionals and
collaborators in all areas of the company and we
believe that by maintaining these principles and
leveraging a modern and competitive business
model, we will contribute in a very positive way
to the country’s energy matrix.

We have also maintained a correct safety performance. As a management, we know that it
is not possible to project an efficient and orderly
company if we do not get all of us who work in it
back safely to our homes.
During 2018, ENAP consolidated a decrease in its
accident rates and reached a historic Frequency
Index of 1.70, which meant 15% compared with
2017, showing that the company is moving in the
right direction.
ENAP distributes 90% of the gasoline and 60%
of the diesel consumed in Chile. We have a great
challenge and responsibility, a situation that forces
us to streamline our logistics chain, our industrial

However, it is also possible to recognize a series
of advances during the year that helps to project
the company into the future. In 2018 we took part
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operations, the Back Office processes and business
support, all of this framed by rigorous internal control processes and robust corporate governance
that makes ENAP a self-sustainable company that
takes care of people and the environment.
The environment has changed hastily and is increasingly aggressive, which forces ENAP to keep
up with these challenges and to modernize its
business model to become a competitive and a
winning company.
Our commitment is and will continue to be to transform ENAP into an efficient and profitable company
that contributes to the country and acts for the
benefit of all Chileans.
Kind regards,

Andrés Roccatagliata Orsini
ENAP Chief Executive Officer
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Milestones in Management
2018
JANUARY 5
CGR Approves Financing for Wind Farm
The Comptroller General of the Republic (CGR)
approved financing for the construction of ENAP’s
Magallanes Wind Farm, an initiative that will
provide 10 MW of power for electricity generation,
equivalent to the annual consumption of 6,000
homes. The entity allowed the use of US$5 million
from the National Fund for Regional Development
(FNDR) as the Regional Government’s contribution
to the initiative and stressed that it will benefit
close to 130,000 residents. It also outlined that
this is “an investment of social interest for the
entire region,” since it will allow the development
of non-conventional renewable energy (NCRE)
and, as requested by the people from Magallanes,
the diversification of the regional energy matrix,
increasing the sufficiency and security of the
electricity system, reducing pollutant emissions
and stabilizing tariffs for consumers.

JANUARY 9
Comptroller’s Office authorized ENAP’s
Capitalization for US$400 Million
The Of fice of the Comptroller General of
the Republic noted the decree allowing the
capitalization of US$400 million to ENAP by
the Ministry of Finance. Thus, the delivery of
resources was ready to be materialized through
one or more deposits in a term that may not
exceed August 6, 2018. This is part of what is
established in the new Corporate Governance
Law that came into effect on December 1, 2017,
after getting full support in Congress, as a result
of the joint work of the Ministry of Energy, ENAP’s
Administration and the union organizations. This
law considers the delivery of these resources
within 12 months of its implementation, and the
establishment of a board of directors composed of
seven members: two appointed by the President
of the Republic, four that will come from proposals
of the Public Senior Management System (ADP)
and one elected by the company’s workers. The
aim is to promote corporate governance under
the requirements of modern management and
international standards.
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JANUARY 23
ENAP Inaugurated a New Loading Yard for the
Distribution of Fuels in San Fernando
ENAP, as part of the Strategic Plan 2014-2025,
which establishes among its main objectives the
strengthening of fuel supply logistics, inaugurated
a new loading yard in San Fernando, VI Region.
The works considered a total investment of
approximately US$5.5 million, within 18 months,
and the participation of 65 workers for the
construction. Until now, ENAP did not have fuel
loading facilities at its San Fernando plant, only
one arm for eventual diesel loads. This new loading
yard, which incorporates ENAP’s current corporate
image, considers new design technologies that
strengthen safety and optimize operation, such
as the two multi-product loading islands with an
additive system and five arms, which allow both
the simultaneous loading of products and the
mixing of 93 and 97 octane gasoline.

MARCH 16
ENAP Incorporated Two New Tankers and
Strengthened its Logistics Chain
With the official opening ceremony of the “Brío”
oil tanker, carried out at the Port Terminal of
Talcahuano, ENAP and Compañía Marítima Chilena
S.A. (CMC), a subsidiary of Empresas Navieras,
(Urenda Group), sealed a new phase in the
strengthening of their commercial relationship.
Lately, ENAP also added the ship Pioneros. Both
ships will strengthen the process of fuel distribution
and crude oil imports and will increase the ﬂeet
to four Handymax-type vessels (bulk cargo ships
with a capacity of less than 50,000 tons), which,
because of their size, allow access to a larger
number of ports and supply more efficiently and
safely a larger number of clients.
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APRIL 4
ENAP and YPF Inaugurated Offshore Project
in Argentina
The Area Magallanes Incremental Project (PIAM),
operated by ENAP in partnership with YPF, and in
which both companies invested US$354 million,
was inaugurated officially at a ceremony held in
Faro Vírgenes, south of the province of Santa
Cruz. The project aims at increasing substantially
natural gas and associated crude oil production
from the deposit, at the eastern mouth of the Strait
of Magellan, on the Argentine side. From the startup of the PIAM, production increased from 2.4
million m3 of gas per day to over 4 million m3 per
day. This involves a 60%-increase in the production
of gas from the deposit, and 25% in the production
of associated crude oil, which goes from about 800
to 1,000 m3 per day. As part of the investment plan
carried out during 18 months, in which over 1,000
people took part in the work’s peak, one of the key
stages of the project was the laying of a pipeline
of 18 kilometers on the seabed from the coast of
Faro Vírgenes to the AM2 platform. Along with this,
new pipelines were built between the platforms
and various modifications were made to them.

APRIL 26
ENAP Holds its First Shareholders’ Meeting
Led by the Minister of Finance, Felipe Larraín, and
the Minister of Energy, Susana Jiménez, ENAP held
its first shareholders’ meeting within the framework
of the new corporate governance that governs the
state-owned company. In the session, the Financial
Statements and the Annual Balance Sheet at the
end of 2017 were approved and Deloitte, selected
through a public tender, was appointed as the
external auditing company. Along with this, the
Shareholders Meeting defined the working method
for the coming months, including the review and
adjustments to the 2018-2022 Business Plan of
the state-owned company. Law Nº21.025, which
established a new corporate government for the
state-owned company, came into force in December
2017. This regulation reduced the number of directors
from eight to seven, as the Minister of Energy ceased
to be part of the Board, and the representatives of
trade associations, but keeping the representatives
of the executive branch. The aim of the Corporate
Governance Law is to professionalize the structure
of the board of directors, preventing decision-making
to be inﬂuenced by political cycles.
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JULY 18
Ministers of Finance and Energy Approved
ENAP’s Business and Development Plan
After months of hard work by ENAP’s Board of
Directors and the different corporate managements,
the company’s shareholders, represented by the
Minister of Energy, Susana Jiménez, and the
Minister of Finance, Felipe Larraín, approved
ENAP’s Business and Development Plan (BDP) for
the five-year period 2018-2022. This document,
reviewed by the board of directors as part of
the new Corporate Governance that rules the
company, considers a portfolio of investments and
initiatives for an amount of about US$3,500 million,
making up the roadmap that will guide ENAP for
the next five years. The approval of this plan allows
the company to have a clear strategy to become
a profitable, modern company that generates a
value for the country. This roadmap is part of
the Strategic Plan defined by ENAP until 2025,
establishing the main guidelines and challenges
to be met by each Business Line.

JULY 24
ENAP Sells Pampa Del Castillo Block in
Argentina
Province of Chubut’s Provincial Government approved
the operation through which ENAP Argentina sells
its participation in the Pampa del Castillo block, a
deposit it had been operating since 2001. The sale
took place after months of analysis and negotiations
with the Argentine company CAPEX S.A., which
acquired 95% of the Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra
deposit, in the Province of Chubut, in the south of the
trans-Andean country. The remaining 5% of the Block
will remain in the hands of Petrominera, a subsidiary
of CAPEX. The operation, in which the Argentine
company acquired almost the entire exploitation
concession for a price of US$33 million, is part of
the Strategic Plan developed by ENAP’s Exploration
and Production Line in the neighboring country,
which seeks to strengthen its productive capacities,
increasing its competitiveness and the volumes of
hydrocarbons it produces in that country.
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AUGUST 3
Government Approves ENAP’s Capitalization
for US$400 Million
The Minister of Finance, Felipe Larraín, announced
the approval of a US$400 million capitalization for
ENAP, thus complying with the commitments made
in the new Corporate Governance Law and giving a
clear signal of support to the state-owned company
so it can continue to improve its financial situation.
The resources contributed by this capitalization will
repay part of the company’s debt and to improve
the company’s financial profile. With this, ENAP will
also reach a net worth of more than US$1.2 billion,
a figure over 14 times higher than that of 2012,
when it was only US$83 million. This capitalization
is also a strong signal of support for ENAP as a key
company for Chile’s energy development.

AUGUST 6
Andrés Roccatagliata Took Over as ENAP’s
Chief Executive Officer
On Monday, August 6, Andrés Roccatagliata Orsini,
business engineer, began his term as ENAP’s
new chief executive officer. The executive, with
a long career in the financial field and in business
management, was appointed to the position by
the Board of Directors of the company, after a
search and selection process carried out by the
consultancy Seminarium. Roccatagliata was
the chief executive officer of Ripley for almost
a decade. At the time of being elected as chief
executive officer of ENAP, he was vice president
of Banco Ripley in Chile and Peru. He served for
over 20 years in Banco Santander. His main mission
will be to execute the Development and Business
Plan (PDN) to 2022 that establishes ENAP as an
essential company for Chile’s energy development.
The executive took over from Marcelo Tokman,
who served for four years.

16
ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

OCTOBER 30
ENAP Placed US$680 Million in Bonds in the
International Market
ENAP closed a US$680 million bond placement in
the international market in New York. The placement
rate was 5.261% with a spread of 215 basis points
above the reference base rate (10-year Treasury
Bonds), while the cover rate was 5.25%. The term of
this issue is for 11 years, which reﬂects the market’s
confidence in ENAP. Bank of America Merrill Lynch,
Citigroup and Scotiabank acted as placement
agents. According to the state-owned company,
the funds acquired in this placement will extend
the average life of its debt, aiming at the financial
strengthening of the company. The result reﬂects
the international market’s confidence in ENAP, in its
new corporate governance, and investors’ support
for the company’s optimization plan, which aims
to reduce costs, increase productivity and efficient
cash and investment management, objectives that
have been promoted strongly by management and
the Board of Directors.

SEPTEMBER 14
ENAP Appoints New Corporate Managers and
Creates a New Management
ENAP made appointments in its corporate
management with the purpose of strengthening
and advancing in the achievement of its objectives
as a company, and in line with the Strategic Plan
for 2025. The following professionals joined the
company and report to the Chief Executive Officer.
Pablo Sufán González, assumed as Corporate
Manager of Refining and Commercialization
(R&C); Denisse Abudinén Butto, rejoined ENAP as
Corporate Manager of Exploration and Production
(E&P); Andrés León Schleyer, leads the Human
Resources Corporate Management; Jacqueline
Saquel Mediano, leads the Strategic Planning and
Control Management; Tatiana Munro Cabezas,
joined the organization as Corporate Legal
Manager; and Julio Aranis Vargas, until then E&P
Manager, assumed as Supply Chain Corporate
Manager.
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The Company
COMPANY PROFILE AND STRUCTURE
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) is a stateowned company whose purpose is the exploration,
production, and sales of hydrocarbons and their
derivatives; and the production, transportation, and
sales of energy and electric power. ENAP has activities
both in Chile and abroad, through international
subsidiaries in Argentina, Ecuador, and Egypt.

and Pipelines Directorate (DAO, Dirección de
Almacenamiento y Oleoductos).
Meanwhile, the Gas and Energy (G&E) Business
Line, created in August 2014, is in charge of the gas
business and some projects of Non-Conventional
Renewable Energy (NCRE), such as the Cerro Pabellón
Geothermal Power Plant, where ENAP participates as
a minority partner. It also has the mission of promoting
a greater presence of gas in the country’s energy
matrix, according to the Energy Agenda promoted
by the Government of Chile.

In Chile, it operates through three Business Lines: E&P,
R&C, and G&E. The Exploration and Production (E&P)
business line is responsible for managing the search
for hydrocarbons and its production and is in charge
of bidding and signing Special Oil Operation Contracts
(CEOP, Contrato Especial de Operación Petrolera).
These contracts allow the companies in the industry
to associate with ENAP for the exploration of blocks
located in the Magallanes Region. The operations of
the international subsidiary, Sipetrol, which develops
ENAP’s operations abroad, also report to this Business
Line.

In this context, the sale of Liquefied Natural Gas carried
out by ENAP, distributing it from the Quintero Terminal
where it receives the imported volumes, has made
it possible to tackle the challenge of diversifying the
country’s energy matrix.
ENAP operations in Ecuador, Egypt, and Argentina
include the production of crude oil and gas, through
alliances with leading oil companies. ENAP’s corporate
management is based in the Head Office, in Santiago,
Chile.

The Refining and Commercialization (R&C) Business
Line operates the Aconcagua, Bío Bío, and Gregorio
Refineries, where the crude oil is processed into
fuel. This line includes the activities of the Storage
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LEGAL CONSTITUTION: OWNERSHIP
AND CONTROL OF THE COMPANY
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo is owned by the
State of Chile. It was incorporated under Law
Nº9.618, promulgated on June 19, 1950, and its
bylaws were approved on October 10, 1950, by
Decree 1,208 of the Ministry of Economy and Trade.
It operates as a commercial company, under
public law and is administered autonomously. For
this purpose, it has its own patrimony and legal
capacity and relates to the Government through
the Ministry of Finance for budgetary purposes.
Law Nº9.618 has been amended by several
subsequent laws. Decree-Law No.Nº1 of 1986, of
the Ministry of Mining, approved its updated text.
Since the enactment of the Law that modernized
ENAP’s Corporate Governance on July 27, 2017, the
senior management is based on a Board of Directors
made up of seven members: two appointed by the
President of the Republic, four who come from
proposals of the High Public Management System
(ADP, Alta Dirección Pública), and one who will be
elected by the company’s workers. This establishes
a management model without the representation
of unions or integrating State Ministers.
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Brief History

O

n December 29, 1945, a visionary team of
workers from the Corporación de Fomento
de la Producción (CORFO), led by engineer
Eduardo Simián, brought to the surface the first jet
of crude oil in Springhill, Tierra del Fuego.

built a Storage Plant in Maipú (current Storage and
Pipelines Division (DAO)), which was connected
to a multipurpose pipeline to transport crude oil
derivatives throughout the Metropolitan Region.
Another milestone was reached on July 24,
1961, with the creation of the Comando Unido de
Los Trabajadores del Petróleo, the predecessor
of the FENATRAPECH, Federación Nacional de
Trabajadores del Petróleo de Chile. The Comando
Unido de Los Trabajadores del Petróleo was created
from the Unión de Obreros Petrolíferos (oil workers
union) and the Asociación de Empleados de ENAP
(ENAP workers association), and was a leading
organization for all the trade union movements in
Chile, helping oil workers to have a historical view
of the importance of ENAP as a strategic company
for Chile.

The same team that headed Simián later
recommended the creation of a company that
would commercially exploit the oil wells discovered
in the southern zone. Thus, although ENAP was
created formally by the State five years after the
discovery, from its beginnings it already promised
to become a strategic asset for the country.
A few years later, and after forming a strategic
development pole in Magallanes, which included the
production process of liquid fuels and treatment of
gas in small volumes, in Manantiales, the company
was prepared for its next step.

On July 29, 1966, with the start-up of the company’s
second oil refinery, this time in Talcahuano (Hualpén),
and the construction of two storage terminals,
ENAP began its consolidation phase as a company
dedicated to oil exploration and production, and
refining, storage, and commercialization of fuels.
(05-05-2019)

On November 12, 1955, under the presidency of
Carlos Ibáñez del Campo, the Concón Oil Refinery,
today ENAP Aconcagua Refinery, was inaugurated.
Its purpose was to produce fuels on a large scale and
start competing in the commercial and industrial
refining business. After reaching a critical mass
of clients in central Chile in 1959, the company
20
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Since then its growth has been irreversible: the
Logistics business was created in 1981 and ENAP
became a holding company. Later, the company
expanded abroad through Sociedad Internacional
Petrolera S.A., created in May 1990 (now Sipetrol),
and has shown exploratory successes in Ecuador,
Argentina, and Egypt. In 2004, the refineries of
the V and VIII Regions, along with the subsidiary
responsible for the storage of fuels, Emalco, merged
and formed a single company: ENAP Refinerías S.A.

Thus, in recent years ENAP has intervened
exploration wells through hydraulic fracturing to
produce unconventional gas in the Arenal Block in
Tierra del Fuego and El Dorado-Riquelme Block, in
the continental area of Magallanes.
Since 2016, ENAP has also been authorized to
take part in the production, transportation, and
commercialization of energy and electric power,
strengthening its strategic role as a state-owned
energy company, to provide new solutions for the
country’s development.

After an alliance with British Gas (BG), Endesa, and
Metrogas, in October 2009, the liquefied natural gas
terminal, LNG, was inaugurated in Quintero, which
marked a milestone in the ENAP’s development as
a company integrated into the energy sector.

Today, ENAP is a key player for the energy
development of Chile and the territories in which
it operates. Its purpose is to promote a sustainable
energy future. It seeks to take advantage of its
capacity as an articulator or a good coordinator,
connecting the different actors to always develop
the best combination of energies, to promote the
country’s energy development.

In the last decade, the company has carried out
extensive exploratory campaigns to find new oil
and gas reserves in Magallanes, through a policy of
alliances known as special oil operation contracts
(CEOP), which began in 2007.
In 2011, a new stage was completed in using
this mechanism: ENAP, together with Geopark,
Wintershall, and YPF, submitted applications to
the Ministry of Energy for five blocks, two of which
were formalized and became effective on November
2012.
The investments committed in the CEOPs
will increase the hydrocarbon exploration and
production activity in Magallanes. According
to recent studies of hydrocarbon potential, the
development of unconventional hydrocarbon has
great prospects in the region.
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Senior Management
As of December 31, 2018, the members of ENAP’s senior management are:

ENAP BOARD OF DIRECTORS

INTERNAL AUDITS MANAGEMENT

COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

SAFETY AND OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
(HS) CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

CORPORATE AFFAIRS AND
SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

PLANNING AND CONTROL
CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE
CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

HUMAN RESOURCES
CORPORATE MANAGEMENT

LEGAL
CORPORATE COUNSEL

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

ENAP SIPETROL S.A.
(E&P) MANAGEMENT

ENAP SIPETROL
ARGENTINA
MANAGEMENT

ENAP SIPEC
ECUADOR
MANAGEMENT

ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.
(R&C) MANAGEMENT

ENAP SIPETROL
EGYPT
MANAGEMENT

ENAP
MAGALLANES E&P
MANAGEMENT
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GAS AND ENERGY
(G&E) MANAGEMENT

ENAP BÍO BÍO
REFINERY
MANAGEMENT

ENAP ACONCAGUA
REFINERY
MANAGEMENT

JOINING DATE OF ENAP’S SENIOR EXECUTIVES
ID. #

NAME

PROFESSION

JOINING DATE

8.521.864-9

ANDRÉS ROCCATAGLIATA ORSINI BUSINESS ENGINEER

06.08.2018

9.969.428-9

JULIO ARANIS VARGAS

MINING CIVIL ENGINEER

01.10.2018

12.263.321-7

PABLO SUFÁN GONZÁLEZ

INDUSTRIAL CIVIL ENGINEER

08.10.2018

8.288.863-2

YASNA ROSS ROMERO

INDUSTRIAL CIVIL ENGINEER

01.06.2018

8.190.120-1

ANDRÉS LEÓN SCHLEYER

LAWYER

01.10.2018

9.907.068-4

GABRIEL MÉNDEZ SERQUEIRA

LAWYER

15.07.2014

10.354.521-8

TATIANA MUNRO CABEZAS

LAWYER

01.10.2018

6.971.003-4

ARIEL AZAR NÚÑEZ

AUDIT ACCOUNTANT

22.10.2014

6.999.085-1

JUAN PABLO LARRAÍN EDWARDS LAWYER

15.10.2018

11.476.504-K

LEONARDO CANALES MORENO

EXECUTION MINING ENGINEER

02.11.2016

14.168.642-9

DENISSE ABUDINÉN BUTTO

INDUSTRIAL CIVIL ENGINEER

01.10.2018

8.820.053-5

JAQUELINE SAQUEL MEDIANO

BUSINESS ENGINEER

01.10.2018

12.804.555-4

SANDRA CORTÉS CERECEDA

PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT AND AUDITOR

29.09.2017

JOINING DATE OF DIRECTORS
Law Nº21.025, published on August 7, 2017, changes ENAP’s Corporate Governance. In effect, and in
line with OECD recommendations, the number of directors is reduced from eight to seven. Of these
seven members, two are appointed directly by the President of the Republic; four through a public
tender through the Public Senior Management System; and one, proposed by all the company’s workers.
According to this new law, the directors will last four years in their positions and could be reappointed
immediately for a new period, only once.
NAME

DATE JOINED THE BOARD

BOARD SESSION #

MARÍA LORETO SILVA ROJAS

29.03.2018

1160

GONZALO DE LA CARRERA CORREA (*)

29.03.2018

1160

ANA HOLUIGUE BARROS

29.03.2018

1160

RODRIGO AZÓCAR HIDALGO

29.03.2018

1160

CLAUDIO SKÁRMETA MAGRI

29.03.2018

1160

JOSÉ LUIS MARDONES SANTANDER

29.03.2018

1160

MARCOS VARAS ALVARADO (***)

29.03.2018

1160

FERNANDO MASSÚ TARÉ (**)

25.09.2018

1171

Notes: (*) On September 10, 2018, Gonzalo de la Carrera Correa resigned from ENAP’s Board of Directors. (**) Through Supreme Decree
N°112, dated September 13, 2018, the President of the Republic appoints Fernando Massú Taré to replace Gonzalo de la Carrera until April
1, 2022. (***) By Voting Minutes dated February 28, 2018, the company’s workers proposed Marcos Varas Alvarado for the position of labor
director during the period from April 2019 to April 2022.
23
ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Board of Directors
Chairwoman of the Board
María Loreto Silva Rojas
Lawyer
Appointed by the President of the Republic
Id. #: 8.649.929-0

Director
José Luis Mardones Santander
Industrial Civil Engineer
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Id. #: 5.201.915-K

Vice-chairman of the Board
Fernando Rodolfo Massú Taré
Business Engineer
Appointed by the President of the Republic
Id. #: 6.783.826-2

Director
Claudio Fernando Skármeta Magri
Economist
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Id. #: 5.596.891-8

Director
Rodrigo Cristóbal Azócar Hidalgo
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Industrial Civil Engineer
Id. #: 6.444.699-1

Director
Marcos Mauricio Varas Alvarado
Workers’ Representative
Technical Operator
Id. #: 10.409.044-3

Directora
Ana Beatriz Holuigue Barros
Economist
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Id. #: 5.717.729-2
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DIRECTORS ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A AND ENAP SIPETROL S.A

Chairwoman of the Board
María Loreto Silva Rojas
Lawyer
Appointed by the President of the Republic
Id. #: 8.649.929-0

Director
José Luis Mardones Santander
Industrial Civil Engineer
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Id. #: 5.201.915-K

Vice-chairman of the Board
Fernando Rodolfo Massú Taré
Business Engineer
Appointed by the President of the Republic
Id. #: 6.783.826-2

Director
Claudio Fernando Skármeta Magri
Economist
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Id. #: 5.596.891-8

Director
Rodrigo Cristóbal Azócar Hidalgo
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Industrial Civil Engineer
Id. #: 6.444.699-1

Director
Marcos Mauricio Varas Alvarado
Workers’ Representative
Technical Operator
Id. #: 10.409.044-3

Directora
Ana Beatriz Holuigue Barros
Economist
Selected by Public Senior Management System
Id. #: 5.717.729-2
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REMUNERATIONS OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES
The remunerations paid in 2018 to the senior executives of ENAP and its subsidiaries amounted
Ch$4.820.879.543. This amount is compared with the remuneration paid in 2017 for the same concept
which was Ch$5,821,571,229.
The positions considered in the referred amount correspond to 41 management positions existing as
of December 31, 2018: Chief Executive Officer, Business Line Managers, Managers of ENAP Head Office,
Managers of ENAP Magallanes and the subsidiaries ENAP Refinerías S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol S.A.

SEVERANCE PAYMENTS
In 2018, the company paid severance payments to senior executives amounting to Ch$182,652,035.
The previous period (2017), the company paid Ch$125,513,075 for this same concept.

VARIABLE REMUNERATION SYSTEM
ENAP has a Variable Remuneration System (SRV) that applies to its executives. The factors considered in
the model for determining the incentive are the results got by the company and the level of compliance
with the individual and area goals, plus a discretional correction factor applied by the direct supervisor.
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BOARD MEMBER REMUNERATIONS /COMPARISON 2017 - 2018
Board Member Remunerations 2017
ID. #

NAME

ANNUAL GROSS
REMUNERATION

ANNUAL TAX RETENTION

ANNUAL NET
REMUNERATION

7.201.750-1

MARÍA ISABEL GONZÁLEZ RODRÍGUEZ

$2.960.799

$296.081

$2.664.718

6.616.223-0

ALBERTO SALAS MUÑOZ

$2.680.083

$268.008

$2.412.075

9.003.935-0

CARLOS JESÚS CARMONA ACOSTA

$2.680.083

$268.008

$2.412.075

10.173.277-0

BERNARDITA PIEDRABUENA KEYMER

$2.398.251

$239.825

$2.158.426

7.170.719-9

PAUL GEORGE SCHIODTZ OBILINOVIC

$2.397.687

$239.769

$2.157.918

9.925.434-3

JORGE RENÉ FIERRO ANDRADE

$2.680.083

$268.008

$2.412.075

7.746.199-K

ALEJANDRO DASLAV JADRESIC MARINOVIC

$7.642.816

$764.281

$6.878.535

TOTAL

$62.534.605

$6.253.457

$56.281.148

Board Member Remunerations 2018
ID. #

NAME

ANNUAL GROSS
REMUNERATION

ANNUAL TAX RETENTION

ANNUAL NET
REMUNERATION

7.201.750-1

MARÍA ISABEL GONZÁLEZ RODRÍGUEZ

$2.960.799

$296.081

$2.664.718

6.616.223-0

ALBERTO SALAS MUÑOZ

$2.680.083

$268.008

$2.412.075

9.003.935-0

CARLOS JESÚS CARMONA ACOSTA

$2.680.083

$268.008

$2.412.075

10.173.277-0

BERNARDITA PIEDRABUENA KEYMER

$2.398.251

$239.825

$2.158.426

7.170.719-9

PAUL GEORGE SCHIODTZ OBILINOVIC

$2.397.687

$239.769

$2.157.918

9.925.434-3

JORGE RENÉ FIERRO ANDRADE

$2.680.083

$268.008

$2.412.075

6.783.826-2

FERNANDO RODOLFO MASSÚ TARÉ

$2.885.856

$288.586

$2.597.270

5.596.891-8

CLAUDIO FERNANDO SKARMETA MAGRI

$19.218.978

$1.921.898

$17.297.080

5.717.729-2

ANA BEATRIZ HOLUIGUE BARROS

$18.072.338

$1.807.234

$16.265.104

6.444.699-1

RODRIGO CRISTÓBAL AZÓCAR HIDALGO

$16.918.770

$1.691.877

$15.226.893

7.037.855-8

GONZALO ARMANDO DE LA CARRERA CORREA

$8.944.336

$894.434

$8.049.902

8.649.929-0

MARÍA LORETO SILVA ROJAS

$23.661.912

$2.366.191

$21.295.721

10.409.044-3

MARCOS MAURICIO VARAS ALVARADO

$16.918.770

$1.691.877

$15.226.893

5.201.915-K

JOSÉ LUIS MARDONES SANTANDER

$19.597.386

$1.959.739

$17.637.647

TOTAL

$142.015.332

$14.201.535

$127.813.797
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Products

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS
Propane
Butane

GASOLINE
DIESEL

Gasoline 97 Oct low RVP/Oleﬁns (RM*)
Gasoline 93 Oct low RVP/Oleﬁns (RM*)
Gasoline 97 Oct (RC**)
Gasoline 93 Oct (RC**)
Aviation Gasoline 100 LL

Grade A1 Diesel
B Diesel
B2 Diesel
Antarctic Diesel
Marine Diesel

KEROSENE

FUEL OILS

Household Kerosene
Aviation Kerosene Jet A1

Fuel Oil N° 6 of 1%S and 3%S
Marine Fuel Oil IFO 380
Marine Fuel Oil IFO 180

PETROCHEMICALS

SOLVENTS

Propylene

Turpentine
Xylene
White Benzene

COKE
NATURAL GAS
Industrial and Residential Natural Gas
Liqueﬁed Natural Gas (LNG)

SULFUR

ASPHALTS
Waterprooﬁng Products
Asphaltic Cement
Asphalt CA14
Asphalt CA24

FUELS
INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS
CRUDE OILS, PETROCHEMICALS, AND NATURAL GAS
* Metropolitan Region (RM)
** Rest of the Country (RC)

CRUDE OIL

NATURAL GAS
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International Presence

CHILE

ARGENTINA

ECUADOR

EGIPTO

• Head Office (Santiago)
• ENAP Aconcagua Refinery • ENAP Bío Bío
Refinery
• Maipú, San Fernando, and Linares Plants
• ENAP Magallanes
• Easter Island, Vinapú Fuel Storage
Terminal

•
•
•
•

• MCD y PBHI Block
• 3J Block

• East Ras Qattara Block

Sipetrol Buenos Aires Office
Sipetrol Río Gallegos Office
Sipetrol Comodoro Rivadavia Office
Austral Basin:
- Área Magallanes Block
- CAM 2-A Sur
- E2 (ex CAM 1-CAM 3)
• San Jorge Gulf Basin:
- Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido Block

29
ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Oil Processing

01 / EXPLORATION

DRILLING RIG

GAS
OIL

SEISMIC TRUCKS

02 / PRODUCTION

03 / TRANSPORTATION LOGISTICS

BE

AM

PU

MP

OIL TANKERS

OIL PIPELINE

04 / REFINING

05 / DISTRIBUTION

CRUDE OIL
DEPOSITS

DISTILLATION
TOWER
FURNACE
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Gas Processing

CITY GATE
QUILLOTA
PIPELINE LOGISTICS
SALES TO CLIENTS
LNG QUINTERO

COLMO

PIPELINE LOGISTICS
ACONCAGUA REFINERY

SALES TO CLIENTS

PIPELINE LOGISTICS

PIPELINE LOGISTICS

PEMUCO

SALES TO CLIENTS

SALES TO CLIENTS
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BIO BIO REFINERY

Electricity Generation
Process

NATIONAL POWER SYSTEM

ELECTRICITY

CERRO PABELLÓN

SALE TO
CUSTOMERS

ELECTRICITY

STEAM
ERA SELF
PRODUCER
NATURAL GAS

ACONCAGUA COGENERATOR

ACONCAGUA REFINERY

SALE TO
GENERATORS
ELECTRICITY
STEAM
ERBB SELF
PRODUCER
PETCOKE

BÍO BÍO REFINERY

PETROPOWER

ELECTRICITY

ELECTRICITY SYSTEM
OF PUNTA ARENAS

MAGALLANES FUTURE
WIND FARM *
* In 2017 concluded the stage of
development and approvals for
the execution of the project.
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03.
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
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Oil International
Market

PRICE OF CRUDE OIL
In 2018, the price of Brent crude oil global benchmark recorded an average of US$71.7 per barrel in the
Intercontinental Exchange in London, 31% higher than the average in 2017 (US$54.7 per barrel).
This important price recovery is mainly explained as the positive result of the strategy adopted by the
Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) and other producing countries such as Russia,
at the end of 2017. The measures sought to reduce the global oversupply (which had prevailed since
2014 and lasted through 2015 and the ﬁrst half of 2016), that brought the price of Brent to levels of
US$27.5 per barrel.
According to preliminary estimates from the United States Department of Energy (Short-Term Energy
Outlook, January 2019) global oil consumption reached 100.08 million barrels per day (MMbpd) in 2018,
while global supply was 100.41 MMbpd, resulting in an increase in world inventories of 0.8 MMbpd
compared to 2017.
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GLOBAL OIL MARKET 2018
(IN MILLION BARRELS PER DAY MMBPD)
2018

2017

VARIATION

DEMAND

100,08

98,55

1,53

OCDE

47,66

47,23

0,43

NON-OCDE

52,42

51,32

1,10

SUPPLY

100,41

98,05

2,36

NORTH AMERICA

25,17

22,87

2,30

OTHERS NON-OPEC

36,02

35,87

0,15

OPEC LNG AND CONDENSATES

6,65

6,63

0,02

OPEC CRUDE OIL

32,57

32,68

-011

INVENTORIES

0,3

-0,5

0

Source: United States Department of Energy, “Short-Term Energy Outlook January 2019”

In this context, a meeting was held between OPEC
and its allies to review its cut policy. As a result,
prices were further boosted and the price of crude
oil reached its highest level since 2014, exceeding
US$80 per barrel. Relevant was the fact that the
members participating in the meeting did not
demonstrate an urgency to increase production.
From Saudi Arabia, it became known that their
authorities would be comfortable with Brent prices
above US$80 per barrel.

At the beginning of 2018, the price of Brent crude
oil was around US$68 per barrel. In October 2018
it reached its highest level since October 2014,
with US$86.3 per barrel, and then dropped to its
lowest level since August 2017, in December, when
it reached US$50.5 per barrel.
In 2018, the price of Brent crude reached its
highest levels since 2014, driven by the strategy of
production cuts implemented by OPEC and its allies,
mainly Russia. OPEC chose a balanced market in
terms of supply and demand, but the limited reserve
capacity ended up supporting prices as Iranian
crude oil barrels were gradually withdrawn from
the market due to the U.S. embargo on the country.
Although the sanctions against Iran would officially
enter into force on November 4, their effects began
to be evident at the end of the ﬁrst half of the year.

With the beginning of the second semester, the
market began to be expectant before the imminent
trade war between the United States and China,
after the memorandum signed by the President of
the United States, Donald Trump, which dictated
the application of tariffs to the imports of Chinese
industrial and technological products, came into
force on July 6. In response, China announced
that it had no choice but to respond in the same
way, so it immediately imposed taxes on products
from that country.

Since July, Iranian oil exports fell to their lowest
level in four months, after South Korea and Europe
reduced purchases. While some major countries such
as Japan would have increased their requirements
for this type of crude oil, this would only respond
to the motivation to secure the supply before such
sanctions began to apply. In this way, the outlook
for Iran progressively worsened and, with it, prices
rose signiﬁcantly.

The Asian government reported that 25%-tariffs
would be imposed on U.S. fuels.
In this context, demand prospects deteriorated,
depressing the valuation of crude oil and its
derivatives.
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However, market concerns about a U.S. supply deﬁcit
diminished due to reports of a steady increase of
U.S. crude oil exports. During the month of August,
they reached 2.7 MMbd and with growth projection,
considering that -due to the Iranian crude oil cutEurope increased by 50% its fuel requirements
from that country.

At the meeting held by OPEC and its allies on
11 November, Saudi Arabia conﬁrmed that the
organization agreed on the need to cut oil supplies
by around 1.2 MMbd from January 2019

PRODUCT PRICES ON THE GULF COAST
In the international market of the US coast of the
Gulf of Mexico (Gulf Coast, hereafter), the prices of
the different fuels increased during 2018 compared
to 2017, roughly following the trajectory of the
Brent ICE crude oil price.

OPEC’s limited reserve capacity continued to
support the increase in the price of Brent crude
oil barrel, which lasted until November. During
that month, a decrease in the price of crude oil
began due to market fears of a global oversupply.
Global inventory ﬁgures started an upward trend,
together with alarming ﬁgures of lower growth
and consumption by China, the second-largest
consumer in the world.
On the other hand, the exemptions made by the
U.S. government to some countries so that they
could buy crude oil from Iran became a factor that
contributed to depressing prices.
As for the beneﬁciaries, China, India, and South
Korea stand out, who will be able to buy crude
from Iran at a maximum rate of 360, 300 and 200
thousand barrels per day, respectively.
In December, oil producers were affected by a 30%
drop in crude oil prices since October, as supply
increased while demand prospects weakened amid
a global economic slowdown.
The increase in production has largely been due
to the growing production of crude oil from the
United States, which has increased by 2.5 MMbd
since early 2016 to a record of 11.7 MMbd, making
it the largest crude oil producer in the world. By
the end of 2018, the United States exported more
crude oil and fuel than it had imported for the ﬁrst
time since 1973.
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DAILY ICE BRENT CRUDE OIL PRICE 2018

Price increase
due to
expectations of
OPEC cuts in
response to
statements from
its members.

Market
concerns in the
face of a
constant
increase in
global
inventories,
growing U.S.
crude oil
production and
a decrease in
current and
projected world
demand.

Fear of a
decrease in the
availability of
crude oil for the
coming months.

Market
Scarcity
June 22nd
OPEC Meeting.

Rigs in the
United States
stand at 790
units. Increase in
global
inventories.

OPEC and allies
meet to
supervise cuts
agreement.
Fears of a trade
war between
China and the
United States.

OPEC announces
possible
termination of
cuts agreement
due to lower
supply by Iran
and Venezuela.
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The price of gasoline averaged US$79.4 per barrel in 2018, increasing by 17% compared to 2017. The
price of gasoline increased less than the price of crude oil this year. The inventories of ﬁnished gasoline
in the United States increased by 2.7 MMbbls, standing above-average levels of the last ﬁve years. On
the other hand, the demand in this country experienced a decrease of 30 Mbd.
In the case of the diesel price, the average for 2017 was US$86.1 per barrel, that is, 26% higher than the
average for 2016. The price of diesel increased in line with the price of crude oil and, during this year,
inventories of this product in the United States decreased by 13.7 MMbls, which was below the average
of the last ﬁve years. Additionally, the demand in this country experienced an increase of 326 Mbd,
driven by higher consumption in truck transport, to mobilize the growing production of shale crude oil.
On the other hand, the price of fuel oil Nº6 registered an average of US$60 per barrel during 2018, with
an increase of 30% with respect to 2017. The price increased in line with that of crude oil, presenting
a variance in relation to the price of crude oil higher than expected, due to the lower availability of
heavy crude oil in the market because of the sanctions imposed on Iran and the constant decrease
of Venezuelan crude oil.

INTERNATIONAL PRICES OF PRODUCTS 2018
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Domestic
Oil Market
SALES AND MARKET SHARE
Domestic Market
The price between 2017 and 2018 rose 19.8% to
end-user. In real terms, that is, discounting the
effect of inﬂation.

In 2018, domestic consumption of refined oil
products reached 20.2 million cubic meters,
equivalent to 348,845 barrels per day (bpd),
increasing by 2.4% over the previous year.

Domestic consumption of vehicle gasoline was
the second largest by volume, with 4.8 MMm3
(81,856 bpd), growing 1.7% over the level of 2017.
This increase was due to the expansion of the
vehicle ﬂeet, with a 15.6% increase in retail sales
of light and medium vehicles compared to 2017.
The end-user price had an increase in real terms
of 7.1%.

The increase in consumption compared to previous
years is explained by the growth of national
economic activity. The overall pace of activity
was driven by an improvement from 2017 in the
following sectors: mining, with a mining production
index of 3.8%; manufacturing, with 2.4%; and
electricity, gas, and water production, with 1.1%.

Liqueﬁed Petroleum Gas (LPG) became the third
most important product in terms of consumption,
with 2,4 MMm3 (41,647 bpd), recording an increase
of 1.9% over the previous year. In this case, the
higher consumption is explained by higher growth
of the bottled LPG segment. The prices of liqueﬁed
gas grew by 9% in real terms. In this segment,
the increase in the activity of Magallanes stands
out, as imports from Argentina are resumed in
the zone and the subsequent placement of the
product in the domestic market in the central zone,
displacing maritime imports with additional sales
of 136,700 cubic meters, generating opportunities
to increase the future supply of LPG in reﬁneries,
and increasing ENAP’s presence in this market.z

Thus, according to preliminary estimates by the
Central Bank of Chile in its IPOM Report (Monetary
Policy Report), Chile’s GDP expanded by 4.0% in
2018, maintaining the trend shown since 2017,
when the growth reached 1.5%. By analyzing the
variation in consumption per product in relation
to the previous period, very different behaviors
are observed, stands out the decrease in fuel oil
consumption which contrasts with the increase
in industrial products, kerosene, diesel, Liqueﬁed
Petroleum Gas (LPG), and vehicle gasoline.
Total diesel consumption increased by 2.8%,
equivalent to 10 million cubic meters (172,980
bpd); maintaining its status as the most consumed
product among oil-based fuels.

Kerosene consumption increased by 5.3%,
reaching 1.8 MMm3 (30,253 bpd). Within the total,
aviation kerosene, which represents 91.7% of the

This increase was mainly due to the rise in the
country’s energy and industrial requirements.

1

Source: INE/Industrial Production Index /Issue Nº243 January 2019.
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consumption, increased by 7.9%, while household
kerosene increased by 16.7%. The end-user price
of this fuel increased by 27.7% in real terms.

ENAP is working to provide quality products in
this segment, with the idea of capturing the
opportunities that will arise in the market.

Fuel oil consumption decreased by 4.7 percent
and reached 900,000 cubic meters (15,052 bpd).
The consumption of fuel oils for industrial use
decreased by 8.5% (50,801 cubic meters), while
their use as a marine fuel in the country’s ports
increased by 2.6% (8,188 cubic meters). The enduser price of this fuel increased by 24% in real
terms.

An increase in the sale of marine diesel and a
change in the speciﬁcations of the intermediate
fuel to be offered to customers are expected.
Finally, it should be noted that the increase in the
price of ﬁnal products in 2018 with respect to the
previous period is due to the increase in prices on
the Gulf Coast of Mexico, the reference market for
calculating prices in Chile, which in turn followed
the trajectory of the Brent ICE price.

The consumption of industrial products -solvents,
oleﬁns (basic raw materials for the petrochemical
industry) and asphalt products-, totaled 400,000
cubic meters (7,057 bpd), 6.7% higher compared
to 2017.
Due to the new regulations restricting sulfur in
marine fuels, which will be applicable from 2020,
there are challenges in the supply of products.
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DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION
(FIGURES IN MILLIONS OF CUBIC METERS)

PRODUCTS

2018

2017

DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION

Mm3

Mm3

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS

2.417

2.373

1,9%

VEHICLE GASOLINE

4.750

4.672

1,7%

KEROSENE

1.756

1.668

5,3%

DIESEL

10.038

9.764

2,8%

FUEL OIL

873

916

-4,7%

INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS AND OTHER (*)

410

384

6,7%

TOTAL

20.244

19.776

2,4%

(*) Includes propylene, ethylene, naphtha, solvents, and asphalt, among others.

SALES AND MARKET SHARE 2018
(FIGURES IN MILLIONS OF CUBIC METERS)
Domestic Consumption of Fuels and ENAP’s Sales (2018-2017)
DOMESTIC
CONSUMPTION

PRODUCTS

2017

2018

ENAP DOMESTIC
SALES

2017

2018

Mm3

DOMESTIC
MARKET SHARE

2018

Mm3

2017

ENAP EXPORTS
(**)

2018

Mm3

2017

ENAP IMPORT
SALES

2017

2018

Mm3

Mm3

VARIATIONS
2018 / 2017

2018

2017

DOMESTIC
CONSUMPTION

DOMESTIC
SALES

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS

2.417

2.373

481

375

19,9%

15,8%

228

131

1

7

1,9%

28,3%

VEHICLE GASOLINE

4.750

4.672

4.481

4.447

94,3%

95,2%

0

0

491

404

1,7%

0,8%

KEROSENE

1.756

1.668

1.379

1.032

78,5%

61,9%

35

0

410

142

5,3%

33,6%

DIESEL

10.038

9.764

5.398

4.956

53,8%

50,8%

4

9

1.699

1.385

2,8%

8,9%

FUEL OIL

873

916

854

906

97,8%

98,9%

371

305

1

2

-4,7%

-5,7%

INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS AND OTHER (*)

410

384

293

264

71,6%

68,9%

109

36

0

0

6,7%

10,9%

TOTAL

20.244

19.776

12.886

11.980

63,7%

60,6%

746

481

2.602

1.940

2,4%

7,6%

(*) Includes propylene, ethylene, naphtha, solvents, and asphalt, among others.
(**) Offshore sales included.
Domestic sales of sulfur and coke are not included.
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SALES
The second best-selling product was vehicle
gasoline, with 4.5 MMm3 (77,218 bpd) and a
market share of 94.3%. Although the size of the
vehicle ﬂeet continues to grow, the consumption
of vehicles does not do so in the same amount,
as technological advances have allowed them to
be more efficient in terms of fuel consumption. As
the main supplier of gasoline in the country, this
market is continuously being analyzed, as hybrid
vehicles have introduced strongly into the market
(sales have doubled compared to 2017, totaling 866
units sold in 2018), along with the growing demand
for electric vehicles, which since 2012 has grown
almost 40 times, totaling 197 units sold in 2018.

Total sales in 2018 were 13.6 MMm3 (234.918 bpd),
9.4% higher than the previous year. This increase is
mainly explained by the higher level of sales to the
domestic market, which increased from 12 million
cubic meters in 2017 to 12.9 million cubic meters in
2018. Also by the increase in the level of export sales
from 500,000 cubic meters in 2017 to 700,000 cubic
meters in 2018.
There was an 8% increase in the sale of valuable
products in the domestic market, mainly in the
wholesale distributor segment, representing a 3.3%
increase in the market share of these products. The
products with the highest share of ENAP’s sales
corresponded to gasoline and diesel, with 39.6% and
32,9%, respectively.

In order of magnitude of sales, the following
volumes correspond to kerosene, with 1.4 million
cubic meters (23,760 bpd) and a market share of
78.5%. Particularly in the aviation kerosene market,
where ENAP is also the main supplier, demand in
Santiago (over 80% of the sales of this product
in the country) has grown by more than 10% as a
result of the expansion of the airport and its activity,
which has resulted in an increase in frequencies
of existing airlines and the arrival of new airlines.

Of the total sales volume, 10.8 MMm3 (185,951 bpd)
corresponded to own production, representing 79.2%
of the total sold. The remaining 20.8%, 2.8 MMm3,
(48,971 bpd), was supplied mainly by imports and, to a
lesser extent, with purchases from local third parties.
Domestic Market
Sales to the domestic market were 12.9 MMm3
(222,059 bpd), with a market share of 63.7%, that
is 3.1 percentage points higher than in 2017.

Specifically, ENAP increased its sales in the
Metropolitan Region by 57% and 14% in the rest of
the country.

The higher market share was affected by the
increase in sales of kerosene, liqueﬁed gas, and
diesel with a positive variation of 33.6%, 28.3%, and
8.9% respectively with regard to 2017.

Continuing with the products and volumes sold by
ENAP, there is fuel oil with 900,000 cubic meters
(14,719 bpd) and a market share of 97.8%. Sales of
this product fell compared to 2017 by 6%, mainly
explained by the conversion to other fuels such
as LNG.

Among domestic sales, the best-selling product
was diesel, with 5.4 MMm3 (93,022 bpd), achieving a
market share of 53.8%. This represents an increase
in sales of 8.9%, a growth that was mainly achieved
by improving the commercial positioning in the
central and southern part of the country and
leveraging also the growth achieved in the north
during 2016.

LPG sales volume was 500,000 cubic meters (8,290
bpd) representing 19.9% of the market. Finally,
industrial products sales volume was 300,000
cubic meters (5,049 bpd) representing 71.6% of
the market share.
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EXPORTS
ENAP’s exports reached 700,000 cubic meters of oil-based products, equivalent to 6.9% of the total
production of its reﬁneries.
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04.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Sustainable Development

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT / COMMUNITY MANAGEMENT
AND CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
In the area of Sustainable Development, during 2018,
a proposal was deﬁned for the implementation of
the Sustainability Policy, considering a strategy of
continuous improvement and strengthening of the
organizational culture aligned to this purpose.

environment; consideration of stakeholders, integrated
management and human rights.
In a second stage, speciﬁc lines of action were proposed
for each Business Unit, based on these aspects. At the
same time, work was done on a governance structure
for the management of the Sustainability Strategy,
as well as mechanisms for continuous training in the
matter, both for workers and for strategic leaders.
Finally, a permanent dissemination plan was drawn

In this area, work was carried out in two phases. The
ﬁrst was a diagnosis, which included the analysis
of the level of development of the organization in
sustainability, based on the four aspects of the Policy:
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up to encourage the development of a culture of
sustainability within ENAP.

•

Likewise, within the framework of the Sustainability
Policy and in line with the commitments of the
companies in the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable
Development of the United Nations (UN), the following
milestones were developed:

•

•

1. Identiﬁcation of Sustainable Development
Objectives (SDO): work was done on the initial
identification of a set of ODS articulators
of the company’s activity, with the aim of
subsequently deﬁning management indicators
for each one.

•

•

OSDO 11: Make cities and human settlements
inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable.
SDO 12: Ensure sustainable consumption and
production patterns.
SDO 13: Take urgent action to combat climate
change and its effects.

2. Human rights risk assessment: As part of
the Agenda 2030 call for companies to act in
accordance with the Guiding Principles on
Business and Human Rights1, as well as ENAP’s
commitment in the National Action Plan on Human
Rights and Business in Chile, a diagnosis was
carried out to identify the main risks and adverse
impacts on the organization in this area. Its
purpose was to detect the gaps and, in a second
phase, to manage remediation and mitigation
plans resulting from a due diligence process in
this area. Among the areas analyzed were: health
and safety at work; working conditions for workers
and collaborators; community rights, complaint
mechanisms, among others.

The established SDO is the result of eight workshops
in which 85 people from different areas of ENAP
Aconcagua Reﬁnery, ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery, ENAP
Magallanes and the head office participated. This
work made it possible to select, in principle, the
following six SDOs, related to the business and their
impacts:
•

SDO 8: Promote sustained, inclusive and
sustainable economic growth, full and productive
employment, and decent work for everybody.

SDO 6: To guarantee the availability of water and
its sustainable management and sanitation for
everybody.
SDO 7: Ensure access to affordable, safe,
sustainable and modern energy for everybody.

In 2011, the United Nations Human Rights Council adopted the Guiding Principles, making them the framework for global
authority in this area. Based on three pillars, these principles reaffirm: (i) the State’s duty to protect human rights in the face
of corporate actions; (ii) the corporate responsibility to respect them through due diligence; and (iii) access to adequate
remediation for victims of adverse impacts of corporate activities.
1
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT CORPORATE STRATEGY
Considering ENAP’s purpose of promoting the sustainable development of the company and of the
territories in which it is present, important advances were made in the Community Engagement Corporate
Strategy, with the objective of building shared value between neighboring communities and the company.
This strategy considers the development of speciﬁc sequential components for the design and execution
of social investment initiatives that comply with the company’s strategic guidelines, community
expectations and international and national standards.

STAGES AND COMPONENTS OF CORPORATE STRATEGY

STAGE 1

STAGE 2

STAGE 3

DIAGNOSE

ANALYSIS

COMMUNITY DESIGN
AND MANAGEMENT

COMPONENTS

COMPONENTS

COMPONENTS

Measurement of community
perception regarding issues of
interest, problems, ENAP’s image, and
environmental impacts.

Social, community, environmental and
institutional risks.

Deﬁnition of programs, initiatives, and
community activities to be developed.

Stakeholders identiﬁcation and
characterization.

Social and environmental impacts of
operations.

Monitoring of indicators, processes
and management systems.

Demographic, socio-economic,
anthropological, and social welfare
baseline.

Development areas and subjects/
opportunities.

Evaluating and measuring the impact
of initiatives.
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During 2018, progress was made in each of these
stages and components through the following
initiatives:

COMMUNITY MANAGEMENT MANUAL
FOR INVESTMENT PROJECTS
This guide makes it possible to incorporate and
manage the community variable in the planning and
development of investment projects and operational
initiatives of ENAP’s three Business Lines.
The objective is to minimize the risks that could affect
their viability during their planning, construction,
operation and closure stages.
This manual has the following Community Tools
(HC in Spanish) to make it operational:
1. Identiﬁcation and characterization of areas
of inﬂuence.
2. Identiﬁcation and evaluation of community
risks.
3. Evaluation of social impacts.
4. Identiﬁcation and characterization of actors
and stakeholders.
5. Early community dialog and participation.
6. Community Engagement Plan.
7. Considerations for the relationship with
indigenous peoples.
Thus, this manual provides technical instruments
that enable to develop and fulﬁll the components of
the three Stages of ENAP’s Community Engagement
Corporate Strategy.
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PROCEDURE FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION
OF SOCIAL INVESTMENT INITIATIVES IN
THE AREA OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT MANAGEMENT
PLATFORM
During 2018, the implementation of this platform was
consolidated. It has favored the management of the
life cycle of the community initiatives that are carried
out in each Business Unit, allowing the standardization
of the planning, reporting and traceability processes
of each line of action. This has been fundamental
to optimize, monitor and permanently evaluate
management with communities.

This procedure was validated internally, with the aim
of formalizing and standardizing the processes and
mechanisms through which ENAP materializes these
initiatives in each of the territories in which it is present.
This instrument makes it possible to minimize ﬁnancial
and non-ﬁnancial risks that could affect the viability of
the execution of resources destined to communities
in their stages of planning and pertinence analysis;
validation and execution of initiatives. Among the most
important matters that this procedure formalizes are:
1.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY:
In terms of corporate responsibility actions, the
volunteer and Cool Place to Bike programs were
continued. The following are their main milestones
of the reporting period:

Application of Compliance Tracker for any entity
or organization benefiting from community
relationship agreements, in accordance with
the company’s Crime Prevention Model (MPD).

ENAP Corporate volunteering

2. Incorporation of a budget allocation limit and
standardization of criteria for the admissibility
or rejection of unplanned initiatives.

In 2018, a total of 79 volunteers contributed 98 hours
of their time in this space that seeks to channel
the social and environmental concerns of the
participants, at the service of the communities and
in line with the work focuses of the company.

3. Levels of approval deﬁned by the number of
initiatives and formalization through memoranda
endorsed by the respective management.

The activities carried out were: cleaning the beaches
of Caleta Lenga, in Concepción, Tres Puentes Wetland,
and waterfront, in Punta Arenas; volunteering of
Robótica Educativa by ENAP Reﬁnería Bío Bío, to
promote the participation of teams from educational
establishments in the regional and national First Lego
League Tournament; and support for the National
Heritage Day, opening the doors of ENAP’s Central
Building in Punta Arenas. All these instances of
cooperation seek to continue strengthening the
bonds of mutual beneﬁt with the stakeholders in
the different business units.

4. Reportability of compliance with initiatives
through M-Risk platform.
5. Mechanisms for supervision and control of the
execution of approved resources for community
purposes.
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“Cool Place to Bike” Program
For the third year, ENAP joined this commitment
that promotes sports and environmental awareness,
together with Cool Place to Bike. The mere fact of
adding more workers each year who travel to work
on a bicycle contributes to the decongestion of cities,
lowering CO2 emissions and contributing to people’s
physical and mental health.
On this occasion, ENAP exceeded the goals at the
inter-company competitions in April and November. In
addition, it held an internal competition in September
and October, a score that was added to the November
competition and which -together with the April
competition- doubled the impact obtained in 2017,
in almost all the parameters measured:
•

•

•

•

•

•

168 registered participants belonging to all
ENAP’s Business Units in Chile.
32 teams in the competition.
14 tons of CO2 not emitted, equivalent to the
capture capacity of 948 trees.
62,025 km traveled, equivalent to 1.5 trips around
the world.
6.221 trips.
1,426,448 calories burned, equivalent to
224,519 minutes of exercise.
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PROGRESS IN COMMUNITY MANAGEMENT 2018
In 2018, the amount of consolidated social investment for ENAP’s operations in Chile was US$3,642,571.
The following highlights the most relevant advances of the Business Units and international subsidiaries,
within the framework of the four axes of our Community Management Strategy: mutual beneﬁt relationship;
transparency and environmental responsibility; collective responsibility; and open dialog.

MUTUALLY BENEFICIAL
RELATIONSHIP

OPEN DIALOG

Actions that establish a
relationship based on permanent
dialog, which allows the
generation of mutual bonds of
trust.

TRANSPARENCY AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

Initiatives of social investment
that bet on the improvement of
the quality of life of the
communities, considering their
problems, interests, and
concerns.

Actions that minimize the
externalities of our operations
and promote the provision of
timely information on environmental impacts and mitigation
measures.

COLLECTIVE
RESPONSIBILITY
Initiatives that promote the
commitment of ENAP workers to
sustainable development and
respect for communities.

ENAP ACONCAGUA REFINERY (ERA)
Mutually Beneﬁcial Relationship Axis
Education and Culture Area
Sports and cultural scholarships: for the second
consecutive year, ENAP awarded a total of 23
scholarships to sportsmen, social organizations and
entrepreneurs from Concón, Quintero, Puchuncaví,
and Quillota, assuming the commitment to promote
cultural and sporting talents in these areas.

Entrepreneurial Challenge: the program consists
of encouraging the formation of talents in
entrepreneurship and innovation topics, in high
school students, through the search for solutions
to speciﬁc challenges of ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery.
We worked with three establishments, two in
Concón and one in Quintero, which beneﬁted 83
students.

ENAP Cultural Center Open House: During 2018,
28 workshops were held in Concón, beneﬁting
1,400 neighbors. Regarding the subprogram Open
House in Your Neighborhood, 22 workshops were
held in the commune of Quintero, beneﬁting 417
neighbors.

Technical Training Center (CFT) Scholarships:
program dictated by the Pontiﬁcia Universidad
Católica de Valparaíso and co-ﬁnanced by ENAP
Aconcagua Reﬁnery and the Federation of Contractor
Workers of Concón. It allowed the certiﬁcation of
104 contractor workers who attended the courses
of Higher Level Technician in Construction and
Industrial Maintenance.

In addition, there is a permanent program of ﬁlm
cycles, music and plays, open to all audiences. In
turn, Open House Radio Station has maintained a
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program schedule with more than 20 programs made
by neighbors throughout the year.

The case of Javier Scott stands out, who lost
his vision at the age of ﬁve and is now a national
champion of the Adapted Surf modality. In addition,
he participated in the international championship
that took place in California, United States.

Training and Economic Development Area
Competitive Funds: this program allowed the
completion of a total of 60 projects that the
neighbors of Concón, Quintero, and Quillota deﬁned
as priorities for their neighborhoods, in development
topics as varied as workshops on environmental
education, sanitation, recovery of green areas and
solar energy.

.

In this context, 21 funds were given to beneﬁciaries
of Concón, 23 of Quintero and 16 of Quillota,
allowing the improvement of the quality of life of
the neighbors.
Sustainable Tourism Promotion Program:
developed in conjunction with the Concón Tourism
Association, this initiative consisted of a series
of workshops and seminars on customer service
and the generation of commercial networks
and associations, as well as individual advice on
energy efficiency and recycling. In these activities,
representatives and workers from 25 companies
from the gastronomic, accommodation and
tourism sectors participated.
Energy Efficiency Training Program: developed
in Concón and Quintero, this program seeks to
promote the use of clean energy at a household
level, facilitating the installation of photovoltaic
panels that allow the reduction of consumption in
homes. During 2018, 60 families beneﬁted.
Health and Sports Area
Adapted Surﬁng and Surﬁng Program: a total
of 160 children and young people between the
ages of nine and 17, belonging to the commune of
Concón, have beneﬁted from permanent surﬁng
classes, highlighting the participation of a group of
students with disabilities. The learnings acquired in
this program have led them to participate in national
and international competitions.
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Transparency and Environmental Responsibility Axis
Sea Fireﬁghters Program: its purpose is to provide practical and theoretical tools to artisanal ﬁshing
communities, so that they can provide a safe and timely response to a maritime contingency, in addition
to facilitating the collection of water samples to monitor the conditions of their management areas.
Eight ﬁshermen’s unions from Quintero Bay and one from Concón participate in this initiative. By 2018,
400 ﬁshermen have participated in training talks and contingency simulations.
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STORAGE AND PIPELINE DIVISION (DAO)
Mutually Beneﬁcial Relationship Axis
Infrastructure and Community Equipment Area

Sensory Garden Project (San Fernando):
implementation of a didactic space in Rayito
de Sol kindergarten, which had the objective of
contributing to the development of skills for the
care of the environment, beneﬁting 120 children.

During 2018, work was done on the development
and implementation of six infrastructure and
community equipment projects in four communes
close to operations:

Health and Sports Area

Maipú: implementation of a warehouse at Los
Llanos 1 Neighbourhood Council.

Seven A Side Rugby Tournament - ENAP Cup:
official collaborator in the international rugby
tournament that brought together more than 120
sportsmen and women from different parts of
Polynesia and continental Chile. This is the largest
sporting event on the island which is accompanied
by the implementation of girls’ and boys’ training
schools.

San Fernando: construction of the Plaza con
Identidad a la Mujer Temporera; project for the
installation of lights in the headquarters of the
Neighbourhood Council; improvement of the
children’s playground and the surroundings of
the multipurpose sports ﬁeld.
Río Claro: agreement with the Fire Department
of the commune for the acquisition of hydraulic
vehicle rescue equipment.

Construction of an athletic mini track and jumping
pit at the Giuseppe Bortoluzzi school: a project
to promote the practice of athletics, beneﬁting
nearly 600 students in San Fernando.

Pemuco: fitting out of a food sale stand in
collaboration with the La Estrella de San Miguel
Sports Club.

ENAP Soccer Schools-General Cruz and First
Version of ENAP DAO Cup: a sports training project
that brings together more than 50 children from the
town of General Cruz (Pemuco). For its inauguration,
a tournament was held that brought together more
than 120 children from the province of Ñuble.

Education and Culture Area
Tapati Rapa Nui: we collaborated in one of the
biggest cultural festivities of Polynesia, in which
the traditions and sports, artistic and identity
practices of the Rapa Nui culture are revalued. In
this instance, ENAP disseminates the strategic
role it plays through its Vinapú Terminal.
Rapa Nui Social Innovation Festival (SIF): an
instance that brought together institutions,
companies, and public entities to join wills and
actions to position Rapa Nui as a reference of
economic, environmental and cultural sustainability
by 2030.
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Training and Economic Development Area

Education and Culture Area

SENCE Work Scholarship Training Program:
aimed at communities near the operations of San
Fernando and Pemuco, beneﬁting 40 people. The
training subjects were: Jewelry and Screen Printing
Techniques, and Design and Fabrication of Loom
Weaves.

Robotics Education Program: the School Robotics
Meeting, organized by the Spark Talents Foundation
and ENAP, was held with the participation of
two municipal establishments of Hualpén and
Talcahuano. The San Vicente School in Talcahuano
achieved a place on the podium of the regional
tournament.

Transparency and Environmental
Responsibility Axis

Energy CFT: strategic alliance promoted by ENAP,
which considered combining the demand for
industry professionals with academic training.
Currently, this Technical Training Center houses
more than 600 students who study for free. During
2018, ENAP gave scholarships to 100 students,
among them neighbors of nearby towns, contractors
and ﬁshermen from Hualpén and Talcahuano. Also,
the ﬁrst generation of 80 new top-level technicians
in the ﬁelds of Electricity and Energy Efficiency,
Instrumentation and Industrial Control, and Business
Administration obtained their degree.

Institutional relations with authorities and public
services: dissemination actions carried out in the
regions of Valparaíso, Metropolitan, O’Higgins,
Maule, Ñuble and Bio Bío, with the purpose of
communicating the strategic .
Informative suppor t s for communities
neighboring oil pipelines: delivery of informative
material to approximately one thousand owners
of the properties through which the pipeline runs,
providing information and contact numbers to
report emergency situations.

Study Leveling Program: about 80 residents of
Hualpén had access to this program that allowed
them to advance in their process of leveling primary
and secondary education. Likewise, during the
month of December, 50 students from both levels
of education graduated.

ENAP BÍO BÍO REFINERY (ERBB)
Mutually Beneﬁcial Relationship Axis
Relocation process for Nueva El Triángulo and
Villa El Triángulo neighborhoods (Hualpén): it
corresponds to one of the action axes of the Hualpén
Suma Sustainability and Environment Plan, which
considers the relocation of 289 families from these
neighborhoods close to ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery.

Training and Economic Development Area
SENCE Work Scholarship Training Program:
eight training courses were developed in different
formative areas and trades addressed to residents
of Hualpén and Talcahuano, in which approximately
200 neighbors participated and certiﬁed.

During 2018, a total of 187 families joined the process,
of which 157 already had their Serviu subsidy
resolution. At the end of the reported period, 32
families formalized the purchase and sale process,
so that during the ﬁrst months of 2019, once the
corresponding registrations have been made, they
will be relocated.

Hualpén Suma Servicios App: a portal that gathers
a complete description of the services and products
that the residents of the neighborhoods near ENAP
Bío Bío Reﬁnery offer, and that emerges as a way of
strengthening local entrepreneurship and expanding
the network of our neighbors’ clients.
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Health and Sports Area

ENAP MAGALLANES

Soccer and Cheerleaders Sports Workshops:
the realization of these workshops has allowed
teaching values such as respect, punctuality, selfimprovement, and companionship to an important
number of children of Hualpén.

Mutually Beneﬁcial Relationship Axis
Education and Culture Area
Training with surplus tax exemptions: in 2018, 563
residents of Punta Arenas were trained thanks to
the surplus of the SENCE tax exemption, in a total
of 36 courses. More than half of the participants
were women. Among the courses stood out the
ﬁrst course in Chilean-Argentinean Patagonia on
Shearing Sheep.

During the year, approximately 160 children
participated in both workshops. For its part, the
ENAP Cup football tournament attracted more
than 1,200 children.
Health and Wellness Workshops for Older Adults:
these consist of daily visits to all the older adult
clubs neighboring the reﬁnery, in which different
workshops and techniques are given to improve
their quality of life. Activities include yoga, motor
skills workshops, memory training, theater, painting,
dance, and physical exercises. The workshops
lasted 10 months and beneﬁted 800 older adults.

Student scholarships: as a result of a cooperation
agreement with Universidad de Magallanes, for
the second consecutive year, ENAP awarded
four scholarships to students for the preparation
of their thesis related to the contribution to the
energy sector in the region.
Magallanes in 100 Words: for the third year the
literary contest of short stories Magallanes in 100
Words took place. A total of 4,979 stories, coming
from all the communes of the region participated.
Noteworthy was the participation of children
and young people, who represented 60% of the
applications received.

Transparency and Environmental
Responsibility Axis
Talks on safety and the environment: adressed
to the various territorial organizations, social
organizations, ﬁshermen’s unions, parent centers,
among others.

Winter Carnival of Punta Arenas: ENAP and
Universidad de Magallanes made a colorful
presentation in the Winter Carnival 2018, a traditional
festivity in which they got the second place in the
Comparsa category.

Environmental monitoring website: information
on the current status of operational processes
and meteorological conditions, air quality and
particulate matter indices, from the online results
of environmental monitoring stations.

Teatro Cinema of Porvenir reopened its doors
after 50 years: Chile’s third oldest theater was
reopened thanks to the joint effort of the Heritage
Fund, the Ministry of Cultures, Arts and Heritage,
and ENAP, a milestone that was framed in the
national celebrations of the Cultural Heritage Day.
With its reopening, the residents of Porvenir were
given back a center of recreation and culture, in
addition to generating a tourist attraction for those
who visit Tierra del Fuego.

ENAP Contigo application: a tool for delivering realtime information on the operating status of ENAP
Bío Bío Reﬁnery, environmental incidents, and
community activities. It allows direct interaction
with neighbors who have the application on their
mobile phones.
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Transparency and Environmental
Responsibility Axis
Activities to disseminate ENAP’s role in the
Cultural Heritage Day: around 400 people, in its
two versions (May and October), visited ENAP’s
Central Building on Heritage Day, an opportunity
in which the attendees were able to learn about
the company’s activities, with emphasis on gas
prospecting through hydraulic fracturing.
Visits to operations: to get to know the different
productive processes developed by ENAP, particularly
the exploration process, 210 people, including civil
and military authorities, neighborhood leaders and
students, visited facilities such as drilling equipment,
plants, and camps during 2018.
Dissemination activities related to hydraulic
fracture technique: ENAP Magallanes gave two
talks on the myths and truths of hydraulic fracture.
The ﬁrst, as part of the Livestock Congress, in which
nearly 50 ranchers from the region participated.
And the second, before the Regional Council of
Magallanes. Both were given by ENAP’s Exploration
and Reservoir Manager, Lisandro Rojas.
Re-opening of the Energy Room: After 22 years at
the Maggiorino Borgatello Museum, ENAP renewed its
exhibition in the Energy Room, updating the contents
and incorporating the company’s current activities,
based mainly on the exploration and exploitation of
non-conventional deposits.
Open Dialog Axis
Agreements with communal unions, social and
sports organizations: as a way of maintaining a
close and collaborative relationship, during 2018
ENAP signed collaboration agreements with
communal unions and neighborhood councils in
Punta Arenas and Puerto Natales, aimed mainly
at providing training with an emphasis on safety
issues.
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Collective Responsibility Axis

Agreement with Universidad de la Patagonia
Austral (UNPA: aimed at allowing the participation
of archeologists during the execution of the
aforementioned 3D Seismic Registration in El Turbio
Este. Among the most relevant beneﬁts of this
initiative is the preservation of the cultural heritage
of the province of Santa Cruz and the collaboration
with the community for the generation of scientiﬁc
knowledge.

Safestart Workshops: a total of 626 people from
Punta Arenas, Puerto Natales, and Porvenir
carried out the Safestart workshop, taught by
ENAP Magallanes monitors. This activity seeks
to inculcate a culture of safety, mainly in young
people who are about to start their working lives.

ENAP SIPETROL ARGENTINA

Compliance with the Planacon: in 2018, the
Austral Basin Emergency Plan was successfully
developed, which was audited by the Argentine
Naval Prefecture. With the certiﬁcation by the
authorities, it was demonstrated once again that the
operations in this area are carried out in accordance
with the regulations in force.

The following are the highlights of 2018 in terms
of the relationship with our stakeholders in this
subsidiary.
Roads repair: through an agreement between
operating companies that use Route No. 1 and the
Santa Cruz Province Highway Authority, Sipetrol
Argentina signed a support commitment for the
repair and maintenance of 132 km of gravel road
access to the BRM and Petrofaro Plant.

Agreement with the Wildlife Directorate of the
Provincial Agrarian Council: the objective was to
have specialists for the sustainable management of
wildlife in the Faro Vírgenes Reserve. This initiative
conﬁrms the excellent relationship that is maintained
with this state agency.

This contributes to the improvement in road
safety, minimizing risks; the reduction of operating
expenses due to deterioration; the optimization
of travel times; and quality and comfort during
trips. It also directly and signiﬁcantly beneﬁts the
community in the area.

Support for a scientiﬁc research project: an
agreement was established with the Secretary of
State for the Environment of the Province of Santa
Cruz, to collaborate in research on the impact of

Public consultation on the 3D Seismic Project: in
2018, non-governmental conservation organizations
from the region and the public were invited to
present the project to be carried out in the OctansPegaso off-shore area and learn about the concerns
of the community, demonstrating the commitment
to permanent dialog.
Agreement with landowners in Turbio Este: as
part of the operations of the 3D Seismic Registry
in this area, an important agreement was reached
with landowners in the area where the exploration
block is located. In this way, improvements were
generated in the internal roads, repair of wire
fences, cattle guard, gates, and passages.
Thus, the use of local infrastructure for logistical
support was facilitated.
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climate change in Patagonia Austral. This project
will provide relevant information, both for scientiﬁc
purposes and for dissemination and sensitization
to the community.

49 students beneﬁted. With the contribution given,
the scholarship recipients acquired uniforms, school
supplies, among other items necessary for the
beginning of the school year. Transportation support
is also provided on a monthly basis. In addition, four
university scholarship recipients were considered.
They received funding for their costs of tuition,
transportation, and living expenses.

Promotion of health and well-being: in conjunction
with the union (Private and Hierarchical Oilmen), a series
of activities were implemented to improve the spaces
for physical and recreational activity. The objective
of this initiative is to strengthen internal relations,
integration and generate bonds of companionship
among all the people who work in the Battery Reception
Magallanes (BRM). It also promotes sports, improving
the quality of life of workers.

Educational projects: school gardens have been
implemented in two schools, which are monitored
weekly. In addition, prior to the start of classes, 2,700
school bags were delivered for the third consecutive
year. To facilitate the mobilization of students to
educational centers, ENAP Sipec Ecuador hires
local professional services.

Among the impacts or beneﬁts are the best results
in measuring the ESI (Employee Satisfaction Index),
strengthening the relationship with unions and reducing
sedentary life.

In addition, by means of a survey of the main
needs of school infrastructure, minor repairs
and adjustments were made in the educational
centers. Equipment and paint were also provided.
In December, as part of a Christmas program,
25,000 bags of candy were delivered to schools
and communities.

ENAP SIPEC ECUADOR
The following are the main community management
activities carried out in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero
(MDC); Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito and Intracampos
(PBHI) blocks and Block 28. The amount of ENAP
Sipec Ecuador’s social investment for 2018 was
US$1,017,853.

Community Development and Strengthening:
During 2018, the hiring of local labor and services
were expanded, generating a total of 509 jobs in
the communities of the direct area of inﬂuence.
The local services hired are cleaning of the ﬂow
lines and oil pipelines, student transportation
service, and road hydration service.

Health Programs: In 2018, health care was
facilitated in 27 communities and 18 educational
centers, with 3,801 medical consultations and
2,725 dental consultations provided. In addition,
25 volunteers of this program were trained and,
through the community promoter, 3,386 manhours of training were given, aimed at proper
food handling, disease prevention, proper use of
water and personal hygiene. Dental kits were also
delivered to schools.

Within the productive axis, cocoa crops have been
strengthened through constant training and the
delivery of kits and tools to farmers.
Soccer School Project: Currently, the school has
85 girls and boys, who train from Monday to Friday,
receive uniforms, refreshments and transportation
to get to and from the training sessions. Friendly
matches are also organized with other soccer schools
in preparation for the existing categories. The school
has three experienced coaches to lead the activities.

To measure the impact of this program, the SROI
(Social Return on Investment) methodology was
applied, resulting in a return on social investment
of US$41.95 for every US$1 invested.
Scholarship Program: In the area of scholarships,
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Conservation Project: as part of ENAP Sipec
Ecuador’s certiﬁcation as a Carbon Neutral Company,
preservation agreements were established for 880
hectares of forest corresponding to communities in
the area of direct inﬂuence.
ial compensation agreements: social compensation
agreements were signed with the ﬁve communities
of the MDC Block, most of which are being executed
within the established deadlines. In this way,
materials were delivered for the improvement of
housing, electrical infrastructure and productive
projects (related to cocoa).
Support for electricity service: through an
agreement signed between Empresa Eléctrica
Ambato and Consorcio Bloque 28, an electricity
project was developed within Colonia 24 de Mayo,
which beneﬁted numerous families who lacked this
service in the sector.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT / ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT
During 2018, the focus of the Environmental
Management focused on the consolidation and
standardization of the work coordinated with the
operation, in accordance with the change in the
structure made in 2017. This is focused on ensuring
common criteria to strengthen the company’s
environmental management, as well as the
development of new investment projects.

permits and environmental requirements based on
the 2017 survey.
With respect to sanction processes for environmental
issues, the health authority initiated eight
administrative proceedings at ENAP’s facilities in
Chile. These are distributed as follows: ﬁve at ENAP
Reﬁnería Aconcagua, one at DAO and two at ENAP
Magallanes.

Main milestones 2018

ENAP ACONCAGUA REFINERY (ERA)

In this period, ENAP reduced by 10% the occurrence of
operational incidents associated with environmental
components with respect to 2017. This demonstrates
the company’s permanent commitment and the joint
effort to improve control and operational integrity.

•

In terms of Environmental Qualiﬁcation Resolutions
(EQR), 13 favorable EQRs were obtained for projects
submitted to the Environmental Impact Assessment
System (SEIA in Spanish), with a declared investment
of US$427 million. Of these, 11 were obtained by
ENAP Magallanes, one at ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery and
another at DAO’s San Fernando Plant.
•

To strengthen ENAP Chile’s environmental
compliance, work began on monitoring operational

The environmental evaluation of the Coker
Industrial Complex Upgrade project, which
entered the SEIA by means of an EIS in
September 2017, continued. The objective of
the project is to update the characteristics with
respect to types of load, products and other
operating conditions, including improvements
in the production cycle. On October 30, 2018,
the project was rejected at the Environmental
Evaluation Commission of the Valparaiso
Region.
The environmental evaluation of the
Cogeneradora Aconcagua Operational
Adjustments project, entered into the SEIA
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by means of an EIS in December 2017, was
continued. The project considers clariﬁcations
and operational improvements to some activities
and works of the ERA Combined-Cycle Power
Plant and its subsequent modiﬁcations.
•

•

•

•

to the SMA on October 10, which allow it to be
ruled out that the installations and operations
of the Quintero terminal were the cause of the
event. As of December 31, 2018, the SMA has
not made any pronouncements regarding the
company’s statements.

The execution of the compliance program
approved by the SMA on January 31, 2018,
on the occasion of the formulation of charges
of Exempt Resolution No. 1/ROL D-004-2017,
was kept active to be responsible for the 16
imputed infractions and their effects.

•

ENAP Aconcagua reﬁnery was subject to audits
and information requirements 115 occasions.
Of these, 95 are associated with the Quintero
Environmental Emergency, four with the Mala
Cara (Santa Julia) Estuary incident, and the
remaining 16 with information requirements
for different issues both at the Reﬁnery and at
the Quintero Terminal.

•

During the execution of the deepening and
reinforcement works of the oil pipelines in
the estuary crossing sector in Santa Julia, by
the contractor CAVCO Ltda. the presence of
hydrocarbons in the watercourse was detected
in the Mala Cara Estuary. In addition to the
management of waste generated during the
cleaning of the sector, monitoring of ﬂora and
fauna, quality of estuary water and drinking water
from nearby wells were carried out. The results
indicate that the affected components were
not observed as a result of the contingency
that occurred.

•

•

In September 2018, the Superintendence of the
Environment (SMA) began a sanctioning process
against ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A (ERSA), associated
with the environmental emergency that affected
the population of Quintero and Puchuncaví.
Mainly, the alleged infraction is related to the
fact that the Quintero Terminal’s Riles Treatment
System differs from what was environmentally
approved. ENAP presented the case for defense

In compliance with the sanitary authority’s
request, as a result of the sanitary emergency,
the Quintero Terminal Operational Plan was
prepared, presented and managed for approval,
which is activated in adverse weather conditions
and is valid until March 30, 2019.
ENAP made observations on the preliminary
draft of the Prevention and Decontamination
Plan (PPDA) for Concón, Quintero and
Puchuncaví, to improve it, so that the measures
considered there for the Aconcagua Reﬁnery
would be effective with respect to reaching
the reduction goals set by the authority, as
regards the concentration of MP10, MP2,5,
SO2, and NOx.
The process of validating the continuous
emission monitoring equipment (CEMS) for
the ﬁve boilers in the Supply area began, and
to date, the SMA has approved a resolution for
one of them.
Regarding sanction processes for environmental
issues, the health authority began ﬁve health
administrative procedures at ENAP’s Aconcagua
Reﬁnery facilities. These are distributed as
follows: one related to the Mala Cara Estuary
incident (July); one to waste management
at Quintero Terminal (August); another to an
operational incident at the Reﬁnery Alkylation
Plant (October); and three associated with the
Quintero Terminal Operational Plan. It should be
noted that all cases were presented for defense
and as of December 31, 2018, the processes are
still in process.
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STORAGE AND PIPELINE DIVISION (DAO)
•

•

ENAP BÍO BÍO REFINERY (ERBB)

In August 2018, the EQR of the Construction
of New Fuel Tanks Project at the San Fernando
Plant was obtained. It was submitted to the SEIA
through an EIS in August 2017. The purpose of the
project is to increase the storage capacity of the
San Fernando Plant, through the construction
of three new fuel tanks of 8,000, 600, and 300
cubic meters.

•

•

Regarding sanction processes for environmental
issues, the health authority initiated a health
administrative procedure at the San Fernando
Plant (August). This is related to the facility’s
waste management. It should be noted that
the case was presented for defense and an
action plan were submitted. As of December
31, 2018, the authority has not yet made a
pronouncement.

•

•

•

The withdrawal of submarine lines from maritime
terminals B and C of the San Vicente Terminal was
carried out. In accordance with the commitment,
the water column was monitored during the work,
the results of which show that there was no
environmental impact as a result of the activity.
Authorization was obtained for the storage of
dangerous substances for 12 tanks.
In June 2018, the EQR of the New Isomerization
Plant project was obtained. The project was
submitted to the SEIA through an EIS in
November 2017. The purpose of the project is to
increase the production capacity of high-octane
gasoline with lower sulfur content by building a
new isomerization plant to replace the existing
plant and building a 20,000 cubic meter fuel tank.
We continued with the environmental processing
of the New Environmental Treatment Systems
and Logistics Infrastructure Improvement project
in ERBB, submitted to the SEIA through an EIS
in March 2018. Its purpose is to make ENAP’s
Bío Bío Reﬁnery operations more reliable and
flexible by incorporating: a new acid water
treatment plant; a new sulfur recovery unit; a new
boiler for the supply of steam and the removal
of an existing boiler; three new 50,000 cubic
meter crude oil tanks; a new 5,000 cubic meter
Slop tank; and a new liquid fuel loading yard.
The initiative to recycle or reuse industrial
waste (lubrication oil, empty drums, and wood)
continued, resulting in a 2% reduction in the
shipment of waste to the ﬁnal disposal.

ENAP MAGALLANES
•

The Methods of Exploitation and Closure Plans
of the areas corresponding to Coirón, Arenal and
Dorado-Riquelme were updated and submitted
to the National Service of Geology and Mining
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(Sernageomin). In 2018, the Exploitation Method
of the Coiron Block was approved. Additionally,
during December 2018, three projects with an
estimated investment of US$51 million were
submitted for environmental processing,
considering the hydraulic fracturing of 39 wells
and the construction of 6.7 km of ﬂow lines, all
in the Arenal Block.

•

•
•

•

•

Environmental approval was obtained for 11
projects for an investment of US$285 million.
These projects consider the drilling of a total of
85 wells in the Arenal Block, the drilling of one
horizontal well in the Coirón Block, the hydraulic
fracturing of 46 wells in the Arenal Block and
six in the Dorado-Riquelme Block, and the
construction of 7.4 km of ﬂow lines in the Arenal
Block and 12.8 km in the Dorado-Riquelme Block.

•

The implementation of the Hazardous
Substances Storage Adequacy Plan continued.

•

With regard to sanction processes for
environmental issues, the health authority
initiated two administrative procedures at ENAP
Magallanes’ facilities. One related to the sewage
treatment plant of a drilling rig (May) and the
other related to the collection pits of oiled liquids
and solids (September). It should be noted that
all cases were presented for defense and as
of December 31, 2018, the processes are still
in process.

•

•

ENAP SIPETROL ARGENTINA
•

A successful result was obtained in the validation
audit of the emergency plan of the Austral Basin,
by the Argentine Naval Prefecture-Planacon. No
observations were made, which constitutes the
authorities’ certiﬁcation of the conformity of the
emergency plan with the applicable regulations.

•

•

The application of the Agreement with the
Wildlife Directorate of the Provincial Agrarian
Council continued until the completion of the
demobilization of the PIAM project. According to
the agreement, this institution provided fauna
guards for the sustainable management of
wildlife in the Faro Vírgenes Reserve.
The PIAM project was closed without
environmental impacts, certiﬁed by release
certiﬁcates from the Provincial Agrarian Council,
which certiﬁes the restoration of the intervened
areas to their original state prior to the project.
An agreement was signed with the Secretary
of State for the Environment of the Province of
Santa Cruz, whereby ENAP provides support
for a scientiﬁc research project on the impacts
of climate change in Austral Patagonia.
Permission was obtained for the dumping of
sewage effluents from the Magallanes Reception
Battery.
We began with the treatment of oiled soils stored
in an exclusive enclosure in BRM, by means of
the bioremediation process.
The Environmental Impact Statement was
obtained for the 3D Seismic Record project
in El Turbio Este, which seeks to preserve the
cultural heritage of the province of Santa Cruz.
In addition, an agreement was signed with the
Universidad de la Patagonia Austral (UNPA), for
the participation of archeologists during the
execution of the initiative.
A Public Consultation was held on the 3D
Seismic Record project in the offshore area
Octans-Pegaso, convoking non-governmental
conservation organizations from the region and
the public.
Environmental audits of air tanks were carried
out, both in BRM and Pampa del Castillo.
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•

The closing audit was carried out prior to the
transfer of the Pampa del Castillo area to a
new operator. The same was approved by
the environmental authority of Chubut, as a
previous condition for the transfer of the area
to the new operator.

ENAP SIPEC ECUADOR
•

•

•

•

•

The physical and biotic parameters of the Monitoring
Plan for the blocks Paraiso, Biguno, Huachito and
Intracampos (PBHI) and Mauro Dávalos Cordero
(MDC) were fully complied with. The monitoring
was reported to the Ministry of Environment
through the annual environmental report.
Reforestation processes were carried out in
buffer areas of the different platforms that make
up the PBHI Block, in 80%, and in MDC, in 20%,
obtaining a total reforested area of 2.6 hectares,
with 725 species planted among trees and fruit
trees typical of the area.
The Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions inventory
was updated and the veriﬁcation audit was
carried out. Based on this information, a
calculation will be made for the pending
compensation for 2018 emissions.
The intervention of the pits located in the
Paraíso 8 location (pre-existing environmental
liabilities of other operations), according to
the Environmental Remediation Program
approved by the Ministry of the Environment,
was completed.
Approval was obtained for license resolution
N°163 that corresponds to the Scoped
Environment al Impact S tudy of the
environmental reevaluation for the drilling of
three development wells in the platforms: MDC02, MDC-03, and MDC-20.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT / OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
AND SAFETY
Corporate Occupational Health and Safety Strategy
During 2018, ENAP continued to reinforce its Occupational Health and Safety Strategy (OHS), as part of
the objective of becoming a model state-owned company in the care and well-being of people, framed
within its strategic business plan.
To achieve this, the Corporate Management of Occupational Health and Safety focused its efforts on
three key management processes: risk management; learning and improvement; leadership and safety
culture at work.

CENTRAL AXES OF THE OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY (OHS) STRATEGY
Empowerment of
the operation
Alignment of
collaborators

Effectiveness
and efficiency
RISK
MANAGEMENT
OSH

Delivering vision
and meaning
Mobilize and
guide leaders

LEARNING AND
IMPROVEMENT
IN OHS

LEADERSHIP
AND OHS
CULTURE

Competence
development

Avoid the repetition
of high-potential
incidents
Direction from
OHS indicators
Standardization and
systematization

These are the central axes of the Occupational Health and Safety Strategy since 2018. The joint management
of each of them has the purpose of mobilizing the organization towards an interdependent culture in
OHS risk management, where all those working at ENAP see the prevention of occupational illnesses and
accidents as part of their fundamental role, in their daily work and as the result of a job well done.
As a result of the efforts of management, workers and external collaborators, one of the main objectives
of the strategy was achieved: that all those who work in the company return to their families safe and
healthy, closing 2018 without having to regret fatal accidents due to or during work, for the second
consecutive year.
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FATAL ACCIDENTS (2008-2018)
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In addition, high-potential incidents associated with serious injuries or fatalities were reduced by 24%.
Moreover, accidents categorized as serious, in accordance with current legislation, decreased by 53%
with respect to the previous period.
With regard to the number of accidents, the Disabling Accident Frequency Rate target was met for every
million man-hours worked, ending 2018 with a Frequency Rate of 1.7 (LTA/MM HH). Thus, the goal set
for this period was surpassed by 8% in 2014. Additionally, the 2018 Frequency Index represents a 24%
reduction with respect to result in 2017.

DISABLING ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE IN ENAP 2008-2018
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT / RISK MANAGEMENT
The purpose of OHS risk management, within a framework of effectiveness and efficiency, is to empower
the operation in the adequate management of risks that may impact the safety and health of the people
who work at ENAP. Thus, tools are provided for the identiﬁcation of the dangers to which they are exposed,
the quantiﬁcation of the risks of accident or illness, the deﬁnition of controls that allow preventing the
occurrence, or mitigating the damage generated by an accident. Also, an evaluation is made of the
compliance and effectiveness of these controls in situ by the workers themselves, their supervisors,
managers, and executives of the company.

FATALITY RISK MANAGEMENT
During 2018, the Structural Safety Program continued to be implemented through the implementation in
the ﬁeld of the Guide for Veriﬁcation of Critical Controls. Designed with internal multidisciplinary teams,
it allows executives, supervisors, and workers easily and practically to identify those critical controls that
save lives, verifying the level of implementation and effectiveness before and during the execution of
tasks involving risks of fatality.
In this deployment, more than 6,700 workers were trained, both executives and supervisors of the
company’s own personnel and contractor. This training was carried out under the concept of a coach of
coaches. The objective was to explain - in an experiential way and with real exercises of the operation the use and relevance of the Guide for Veriﬁcation of Critical Controls, reinforcing the obligation to verify
and the commitment of ENAP’s highest authorities to support the halting of work when any of the critical
controls are identiﬁed as absent.
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CRISIS AND EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
Another focus of the work of the Corporate Management of Occupational Health and Safety was the
standardization of the model for responding to emergencies and crises at ENAP. During 2018, ENAP’s
Crisis Control Management System (SGMC in Spanish) was developed and launched. This corporate system
establishes clear roles and functions, both for the corporate environment and for its business units and
subsidiaries, unique escalation levels and standardized ways of responding according to the deﬁned crisis
level. The implementation considered the delivery of the protocols, as well as the training of the different
actors that must be activated in these scenarios.
On the other hand, the general emergency response plans in ENAP’s different business units and subsidiaries
were updated, which in turn led to a series of simulations and compliance evaluations.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH MANAGEMENT
In 2018, occupational health management continued through the application of a preventive model
based on the identiﬁcation of agents and risk factors to health, their evaluation, and control, as well
as the deepening of critical processes in industrial hygiene, ergonomics, and occupational medicine.
Through the medical surveillance of exposed workers, occupational and work-related examinations,
early detection of alterations is sought to prevent the generation of occupational diseases. This has led
to an increase in the number of Similar Exposure Groups (SAGs), which have been incorporated into the
respective epidemiological work surveillance programs.
One of the instruments used in 2018 to deﬁne and work on occupational health improvement plans
was the cross-cutting survey of a baseline in these subjects, standardizing the way to evaluate and
monitor compliance. This instrument establishes 10 relevant items to evaluate. The initial consolidated
value obtained was 56%, advancing to 90% compliance by the end of the period. This record allowed
the Business Units and subsidiaries to have a vision of the main strengths and areas of opportunity
existing, making the effort to improve occupational health management more efficient.
During 2018, the implementation of the Protocol for the Surveillance of Psychosocial Risks at work was
consolidated in all the analysis units in Chile, in accordance with the regulatory requirement based on the
ISTAS21 standard. It is worth mentioning the creation of Application Committees with members of joint
committees, unions, human resources, and safety, as responsible for action plans and improvements
in these matters. In addition, the Ecuador subsidiary has applied the respective survey even though it
is not a speciﬁc regulatory requirement applicable in that country.
Another noteworthy aspect is the Epidemiological Surveillance Program and the inclusion of all workers
exposed to physical, chemical, ergonomic and mental risks. During 2018, all ENAP’s Business Units and
subsidiaries complied 100% with worker identiﬁcation, planning, examination and delivery of results.
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OHS MANAGEMENT OF CONTRACTOR COMPANIES
New corporate safety and occupational health management program for contractors began to be
implemented transversally at ENAP in 2018. Its main objective is to align the management of contractor
companies with ENAP’s strategic objectives. During the period, the current situation in all ENAP’s units and
subsidiaries was surveyed, as well as the design of a standardized management model in these matters
that will allow the standardization of the criteria for monitoring, control, and evaluation of performance
in the OHS management. Finally, the focus is to crosscut ENAP’s fatality risk management strategy to
its contractors, who are a vital part of the process of building a solid Safety Culture in the company.
78% of the workers injured from 2014 to 2018 correspond to personnel of contractor
companies.
On-site veriﬁcation: replicate on-site the veriﬁcation process of contractors’ compliance with ENAP’s
OHS standards.
Monitoring and improvement: align the management indicators of contractor companies with those of
ENAP, so that the performance of contracts and collaborators can be monitored and improved.
The focus of efforts: focus on risk prioritization and controls to manage contracts from the OHS
perspective.
Homologate: homologate processes and criteria regarding roles and responsibilities in the management
of contractor companies to make management more efficient and improve control.
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The pillars of the Executive Leadership
message on the ﬁeld are:

The aim of the OHS leadership process is to
empower ENAP’s leaders as transformational
models of adequate risk management and safety
culture in the organization, aspects that are highly
required under the demanding production, legal
and ethical scenarios that people’s safety entails.

•

•

As part of this process, OHS leadership practices
were deﬁned in 2017 and continued to deepen
in 2018. These leadership activities are the
fundamental pillar of OHS’s strategy, since they
actively involve all the organization’s leaders in
the Veriﬁcation of Critical Controls associated with
the prevention of fatalities, modeling by example
the behavior of people through the veriﬁcation of
the management of risks of fatalities in the ﬁeld,
conveying the message that in ENAP the life and
safety of workers is the most important.

Continuity and consistency between statement
and action.
Reaffirm ENAP’s commitment to caring for
its workers.

•

Recognize to model the desired behaviors.

•

Execution is consistent with the objective.

•

Continuity in strategy.

Thus, during 2018, more than 760 ﬁeld veriﬁcations
were carried out by ENAP executives, representing
an increase of 128% with respect to 2017, preventively
identifying opportunities for improvement with
respect to ﬁeld controls and avoiding the occurrence
of incidents that could have serious or fatal
consequences for workers.

Another objective of leadership practices is to share
lessons learned from high-potential incidents that
have occurred, challenging investigations and
ensuring that causes are well identiﬁed, as well as
that control actions are effective in preventing the
recurrence of such incidents that tomorrow could
mean serious injuries to one of the workers. In this
way, practice makes it possible to verify that we
are learning from the ﬁndings and investigations
of incidents with a focus on High Potential.

In addition, more than 780 instances of challenging
the lessons learned from investigations of highpotential incidents were carried out, with executives
deﬁning complementary actions to those determined
by the investigation commissions.
Another relevant aspect to promote cultural
change in security are the instances in which, as
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an organization, the commitment to the care and
well-being of people is renewed.

operational discipline in the incident management
process, permanently monitoring and managing
immediate notiﬁcation, investigations within the
established deadlines and the closure of control
actions in the committed times. This continuous
monitoring enabled the average time spent on
the incident management process to be reduced
by 32% by 2018, equivalent to 16 days less than
in 2017.

During 2018, the Occupational Health and Safety
plenary session was held, led by the chairwoman of
ENAP’s Board of Directors and with the participation
of representatives of all its business units and
subsidiaries, achieving a great attendance and once
again marking a milestone with respect to ENAP’s
visible commitment to the occupational health and
safety of its workers. Another important event was
the meeting of Hygiene and Safety Joint Committees
held at ENAP Reﬁnería Bío Bío, which was attended
by representatives of ENAP’s 12 joint committees
and the joint committees of the main contractor
companies.

LEARNING AND IMPROVEMENT IN
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Learning and improvement are central points of
the strategy, the fundamental purpose of which is
to avoid the repetition of accidents and incidents.
To achieve this, ENAP adopted in 2014 the TapRooT
investigation methodology, which is applied in
all high-potential and serious incidents. This
methodology is based on the best practices of
the industry and its main characteristic is to offer
a systematic and homologated method, which
allows an effective identiﬁcation of the causes
of the incidents, a comparative analysis of the
information and the support for the deﬁnition
of effective control measures of high hierarchy
already recognized in the industry.
During 2018, research methodology reinforcement
workshops were held for internal facilitators of
research processes (TapRooT leaders). In this
process, the concepts and processes of the
methodology were reinforced to more than
50 leaders and members of the investigative
commissions, with the objective of continuing
to improve the quality of the investigations and,
consequently, the control actions derived from
them.
The organization has continued to strengthen
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY INDICATORS
Details of accidents by ENAP’s Business Unit and subsidiaries.

DP*

FI (ACC/MMHCHARGES/
MMH)

IG* (DAYS
LOST +
CARRY OVER
+ CHARGES/
MMH)

ACCIDENT RATE

# PATIENTS WITH
OCCUPATIONAL
ILLNESS

14

300

1,9

40

0,41

1

5

63

0,9

11

0,17

-

-

6

160

5,5

147

1,26

-

448.791

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

607.623

-

1

569

1,6

936

0,36

1

BUSINESS UNIT OR SUBSIDIARY

HOURS
WORKED

FATALITIES

CTP

ENAP ACONCAGIA REFINERY

7.435.241

-

ENAP BÍO BÍO REFINERY

5.521.861

-

DAO

1.086.088

LAND TRANSPORT DIRECTORATE
ENAP MAGALLANES R&C
R&C

15.099.604

-

26

1.092

1,7

72

0,35

ENAP SIPETROL ARGENTINA

2.197.330

-

-

130

-

59

-

-

ENAP SIPEC ECUADOR

1.231.710

-

-

35

-

28

-

-

ENAP MAGALLANES E&P

5.252.860

-

15

422

2,9

80

0,55

2

E&P

8.681.900

-

15

587

1,7

68

0,34

-

MAIN OFFICE

905.220

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

ENAP

24.686724

-

41

1.679

1,7

68

-

4

CO-GENERATION PLANT

223.790

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

PETROPOWER

189.763

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

G&E

413.553

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(*) Indicators include days lost + carry over and charges..
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Outstanding results
•

•

•

•

•

Recognition of nine of its facilities by the National Security Council, as a result of the effort and
results obtained in safety management.
The subsidiaries in Ecuador and Argentina closed 2018 without incapacitating accidents.
ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery reached a frequency index (FI) of 0.9, being the best result obtained in the
last 10 years and improving the result of 2017 by 36%.
On the other hand, both ENAP Magallanes E&P and ENAP Magallanes R&C were able to meet the
Frequency Index goal proposed for 2018.
Finally, ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery exceeded 4,000,000 hours of its own personnel without
incapacitating accidents. The DAO managed to overcome two years without incapacitating accidents
of its own personnel.
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STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIP CHANNELS
ENAP has open and transparent channels to relate to priority stakeholders, identiﬁed in the Sustainability
Policy. Constructive, long-term relations are sought with each of them to address issues of common
interest jointly.
The following table presents the main face-to-face and not face-to-face channels maintained with
stakeholders:
STAKEHOLDERS

WORKERS

RELATIONSHIP CHANNEL

FREQUENCY

MAIN ISSUES ADDRESSED

INTRANET

Daily

Business plan and corporate governance, safety, environment and
communities; people and organization, and operational effi ciency,
among others.

NEWSLETTER

Daily

Mentions of ENAP in the media (company, authorities, subsidiaries,
among others); industry issues that impact the company’s work;
information on the Oil & Gas sector and commodities.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Annual

ENAP’s economic, social and environmental performance.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual

Main management and ﬁnancial performance milestones.

PRESS RELEASES

Daily

Newspaper relevant news and main mentions in the media regarding
ENAP’s management and administration.

CORPORATE AND SUBSIDIARIES
NEWSLETTER

Monthly

Monthly corporate information with topics of interest in each of
the subsidiaries (corporate governance, issues on safety; environment and communities; people and organization, and operational
efficiency, among others).

PINFORMATION SCREENS (ENAP
TV)

Permanent

Topics related to the business plan and corporate governance;
institutional news; corporate events and interviews to workers and
collaborators.

BULLETIN BOARDS

Permanent

Relevant information of each Business Unit, dissemination of transversal policies and strategies.

INFORMATIVE E-MAILS

Periodic

Corporate messages with topics of interest to the entire organization.
Dissemination of policies, regulations, and invitations.
Single platform for complaints, queries or requests that consists of
four channels:

ETHICAL HOTLINE ENAP
RESPONDS

Permanent

1. Complaints about non-compliance with ENAP’s Code of Ethics.
2. Communities and the environment.
3. Requests for general information
4. Job applications

PRESENTATION OF
MANAGEMENT PROGRESS

Periodic

Financial and operational results and Strategic Business Plan.

ORGANIZATIONAL WORK
CLIMATE SURVEY

Annual

Diagnosis of the main organizational climate indicators.

MEETINGS WITH UNIONS

Periodic and
per request

Labor aspects in general.

SOCIAL NETWORKS

Permanent

Corporate information (results, operational contingencies, and signiﬁcant milestones) and news related to community relations programs.

INCIDENT REPORTS

Weekly

Reporting and management of incidents/accidents within the organization.

NAP WEBSITE

Permanent

Relevant company information: regulatory framework,
organizational structure, business lines, projects, investors and
market, sustainability, ethics, and compliance, among others.
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STAKEHOLDERS

RELATIONSHIP CHANNEL

FREQUENCY

MAIN ISSUES ADDRESSED

SUPPLIER REGISTRATION
PORTAL – ENAP WEBPAGE

Permanent

Register of natural and legal persons legally
constituted with the capacity to provide goods or
services to ENAP.

BID PORTAL – ENAP WEBPAGE

Permanent

Information and management of public bidding processes.

PAYMENT PORTAL – ENAP WEBPAGE

Permanent

Information on the status of supplier invoices.
Single platform for complaints, queries or requests that
consists of four channels:

SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

ETHICAL HOTLINE ENAP
RESPONDS

Permanent

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Annual

ENAP’s economic, social and environmental
performance.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual

Main management and ﬁnancial performance milestones.

MEETINGS AND ROUNDTABLES

Peridic and according
to contingencies

Information, clariﬁcations, and coordination of
execution of contracting processes for goods and/or
services.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Annual

ENAP’s economic, social and environmental
performance.

1. Complaints about non-compliance with ENAP’s Code
of Ethics.
2. Communities and the environment.
3. Requests for general information
4. Job applications

Single platform for complaints, queries or requests that
consists of four channels:

LOCAL
COMMUNITIES

ETHICAL HOTLINE ENAP
RESPONDS

Permanent

WEBPAGE - HUALPÉN SUMA

Permanent

Progress and initiatives carried out as part of the
Hualpén Suma Sustainability and Environment Program,
of ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery.

WEBPAGE – NUEVA ERA INFORMS

Permanent

Monitoring information on atmospheric emissions,
industrial liquid waste, and noise associated with ENAP
Aconcagua Reﬁnery and the commune of Concón.

ENAP WEBSITE

Permanent

Relevant company information: regulatory framework,
organizational structure, business lines, projects,
investors and market, sustainability, ethics, and
compliance, among others.

SOCIAL NETWORKS

Permanent

Corporate information (results, operational
contingencies, and signiﬁcant milestones) and news
related to community relations programs.

ENAP’S PUBLIC IMAGE STUDY

Annual

Consultation to stakeholders regarding ENAP’s
corporate reputation, image and positioning in the
territories where it carries out its operations.

MEETINGS WITH INDIGENOUS
COMMUNITIES AND SETTLERS ENAP ECUADOR

Quarterly

Coordination and provision of information on sharedvalue initiatives, as part of the Community management
plan.

MEETINGS WITH COMMUNITIES
ADJACENT TO OPERATIONS

Permanent

Coordination and delivery of information related to the
shared value initiatives, contingency management
information, state of operations, safety and
environment, among others.

CITIZEN COUNCIL

Bimonthly

Environmental management of ENAP Aconcagua
Reﬁnery, compliance with the initiatives committed as
part of the ERA Investment Program and Social and
Environmental Commitments.

APPLICATION ENAP CONTIGO
(ENAP WITH YOU)

Permanent

Information on the operating status of ENAP Bío Bío
Reﬁnery, environmental incidents, and community
activities.
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1. Complaints about non-compliance with ENAP’s Code
of Ethics.
2. Communities and the environment.
3. Requests for general information
Job applications

STAKEHOLDERS

RELATIONSHIP CHANNEL

FREQUENCY

MAIN ISSUES ADDRESSED
ENAP Magallanes participates regionally in:

WORK GROUPS

SHAREHOLDERS

1. Mining Work Group, which is also integrated by the Seremi
of Mining and the Seremi of Women.
2. Working Group on Women and Gender Equity, which is
also integrated by the National Women’s Service and
Gender Equity.

Annual

STAKEHOLDERS’ BULLETIN

Monthly

Relevant information sent to ENAP’s main stakeholders,
including communities. Among the topics disseminated
are a business plan and corporate governance, issues on
safety, environment, and communities and operational
efficiency, among others.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual

Main management and ﬁnancial performance milestones.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Annual

ENAP's economic, social and environmental performance.

ENAP WEBSITE

Permanent

Relevant company information: regulatory framework,
organizational structure, business lines, projects, investors and market, sustainability, ethics, and compliance,
among others.

CONFERENCE CALL

Quarterly

Conference calls with investors, bondholders, and ﬁnancial
actors.

ENAP WEBSITE

Permanent

Relevant company information: regulatory framework,
organizational structure, business lines, projects, investors and market, sustainability, ethics, and compliance,
among others.
Single platform for complaints, queries or requests that
consists of four channels:

SOCIETY IN
GENERAL

CONTRATISTAS

5. Complaints about non-compliance with ENAP’s Code
of Ethics.
6. Communities and the environment.
7. Requests for general information
8. Job applications

ETHICAL HOTLINE ENAP RESPONDS

Permanent

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Annual

ENAP’s economic, social and environmental performance.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual

Main management and ﬁnancial performance milestones.

SOCIAL NETWORKS

Permanent

Corporate information (results, operational contingencies,
and signiﬁcant milestones) and news related to community
relations programs.

PERCEPTION STUDY ON ENAP’S
PUBLIC IMAGE

Annual

Consultation to stakeholders regarding ENAP’s corporate
reputation, image and positioning in the territories where
it carries out its operations.

MEETINGS AGREED UNDER THE
LOBBYING LAW

Permanent

Hearings with authorities and public services, with the aim
of dealing with matters of interest under Law No. 20,730.

INFORMATION SCREENS (ENAP TV)

Permanent

Information and relevant and/or interesting activities for
workers of contractor companies.

BULLETIN BOARDS

Permanent

Information and relevant and/or interesting activities for
workers of contractor companies.

WORK GROUPS PER BUSINESS UNIT

Weekly

Topics of common interest with workers’ federations.

MEETINGS WITH REPRESENTATIVES
OF CONTRACTOR COMPANIES BY
BUSINESS UNIT

Bimonthly

Relevant information on labor relations.
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Innovation and Technological
Development Management (ITEC)
NEW VISION OF INNOVATION AND DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION IN ENAP
During 2018, ENAP reconsidered its expectations and visions regarding technological development
and digital transformation, to deﬁne the purpose of management and the offer of future value. To
this end, the “Golden Circle” methodology was developed, which proposes to answer the following
questions: Why does management exist? (Why), how will it execute its purpose? (How) and what
does it offer the organization? (What). After a collaborative work, which involved the transversal
participation of all of ENAP, the indicated management axes were deﬁned.
This also meant renaming ICAT’s previous Management as the Innovation and Technological
Development Management, thus aligning the new value offer. This management will be in charge of
building and developing ENAP’s digital transformation plan, to adopt the new technologies referring
to Industry 4.0. In this process, more than 20 short and long-term action plans were generated,
involving topics related to innovation management, communication, change management, and
service orientation, among others.
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4. IAAS - Innovation as a Service: corresponds
to the methodology that ENAP seeks to
develop in a Lab format, which allows a
deeper understanding of the development and
validation of problems, to rethink the challenges
faced by Industry 4.0, discovering high-value
solutions in short times.

Development of the Corporate Technological
Innovation Plan
The Corporate Technological Innovation Plan was
launched during 2018, its purpose was to raise
challenges in the different business lines that would
have a signiﬁcant impact on ENAP’s operations,
whether from the point of view of reducing risks
in the operation, environmental sustainability or
operational efficiency.

Systems Architecture and Cloud Journey
Because digitization requires an understanding of
business capabilities so that modern technologies
can support the core processes of the company,
process-oriented management practices, enterprise
architecture and innovation were incorporated
into the management’s operating model. Processoriented management allowed us to identify almost
450 business processes, 240 of which were
formalized in 2018.

During this process, the concepts of “cells” were
generated, made up of interdisciplinary teams,
which involved mobilizing dozens of collaborators
in all the company’s Business Units. Together with
the capacity for creation and ideation generated, the
dynamics of collaborative work between different
areas were created, which support the construction
of ENAP’s identity.

The analysis of the modeled processes made it
possible to identify opportunities for improvement
in fundamental areas of the business, increasing
visibility and implementing Value Management
concepts, the ﬁrst version of which was also deﬁned
and modeled last year.

Thus, for 2018-2019, four development axes were
deﬁned around ENAP’s digital transformation:
1. Predictive analytics: incorporation of
technologies such as Big Data, Machine
Learning, and Artiﬁcial Intelligence, which have
the potential to increase efficiency in areas
such as maintenance, production process, and
exploration, among others.

With respect to systems architecture, signiﬁcant
progress was made in establishing a catalog of
applications and deﬁning their life-cycle model.
Both activities will allow a detailed review of all the
systems in use in ENAP in the course of 2019 so
that the roadmap for each application is clear in
the period 2019-2020.

2. Mobility and robotics: development of robotics
technologies, drones, augmented reality, virtual
reality, and wearables. An important contribution
of these is visualized in the management of
operational risks and in the maintenance of
operations.

Based on the advances described above, and aware
of the evolution of ENAP’s business, its challenges
and associated technological development, ITEC
Management undertook a project called Cloud
Journey and has designed a new service model
for the provision of infrastructure based on cloud
technologies. This service will provide ﬂexibility,
reduction of delivery time, improvements in
availability and, at the same time, will allow a
signiﬁcant cost reduction.

3. Process Automation: involves the development
of technologies such as RPA (Robotic Process
Automation) and Artiﬁcial Intelligence, which
focuses on supporting the productivity of
repetitive tasks, along with reducing errors.
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The process of transformation to Cloud Journey
begins in the ﬁrst half of 2019, and will focus its
efforts on the organizational adoption of the new
model and the analysis of transition opportunities
from private cloud to public cloud (Microsoft Azure
and Amazon Web Services, among other options),
along with preparing ENAP’s corporate applications
to be used using these technologies.
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Awards and Recognitions
2018
ENAP GROUP

ENAP ACONCAGUA REFINERY

ENAP among the best companies in the Corporate
Sustainability Index: ENAP was highlighted among
the 25 companies with the best performance in this
index developed by ActionAbility and published by
Revista Capital. After an evaluation of a universe
of 124 companies in 2018, ENAP was ranked N°16.

Society Vision Training Award 2018: As a result of
the permanent training work for the residents of
Concón and Quintero, ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery
was recognized with this distinction awarded by
the Association of Companies of the V Region
(ASIVA Asociación de Empresas de la V Región), as
part of the traditional Annual Meeting and Business
Confraternity Dinner of the guild entity.

National Security Council (CNS) Award: in
the context of its Fifty-sixth Annual National
Security Contest, the CNS (Consejo Nacional de
Seguridad) recognized ENAP in its different units
and operations (Head Office and ENAP Magallanes),
ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. (ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery
and DAO) and ENAP Sipetrol S.A., as part of the
organizations that, during 2018, achieved effective
results in the prevention of risks of occupational
accidents and diseases.

Carlos Vial Espantoso 2018 Award: distinguished
among the eight best companies in the country
in labor relations and management of excellent
human resources, in a recognition that this year 31
companies were nominated. The award ceremony
took place at the Extension Center of the Pontiﬁcia
Universidad Católica de Chile, on November 2018,
and was attended by executives and union leaders
of our company.

Cool Place to Bike Award: in the seventh and
eighth versions of Cool Place to Bike, a contest
developed by Kappo Bike that encourages the use
of bicycles, ENAP was awarded for its participation
in the April and November 2018 competitions.
The award is a recognition to the companies that
achieve all the objectives of the activity, such
as the number of participants, CO2 not emitted,
calories and experience points.
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Pioneer Woman 2018: The local National Service
for Women and Gender Equity distinguished Karina
Ojeda, Head of Management Control, and Francis
Sánchez, Contracts Inspector of ENAP Magallanes,
for faithfully representing the pioneering spirit of
the women who work in the industrial sector at
the local level.

ENAP BÍO BÍO REFINERY
Permanent Dialog Recognition: the Association
of Artisanal Fishermen (Asociación Gremial de
Pescadores Artesanales) gave two recognitions:
one to ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery and another speciﬁc
one to the Communities Department of this Business
Unit, for the constant support and transparent dialog
between the company and the ﬁshermen’s and
shipowners’ unions of San Vicente Bay in Talcahuano.

Outstanding Management 2018: Mutual de
Seguridad de Magallanes recognized the work of
the joint committees of Punta Arenas, Posesión
and Tierra del Fuego, for their achievements in
preventing occupational accidents and diseases
during 2018.

Recognition by the Hualpén Fire Department: the
award was obtained by ENAP thanks to the constant
support to this institution, in terms of training of its
volunteers, continuous work and drills, as well as
for the contributions, both for the annual fuel of its
units and for the purchase of ﬁreﬁghting equipment.

ENAP SIPEC ECUADOR
Carbon Neutral Certiﬁcation: This achievement
accredits the adoption of the best practices in
greenhouse gas emissions management in all
the subsidiary’s operations in Ecuador. After
the 2017 measurement, in 2018, ENAP Sipec
Ecuador surpassed its self-imposed reduction and
compensation targets. To achieve this last objective,
forest sponsorship agreements were signed in
the Ecuadorian Amazon, prioritizing areas close
to the operation of Kichwa communes and thus
potentiating the social and environmental culture
of the surrounding communities.

ENAP MAGALLANES
Community’s Outstanding Working Woman:
Gricelda Soto Gallardo received this important
recognition from the Town of Punta Arenas.
Outstanding Woman 2018: As part of the
celebrations for International Women’s Day, Érica
Hidalgo Barahona, Coordinator of Corporate
Responsibility and Gender of ENAP Magallanes,
was distinguished by the Regional Government of
Magallanes and the National Service for Women
and Gender Equity.

Environmentally and Socially Responsible
Company: Halliburton awarded the subsidiary in
Ecuador a medal because the wells of the Mauro
Dávalos Cordero Block (35 and 36) operated with
efficiency and proper planning, avoiding impacts
on people, communities or the environment in
the area in which they are located, within the
Amazon region.

Environmental recognition: ENAP Magallanes
was recognized as one of the companies that
contributed the most to the cell phone recycling
campaign organized by Entel.
Outstanding Women in the extractive sector:
as part of the Miners’ Day, the Seremis of Mining
and Women and Gender Equity recognized Romy
Maldonado Esmeg for her work as an engineer in
Maritime Transport and Ports.
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Compliance Managment
The Management’s mission is to promote ENAP’s
values through the adoption of good practices
in all areas of work between the company and
its stakeholders, as well as to mitigate the
materialization of certain risks that expose the
assets or reputation, thus contributing to the
sustainability of the organization.
The Ethics and Compliance Management reports
to ENAP’s Board of Directors, through its Audit and
Compliance Subcommittee.
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MAIN MANAGEMENT HIGHLIGHTS 2018
Crime Prevention Model

Free Competition Policy

ENAP has a Crime Prevention Model (MPD) in force,
which was certiﬁed in 2015, and recertiﬁed in 2017
by BH Compliance.

To encourage ENAP to develop its business
competitively, in June the Board of Directors
approved the Free Competition Policy, which
is mandatory for the entire company. Through
this regulation, which strengthens a culture of
transparency and probity in the way of doing
business, ENAP rejects all practices that limit
the competitive process, such as collusion, the
exchange of sensitive commercial information with
competitors or the execution of agreements to
affect bidding processes.

This model consists of a system of organization,
administration, supervision, and control of the risks
of the commission of the crimes established in
Law N°20.393 and its modiﬁcations, of Criminal
Responsibility of the Legal Person.
The model has four main elements: a prevention
officer appointed by the Board of Directors,
which corresponds to the Compliance Manager;
a normative body composed of the Code of
Ethics, policies, regulations and procedures that
complement the Crime Prevention Manual and
regulate, for example, conﬂicts of interest; a queries
and complaints line (ENAP Responds); and an MPD
Risks Matrix, which speciﬁcally and according to
the corporate risk methodology, identiﬁes the risks
related to the Law, establishing mitigation plans.

As an essential part of the Free Competition
Program, manuals and protocols were generated to
protect it, in addition to a training plan that included
directors, ﬁrst-line managers, union leaders and
focused groups of the R&C and G&E Business Lines,
which totaled 76 people.

To strengthen the MPD matrix, new risks have
been incorporated in its analysis, including fraud,
generating a consolidated matrix of these. For ENAP
Sipetrol Argentina, during 2018 an Integrity Model
was implemented, in accordance with the provisions
of Law N°20.401, on Criminal Responsibility of the
Argentine Legal Person, generating a risk matrix,
including the identiﬁcation of those responsible
and the preparation of mitigation plans.
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Management and investigation of ENAP
Responds hotline

Strengthening the Ethical Culture
A fundamental pillar of ENAP’s sustainability is the
way of doing business, which must be conducted
from an ethical perspective. Along these lines,
Compliance Management focuses on a preventive
program that promotes the strengthening of a
culture of probity based on values.

During 2018, ENAP Respond hotline received a total
of 76 complaints about breaches to the Code of Ethics
and 35 queries.
Thirty-eight percent (29) of the complaints received
were nominative and 62 percent (47) were anonymous.
The total number of complaints received remained
the same as those received during 2017. However,
the proportion of anonymous complaints increased
over the previous year.

The management of this area was addressed, during
2018, through the corporate training program and
the development of an operational initiative, which
included:
•

•

The Socialization, Training and Continuing
Education Program. One of the main axes in the
consolidation of an ethical organizational culture
is the socialization and continuous training to
different audiences of interest. Thus, in 2018,
face-to-face training sessions were held in all
the Business Units in Chile and the subsidiary in
Argentina, with 165 and 123 people participating,
respectively. The instances addressed issues
related to Compliance Management, through
an Integrity approach.

The trend continued with regard to complaints, which
refer to management and/or relations with persons,
i.e.: discrimination and mistreatment; harassment at
work; and sexual harassment.
The Ethics Committee met regularly, making
recommendations and taking action where
appropriate.
The breakdown of the complaints received can be
found in the Queries and Complaints 2018 Chart.

An operational initiative called “Implementation
of Ethical Projects Linked to the Business”.
Its purpose was to ensure the integration
of values in organizational definitions and
coordination and management mechanisms,
to allow their implementation in the long-term.
En este sentido, se plantearon como objetivos:
1.

QUERIES AND COMPLAINTS 2018

To identify the level of development of
ENAP’s governance and management
around its organizational values.

68%

2. To identify opportunities for improvement
in the management of values.

76 complaints

3. Deﬁne an action plan to address the
detected gaps and strengthen the
management of ENAP’s values.

32%

The results of this process were presented in
December to the Corporate Governance and Human
Resources Committee.

35 queries
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COMPLAINTS BY SUBJECT*

Discrimination and mistreatment

20

26%

Others

19

25%

Breach of purchasing regulations or
contradictions with the supplier

5

6%

Fraud: falsiﬁcation or alteration of
accounting or ﬁnancial information

5

6%

Sexual Harassment

5

6%

Harassment at Work

5

6%

Occupational Safety

5

6%

Conﬂicts of interest and external
activities

5

6%

Improper use of company assets

4

5%

Use of privileged or conﬁdential
information

2

Bribery - Law N° 20,593

1

Drugs / Alcohol

0

Embezzlement / Theft

0

Improper acceptance of gifts,
entertainment or beneﬁts

0
0

51%

Admissible
39

49%

Inadmissible
37

62%

Anonymous
47

3%
1%

38%

Nominative
29

5

10

15

*En ocasiones un denunciante denuncia más de una materia.
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20

38 % Correspond to

management issues
and/or relationship with
people

Risk Management
ENAP’s operations and businesses, both in Chile
and abroad, have faced and will continue to
face changing environments, with uncertainties
inherent to the different markets. In addition, new
risks have arisen, related to future challenges or
generated by regulatory, social and environmental
changes, in an increasingly recurrent manner.
However, there are other risks that have been
decreasing their criticality, in relation to the
development and implementation of their new
controls and mitigation measures.
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For this reason, since the deﬁnition of the Risk
Management Model in 2016, its implementation
and application have become one of the main
management processes within the company. Its
purpose has been to strengthen the knowledge
and capabilities within the organization, to
identify, evaluate and try to mitigate in time
the risks that may jeopardize the fulﬁllment of
its operational objectives, safety, and care of
its employees, environmental, community and
regulatory compliance, for the proper operation
of its facilities.

PERIOD OF 2018
One of the main achievements in terms of roles
and responsibilities that the implementation of
the Risk Management Model achieved, in the
regular and daily activities of the organization,
was the deﬁnition of compliance objectives. With
this, the proposed action and mitigation plans to
be developed in 2018 for the most critical risks
identiﬁed and evaluated in 2017 were followed up
and controlled. On the other hand, it was possible
to identify, evaluate and propose new mitigation
measures for critical risks detected in the course
of 2018 (mega-risks and high risks).

In the course of 2018, work was done to
consolidate this plan in ENAP. Thus, during each
organized visit to the assets of the different
business units and/or international subsidiaries,
risk analysis workshops were held to identify,
evaluate and analyze mitigation and consequence
control measures, reinforcing knowledge of the
Management Model, especially the aspects related
to its three-line defense Governance Model, its
single risk evaluation matrix and the deﬁnitions
of “risk appetite” and “risk tolerance” approved
by the Board of Directors.

This resulted in the deﬁnition of concrete goals
for the different areas of ENAP, with milestones,
responsibilities and speciﬁc deadlines. The purpose
was that, throughout the year, each one of the
stages of the Risk Management Methodology
(identiﬁcation, evaluation, treatment or mitigation
of risks and monitoring, and follow-up of its action
and mitigation plans) would be systematically
executed, depending on whether they were risks
reported in 2017 or new risks identiﬁed in 2018.
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The milestones were established as follows:
I.

Mega-risks and high risks deﬁned in 2017:
•

Complete the process of quantiﬁcation
of identiﬁed high risks by the end of 2017.

•

Evaluation of the contribution of its
mitigation measures to the reduction of
the risks potential impact and/or their
probability of occurrence.

•

Review of the Audit reports once the 2018
plan has been deﬁned, for the main risks
identiﬁed and evaluated the previous year.

•

Six-monthly monitoring of the development
and execution of the mitigation measures
defined in ENAP’s Budget (PAG-2018),
proposing new adjustment measures to
deviations identiﬁed during the year and
which must be considered in the structuring
of the 2019 budget.

be implemented, identifying and quantitatively
evaluating the most critical risks (mega-risks and
high risks). Likewise, the existing mitigation measures
and controls were made known, establishing in the
budget the new measures necessary to reduce the
level of impact and/or probability of occurrence of
the risks present in ENAP.

II. New risks identiﬁed in 2018:
•

Compliance milestones were deﬁned to have
permanent monitoring of the operation,
market conditions, regulatory changes,
and environmental conditions, which could
translate into the generation of new risks or
an increase in their critical condition.

•

Analysis and quantiﬁcation of new megarisks and high risks.

•

Elaboration of action plans and concrete
mitigation measures to be presented in the
budget elaboration process for 2019 (PAG2019).

RISK CULTURE
In the continuous process of developing a risk culture
within ENAP, aimed at increasing understanding of
the key aspects of the Risk Management Model,
training was coordinated and carried out. This
instance allowed the meeting of representatives
of the different Business Units, international
subsidiaries, and corporate management, to develop
a day of exchange of experiences and improvement
in the knowledge related to quantitative risk
assessments.

The formalization of these goals allowed to
strengthen the required commitment in the
different areas of the company. In this way, the
Risk Management Methodology continued to

Also, to help strengthen the risk culture, risk
identification and evaluation workshops were
coordinated and executed in ENAP’s different
Business Units and subsidiaries, where Risk
Management contributed with their knowledge
of the methodology. In this way, the directors of
108
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Projects and Operating Areas carried out risk assessments in subjects such as project execution, land and
sea transport operations, product quality and certiﬁcation in the laboratories of ENAP Reﬁnería Aconcagua
and ENAP Reﬁnería Bío Bío, among others.

RISK REPORTING
In compliance with the mandate described in ENAP’s Governance and Risk Reporting Model, which
was deﬁned in ENAP’s Risk Appetite, meetings of the Risk Committee were coordinated with Senior
Management and presentations to the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Board of Directors.
The purpose was to inform about the progress in the area of Risk Management, together with updating
the organization’s risk statistics, the detailed qualitative and quantitative evaluations of mega-risks,
and the mitigation plans to reduce their criticality.
The risk categories deﬁned in ENAP’s Risk Management Methodology, which are identiﬁed, evaluated
and reported, were:
CATEGORY

DEFINITION

OPERATIONAL

Risks in speciﬁc production processes resulting from improper use of procedures, systems, and policies.

PROJECT EXECUTION

Risks resulting from deviations in speciﬁc objectives of a project.

MARKET/FINANCIAL

Risks resulting from uncertainty in returns and ﬁnancial losses.

STRATEGIC

Risks resulting from deviations from a business / strategic plan due to internal or external
effects to the organization.

ORGANIZATION

Risks related to aspects of Human Resources that have an impact on the business.

POLITICAL/SOCIAL

Risks resulting from political decisions, events or conditions that affect the business results.

RISK CATEGORIES: THEIR
LEVEL OF IMPACT ON ENAP’S
BUSINESS (MEASURED AS A
PERCENTAGE)

79%

80
70
60

40
30
20

4%

10

3%

9%

4%

1%
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CHALLENGES
“We cannot eliminate risks altogether, but we can learn to manage them, mitigate them and control their
potential impacts. This is the premise that is still in force, both for national and international operations
in which ENAP participates.
In this scenario, the challenge for 2019 consists of the deﬁnitive consolidation of the Risk Management
Model in the company’s activities. This translates into each manager responsible for a production unit or a
speciﬁc process of the company, knowing in detail and managing their own risks, proposing and executing
speciﬁc mitigation plans, which will later be incorporated into the structuring of the annual plans of Internal
Audit for monitoring and control.
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Market Risk Analysis
ENAP participates in the exploration and production
of hydrocarbons through its subsidiary ENAP
Sipetrol S.A. and, in the reﬁning, transportation,
storage, and commercialization of petroleum
products through ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. The reﬁning
and marketing of its products in Chile represent a
signiﬁcant part of ENAP operations.

The business of ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. consists
mainly of buying crude oil in the international
market for reﬁning and sale of the products thus
produced in the domestic market, according to its
policy of import parity prices. The reﬁning margin
is subject to ﬂuctuations in international prices of
crude oil, the reﬁned products and the difference
between them (international margin or “crack”).
Considering an average reﬁning level of 68 million
barrels per year, a variation of US$1 per barrel in
the crack would have, ceteris paribus, an impact on
the results of US$68 million in one way or another.

The company accesses the international market for
the supply of crude oil and products. This allows
the company to ensure supply and fulﬁllment of
its trade commitments. The supply of crude oil of
ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. is mainly obtained from South
America and the North Sea. Its main suppliers
are Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Argentina, and the
United Kingdom. The company’s reﬁneries have
the necessary facilities for the reception and
storage of this raw material. As for the origin of
the imported reﬁned products, during the last
year, these products came mainly from the United
States.

As a core strategy to address the risk of changes in
reﬁning margins, ENAP has directed its investments
to increase its production ﬂexibility and product
quality. So far no ﬁnancial derivatives have been
hired to fix the refining margin, but the price
levels offered by the market are being monitored
constantly.
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The relevant risks to the business are essentially
the reﬁning margin and the price ﬂuctuations in
international markets of oil and products, due to
the time delay between the purchase (shipment) of
the raw material and sale of the reﬁned products.
Hedges such as Time Spread Swaps are made to
cover the latter risks. Such hedging strategies
are complemented with the use of swap sales
contracts of reﬁned products.

is based on an optimization model that takes into
account, among other variables, a projected reﬁning
margin using the ICE Brent marker. Therefore,
when awarding a tender for crude oil to an offer
denominated in WTI or DTD marker, it is important
to ensure that the differential between such marker
and the ICE Brent, at the moment of the decision
to purchase, does not deteriorate signiﬁcantly, to
maintain the optimization criterion that prevailed
at the time of awarding the purchase of crude oil.

Given the high volatility in oil prices, the
administration has continued with the hedging
contracting policy that allows minimizing the
impact of any sudden and signiﬁcant declines in oil
prices, considering the reﬁning business cycle, due
to the gap between selling prices of the products
and the cost of crude oil reﬁning. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, it is important to mention that these
instruments, by their nature and way of operation,
do not ensure a 100% elimination of effects on
results due to the volatility in the purchase of
raw material.

The exchange rate is another business risk factor
because an important part of revenues is in pesos
and the liabilities in dollars. This factor is minimized
by the hedging policy of exchange rate of accounts
receivable and prices of products based on import
parity indexed in dollars, a situation that is analyzed
periodically to maintain a competitive position,
taking into account the freedom of prices and
importation that exists in Chile.
The fair value of forward currency contracts is
calculated taking as reference current forward
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity
proﬁles. The fair value of the differential swap
is calculated using relevant markers’ futures
contracts tables (NYNEX WTI, Brent DTD or ICE
Brent).

Additionally, the company has conducted swap rate
differential operations, which aim to set the price of
those shipments indexed to WTI or DTD markers to
Brent ICE marker. In each crude oil purchase tender,
the decision to buy one alternative over another
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Synthesis of Results
ENAP obtained a loss of US$231 million as of
December 31, 2018, which compares with a proﬁt of
US$23.7 million as of December 31, 2017. In the last
quarter of 2018, in accordance with the standards
established by IFRS, the economic value of ENAP’s
productive assets was reviewed, together with
the external auditors, recognizing a lower value in
relation to that recorded for US$204 million. This
devaluation explains signiﬁcantly the company’s
loss.

Exploration & Production (E&P) Business
Line: US$222.2 Million.

•

Gas & Energy (G&E) Business Line: US$28.4
Million.

The Gross Margin of the R&C Business Line of
US$90.2 million was affected by the international
context of the product market, which resulted
in a lower Gross Margin of US$297.4 million with
respect to the ﬁscal year 2017. This fall is mainly
due to a lower margin in the sale of own products
for US$143.2 million, higher raw material costs for
US$22.4 million, a change in the hedge contracting
curve (Contango in 2017 and Backwardation in
2018) for US$67.6 million and higher energy costs
for US$64 million.

The lower value mentioned above basically affected
assets in the Exploration and Production area, due
to the decrease in the price of gas that began to
be produced in 2017, was maintained throughout
2018 and is not expected to be recovered in the
medium term, and to the review of the gas demands
towards ENAP by companies in the Magallanes area.
All this led ENAP’s Honorable Board of Directors,
under a criterion of prudence, to recognize the
lower economic value of such assets. Likewise,
the result considers extraordinary provisions for
2018, associated with the Restructuring Plan that
took place at the beginning of 2019, for an amount
of US$23 million. However, the total extraordinary
accounting adjustments for 2018 amount to
US$227 million. In addition to this, ENAP’s result
takes place in a context of low reﬁning margins
caused by inventory surpluses and higher crude
oil purchase costs.

The Gross Margin of the E&P Business Line of
US$222.2 million had a positive variation of
US$97.4 million with respect to the same period
of the previous year, mainly explained by Argentina,
a subsidiary that had higher revenues from the sale
of crude oil and gas for US$68.4 million as a result
of higher volumes and better sales prices. ENAP
Magallanes has a higher margin of US$15.8 million
due to better raw product prices. This is offset by a
higher cost of depletion quota of US$13.7 and lower
compensation (Magallanes subsidy) to the gas
price of US$5 million. Afterward, Ecuador presents
a margin increase of US$25.5 million because of
higher crude oil revenues due to higher production
and Egypt has a higher margin of US$8.7 million
with respect to the previous year mainly due to
higher crude oil revenues because of the better
price of Brent.

Ebitda reached US$526.4 million and ENAP’s equity
increased to US$1,030.8 million as of December 31,
2018, which compares with US$815.6 million as of
December 31, 2017.
Consolidated Gross Margin reached US$340.8
million, according to the following breakdown:
•

•

The Gross Margin of the G&E Business Line was
US$28.3 million and compares positively with the
loss in the margin of US$5.5 million obtained in
the previous year. This is mainly explained by the
higher-margin per item of a supply contract with
re-gasiﬁcation capacity in 2018 of US$30 million.

Reﬁning & Commercialization (R&C)
Business Line: US$90.2 Million.
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On August 3, 2018, ENAP was capitalized in US$400
million by the State of Chile. This capitalization is
framed within the context of the entry into force
of ENAP’s new Corporate Governance Law, which
established the conditions for the realization of
this capital increase and reinforces the support
of the State of Chile to the management of the
company. The funds from this capitalization were
fully used to pay the short-term debt.

With respect to the sale of imported products
(diesel, gasoline and fuel oil), there is an increase
in a volume equivalent to 43.8%, accompanied by
better sales prices, which vary from US$73.6 per
barrel to US$89.9 per barrel.
E&P sales revenues increased US$146.2 million,
mainly from the subsidiary Sipetrol Argentina with an
increase of US$65.2 million due to higher oil and gas
revenues because of higher volumes and prices. At
the same time, the subsidiary in Ecuador increased
by US$30.4 million the revenues mainly associated
with the MDC oil ﬁeld due to higher production versus
the previous year (+27%). Egypt increased revenues
by US$11.5 million due to higher Brent prices. Finally,
ENAP Magallanes presents an increase of US$39.1
million in its revenues due to higher crude oil prices,
revenues from raw product sales and higher gas
revenues due to higher volumes.

INCOME
In 2018, the price of Brent crude oil global benchmark
recorded an average of US$71.5 per barrel in the
Intercontinental Exchange in London, 30,5% higher
than the average in 2017 (US$54.8 per barrel). This
increase in the international price of Brent has a
direct impact on ENAP’s sales revenue, which almost
entirely explains the positive variation of US$1,884.7
million from one year to the next.

Revenues from the sale of imported natural gas
increased by US$56.2 million mainly due to the
higher Brent marker with respect to 2017, which had
a positive impact on 2018 sales prices, exceeding
2017 sales prices by US$2.2 per MMBtu.

The increase in revenues from sales of own products
of US$999.2 million due to price increases generates
a higher income of US$1,146 million, which was offset
by lower revenues due to a decrease in reﬁning
margins of US$-147 million.

The revenues associated with the compensation
by the State of Chile that covers the lowest
value obtained from sales of gas produced in the
Magallanes Region amounted to US$90.3 million.
This represents a 5% decrease from US$95.3 million
at December 31, 2017.

COST OF SALES
The 29.4% increase in revenues, compared to the
34.7% increase in costs, ﬁnally generates a 32.8%
drop in the margin, or US$166, a margin one million
lower in 2018 compared to 2017.
The higher sales costs are explained by the variation
of:
The purchase cost of crude oil increased US$1,258.6
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million (35.5%), which is explained by a rise in the price
of raw product cost, which went from an average of
US$58.4 per barrel in 2016, to an average of US$71.5
per barrel (30.5%) during the ﬁscal year 2018, related
to the increase in the international price of Brent
crude oil. Non-crude oil operating costs presented
a higher cost variation of US$44.9. This variation is
explained by higher ﬁxed costs in contracts, services
and a remuneration of US$19 million and higher
depreciation of US$25.8 million, mainly related to
capitalization of ﬁxed assets.

in logistics contracts, associated with increases
in LPG exports and imports in Magallanes; an
increase of US$1.6 million in personnel expenses,
partially offset by a decrease of US$2.0 million in
contract prices with transportation suppliers and
a decrease of US$2.3 million in others.
Administrative expenses increased by US$23.7
million from US$111.9 million at December 31, 2017,
to US$135.6 million on December 31, 2018, due
to the provision of a US$22.9 million endowment
adjustment.

The E&P production cost increased by US$47.8
million, mainly explained by greater depreciation
and depletion quota in the Argentine Magallanes
Area - by activation of the PIAM Project - and in
Magallanes Chile by US$22.9 million, Royalties for
greater production in Argentina (PIAM Project) and
an increase in the price of crude oil by US$11.2 million,
greater cost of imported crude oil for US$7.6 million,
and Other greater costs for US$6.1 million.

Other expenses per function show a balance
of US$262.2 million as of December 31, 2018,
corresponding to: costs of exploratory campaigns
(US$16.8 million); impairment loss (US$179.8 million)
(a); provisions (US$1.1 million); exploratory dry wells
estimate (US$24.2 million); property, plant and
equipment write-offs (US$24 million); exploration
and other costs (US$16.2 million). This compares
with a balance of US$107.8 million as of December
31, 2017, corresponding to costs of exploratory
campaigns (US$17.1 million); impairment (US$56.2
million); exploratory dry wells estimate (US$23.3
million); exploration costs and others (US$11.2
million).

PRIME MARGIN
The average primary unit margin in the ﬁscal
year 2018 decreased US$3.6 per barrel, which
represents US$259.3 million of lower prime margin
compared to the previous ﬁscal year.

On December 31, 2018, the estimate of the assets
recoverable value of the E&P business line portfolio
through the “value in use” method determined
an impairment adjustment for ENAP Magallanes
of ThUS$150,800 and of ThUS$29,032 for Área
Magallanes (Argentina). The discount rates used
in the current estimates correspond to 6.4% for
ENAP Magallanes and 9.4% for Área Magallanes
(Argentina). The main events and circumstances
that led to the recognition of these impairment
losses are due to an increase in the supply of
natural gas in Argentina as a result of price
incentives granted by the government to promote
the development of unconventional gas reserves,
causing a fall in Argentine market prices. Under the
current market conditions, no recovery expectation
are foreseen in the medium term. In addition,

VARIATIONS IN OTHER CATEGORIES
Other income by function presents a balance of
US$45.7 million as of December 31, 2018, compared
to US$41.1 million as of December 31, 2017. This
variation of US$4.6 million is mainly related to
the recovery of accounts receivable provisioned
for US$15.9 million, offset by effects in 2017 of
US$9.2 million, associated with the sale of LNG
rights and other effects by reversal of provisions
of US$2.1 million.
The distribution costs show an increase of US$7.5
million, from US$229.4 million as of December 31,
2017, to US$236.9 million, as of December 31, 2018.
The main causes are: an increase of US$10.2 million
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US$243.8 million at December 31, 2018, mainly
explained by an increase in the average ﬁnancial
debt during 2018 with respect to 2017, associated
with the company’s investment plan and higher
ﬁnancing of working capital, as a result of higher
Brent prices. This higher level of bank debt (bank
loans and bond obligations) generated a higher
financial cost of US$26 million due to higher
interest payments, US$11.3 million associated
with higher interest related to supplier ﬁnancing
and liabilities discounted at an effective rate and
other ﬁnancial effects of US$300,000.

since the Argentine government’s decision to
reopen natural gas exports in October 2018, ENAP
Magallanes is no longer the only supplier of natural
gas in Chile.
Considering the foregoing, the investments
projected for 2019 and subsequent years were
re-evaluated, as well as the level of drilling of
wells, the considerations of the development of
a relevant area for the potential business in nonconventional gas, the estimation of long-term
prices for the sale of companies and residences,
and the effects of changes in the context of the
actors that participate in the development of the
industry. The estimate is based on investment
ﬂows up to 2030 and, from then on, a projection of
the last ﬂow is made for 20 years. As of December
31, 2017, the measurement of the recoverable value
of the assets of the E&P Business Line portfolio
through the “value in use” method determined
an impairment adjustment for Pampa del Castillo
for US$34,413 and US$21,776 for Campamento
Central Cañadon Perdido.

The exchange difference evolved from a negative
balance of US$2.1 million at December 31, 2017, to
a negative balance of US$41.2 million at December
31, 2018, as a result of the effects of the variation
in the exchange rate on the closing position of
monetary assets in pesos (CLP appreciation) and
effects of currency devaluation in Argentina.
The tax item reﬂected a proﬁt of US$275.8 million
as of December 31, 2018, which compares with the
proﬁt of US$102.1 million obtained as of December
31, 2017. This increase is explained by higher tax
losses in ENAP of US$236.2 million and a rise
in deferred taxes of US$179.4 million at a group
level, associated with provisions for impairment
and net realizable value of inventory, mainly; net
of payment for current taxes of US$41.9 million
and other variations of US$15.2 million.

Other gains decreased by US$5.2 million mainly
because, as of December 31, 2017, this account
mostly reﬂected the proﬁt on the sale of its Head
Office premises, located at Avenida Vitacura 2736.
Financial costs increased by US$37.6 million
from US$206.2 million at December 31, 2017 to
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ASSETS

increase (2.1%) in the volume of inventories
(137.7 MBbl) and that explains the decrease of
US$38.7 million.

As of December 31, 2018, the total assets presented
an increase of US$468.2 million, in relation to the
total assets existing as of December 31, 2017. This
increase is mainly generated by the offset effect
of the variations experienced in the balances of
the following items:
•

An increase in cash and cash equivalents of
US$433.6 million (473.9%), mainly explained
by the closing position to cover the capital
payment of the Bond for UF 9,750,000
(US$395.1 million) due on January 12, 2019.

•

Trade and other current accounts receivable
decreased US$40.9 million from US$822.3
million at December 31, 2017, to US$781.4
million at December 31, 2018 (5.0%), due to a
5.0% decrease in the December 2018 sale with
respect to the same period of 2017.

•

•

Accounts receivable from related entities reﬂect
an increase of US$6.1 million (18.4%) compared
to December 31, 2017, mainly due to an increase
in accounts receivable from GNL Chile S.A.
of US$8.8 million. This is partially offset by a
decrease of US$1.7 million with the Ministry of
Energy for Magallanes Gas compensation and
other decreases of US$1 million.
Inventories show a decrease of US$107 million
(10.3%) compared to December 31, 2017. The
main variation is in the inventory of crude oil in
stock and in transit which decreased by US$86
million, from US$430.2 million at December 31,
2017, to US$344.3 million at December 31, 2018.
This is mainly explained by US$47.3 million
which adjusted the book value of crude oil down
with respect to its fair value, which is part of the
company’s crude oil hedging strategy (TSS).
Additionally, between both years there was
a decrease in the unit price of crude oil from
US$61.9 per barrel as of December 31, 2017 to
US$57.4 per barrel as of December 31, 2018
(7.25%), which could not be offset by the slight

•

Product inventory decreased by US$8.6 million
from US$532 million as of December 31, 2017,
to US$523.4 million on December 31, 2018,
explained by US$105.6 million that adjusted the
book value of products down with respect to
their fair value and that is part of the company’s
crude oil coverage strategy (TSS). This decrease
was partially offset by an increase in price from
US$71.6 per barrel as of December 31, 2017, to
US$77.8 per barrel as of December 31, 2018,
and a volume increase of 398.7 MBbl, reﬂecting
an increase of US$97 million. Likewise, there is
a lower volume of materials in the warehouse
due to higher consumption of US$12.5 million.

•

A decrease in current tax assets of US$57.7
million, from a balance of US$217.7 million as
of December 31, 2017, to US$160 million as of
December 31, 2018, mainly corresponding to
the decrease in the tax credit VAT account of
US$50.2 million.

•

An increase in other current ﬁnancial assets of
US$127.1 million (15,887.5%), mainly derived from
hedges of US$127.9 million (Brent -TSS hedge
US$119.1 million, exchange rate hedge US$8.9
million).

•

A decrease in other current assets of US$16.7
million (68.4%) mainly in Other current nonﬁnancial assets, insurance paid in advance
which decrease by US$16.1 million.

•

A decrease in Non-current assets classiﬁed
for sale that as of December 31, 2018, had no
balance and as of December 31, 2017, had a
balance of US$41 million, corresponding to the
Pampa de Castillo-La Guitarra concession in
Argentina, sold in 2018.

•

A decrease in the Property, plant and equipment
account of US$73.8 million (2.3%) as a result of
additions for US$574.5 million, mainly from the
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construction in progress of the Cogenerator
Plant at ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery and PIAM
in Argentina, activations of Plant Shutdowns,
exploration of wells, tanks and pipelines
maintenance and other investments, net of
depreciation, amortizations, write-offs, losses
and others of US$468.5 million and impairments
in the E&P business line of US$179.8 million.
•

•

for an amount of US$680 million. The payment
of capital will be made in three equal installments
in 2027, 2028 and 2029.

Deferred tax assets increased US$281.7 million,
from US$911.3 million as of December 31, 2017, to
US$1,193 million as of December 31, 2018 (30.9%).
This is associated with: an increase in temporary
differences in assets for tax losses of US$158.4
million; US$98 million related to impairments;
US$36.8 million related to net realizable value
of inventories. It has been partially offset by the
use of temporary differences relating to hedge
reserves of US$18.6 million.

As of December 31, 2018, the leasing
liabilities (current and non-current) account
shows a decrease of US$31.6 million, which
corresponds to the monthly amortization of
leasing contracts, consisting of the application
of IFRS 16 “Leases”.

•

As of December 31, 2018, trade and other
accounts payable shows a balance of US$811.5
million, compared to US$866.2 million as of
December 31, 2017, the decrease of US$54.7
million (6.3%) corresponds mainly to the closing
position.

•

Increase in Other non-current liabilities, of
US$99.9 million (59.9%), from US$166.7 million
as of December 31, 2017, to US$266.6 million, as
of December 31, 2018. This increase corresponds
mainly to current tax liabilities of US$51.6 million
(due to the increase in fuel-speciﬁc tax of US$49.6
million) and the increase in Current provisions for
employee beneﬁts of US$46.9 million (increase
in provisions associated with the US$33.9 million
staff adjustment and participation in proﬁts and
employee bonuses of US$8.2 million).

•

The increase in other non-current liabilities of
US$32.8 million (13%) from US$251.6 million
at December 31, 2017, to US$284.4 million at
December 31, 2018, corresponds mainly to the
increase in Other long-term provisions of US$31.4
million (decommissioning), This was partially
offset by the decrease in Non-current provisions
for employee beneﬁts of US$26.7 million (transfer
to current provision of severance indemnities).

The Rights of Use account shows a decrease
of US$32.5 million, from a balance of US$129.3
million as of December 31, 2017, to a balance
as of December 31, 2018, of US$96.8 million.
This corresponds to the early application of
IFRS 16 “Leases”, which consists of applying
a control model for the identiﬁcation of leases,
distinguishing between leases and service
contracts based on whether there is an identiﬁed
asset controlled by the customer.

LIABILITIES
As of December 31, 2018, liabilities as a whole
increased by US$253 million (4.2%) in relation to
the existing liabilities as of December 31, 2017. The
main variations relate to:
•

•

Other current and non-current ﬁnancial liabilities,
which increased US$208 million, because as
of December 31 the UF 9,750,000 (US$395.1
million) bond remains effective. This bond was
fully amortized on January 12, 2019, for which
the company had reﬁnanced liabilities, issuing
on November 6, 2018, a 144 A type bond in the
U.S. market, at an annual interest rate of 5.25%,
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EQUITY
•

Shareholders’ Equity increased by US$215.2
million (26.4%) as of December 31, 2018 with
respect to December 31, 2017, as a result of
the capital contribution made by the Ministry
of Finance for US$400 million, plus a cash
ﬂow hedge reserve gain of US$41.5 million,
when applying IFRS 9 and modifying the
accounting recognition criteria for hedges
from cash ﬂow to fair value; payment to other
reserves of US$5.1 million, net of the loss for
the year of US$231 million and adjustments to
accumulated results of US$400,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY / DISTRIBUTABLE
PROFIT
The Chilean Treasury, through the Ministry of Finance,
can order the transfer of ENAP’s advances and/
or proﬁts to the State’s General Revenue Account,
in accordance with the provisions of Article 29 of
Decree-Law Nº1.263 of 1975.
Subsequently, the Ministry of Finance through
Resolution No. Nº1292 dated June 15, 2012, and
Resolution No. Nº1125 dated May 20, 2013, under
the ﬁnancial situation of the company, decided to
authorize a proﬁt distribution policy with the aim of
contributing to stability and reconstruction of the
company’s equity, which is to maintain the annual
review of the ﬁnancial situation of the company, to
decide whether to authorize the capitalization of
the subsidiaries’ and parent company’s proﬁts in a
tax loss situation.
The dividend policy of the subsidiaries of Empresa
Nacional Del Petróleo is based on the instructions
given in Resolution No. Nº526 dated July 3, 2006,
of the Ministry of Finance, which establishes the
transfer of 100% of the annual proﬁts. The Ministry of
Finance according to Resolution No. 628, dated April
18, 2018, resolved to suspend for 2018 the policy of
distributing 100% of the proﬁts of ENAP subsidiaries
and capitalize 100% of the proﬁts obtained in the
ﬁscal year 2017 by the subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A.
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DIVIDEND POLICY 2018 OF ENAP
SUBSIDIARIES

DISTRIBUTION OF DIVIDENDS FROM ENAP
SUBSIDIARIES

Enap Reﬁnerías S.A.: In the 37th General Shareholders’
Meeting, held on April 26, 2018, put on record that
there would be no distribution of dividends from
the proﬁts earned by the Company during the 2017
ﬁnancial period, until the Company has absorbed
the accumulated losses that exceed the amount
of such proﬁt, which amounts to US$525,907 as of
December 31, 2017.

ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A., in its 37th Ordinary Shareholders’
Meeting held on April 26, 2018, unanimously agreed
to place on record not to distribute dividends from
the profits earned by the Company during the
2017 ﬁnancial period, since the Company reports
accumulated losses that exceed the amount of such
proﬁt. (Article 78 of the Corporations Law No. 18,046)
Enap Sipetrol S.A., in its 33rd Annual Shareholders’
General Meeting, held on April 26, 2018, agreed
unanimously not to distribute the proﬁts generated
in the ﬁscal year ended as of December 31, 2017.

Enap Sipetrol S.A., at the 33rd Ordinary Shareholders’
Meeting, held on April 26, 2018, pursuant Resolution
No. 628 of the Ministry of Finance dated April 18,
2018, which authorized the subsidiary to capitalize
the proﬁts corresponding to the year 2017, for an
amount of US$12,351.48, unanimously approved not
to distribute the proﬁts as of December 31, 2017 as
dividends to shareholders.
Resolution No. 628, also suspended the policy of
distributing 100% of the proﬁts of the subsidiaries
for the year 2018, established by the Treasury in the
Official Letter No. 526/2006.
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Procurement
SALES AND CONTRACTS VOLUME
In 2018, to continue its operations and the execution
of its investment plans, ENAP made purchases of
goods and contracted services for a total of US$870
million (excluding the purchase of crude oil). More
than 75% of the total amount corresponds to service
contracts, and the remaining percentage corresponds
to the purchase of goods. The most relevant areas
were: Drilling, Maritime, and Terrestrial Logistics,
Maintenance, Construction, Chemical Products,
among others.
Within the Procurement function to support ENAP’s
businesses, during 2018 progress was made in the
execution of the area’s strategy, with a strong focus
on efficiency and compliance with commitments with
respect to purchases and critical contracts.
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Insurance
In 2018, ENAP and its subsidiary ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. signed ﬁre insurance contracts to cover their facilities,
buildings, machinery, stocks, stoppage losses, and other physical assets, with the insurers Liberty Compañía
de Seguros Generales S.A. and Orion Seguros Generales S.A.
In addition, ENAP and its subsidiaries had civil liability and transportation policies in force contracted with
Orion Seguros Generales S.A.; and ship chartering insurance (Protection & Indemnity), with West of England.
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Brands and Patents
EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETRÓLEO
The brands of ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. are registered and protected, according to the current legal regulations.
These include the name and mixed brands ENAP, ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A., ENAP Reﬁnería Aconcagua, ENAP
Reﬁnería Bío Bío, Petropower, and ENAP Sipetrol S.A., among others.
The ENAP trademark is registered in Egypt and Mexico and is in the process of registration in Argentina,
Colombia, and Ecuador. There are no industrial patents registered in Chile by Empresa Nacional del Petróleo.

ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A.
ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. The brands of ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. are registered and protected, according to the
current legal regulations. These include the word and mixed brands Petrox, RPC, and Reﬁnería de Petróleo
Concón. In 2009 ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. registered two invention patents at INAPI, which are currently in force.

ENAP SIPETROL S.A.
The brand ENAP Sipetrol S.A. is duly registered and in force in Chile, Argentina, Colombia, Peru, Panama,
Egypt, and Uruguay. In Brazil and Venezuela they are registered but in the process of renewal or acceptance.
There are no industrial patents registered in Chile by ENAP Sipetrol S.A.

OWNER

ENAP
REFINERÍAS

ENAP
REFINERÍAS

REQUEST
NUMBER

200500484

200501318

PATENT
REGISTRY
NUMBER

45376

45980

DATE OF
REGISTRY

TYPE

Invention
patent

Invention
patent

12/06/2009

28/09/2009
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TERM

SUBJECT

15 years

The process to de-cokify oil or hydrocarbon
reﬁning furnaces that introduce steam in
the pipelines of the coils of these furnaces,
cleaning the coke deposited in them by
displacement and controlled burning through
air injection, which is ﬁltered prior to steam
condensation to remove the coke dragged.

15 years

Process for recovering catalyst swept along
with the gases emanating from a catalyst
regenerator from a hydrocarbon or gas oil
reactor that consists in lowering the pressure
of that ﬂow, carrying it to a heat recovery boiler
and then ﬁltering into multiple cells recovering
the catalyst.

05.
BUSINESS LINES
EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION
REFINING & COMMERCIALIZATION
GAS & ENERGY
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EXPLORATION &
PRODUCTION (E&P)
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY
Egypt concentrated the lowest crude oil production
given the natural depletion of wells in the Shahd
area.

In 2018, ENAP’s Exploration and Production
(E&P) Business Line, including ENAP Magallanes,
produced 22.5 million barrels of oil equivalent
(MMboe) of hydrocarbons, 9.3% above the
production of 2017.

In Magallanes, there was higher gas production, due
to the good results obtained in the development
wells in the Arenal Block and the exploratory wells
of the Dorado-Riquelme Block.

In Ecuador, there was a higher production of crude
oil. The drilling campaign carried out in the MDC
block was successful due to the operational and
geological management of the deposit.

As part of the investment plan, 47 (12 oil and 35 gas)
new wells were drilled. The results were highlighted
in the Arenal block in Magallanes, operated by
ENAP, where 31 development wells were drilled.
In the Dorado-Riquelme Block, meanwhile, three
exploratory wells were drilled. Of the total wells,
10 are in production, 14 are awaiting fractures and
10 are being connected.

Likewise, in Argentina, crude oil production
increased at the Cañadón Perdido Campamento
Central (CCCP) block, thanks to the better
performance of the deposit. On the other hand, in
Área Magallanes (AM) there was a greater production
of crude oil and gas, due to the implementation of
the Área Magallanes Incremental Project (PIAM).
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OIL PRODUCTION
The volume of oil produced in 2018 by ENAP, abroad, was 12.5 million barrels, representing an increase
of 3.8% compared to the previous year. This increase is explained by the higher production in Ecuador
of 12.9% compared to 2017, due to the good results of the MDC wells.
In contrast, Egypt had a 4% lower production compared to 2017, due to the natural depletion of Shahd
wells. And, in Argentina, production was 3.8% lower than in 2017 due to the sale of the Pampa del Castillo
Block (PDC) on July 31, 2018.
Oil production in Chile, Magallanes Region, reached 796 thousand barrels, 8.5% lower than the volume
produced in 2017. This decrease is explained by the natural depletion of conventional oil wells and by
the management of closure/opening of unproﬁtable wells, given their high contribution of impurities.
In addition, exploration and development are focused on gas wells to meet residential demand.
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NATURAL GAS PRODUCTION
ENAP’s 2018 production of natural gas at international subsidiaries (Sipetrol) reached 621 million cubic
meters (3,653,361 equivalent barrels), with an increase of 55.4% compared to 2017. This increase is
explained by the startup of the incremental ﬂow of the PIAM project in late 2017.
Meanwhile, the production of natural gas in Chile (Magallanes) reached 1.1 million standard cubic meters
(6,299,088 barrels equivalent), which represents a production higher by 2.4% compared to the previous
year. This result was associated with the success of development campaigns of the Arenal Project and
the exploration of the Dorado-Riquelme block.
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NATIONAL EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTIONS
ENAP’s exploration activity in Chile continued
to develop with an active drilling campaign,
particularly in the Magallanes Region.

During 2016 ﬁ ve wells were drilled (Palenque
Norte ZG-1 Ex C, Puerto Sara Oeste ZG-1 Ex A,
Dorado Sur ZG-1 Ex A, Pilchero Sur ZG-1 Ex B
and Cahuil ZG-1).

Dorado-Riquelme Block
Between January and March 2017, the Resolutions
of Environmental Qualiﬁcation for fracture and
construction of a ﬂow line for the Cahuil ZG-1
well were obtained. On April 8, 2017, the hydraulic
fracturing operation was carried out.

On August 26, 2009, the Special Petroleum
Operation Contract (CEOP) for the exploration
and exploitation of hydrocarbon deposits, known
as the Dorado-Riquelme block, and signed by the
State of Chile, Methanex Chile S.A. and ENAP,
entered into force. Likewise, in May of that year,
the JOA for the operation of the Dorado Riquelme
Block signed between the parties came into
effect, with a 50% participation for Methanex
Chile S.A. and a 50% participation for ENAP, the
latter being the operator.

Between April 26 and June 18, the Cahuil ZG-1 well
ﬂow line was built, and on June 19, the extended
well production test was started, until August 4.
Currently, the well is closed.
In addition, the Cahuil 2 Ex D, Cahuil 3 Ex B and
Cahuil 4 Ex F wells were drilled and fractured,
which are in production since December 10,
2018, December 29, 2018, and November 6, 2018,
respectively.

During January and February 2014, completion
work was carried out on the Palenque Norte 12
(Springhill) well.
At the coordination committee held on July 23,
2014, it was decided to continue only with the
Exploitation Phase of the block and not with the
Exploration Phase. As a result, ﬁve non-producing
wells were closed in the last quarter of 2014.

The accumulated net investment in the CEOP
Bloque Dorado-Riquelme, as of December 31,
2018, reached US$315 million.
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Intracampos Block

At the end of the second half of 2011, Apache Chile
Energía SpA decided to transfer its participation in
Bloque Lenga CEOP to Methanex and transferred
the operator role to ENAP. Both were approved by
the Ministry of Energy and the Comptroller General
of the Republic of Chile.

This block belongs 100% to ENAP. During 2015,
studies were carried out in the block. In 2016 the
investment disbursements were US$47,000.
No activity has been carried out in this block since
2017.

At the end of 2014, a letter was sent to the Minister
of Energy, communicating the contractor’s decision
to terminate the contract with the State of Chile
and return the area of exploitation of the Lenga
Block CEOP ﬁeld, which was accepted on January
8, 2015.

Arenal Block
This block belongs 100% to ENAP. By 2015, 52
wells have been drilled, which complied with the
program of the year. During 2016, 47 gas wells were
drilled, of which 37 were development wells and 10
exploratory wells.

There have been no operational activities in
the block and no new investments have been
generated during 2018.

During 2017, 28 gas wells were drilled, of which 26
were development wells and 2 exploratory wells.

Coirón Block

In 2018, 31 development wells were drilled.

On July 28, 2008, came into force the CEOP
(Special Operation Contract) for the exploration
and exploitation of hydrocarbon deposits known as
“Block Coirón” signed between the State of Chile,
as Principal, and the Contractor formed by Pan
American Energy Chile Limited (PAE) and ENAP.
Subsequently, on November 10, 2008, PAE and
ENAP signed the JOA for the Block’s operation,
both with a 50% participation, an instrument by
which PAE was designated Operator of the Coirón
Block.

Investment disbursements in 2018 were US$99.8
million.

SPECIAL PETROLEUM OPER ATION
CONTRACTS (CEOP)
In addition to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A.’s interests
in exploration and exploitation operations, ENAP in
Chile jointly develops the following special petroleum
operation contracts (CEOP) with private companies
in the Magallanes area:

On September 14, 2015, ENAP transferred part of its
participation interest in the CEOP to Conocophillips
South America Ventures LTD. (ConocoPhillips);
the participation of the parties is as follows: a)
PAE, 50%; (b) ENAP, 45%; and (c) ConocoPhillips,
5%. Subsequently, on September 17, 2015, ENAP
acquired the whole participation of PAE in the CEOP,
leaving the current participation of the parties as
follows: a) ENAP, 95%; and b) ConocoPhillips, 5%.

Lenga Block
On July 28, 2008, the CEOP for the exploration
and exploitation of hydrocarbon deposits known as
the Lenga Block, and signed by the State of Chile,
Apache Chile Energía SpA and Empresa Nacional
del Petróleo (ENAP) came into force. Subsequently,
on June 15, 2009, the JOA for the operation of
the Lenga Block was subscribed between the
parties, with 50% participation for ENAP and 50%
for Apache Chile Energía SpA, the latter being
designated as the operator.

Finally, ENAP transferred 44% of the rights,
interests, and obligations of the contractor to COP
Chile, which was approved by the Ministry of Energy
and the Comptroller General of the Republic on
November 17, 2016.
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Caupolicán Block

At the end of this process, the participation of the
partners in the CEOP Bloque Coirón was as follows:
51% for ENAP and 49% for COP Chile.

On April 28, 2009, the CEOP for the exploration and
exploitation of hydrocarbon deposits, known as
Caupolicán Block and signed by the State of Chile,
PetroMagallanes Operaciones Limitada (Operator)
and ENAP, entered into force. In March 2012, the
incorporation of the company Methanex Chile S.A.
was formalized before the Ministry of Energy, with
a 20% participation.

On December 13, 2016, both partners signed the
JOA for the operation of the Coiron Block. The CEOP
Bloque Coirón comprises a maximum term of 35
years, counted from the date of its entry into force.
From January to December 2018, there was no
activity in the block.

For the ﬁrst exploratory period, ENAP contributed
a total of US$11.3 million. ENAP’s investment for
the second exploratory period was US$12.4 million.
Methanex did not participate in this stage, as it
decided to withdraw. During the ﬁrst half of 2018, no
new investments were made by ENAP in the block.
In June 2018, the arbitration related to the
Caupolicán Block was closed. Based on the
agreement reached on January 15, 2018 and
after obtaining the pertinent authorizations from
the different departments of the State of Chile,
on June 29, 2018, ENAP and PetroMagallanes
signed a document of transaction, withdrawal,
waiver of shares and settlement, by which the
ICC Arbitration and associated procedures were
deﬁnitively terminated. The conciliatory agreement
reached by the parties was reported to the Arbitral
Tribunal on July 5, 2018.
As a result of the aforementioned agreement,
the new participation in CEOP Caupolicán is 99%
for ENAP (operator) and 1% for PetroMagallanes
Operaciones Ltda.
There was no activity as of December 2018.
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Brótula Block

In the third quarter of 2016, Chirihue X-1 and
Chercan X-1 wells are in operation, reaching a gas
production of 18.5 Mm3s per day and 2.23 m3e per
day of condensate in September. During the last
quarter of 2016, ENAP did not carry out activities
in this CEOP.

As a result of the conciliatory agreement signed with
PetroMagallanes mentioned above, ENAP (operator)
acquires a 99% participation in the CEOP Brótula
and PetroMagallanes Operaciones Ltda. keeps the
remaining 1%.
•

From August 8 to September 10, the gas
from well TA-2 was tendered.

•

Methanex was awarded the bid.

•

Contract signing is in process.

The cumulative net annual investment carried out
by ENAP as of December 31, 2016, is US$4,000,
associated with the 2015 activity (carry over
payments).
Currently, the Chercán X-1 well is closed.
As of December 2018, no operational activities or
investments were carried out in the block.

On October 17, began production to deliver to
Methanex.

Isla Norte Block
It is in production as of December 2018, nothing new.
On November 7, 2012, entered into force the
CEOP for the exploration and exploitation of the
hydrocarbon deposit called Isla Norte Block, signed
by the State of Chile, Geopark TdF (operator with
a 60% stake), and ENAP, with a participation of
40%. Subsequently, the JOA for the operation
of the Block was signed between the parties on
December 3, 2012.

Flamenco Block
This CEOP became effective in November 2012,
with the purpose of exploring and exploiting
the Flamenco Block hydrocarbon deposit. The
contract was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark
TdF (operator) and ENAP, both with a 50% stake.
Pursuant to this agreement, the ﬁrst exploration
period began, which lasts three years. Then there
are two more periods, of two years each, to reach
a contract for a maximum of 25 years.

ENAP’s investment in this phase was US$1.3 million.
During 2015, the Ministry of Energy accepted the
consortium’s request to extend the ﬁrst exploratory
period for 18 months, with the aim of completing
the studies.

The 2014 Work Program made it possible to meet
the minimum commitments of the ﬁrst exploration
period.

The work plan of 2017 was presented at the
Coordination Committee held on December 2016.

In November 2015, Geopark informed the Ministry
of Energy of the passage to the second exploratory
period, noting that ENAP decided not to continue
in the next phase, with which the state-owned
company participated in those areas with declared
commerciality.

As of December 2017, no operational activities
were carried out in the block.
As of December 2018, no operational activities or
investments were carried out in the block.
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INTERNATIONAL EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
LATIN AMERICA

ARGENTINA
In addition, in 2018, 100% of the Octans Pegaso
block was acquired from a consortium led by Total
Austral. This is an offshore block, with an area of
886 km2 and an average water depth of between
10 and 60 meters (shallow water), in which there
are gas discoveries.

Located in the Austral Basin, ENAP Sipetrol
Argentina acts as the operator of the exploitation
concessions in the Area Magallanes deposit
and in CAM 2/A Sur (Lot Poseidón), with a 50%
participation.
It also participates as a partner, with a 50% stake,
in the exploitation concession of Campamento
Central-Cañadón Perdido, where the operator is
YPF.

Between May and June 2018, the last tasks
related to the Área Magallanes Incremental Project
(PIAM) were completed, meeting the objective of
increasing natural gas production by more than
60%, from 1.2 million m3/day to two million m3/
day; and the production of associated crude oil
by 25%, from 2,500 to 3,150 bbl/day.

As part of the growth plan initiated by the
subsidiary, it was tendered and awarded a new
onshore area in the southern area of the Province
of Santa Cruz. This is El Turbio Este, of 3,195 km2,
which has an exploration plan associated with an
investment of more than US$47 million over the
next three years. This new area in the Austral Basin
limits with El Coirón, a block in Chilean territory
in which ENAP is the operator and allows it to
have a binational approach in the exploration and
production of hydrocarbons.

On July 31, 2018, ENAP’s stake in the Pampa del
Castillo-La Guitarra block was sold to CAPEX S.A.,
a process that began at the beginning of 2017
and concluded with the authorities’ approval of
the transaction.
In the Campamento Central -Cañadón Perdido
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(CCCP) block, which is equally shared with YPF S.A.
(Operator), the activity was focused on the Bella
Vista Sur area, where two wells were drilled with
good results, conﬁrming the good performance
of this project.

Under Section 30 of Law No. 27,007, the holders
of association contracts entered into with Energía
Argentina Sociedad Anónima, such as ENAP in
Area E2, were granted the power to convert such
association contracts into exploration permits
or exploitation concessions under the terms of
Law No. 17,319 (hydrocarbons law). ENAP initially
informed the will to counterclaim and then
requested a period to reconsider the position.

Area Magallanes Production - Argentina
The production of Enap Sipetrol Argentina, in the
reservoir Area Magallanes, totaled 932,623 barrels
of oil and 621 Mm3 of natural gas (3,653,361 BOE)
in 2018, which gives a total aggregate production
of 4.6 million barrels oil equivalent (BOE).

To date, the area has not been converted into a
permit nor has it been included in the offshore areas
to be auctioned. Therefore, the situation is not
deﬁned, but ENAP understands that reconversion
into an exploration permit is highly probable.

These results show an increase compared to 2017
for crude oil and gas, due to the production entry
of the PIAM project.

Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina’s production at the Pampa
del Castillo-La Guitarra ﬁeld reached 0.7 million
barrels of crude oil in 2018, a lower ﬁgure than
that obtained in 2017 because the block was sold
at the end of July 2018, so it only considers the
production corresponding to seven months.

CAM 2/A Sur
The Poseidón platform, which is part of the CAM
2/A Sur Area, has been out of production since
December 2010. For this reason, after carrying out
the case studies, together with the partner YPF, it
was decided to revert it to the Province of Tierra
del Fuego, for which procedures were initiated.

Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido
The production of Enap Sipetrol Argentina at the
Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido deposit,
totaled 0.8 million barrels of crude oil in 2018,
representing an increase of 16.2% compared to the
production in 2017, due to a lower natural depletion
of the reservoir.

E2 (EX CAM-1/CAM-3) Area
During 2014 some studies for E2 (EX CAM1/CAM3) area were completed. It should be noted that
Enap Sipetrol Argentina is the operator of Area
E2 in the Austral Basin (CAM in Spanish), under
the association agreement (signed in September
2006) with the state-owned company Energía
Argentina Sociedad Anónima (ENARSA) and YPF,
which ratiﬁed the previous agreement signed in
February 2006.

During 2018, two development wells were drilled
with good results in the Bella Vista Sur area and 10
well interventions (repairs and conversions) were
executed.

Subsequently, it signed the E2 Temporary Business
Association Agreement (UTE), which regulates the
relationship of the companies that participate in
this alliance and ratiﬁes Enap Sipetrol Argentina
as the operator of the E2 Area.
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ECUADOR
Based on the results of the Inchi-1 exploratory well,
between 2015 and 2018 a total of ten development
and appraisal wells have been drilled in the Inchi
ﬁeld of the Intracampos area. The successful results
of these drillings allow maintaining the exploratory
potential of this area.

The 15-year presence of ENAP SIPEC in Ecuador
has allowed it to consolidate its position in that
country, through the exploration, development, and
exploitation activities in the Blocks Mauro Dávalos
Cordero (MDC) and Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito,
and Intracampos (PBH-I). ENAP’s accumulated
production since it began its operations in that
country, exceeded 80 million barrels during 2018.

Block 28 was incorporated in 2015, where EOP
Operaciones Petroleras S.A. participates with 42%,
as an operator in the consortium formed with
Petroamazonas EP (51%) and Belorusneft (7%). In
this block, progress was made in previous activities
to obtain the Environmental License and drilling of
a stratigraphic well began to reduce the geological
risk of the Mirador prospect. Given that it was not
possible to obtain the Exploration License until 2018,
the extension of the exploration period from 2019
to 2021 is being processed before the Ministry of
Energy and Non-Renewable Natural Resources.

On the other hand, it continues the participation in
exploration activities in the Consortium Block 28,
through the company of ENAP, EOP Operaciones
Petroleras S.A.
Exploration Activity
In the Intracampos Area of the PBH-I Block,
incorporated into Ecuador’s portfolio in 2011,
exploration activities were promoted (2011-2014)
that included seismic acquisition and interpretation
and the subsequent drilling of two exploratory wells
Copal 1and Inchi-1, the latter being the ﬁrst discovery
in Ecuador that incorporated new reserves as a
result of the renegotiation of contracts with the
Hydrocarbons Secretariat in 2010.
135

ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Development and exploitation activity
In this period, 5.8 million barrels were produced
in Ecuador with an average annual production of
approximately 17.9 Mbpd, and an output production
of 19.9 Mbpd.

In the MDC Block, until 2017, three modiﬁcation
contracts had been successfully negotiated with
the Ecuadorian State, which allowed extending the
original term from 2025 to 2034 and improving the
tariffs for services in exchange for new investments.
In July 2018, the Amendment Contract No. 4 was
signed, which includes new activities and secondary
recovery investments, such as facilities, six wells
from existing platforms, one re-entry well, conversion
to injection wells, two wells from advanced platforms
and, if successful, one injection well. The new
production is paid a T3 rate of US$25.20 per barrel
for 2018.
As regards the Inchi Field of the PBHI Block, the
drilling of two development wells was completed in
late 2015. In 2016, four development and appraisal
wells were drilled, and in 2017, an appraisal well
was drilled and one of the wells drilled in 2016, was
injected.
The value of WTI crude oil of US$63 per barrel was
surpassed during January 2018, and from that date,
the following commitments have been made:
i.

The contractor will comply with the obligations
established in Annex 2 of Amendment Contract
No. 3 (commitments of ﬁeld development activities
initiated in previous years).

ii. The Ministry of Energy and Non-Renewable
Natural Resources will begin payment of the
negotiated tariff of US$38.57 per barrel.
iii. From that date, 20 years will be counted until
the termination of which the new term of Block
47 (PBHI) will be extended.
During 2018, three wells were drilled in Inchi, the
last of which was a horizontal well with very good
results.
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NORTH AFRICA

EGYPT
The volume of crude oil produced by ENAP Sipetrol Egypt was 2.8 million barrels, 4% lower than the
production in 2017, due to the natural depletion of the wells of the Shahd ﬁeld.
East Ras Qattara Block
A number of discoveries have been made in the East Ras Qattara Block from 2007 to date. The commercial
development of these discoveries is carried out by the joint venture formed between the contractor
consortium and the Egyptian General Petroleum Corporation (EGPC), each party with 50% of the shares.
During 2014, three development wells were drilled with positive results: Shahd-SE8, Al Zahraa-4, and
Shahd-SE9. Moreover, concluded the drilling of the exploration well Diaa-2 and a second exploratory well
was drilled, Shahd-4, all successful.
In 2015, there were no drilling activities, however, progress was made in the building of the Pipeline Project.
In 2016, the drilling campaign had to be suspended due to restrictions on military permits. However, the
construction of the oil pipeline was successfully completed.
In 2017, the drilling campaign was postponed until obtaining the military permits, which were approved
in the second half of that year.
Given the above, at the beginning of 2018, the campaign resumed with the drilling of four wells (two
development wells and two exploratory wells).
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ENAP SIPETROL S.A. RESULTS:
Enap Sipetrol S.A. had a proﬁt of US$62.8 million, which compares with the US$12.4 million obtained as
of December 31, 2017, on the other hand, the EBITDA reached US$252.3 million, surpassing the US$148.5
million obtained as of December 31, 2017.
The equity of ENAP Sipetrol S.A. reached US$685.1 million, exceeding the US$621.8 million obtained on
December 31, 2017.
ENAP Sipetrol S.A.’s gross margin had a positive variation of US$82 million with respect to the previous
year, mainly explained by Argentina, because of higher crude oil revenues of US$33 million due to a
growth in the sales volume and better prices, as well as a rise in gas revenues of US$35.4 million also due
to a higher sales volume. This is offset by a US$10.5 million increase in production taxes due to higher
revenues. Ecuador shows an increase in the margin of US$25.5 million, due to the increase in crude oil
revenues due to higher production derived from the good results of the MDC wells. The operation in
Egypt had a higher margin of US$8.7 million with respect to the previous year, mainly due to the increase
in crude oil revenues because of the better price of Brent. All the above is partially offset by a loss on
the sale of crude oil from Sipetrol International to ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. for US$6.1 million and corporate
expenses at ENAP Sipetrol Santiago.
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EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION (E&P)
INVESTMENTS IN CHILE
The investment of the E&P Business Line focused
primarily on the exploration and exploitation of gas
in Magallanes. The investment was US$138.2 million,
distributed in the following projects:

Arenal

CEOP Dorado-Riquelme

In 2016, 47 gas target wells (46 ZG and one
Springhill-ZG well) were drilled, of which 37 were
successfully developed; nine are pending fracture
and 10 were successful exploratory wells. The well
in Springhill was not successful but was ﬁnally
completed as ZG.

Exploitation Project. Sipetrol is the operator, with
full ownership.

Exploitation and Exploration Project. ENAP is the
operator and has a 50% participation interest.
Between January and March 2017, the Resolutions
of Environmental Qualiﬁcation for fracture and
construction of a ﬂow line for the Cahuil ZG-1 well
were obtained.

During 2017, 28 ZG gas target wells were drilled,
all of which were successful. Eleven of them are
producing.

In April 2017, a hydraulic fracturing operation of the
Cahuil ZG-1 well was carried out. The ﬂow line of the
Cahuil ZG-1 well was built, and in June the extended
production test of the well was started, which lasted
until August 4. The well was later closed.

In 2018, 31 development wells were drilled with
successful results.
The drilling and fracturing of 25 development wells
are expected during 2019, plus the fractures of the
last PAD drilled in late 2018, totaling 41 fractures.
Additionally, transportation and production
facilities are also considered.

From July to August 2017, the construction of the
location for the next Cahuil-D well was tendered.
The Flow Line of Cahuil ZG was built, with an
approximate extension of 2,500 m.

Cullen-Lynch Intracampos

During 2018, three exploratory wells were drilled
with successful results (Cahuil 2, 3 and 4), which
are currently in production.

Exploration project. ENAP is an operator, with
100% participation.
There was no activity during 2017 and 2018, and
none is foreseen for 2019, although this block is
a producer.

At the end of December 2018, the net accumulated
investment of the CEOP Dorado-Riquelme block
reached US$315 million.

Validity and evolution of CEOP Block Coiron
The operation will continue in 2019, but no additional
activities are expected.

The CEOP Block Coirón is a contract signed for a
maximum term of 35 years, as from the date of
its entry into force, and consists of an exploratory
stage of three periods (36, 24 and 24 months), and
an exploitation stage.
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The ﬁrst exploration period, originally of 36 months
and with three extensions of six, three and three
months, ended on July 28, 2012. Upon completion,
PAE and ENAP informed the Ministry of Energy
of their decision not to pursue to the second
exploratory period and to return to the State
of Chile the part of the area of the Coiron Block
foreseen in the CEOP, keeping only the exploitation
areas.

production of gas and oil in the Coiron Block was
stopped and was communicated by ENAP to the
Ministry of Energy.

•

El Fierro well: no operational activity during
2018, the well is currently closed. Well under
study.

Financing of projects in the Coiron Block

•

Ñanco ZG-1 Well: no operational activity during
2018. The well is currently closed. Well under
study.

•

Kalkin ZG-1 well: no operational activity during
2018. The well is currently closed. Well under
study.

•

Manke Well: construction work for the location
is suspended due to the results obtained from
previous tests to the well. No operational activity
during 2018.

In addition to its partnership, ENAP has fulﬁlled the
following roles in the Coiron Block:

•

Tiuque well: coordinates were determined for
drilling in 2019.

A. Service provider: ENAP acted as a contractor for
PAE-Operador in the exploration, development
and operation stages, based on the option to
provide services by either party established in
the JOA signed by PAE and ENAP, and that the
exploitation in question is a Joint Operation.

The accumulated net investment of CEOP Coiron,
as of December 2018, is US$86,973 million, of which
ENAP has invested US$34,878 million.

Actividades 2018:

The development of exploration projects was carried
out at the full cost of PAE (ENAP in Carry) and
included the recording of 3D seismic information and
the drilling of exploratory wells in the Coiron Block,
over a minimum plan established in the CEOP for the
exploratory stage. The development of exploitation
projects was ﬁnanced in equal parts by PAE and
ENAP.
Roles de ENAP

Caupolicán CEOP
Exploitation project. ENAP participates with 50%
and PetroMagallanes Operaciones Ltda. with the
remaining 50%.

Buyer of Products: In the case of gas, following
the public bidding of gas from a Gas Exploitation
Pilot Project developed in the Los Cerros-El Fierro
sector, the State exerted its right to repurchase
established in Article 9 of the CEOP, and ENAP
signed on its behalf the gas purchase and sale
contract with PAE-Operador. In the case of oil,
whose production has been marginal, following
private bids authorized by the Ministry of Energy to
PAE- CEOP Operator, ENAP made spot purchases
of oil from PAE.

As of December 2017, there were no operating
activities in the block. During this period, all activity
was centered on the arbitration demand.
In June 2018, the arbitration was closed and the
new participation is as follows: ENAP owns 99%
(operator) and PetroMagallanes Operaciones Ltda.
the remaining 1%.

In consideration of the low production of gas and
oil in the Coiron Block, on January 18, 2016, the
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E&P INVESTMENTS ABROAD
EGYPT

The investment reached US$127 million, distributed
in the following projects:

E&P’s investment in this country was focused on
the East Ras Qattara (exploitation and exploration
project). ENAP Sipetrol is the operator, with a
50.5% participation of the contractor consortium,
which, in turn, commercially develops this block
through a joint venture with EGPC, where each
party participates with 50%.

ARGENTINA

E&P investment in this country was focused on:
Campamento Central-Cañadón Perdido (exploitation
project. ENAP Sipetrol has a 50% stake).

In November 2016, the 87 km pipeline under
construction was inaugurated, with a capacity to
transport 30,000 barrels per day. The investment
was US$11.2 million (50.5%).

During 2017, the scheduled drilling campaign was
not carried out due to the delay in the construction
of the multi-location because of conﬂicts with
the community. Five reparations of wells and one
workover were carried out.

During 2017 there was no drilling campaign pending
the approval of military permits. In 2018, the drilling
campaign resumed and four wells were drilled (two
development wells and two exploratory wells).

In 2018, two development wells were drilled.
In 2018, two development wells were drilled with
good results in the Bella Vista Sur area and 10
well interventions (repairs and conversions) were
executed.

By 2019, four development wells and two
exploratory wells are expected to be drilled.
ECUADOR

The drilling of three wells and secondary recovery
activities are expected in 2019.

E&P’s investment in Ecuador was concentrated
in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC), Paraíso,
Biguno, Huachito and Intracampos (PBHI) Blocks
(exploration and exploitation projects where ENAP
is the operator with a 100% participation) and Block
28 (exploration and exploitation project where EOP
Operaciones Petroleras S.A. holds 42% and is the
operator in the consortium; Petroamazonas EP,
51%; and Belorusneft, 7%).

On July 31, 2018, the Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra
block (exploitation project where ENAP Sipetrol is
the operator and has 100% of the shares) was sold
to CAPEX S.A.
Magallanes Area - Magallanes Area
Incremental Project (PIAM)
During 2017, key stages were completed, such
as engineering, the mobilization of the marine
support to modify the top side of AM2, the laying,
and connection of the new submarine pipeline and
the execution of civil works for the assembly of the
new compression plant, among others.

Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC)
Exploration and exploitation project in which ENAP
is the operator with a 100% participation. The 2018
budget was executed for a value of US$28.9 million in
investments as a result of the commitments acquired
in the Block’s Contract Amendment No. 4, as detailed
below:

During May and June 2018, the last tasks related
to the Area Magallanes Incremental Project were
executed. The operational continuity of this project
is expected for 2019.
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•

1.

Drilling of one re-entry well (MDC-14RE) and three
producer wells (MDC-35, MDC-36, and MDC-37).
These wells were drilled with technologies that
ensured early production and the stimulation of
the reservoirs to complete them, which allowed
obtaining two recognitions during the year:

•

For 2019, it is considered continuing with the
construction of the Inchi production station, which
is part of the investments committed in the Contract
Amendment Nº3.

To ENAP Sipec Ecuador for achieving the greatest
depth (12,079 ft) and deviation (6,057 ft) in the
MDC-35 well, and the greatest length drilled in
Ecuador with a single 16”-BHA (7,941 ft.)

Consortium Block 28
Exploration and exploitation project where EOP
Operaciones Petroleras S.A. is the operator, with 42%
of participation. During 2018, exploratory investment
activities were carried out, including:

2. Drilling record in MDC (17.48 days), in the MDC36 well.
3. Expansion of platforms and facilities to support
the operation of existing and new wells.
By 2019, the drilling of four development wells and
potentially three advanced wells are considered.
The latter is part of the investments committed in
Amendment Contract No. 4.

•

Acquisition and analysis of geological and
geophysical data.

•

Signiﬁcant progress was made towards the
acquisition of the Environmental License for
the future Mirador-1 exploratory well, among
which the following can be mentioned: the
opening of an information roundtable as part
of the social participation process, a public
hearing in the Municipality of Mera where
community concerns are collected.

•

The Ministry of Energy and Non-Renewable
Natural Resources was asked to extend the
exploratory period from 2019 to 2021.

•

Execution of the community relations program.

Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito and Intracampos
(PBHI)
Exploration and exploitation project in which ENAP
is the operator with 100% participation. The 2018
budget was executed for a value of US$22.4 million in
investments as a result of the commitments acquired
in the Block’s Contract Amendment No. 3. During
2018, the following activities were carried out in the
Inchi ﬁeld of the Intracampos area:
•

Drilling of three wells (Inchi A-9, Inchi B-10, and
Inchi B-11H). In February, ENAP approved these
activities once the value addition was evident.

•

Expansion of platforms and facilities to support
the operation of existing and new wells.

•

Continuation of works connected with the
construction of the Inchi production station,
mainly the beginning of civil works and the
acquisition of materials and equipment of long
manufacturing time.

The seismic reprocessing was carried out,
determining new areas of interest and updating
the existing ones.

For 2019, we expect to obtain the Environmental
License for the Mirador-1 exploratory well and to start
the civil works for the drilling of this contractually
committed well.
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OIL AND GAS PRODUCTION OF JAN 2017 AND JAN 2018
2017

2018

COUNTRY

OIL
(MBBLS)

GAS
(MBOE)

ARGENTINA

2.501

2.352

4.852

2.407

ECUADOR

5.787

-

5.787

EGYPT

2.915

-

E&P INTERNATIONAL

11.202

MAGALLANES / CHILE
E&P NATIONAL
TOTAL

TOTAL
(MBOE)

OIL
(MBBLS)

Variation 2017 / 2018

GAS
(MBOE)

TOTAL
(MBOE)

PETRÓLEO
(MBBLS)

GAS
(MBOE)

TOTAL
(MBOE)

3.653

6.060

-3,8%

55,4%

24,9%

6.533

-

6.533

12,9%

-

12,9%

2.915

2.797

-

2.797

-4,0%

-

-4,0%

2.352

13.554

11.737

3.653

15.390

4,8%

57,1%

13,5%

869

6.152

7.021

796

6.299

7.095

-8,5%

2,4%

1,1%

869

6.152

7.021

796

6.299

7.095

-8,5%

2,4%

1,1%

12.702

8.503

20.575

12.532

9.952

22.485

3,8%

17,0%

9,3%

MONTHLY OIL PRODUCTION OF ENAP SIPETROL
(IN THOUSANDS OF BARRELS)
Oil Production - Sipetrol (in thousands of barrels)
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MONTHLY GAS PRODUCTION OF ENAP SIPETROL
(IN THOUSANDS OF BARRELS)
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REFINING AND
COMMERCIALIZATION (R&C)
MANAGEMENT SUMMARY
Crude oil and products markets were highly volatile in 2018, which adds to geopolitical conﬂicts, a
signiﬁcant reduction of the production margin, lower discounts in crude oil purchase, a change in the
structure of the Brent futures curve, and higher energy costs because of a higher Brent price.
Given the 2018 results and faced to the possibility that reﬁning margins may remain low or nil, as has
been the case for gasoline, ENAP has implemented a strong plan to contain expenses and investments
and tight control of productivity.
The increase in activity in Magallanes is also noteworthy. Imports of liqueﬁed petroleum gas (LPG)
from Argentina were resumed and, subsequently, the product was placed in the national market in the
central zone, displacing maritime imports. In this way, additional sales of 136,700 cubic meters were
made, generating opportunities to increase the future supply of LPG in reﬁneries and increasing ENAP’s
presence in this market.
Together with the above, the company, to lighten the cash ﬂow and adjust it to the capacity to generate
resources, restructured successfully and in advance, bonds due in December 2018 and January 2019.
All this allowed a reduction in the expected losses if these decisions had not been taken.
The reﬁneries achieved a high level of operational availability and got a greater production of valuable
products (diesel, gasoline, and kerosene) giving a higher yield per reﬁned barrel. 82% of valuable products
were produced in 2018.
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ORIGIN OF REFINED CRUDE OIL IN 2018
REFINED CRUDE OIL
ORIGIN

PERCENTAGE

ASIA

2

EUROPE

2

SOUTH AMERICA

94

DOMESTIC

2

TOTAL

100

REFINING
TOTAL R&C

CRUDE OIL
THOUSAND CUBIC METERS

PERCENTAGE

LIGHT

800

7

INTERMEDIATE

5.512

46

HEAVY

3.665

31

CMPLEMENTARY LOADS

1.958

16

TOTAL

11.934

100

Excluding complementary loads, in 2018, ENAP’s Aconcagua, Bío Bío and Gregorio reﬁneries processed
10 million cubic meters of crude oil, imported mainly from South America (92%).
In 2018, the production of fuels and other products was 11.4 million cubic meters. Of this total, 35%
corresponds to gasoline, and 32% to diesel. The volumetric yield for the period was 95.8%.
At ENAP Aconcagua and Bío Bío Reﬁneries, the average utilization rate was 76.9% and the availability of
plants reached 95.1%, ﬁgures higher than those recorded in 2017 (75.7% and 93.2%, respectively).

NET PRODUCTION
TOTAL R&C

NET PRODUCTION
THOUSAND CUBIC METERS

PORCENTAJE

LIQUEFIED GAS

790

7

GASOLINE

3.984

35

KEROSENE

978

9

DIESEL

3.633

32

FUEL OIL

1.210

11

INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS AND OTHERS

837

7

TOTAL

11.934

100

VOLUMETRIC YIELD

95,8
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DOMESTIC MARKET
Liqueﬁed Petroleum Gas (LPG) became the third
most important product in terms of consumption,
with 2,4 MMm3 (41,647 bpd), recording an increase
of 1.9% over the previous year. In this case, the higher
consumption is explained by higher growth of the
bottled LPG segment. The prices of liqueﬁed gas
grew by 9% in real terms.

In 2018, domestic consumption of reﬁned oil products
reached 20.2 million cubic meters, equivalent to
348,845 barrels per day (bpd), increasing by 2.4%
over the previous year.
The increase in consumption compared to previous
years is explained by the growth of national economic
activity. The overall pace of activity was driven by
an improvement from 2017 in the following sectors:
mining, with a mining production index of 3.8%;
manufacturing, with 2.4%; and electricity, gas, and
water production, with 1.1%.

In this segment, the increase in the activity of
Magallanes stands out, as imports from Argentina
are resumed in the zone and the subsequent
placement of the product in the domestic market
in the central zone, displacing maritime imports with
additional sales of 136,700 cubic meters, generating
opportunities to increase the future supply of LPG
in reﬁneries, and increasing ENAP’s presence in this
market.

Thus, according to preliminary estimates by the
Central Bank of Chile in its IPOM Report (Monetary
Policy Report), Chile’s GDP expanded by 4.0% in 2018,
maintaining the trend shown since 2017, when the
growth reached 1.5%.

Kerosene consumption increased by 5.3%,
reaching 1.8 MMm3 (30,253 bpd). Within the total,
aviation kerosene, which represents 91.7% of the
consumption, increased by 7.9%, while household
kerosene increased by 16.7%. The end-user price of
this fuel increased by 27.7% in real terms.

By analyzing the variation in consumption per
product in relation to the previous period, very
different behaviors are observed, stands out the
decrease in fuel oil consumption which contrasts
with the increase in industrial products, kerosene,
diesel, Liqueﬁed Petroleum Gas (LPG), and vehicle
gasoline.

Fuel oil consumption decreased by 4.7 percent and
reached 900,000 cubic meters (15,052 bpd). The
consumption of fuel oils for industrial use decreased
by 8.5% (50,801 cubic meters), while their use as a
marine fuel in the country’s ports increased by 2.6%
(8,188 cubic meters). The end-user price of this fuel
increased by 24% in real terms.

Total diesel consumption increased by 2.8%,
equivalent to 10 million cubic meters (172,980 bpd);
maintaining its status as the most consumed product
among oil-based fuels. This increase was mainly
due to the rise in the country’s energy and industrial
requirements. The price between 2017 and 2018 rose
19.8% to end-user. In real terms, that is, discounting
the effect of inﬂation.

The consumption of industrial products -solvents,
oleﬁns (basic raw materials for the petrochemical
industry) and asphalt products-, totaled 400,000
cubic meters (7,057 bpd), 6.7% higher compared
to 2017.

Domestic consumption of vehicle gasoline was the
second largest by volume, with 4.8 MMm3 (81,856
bpd), growing 1.7% over the level of 2017. This increase
was due to the expansion of the vehicle ﬂeet, with
a 15.6% increase in retail sales of light and medium
vehicles compared to 2017. The end-user price had
an increase in real terms of 7.1%.

1

Source: INE/Industrial Production Index /Issue Nº243 January 2019
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Due to the new regulations restricting sulfur in marine
fuels, which will be applicable from 2020, there are
challenges in the supply of products. ENAP is working
to provide quality products in this segment, with the
idea of capturing the opportunities that will arise in
the market.

Finally, it should be noted that the increase in the
price of ﬁnal products in 2018 with respect to the
previous period is due to the increase in prices on
the Gulf Coast of Mexico, the reference market for
calculating prices in Chile, which in turn followed the
trajectory of the Brent ICE price.

An increase in the sale of marine diesel and a change
in the speciﬁcations of the intermediate fuel to be
offered to customers are expected.
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DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION
(FIGURES IN MILLIONS OF CUBIC METERS)

PRODUCTS

2018

2017

DOMESTIC CONSUMPTION

Mm3

Mm3

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS (LPG)

2.417

2.373

1,9%

VEHICLE GASOLINE

4.750

4.672

1,7%

KEROSENE

1.756

1.668

5,3%

DIESEL

10.038

9.764

2,8%

FUEL OIL

873

916

-4,7%

INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS AND OTHERS (*)

410

384

6,7%

TOTAL

20.244

19.776

2,4%

(*) Includes propylene, ethylene, naphtha, solvents, and asphalt, among others.

SALES AND MARKET SHARE 2018
(FIGURES IN MILLION CUBIC METERS)
Domestic Fuel Consumption and ENAP’s Sales (2018-2017)
DOMESTIC
CONSUMPTION

PRODUCTS

2018

2017

ENAP’S
DOMESTIC SALES

2017

2018

Mm3

DOMESTIC
MARKET SHARE

2018

Mm3

2017

ENAP
EXPORTS (**)

2018

Mm3

2017

ENAP IMPORT
SALES

2018

Mm3

2017
Mm3

VARIATIONS
2018 / 2017

2018

2017

DOMESTIC
CONSUMPTION

DOMESTIC
SALES

LIQUEFIED PETROLEUM GAS (LPG)

2.417

2.373

481

375

19,9%

15,8%

228

131

1

7

1,9%

28,3%

VEHICLE GASOLINE

4.750

4.672

4.481

4.447

94,3%

95,2%

-

-

491

404

1,7%

0,8%

KEROSENE

1.756

1.668

1.379

1.032

78,5%

61,9%

35

-

410

142

5,3%

33,6%

DIESEL

10.038

9.764

5.398

4.956

53,8%

50,8%

4

9

1.699

1.385

2,8%

8,9%

FUEL OIL

873

916

854

906

97,8%

98,9%

371

305

1

2

-4,7%

-5,7%

INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS AND OTHERS (*)

410

384

293

264

71,6%

68,9%

109

36

-

-

6,7%

10,9%

TOTAL

20.244

19.776

12.886

11.980

63,7%

60,6%

746

481

2.602

1.940

2,4%

7,6%

(*) Includes propylene, ethylene, naphtha, solvents, and asphalt, among others.
(**) Offshore sales included.
National sales of sulfur and coke are not included.
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SALES
The second best-selling product was vehicle gasoline,
with 4.5 MMm3 (77,218 bpd) and a market share of
94.3%. Although the size of the vehicle ﬂeet continues
to grow, the consumption of vehicles does not do
so in the same amount, as technological advances
have allowed them to be more efficient in terms of
fuel consumption. As the main supplier of gasoline
in the country, this market is continuously being
analyzed, as hybrid vehicles have introduced strongly
into the market (sales have doubled compared to
2017, totaling 866 units sold in 2018), along with the
growing demand for electric vehicles, which since
2012 has grown almost 40 times, totaling 197 units
sold in 2018.

Total sales in 2018 were 13.6 MMm3 (234.918 bpd),
9.4% higher than the previous year. This increase is
mainly explained by the higher level of sales to the
domestic market, which increased from 12 million
cubic meters in 2017 to 12.9 million cubic meters
in 2018. Also by the increase in the level of export
sales from 500,000 cubic meters in 2017 to 700,000
cubic meters in 2018.
There was an 8% increase in the sale of valuable
products in the domestic market, mainly in the
wholesale distributor segment, representing a 3.3%
increase in the market share of these products. The
products with the highest share of ENAP’s sales
corresponded to gasoline and diesel, with 39.6%
and 32,9%, respectively.

Domestic Market

In order of magnitude of sales, the following volumes
correspond to kerosene, with 1.4 million cubic meters
(23,760 bpd) and a market share of 78.5%. Particularly
in the aviation kerosene market, where ENAP is also
the main supplier, demand in Santiago (over 80% of
the sales of this product in the country) has grown
by more than 10% as a result of the expansion of
the airport and its activity, which has resulted in an
increase in frequencies of existing airlines and the
arrival of new airlines.

Sales to the domestic market were 12.9 MMm3
(222,059 bpd), with a market share of 63.7%, that is
3.1 percentage points higher than in 2017.

Specifically, ENAP increased its sales in the
Metropolitan Region by 57% and 14% in the rest of
the country.

The higher market share was affected by the increase
in sales of kerosene, liqueﬁed gas, and diesel with
a positive variation of 33.6%, 28.3%, and 8.9%
respectively with regard to 2017.

Continuing with the products and volumes sold by
ENAP, there is fuel oil with 900,000 cubic meters
(14,719 bpd) and a market share of 97.8%. Sales of
this product fell compared to 2017 by 6%, mainly
explained by the conversion to other fuels such as
LNG.

Of the total sales volume, 10.8 MMm3 (185,951 bpd)
corresponded to own production, representing
79.2% of the total sold. The remaining 20.8%, 2.8
MMm3, (48,971 bpd), was supplied mainly by imports
and, to a lesser extent, with purchases from local
third parties.

Among domestic sales, the best-selling product
was diesel, with 5.4 MMm3 (93,022 bpd), achieving a
market share of 53.8%. This represents an increase in
sales of 8.9%, a growth that was mainly achieved by
improving the commercial positioning in the central
and southern part of the country and leveraging
also the growth achieved in the north during 2016.

LPG sales volume was 500,000 cubic meters (8,290
bpd) representing 19.9% of the market. Finally,
industrial products sales volume was 300,000 cubic
meters (5,049 bpd) representing 71.6% of the market
share.
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EXPORTS
ENAP’s exports reached 700,000 cubic meters of oil-based products, equivalent to 6.9% of the total
production of its reﬁneries.
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ENAP’S REFINING AND COMMERCIALIZATION IN MAGALLANES
Liquid fuel supply for the Magallanes and Chilean Antarctic Region
ENAP’s Reﬁning and Commercialization Business Line in Magallanes sold a total volume of 305,015 cubic
meters of liquid fuels (gasoline, aviation kerosene, diesel for automotive and marine use), a ﬁgure 7.7%
higher than that of 2017, supplying 100% of the regional demand. That volume is expected to increase to
330,000 cubic meters (8% over 2017) by 2019.
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This increase in sales volume is mainly explained by:
1. Aviation kerosene: sales reached 51,320 cubic meters, representing an increase of 27% over 2017.
This volume is explained by a greater frequency of trips to the Magallanes Region (more airlines and
frequency of itinerary ﬂights) and an increase in air activity associated with the Antarctic tourist
and scientiﬁc operations based in the region.
2. Vehicle, marine and Antarctic diesel: in 2018, they reached a volume of 204,085 cubic meters
sold, which means an increase of 5% compared to 2017. The largest diesel sales are related to the
development of tourism industry activity, salmon farming, and Antarctic science, with Punta Arenas
as the main logistics center for supply. This upward trend is expected to continue in 2019, given the
growth shown by the aforementioned activities and the change of speciﬁcation in marine diesel for
the 2019-2020 season.
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DIESEL ANNUAL SALES
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GREGORIO REFINERY
During 2018, 247,974 cubic meters of light crude oil (°API > 32) were reﬁned. The basket consisted of 88%
national oil and 12% from Argentina.
Of the total volume produced in Gregorio Reﬁnery, 38,5% corresponded to naphtha; 14,1% to aviation
kerosene; 21,3% to marine diesel and 26,1% to reduced crude oil.

REFINED CRUDE OIL BASKET
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2016
Argentino

2017

2018

Sales of marine diesel and aviation kerosene went to the regional market, while naphtha and reduced crude
oil went to ENAP’s reﬁneries in the central part of the country (Bío Bío and Aconcagua).

CABO NEGRO PLANT
The raw product and LPG Mixture fractionated at the Cabo Negro Plant was 444,361 cubic meters,
representing an increase of 54% over 2017. Regarding the origin of this raw product, 39% is of national
origin and the remaining 61% is imported from Argentina. 413,881 cubic meters of LPG (propane and
butane) and 30,480 cubic meters of natural gasoline were obtained, of which approximately 26% were
used to prepare 93 octane gasoline..
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Regarding the liqueﬁed petroleum gas (LPG) processed in Cabo Negro, 183,615 cubic meters (equivalent
to 94.4 megatonnes) were used to supply customers in the central area of the country and the regions
of Aysén del General Carlos Ibáñez del Campo, and Magallanes and Chilean Antarctica. This represented
an increase of 218% over 2017, which allowed ENAP to increase its market share in the supply of LPG
in Chile.
Concerning LPG exports, these reached 207,166 cubic meters (equivalent to 114.6 megatonnes) with
various destinations, especially in Latin America, the Caribbean, and Africa.
LPG imports are expected to increase in 2019, reinforcing the energy integration with southern Argentina.
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TRAINING AND LEARNING
Training activities represented approximately 10.532
hours. The different courses by area were:
•

•

•

Laboratory: Metrology in chemistry; Basic
chromatograph maintenance; Basic methodology
and calculation of measurement uncertainty;
and Supreme Decree No. 43 on the storage of
hazardous substances.
Maritime Operations: the courses and certiﬁcates
that demanded a greater amount of hours were
the Loading Master Certiﬁcate and the English
Program Maritime in Terminals.
Plantas y Terminales: Pipeline Integrity
Management; Building Pi System Assets Analytics
With PIAF; and Customer Service in Loading
Yards: Service Model.

In addition, cross-sectional training was conducted on
PES, SafeStart standards, advanced defensive driving,
basic concepts of handling dangerous substances,
interpretation, and analysis of the ISO 9001: 2015
quality management system, and professional
development and strengthening programs.

FOCUS OF THE BUSINESS IN 2019
The main focuses of the business for 2019 are
related to ensuring the supply of fuels for the region,
considering the increase in demand, especially diesel
(vehicle and marine) and aviation kerosene. As for
the supply of LPG and crude oil, we are working to
reinforce the energy integration with Argentina,
to increase commercial operations between both
countries, which would allow us to have a greater
volume of raw materials, optimizing logistics and
production processes focused on the sale of our
products.
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INVESTMENT AND FINANCING MANAGEMENT
2018 R&C INVESTMENTS
The progress made on the main industrial projects are as follows:
Construction and Modiﬁcation of Loading Yard
- San Fernando

Optimization of the Isomerization Unit - ENAP
Aconcagua Reﬁnery

This project will allow strengthening the loading yards
within the commercial strategy of ENAP, to approach
the industrial market and the development of retail
distributors, expanding the geographic coverage and
the mix of products in Loading Yards. The startup
concluded in January 2018.

This project will add value to ENAP’s business by
optimizing the load of the Isomerization Unit, thus
increasing the generation of high-octane gasoline.
Construction of ponds - San Fernando
This project will add value to ENAP’s business by
increasing ﬂexibility in the supply of valuable products
to the country. During 2018, the environmental permit
(DIA) was obtained and the development of the EPC
contract began.

Installation of FCC (Wet Gas Scrubber)
emissions abatement system - Bío Bío Reﬁnery
This project will allow reducing the emissions of ﬁne
particulate matter and sulfur compounds, to comply
with the commitment made to the environmental
authority. During 2018, the detail engineering
and acquisitions, and almost the entire assembly
development were completed. Commissioning is
expected to be completed within the ﬁrst half of 2019.

Construction of Acid Water Treatment Plants Bío Bío and Aconcagua Reﬁneries
These projects aim to improve the treatment of acid
gases in both ENAP reﬁneries.

Hydrogen recovery in gases from the Catalytic
Reforming Unit - Aconcagua Reﬁnery

Construction of Acid Water Treatment Plants
- Bío Bío and Aconcagua Reﬁneries

Completion of commissioning is expected in the
ﬁrst half of 2019.

These projects aim to increase the capacity of acid
water treatments in both reﬁneries of ENAP, to
ensure the reliability of the process units and the
utilization rate, as well as to adapt their treatment
capacity for future requirements of the reﬁneries.

Installation of automatic valves in Coke
containers - ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery and ENAP
Aconcagua Reﬁnery
This project will substantially improve safety levels
in the opening and closing processes, in addition
to increasing the reliability of these operations,
minimizing failures.
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SUPPLIERS
In 2018, Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. covered its crude oil requirements with imports from Latin America (91.6%), North
America (5.1%), Europe (1.6%), and the remaining 1.7% from other countries.
97.2% of the imported crude oil was acquired through purchases in the spot market. The other 2.8% through
contracts.
As for purchases of reﬁned products, the main origins were: USA (84.2%), and Asia (China and Japan), (11.4%).
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SYNTHESIS OF RESULTS
ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. and subsidiaries had a loss of US$150.9 million for the year, which is compared to the
US$75.3 million proﬁt as of December 31, 2017. The variation of US$226.2 is mainly due to a lower gross
margin. The EBITDA generated as of December 31, 2018, was US$177.5 million, compared with US$428.3
million generated as of December 31, 2017.
The equity reached US$698.1 million as of December 31, 2018, US$118.7 million less than December 2017.
Consolidated gross margin reached US$119.3 million, which is explained by the gross margin of the Reﬁning
and Commercialization Business Line of US$84.4 million, and US$34.9 million of the Gas and Energy
Business Line. The gross margin as of December 31, 2017, was US$377.4 million.
The gross margin of the R&C Business Line of US$84.4 million was US$294.3 million lower than in the
ﬁscal year 2017, mainly due to a lower margin of own products for US$147.7 million and higher raw product
costs compared to the previous ﬁscal year, which explains US$23.5 million. Likewise, the change in the
curve of future crude oil prices compared to 2017, contango scenario in 2017 and backwardation scenario
in 2018, explain a reduction in the gross margin of US$67.6 million.
Finally, other charges, mainly higher energy costs, explain a reduction in the gross margin of US$56 million.
The gross margin of the G&E Business Line was US$34.9 million and compares positively with the negative
margin of US$1.2 million obtained in 2017. This is mainly explained by:
i.

Higher margin per item of a supply contract with regasiﬁcation capacity in 2018, US$30 million.

ii.

The higher margin for the sale of electricity and steam, US$100,000.

iii. Price effect due to parities and higher Brent marker than in 2017, for US$3.8 million.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery
At this reﬁnery the main crude oil and complementary
load processing plants are: Topping and Vacuum
I, Topping and Vacuum II, Visbreaking, Catalytic
Cracking, Continuous Catalytic Reforming,
Hydrocracking, Mild Hydrocracking (MHC), Gasoline
Hydrodesulphurization (HDG), Diesel Hydrotreatment,
Isomerization, Alkylation, DIPE, Sulfur Plants, and
Delayed Coker Complex.

In Quintero, the real estate are: Camino Costero N° 701,
Vía 5-6 P.I.V.; Camino Costero N° 1.201, Vía 5-6 P.I.V.;
Lot 117 (vacant); Lot 172 (vacant); Plot 16 Mantagua
(vacant); y Lots 11, 12 and 13, Fundo Las Gaviotas
(vacant).

Also, there is a Sulfuric Acid Regeneration plant, a
Sulfur Fixation plant, a Kerosene, Liqueﬁed Gas and
Fuel Gas Treatment plant, an Effluent and another
treatment plant; closed cooling system; oil pipeline
from the reﬁnery to the Quintero Maritime Terminal;
internal piping facilities from the pool areas to
processing plants and from these plants to pools of
intermediate and ﬁnal products; pumping areas to
send products from the reﬁnery to the Metropolitan
Region through an oil pipeline owned by Sonacol;
pumping areas and maritime terminals, including
one single buoy in Quintero; a chemical laboratory;
headquarters for the Fire Department in 24-hour
shifts; ﬁre engines, equipment and elements for
ﬁre-ﬁghting; specialized maintenance and repair
workshops for all the plants; emergency electrical
equipment powered by diesel fuel and gas; a natural
gas interconnection system to be used as fuel in
boilers and to generate steam; and facilities for
contractors.
The company also owns the following real estate in
Concón: Avenida Borgoño 25.777 building (industry),
C-9 Sports Field Lot; S-Sonacol Lots (industry); Lot
E7/B6 (vacant); 2 Norte, Lot R-1 (industry); Vía 2-A-5,
Lot E7/B1 (vacant); Calle 2 Norte, Lot R-3, (industry);
Tierra del Fuego and Magallanes (Open House); Vía
2-A-5, Lot R-5, (vacant); ERSA Aconcagua private
road, Lot R-4, (vacant); Lot R-6-3 (industrial); Lot
R-6-4 (vacant); Lot R-7 (vacant); 2 Norte, Lot H-4
(vacant); Barros Borgoño 25.175, Rotonda Concón, Lot
1, offices; Fundo Colmito, Lot 1 Well 23 (vacant); Fundo
Colmito Lot 2, Well 25 (vacant). It also owns parking
152, on the street Blanco 625 in Valparaíso; and two
other in Avenida Manantiales LT 3A-B, and ST 420.
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ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery
In the Eighth Region Enap Reﬁnerías S.A. owns the
following properties: Bío Bío Reﬁnery’s land, a building
located on Camino a Lenga 2001, Hualpén District
(for industrial purposes); Faja Fundo Las Golondrinas,
Hualpén; Cerro Las Pulgas (used as a pool area),
Hualpén; San Vicente Terminal: real estate and Lot
A-1 Talcahuano; Bocatoma Bío Bío land, located in
Hualpén District; rest of Lot C and Lot A1, both are next
to the Reﬁnery; Chillán Terminal Lot 7, Route 5, Chillán;
Molina Terminal, Talca; Hijuela Rucalhue, San Pedro
de la Paz District (vacant); Lot B6, subdivision of Lot
B of Fundo Hualpén, Hualpén; land at the Talcahuano
General Cemetery, used for cathodic protection of
the oil pipeline at facilities; Lot B-2, subdivision of Lot
B, San Miguel de Diguillín, Pemuco District; usufruct
for a period of 99 years of part of the estate located
in Talcahuano, patch A.

The main crude oil and complementary load
processing plants are: Topping and Vacuum I;
Topping and Vacuum II; Visbreaking; Catalytic
Cracking; Continuous Catalytic Reformation; Diesel
Hydrotreatment 1; Diesel Hydrotreatment 2; Gasoline
Cracking Desulfurization (HDG); Hydrocracking;
Benzene Saturation; Isomerization; Propylene
Separator and Puriﬁer; CHT Hydrogen Plant; Delayed
Coking (Coker) and Diesel Hydrotreatment (HDT),
Cogeneration Power Plant; Bío Bío Hydrogen Plant,
co-owned with Sigdo Kopper S.A.; Mild Hydrocracking
Plant of Gas Oil (MHC). There are also Merox Kerosene
Treatment plant, Gasoline, and Liquefied Gas
Treatment plants, Sodium Hydrosulﬁde plant; Sulfur
Recovery plants No1 and No2; Gas Treatment plant;
Acid Water Treatment plant; Oily Water Treatment
plant; Cooling Water, Steam and Power Supply;
storage pools for crude oil and intermediate and
ﬁnal products.
Other industrial facilities are the pipelines for the
transportation of end products from the reﬁnery to
San Fernando, where it connects with the Sonacol
pipeline (San Fernando-Maipú) and pumping stations
at Bío Bío Reﬁnery, Chillán, and Molina; oil pipelines
from the reﬁnery to San Vicente Maritime Terminal for
the transportation of crude oil and ﬁnished products;
San Vicente maritime terminal, which has a dock;
internal piping from the tank areas to the processing
plants and from these to the intermediate and ﬁnal
product tanks; gas pipeline for the reception and
delivery of liqueﬁed gas; motor-pumps for sending
products from the Reﬁnery to San Fernando and San
Vicente; motor-pumps in San Vicente for shipments of
products by sea and the reception of imported crude
oil also by sea; chemical laboratory; facilities and ﬁre
station for the Emergency Response Brigade operated
by the volunteer workers of the plant; specialized
workshops for maintenance and repairing of all the
plants; electricity emergency equipment that works
with diesel and natural gas, and an interconnection
system for natural gas to be used as fuel in boilers
and furnaces (steam generation).
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Storage and Pipeline Division (DAO)
The main real estate are: Huerto El Milagro, Maipú (Agricultural); Hijuela Norte of San Juan de Chena, Maipú
(industrial); North-western portion of Fundo San Gabriel and San Manuel, Linares; part of Fundo or Chacra
Palermo, San Fernando; and Lot N° 7, part of Fundo Las Acacias, Chillán. Liqueﬁed Natural Gas Regasiﬁcation
Plant in Pemuco, Eighth Region.
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QUALITY MANAGEMENT IN REFINING AND
COMMERCIALIZATION
ENAP Reﬁnerias S.A. continuing with its commitment to quality, during 2017
it reformulated its management policy, which currently establishes:
“ENAP Refinerías S.A. assumes the commitment to be a leader in the
management, reﬁning, and distribution of hydrocarbons and derivatives,
t+o meet the fuel supply needs of its customers and other interested parties,
regarding product quality, quantity, and opportunity.
Our purpose is to supply fuels through the execution and development of
their processes, committed to the applicable requirements and continuous
improvement of the Management System, ensuring sustainability and operational
excellence, to increase the operational reliability and competitiveness of the
company in the market.
It promotes in its processes the health, the integral development and the
safety of the people, the security of the facilities, the care of the environment,
the commitment with the communities and the efficient use of the energy “
In accordance with its policy, work has been done in all business units to
project quality management according to the 2014-2025 Strategic Plan.
In particular, the Aconcagua Reﬁnery and the Gregorio Reﬁnery were recertiﬁed in the ISO 9001 standard in its 2008 version, and they began the
update process for a future certiﬁcation under the ISO 9001 standard, version
2015. Meanwhile, the Bio Bio Reﬁnery that has already been recertiﬁed in late
2016, focused on the updating process for a future certiﬁcation under ISO
9001 version 2015.
On the other hand, in 2017, DAO carried out the update of the Quality
Management System by achieving the certiﬁcation of ISO 9001, in its 2015
version.
In this way, the quality management systems of each of the business units have
given support to other management systems that have been implemented in
ERSA, such as; ISO 50001: 2011 Energy Management System, Chilean Standard
NCh 3262: 2012; Gender equality management system and reconciliation
of work, family and personal life, NCh-ISO 17025; “General requirements for
the competence of testing and calibration laboratories”, ISO 55001; Asset
Management System and Operational Integrity Management System.
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Logistics Management
ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT
During 2018, the Logistics Management carried out
a series of activities and initiatives focused on the
following strategic axes:
•

•

•

•

•

The work of the ENAP Maritime Terminals group,
led by the Logistics Management, was maintained
during 2018, through the creation of the Marine
Assurance area.

Compliance with environmental and maintenance
requirements.

COMMITMENT TO SAFETY

Preserve and increase commercial positioning.

Among the most relevant safety milestones, the
following can be mentioned:

Develop improvement projects in processes and
operational excellence.

•

The Storage and Pipelines Division (DAO)
obtained a consolidated Accident Frequency
Indicator of 5.6 (Lost Time Accidents per million
man-hours), thus failing to reach the goal of 2.2
points or fewer.

•

For the ﬁfth consecutive year, zero incidents
were recorded in the Directorate of Land
Transport.

•

The Linares and San Fernando plants reached
11 and 12 years without Lost Time Accidents of
own personnel, respectively.

•

The Vetting area, dependent on Marine
Assurance, evaluated a total of 360 vessels,
keeping permanent control overexposure to
the inherent risk of maritime transport.

Improve procurement policies.
Compliance with the Structural Safety Program
(PES).

Likewise, and regarding the speciﬁc objectives of the
Business Unit, special attention has been given to:
•

•

•

The generation of transportation capacity to
mobilize a larger volume of valuable products
from the reﬁneries, as well as the intermediate
products necessary for their elaboration.
Achieve greater competitiveness, enhancing the
management of the supply chain and capture
efficiencies.

The interaction of the Marine Assurance area with
ENAP’s maritime terminals was maintained, evaluating
all the ships served by these terminals. The above,
to guarantee an adequate operation review process,
regardless of the origin of the ships.

To highlight the importance of service quality
concepts to clients.

To maintain an adequate communication of its core
functions and the development of internal work
teams, a continuity of workshops was maintained
in coordination with the commercial areas of ENAP
Reﬁnería Aconcagua and ENAP Reﬁnería Bío Bío.
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There was active participation in joint simulations with the terminals and the maritime authority, given the
incidents associated with spills and commitments with the aquatic environment, in different bays of the country.
•

•

Training activities, infrastructure, and equipment improvements were carried out as a function of the
implementation of the operational standards of ENAP Rules for Life (Structural Safety Project PES).
Incident drills were carried out at the Directorate of Land Transport, including emergency agencies, to
review response capabilities and the necessary coordination to control these critical situations in time.
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DIRECTORATES OF THE LOGISTICS MANAGEMENT
Directorate of Maritime Transport

Directorate of Inventory Control

During 2018, based on the current schedule of vessel
contracts no modiﬁcations were made to ENAP’s
time charter ﬂeet. The activities carried out for the
tankers distributed in national cabotage concentrated
on carrying out programmed docks, as well as on
the installation of double valves, to increase their
operational ﬂexibility. At the same time, the inspection
program carried out by the Marine Assurance area
for ENAP’s entire ﬂeet of vessels was maintained.

In 2018, the challenges facing the Inventory Control
and Management Division focused basically on
consolidating systems and cross-cutting tools that
are a structural part of its functions.
Crude Oil Balance and Products Tool
This integrated production accounting tool has been
in operation since 2017, generating daily balances
at ERSA reﬁneries and at the Storage and Pipeline
Division plants. During the last period, Process Unit
Balances were implemented. To date, the balance of
plants at ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery is carried out using
this tool and, at ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery, it is
under development for subsequent implementation.

Also, the inspection program of motorboats and
tugs for the contracted services associated with the
national distribution was satisfactorily carried out.
With regard to the contracts associated with maritime
transport, it is worth mentioning that the tugboat
contract in the southern zone was renegotiated and
a new cross-cutting contract associated with the
garbage collection operations carried out in Chile
was initiated, incorporating an international supplier.

Inventory Control Management System (SGCI)
The purpose of this system is to have a standard
inventory control process that considers operational
procedures, roles, and responsibilities for the
registration, control, and management of inventories
in ENAP. In 2018, in conjunction with the Business
Units, a calendar of review meetings (Variation
Committees) was established, with the main objective
of reviewing product balances, investigating and
administering deviations found and taking decisions
related to them.

The annual operation can be summarized in over a
thousand calls to ports and a volume transported of
approximately 11 million cubic meters, considering
products of national distribution, inter-reﬁneries, and
crude oil movement.
Finally, it is important to mention the support
of the Maritime Transport and Marine Assurance
departments in ENAP’s loading masters training
program, as well as in the certiﬁcation of all the
company’s maritime terminals carried out by the
authority.

In addition, the Inventory Management and Control
Department actively participated in the review of
natural gas and liquid natural gas balances, early
investigation of quality and/or quantity incidents in
crude oil and products, as well as in the SAP Oil &
Gas project for ENAP.
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Directorate of Land Transport

without affecting the safety of people or the
process or the quality of internal service.

During 2018, the land transportation area maintained
its structure, consolidating its area of truck
programming and control.

•

This management accumulated a total of movements
by type and mode of transportation as follows,
totaling almost 50% of deliveries to customers of
the company:
•

•

•

Trucking: 754,315 tons, with 20,230,879
kilometers traveled.
Pipeline transport: 5,217,999 cubic meters.

Among the most outstanding issues of the period
of the Directorate of Land Transport, the following
can be mentioned:
•

•

•

•

Optimization of the liquid fuel ﬂeet. As a result
of internal analysis, it was possible to reduce
the amount of equipment in the circuit without
affecting the safety of people or the process or
the quality of service to customers.
Elimination of MOP Weighing. The objective of this
initiative was to eliminate the need to perform
MOP weighing at ENAP’s different plants through
a process of registration and certiﬁcation of the
units (tracts and trailers that provide services
for ENAP and its clients). In this way, it will be
possible to eliminate the time spent in the plant,
making the process of attending trucks in ENAP
plants more efficient.

Bidding of LPG process for distribution to clients
from Cabo Negro (Punta Arenas) to Coyhaique.
Cost efficiency with ﬂeet contracted at ﬁxed
and variable value for transfers. A contract was
negotiated to regulate the amount of equipment
based on projected demand.
Road risk management initiative. During the
past year, the Directorate of Land Transport
initiated an integral program of the administration
of its contracted ﬂeet, which consisted of the
implementation of technological equipment, a
management platform, training to the drivers
and a permanent follow-up with its transport
headquarters. This successful program
considered developing campaigns and inductions
for the drivers of the companies hired by ENAP. In
addition, a seminar was held in which the results
of the initiative were delivered and recognition
was given to the most outstanding drivers to
reinforce their commitment to safety in the
transportation of dangerous cargo.

STORAGE AND PIPELINES DIVISION
(DAO)
Focusing on the improvement of the integral
management of the DAO, a new cross-cutting
directorate was created in 2018: the Directorate
of Asset Management (DGA). This replaced the
Engineering and Reliability Division (DIC) and its
main functions are:

The maintenance processes of liquid natural
gas (LNG) tanks were 100% complied with,
maintaining the operational continuity of the
units in the transport of LNG.

•

Study of the optimization of transfer of liqueﬁed
petroleum gas (LPG) and LNG between reﬁneries
and plants. The objective, once again, is to
optimize the use of resources and mitigate
risks associated with driving. The quantity of
equipment was reduced, improving travel times

•

•

Deﬁne a model and strategy for cross-cutting
planning of major and minor maintenance for
the DAO.
Deliver the guidelines and general framework
for maintenance, management initiatives and
investment projects of the management.
Assist the DAO’s plants in maintenance,
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through the generation of framework contracts
that make their management more efficient.
•

•

Administration of the execution and
implementation of CAD initiatives and projects.
Engineering and reliability of DAO plants.

Oleoducto Sur Hualpén - San Fernando:
Ensuring Integrity
In line with the strategy of asset maintenance and
regulatory compliance, during the year, activities
were carried out to care for the pipeline, focusing on
its mechanical integrity, with repair and deepening
works.
In 2018, defect repairs were performed for a total
of more than eight kilometers of pipeline. Additionally, the deﬁnitive solution for the crossings of the
Tinguiririca and Andalién rivers was completed and
preparations for the crossing of the Lontué river
began.
From the point of view of operation and management of the pipeline, two technological systems
were implemented: a shipment control system and
a leak detection system.
These new tools will maintain operational control
of the pipeline by assisting operators in their daily
tasks. Additionally, at the San Fernando plant, an
automatic valve system was implemented that allows
better control of the pipeline shipment receptions.
This plant is the terminal station of the pipeline line.
Finally, within the scope of the innovation associated with risk prevention in the administration of the
southern pipeline, a pilot initiative with drones was
carried out to carry out surveillance tasks on the
strip of the pipeline.
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DAO PLANTS
Pemuco Satellite Regasiﬁcation Plant (PSR)

The most relevant milestones and activities are
detailed below:

During 2018, the plant worked without problems,
supplying the LNG necessary for the operation of
ENAP’s Bío Bío Reﬁnery and customers in the area.

Project to Modernize the Fire-Fighting
Network at the Maipú and San Fernando
Plants.

Vinapu Terminal, Easter Island

This project is currently being developed at the Maipú
plant and its purpose is to adapt ﬁre-ﬁghting systems
to the regulatory framework by improving water
storage and pumping capacity. In 2018, the company
carried out pump assembly activities and bidding
for the construction of water ponds for both plants.

In 2018, most of the projects corresponding to the
plant’s major maintenance plan were completed. In
this way, a four-year multi-year project is completed,
which restored the integrity of the terminal, currently
allowing for safer and more efficient operation. On the
other hand, in August 2018, the maritime terminal
was certiﬁed for four years by the Chilean maritime
authority.

ERSA Loading Yard Automation
This initiative considers an industry software tool to
ensure secure cargo control, standardized procedures
and comprehensive management of all ERSA loading
yards. During 2018, work was completed on all DAO
loading yards.

Remodeling of the San Fernando plant
facilities
This initiative considers the improvement of the
administrative buildings, as well as the operating
room and entrance to the plant. It is currently in its
completion stage and its purpose is to adapt the
terminal facilities to the requirements of operation
and staff welfare.

Maintenance of LPG Ponds at the Linares and
San Fernando Plants
To comply with LPG’s pressurized tanks maintenance
plan, the project for the inspection, maintenance, and
certiﬁcation of the 10 tanks of the Linares Plant was
successfully developed. Currently, the same work is
being done for the 26 ponds at the San Fernando
Plant.

Maipú Plant Inspection Program
During 2018, the scheduled inspection and repair
of butane spheres was carried out at this plant.
Similarly, the inspection of the plant’s internal lines
was carried out and work is currently underway to
complete the inspection of external lines.

Additionally, the programmed inspection of the
LPG refrigerated pond was carried out at the San
Fernando Plant.
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DAO HUMAN RESOURCES
Organizational Climate
The current plan considers ﬁve areas for improvement:
Communication and Coordination; Teamwork and
Interpersonal Environment; Recognition; Quality of
Life; and People Development. This work resulted
in obtaining, for the second consecutive year, the
best climate indicator as a unit in Chile.
Leadership Workshops
Implemented for senior managers and managers. It
sought to strengthen their leadership skills in areas
such as recognition, effective communication,
meeting management, among others.
Quality of life
Throughout the year there were mini pause
gymnastic activities and chair massages once a
week, covering all shifts so that everyone could
participate. Nutritional talks were also given to the
workers’ families.
Dissemination of the DAO Strategic Plan
To bring the strategic vision closer to the work teams,
local managers held a series of periodic meetings with
employees from all the DAO plants.
The purpose was to explain in a face-to-face and
close way, in each of the plants, the management’s
role within the company and the new challenges to
be faced by the Logistics Management and especially
the DAO.
DAO Olympics
In 2018, the DAO Olympics were held. Its main
objective is to strengthen the relationship between
the different plants and management areas, in a
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GAS & ENERGY (G&E)

During 2018, efforts in this business line consisted,
on the one hand, of continuing to promote greater
use of natural gas. On the other hand, efforts
were made to improve the competitiveness of the
electricity market, the supply of cleaner energies
and energy management in the different Business
Units nationwide.

Petropower cogeneration plant; the change of the
plants of ENAP’s Storage and Pipelines Division (DAO)
from regulated to free customer; and the awarding of
the 2018 Energy Management Award, granted by the
Clean Energy Ministerial (CEM) international forum.
With respect to G&E’s economic performance, there
was an improvement in EBITDA compared to 2017
of US$29.1 million. This is mainly explained by the
beginning of the natural gas supply and regasiﬁcation
contract with Colbún; and the beginning of the
implementation of electricity and steam transfer
tariffs between R&C and G&E.

Among the milestones in 2018, the following stand
out: The signing of the general and speciﬁc conditions
of the Terminal Use Agreement between ENAP and
GNL Mejillones; the coordination of the third natural
gas export operation to Argentina; a 99% advance of
the Aconcagua Cogeneration Plant; the constitution
of the company Vientos Patagónicos SpA; total
control of the operation and maintenance of the

175
ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

GAS MANAGEMENT
Gas Commercialization through Pipelines

Among the main objectives of this management
is the development of initiatives that promote the
use of liqueﬁed natural gas (LNG) in the national
energy matrix, through its marketing or natural
gas to customers in the industrial, thermoelectric,
transport and distribution sectors. In addition,
the Gas Management must establish associative
ﬁgures for the development of strategic projects
that allow the commercialization and improve
ENAP’s positioning in the natural gas domestic
market.

The regasiﬁed LNG in Terminal Quintero is injected
into the Electrogas pipeline and transported to
consumption points, including ENAP Reﬁnería
Aconcagua, the main thermoelectric plants
located in the central zone, industrial consumers,
residential and commercial gas distributors in
the Metropolitan and Valparaiso regions, and the
interconnection with Argentina for the purpose
of exporting natural gas (NG).
With respect to generators, during 2018 the longterm agreement between ENAP and Colbún S.A.
began to operate, which allowed the former to
place a large part of its natural gas remnants and
regasiﬁcation capacity.

In July 2018, ENAP signed with the Mejillones
LNG Terminal the general and speciﬁc conditions
of the Terminal Use Agreement, with its
respective annexes. ENAP thus became part of
a regasiﬁcation capacity of 2.9 TBtu per year for a
period of 23 years, which will enable it to develop
the industrial and mining market not connected
to gas pipelines in the north of Chile, supplied
by means of cryogenic trucks. In this way, ENAP
seeks to replicate the mobile LNG business model
that has been successful in the central-southern
part of the country.

Virtual Gas Pipeline
ENAP developed a virtual gas pipeline to supply ENAP
Bío Bío Reﬁnery, using cryogenic LNG trucks, which
are unloaded at a Satellite Regasiﬁcation Plant (PSR)
located in Pemuco, Bío Bío Region. There, LNG is

176
ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

regasiﬁed and injected into the Paciﬁc Gas Pipeline,
through which natural gas is supplied to the reﬁnery
and, additionally, volumes of natural gas are sold to
distribution companies and industries in that region.

loading yard. ENAP’s natural gas sales volume,
through GNL Quintero, showed an increase of 3%
over the previous year, which is explained by higher
sales to electricity generators.

Mobile LNG

The residential-commercial (ResCom) and industrial
segments of the regions of Valparaíso and Bío Bío
decreased their participation in total sales from
15% in 2017 to 14% in 2018, due to the availability of
Argentine gas in the region. The internal consumption
of the reﬁneries increased in relation to the previous
year.

Mobile LNG corresponds to a business model based
on the commercialization of natural gas, through the
loading of LNG in cryogenic reservoirs in the LNG
Quintero terminal and its subsequent transport to
industrial plants, under a current supply contract. In
them, the LNG is unloaded in satellite regasiﬁcation
plants (PSR) and vaporized to be used as fuel in their
production processes. This process is carried out in
compliance with high corporate safety standards,
with requirements even higher than the legislation
in force.

Natural gas exports to Argentina decreased their
share of total sales from 14% in 2017 to 1% in 2018,
due to lower gas requirements from the neighboring
country and lower availability of natural gas by ENAP,
which was destined to the new long-term supply
contract with Colbún.

At the end of 2018, 20 industrial PSRs, located
between the regions of Coquimbo and Los Lagos,
belonging to various productive sectors and leaders
in their respective markets, were in operation with
ENAP’s LNG.

In 2018, the share of Mobile LNG sales in total sales
increased from 4% to 5% compared to the previous
year.
Sales in the thermoelectric sector reached 40%
of ENAP’s total deliveries and, according to the
electricity generation matrix of the National Electric
System (SEN), these represented a 21% participation
in the production of electricity based on LNG.

Gas Exports to Argentina
With the purpose of deepening the energy
integration between both countries, the G&E
business line led for the third consecutive year the
coordination of natural gas exports to Argentina,
using the GNL Quintero Terminal and the Electrogas
and GasAndes pipelines. In fact, ENAP led a group –
formed by the main public and private actors of the
national natural gas market - in negotiations with
its Argentinean counterpart IEASA (Integración
Energética Argentina S.A.), achieving an export
of natural gas, during the months of July and
August, equivalent to about 3.0 MMm3/d and 0.4
MMm3/d, respectively.

At the end of the year, ENAP positioned itself as the
leader in mobile LNG market share, concentrating
42% of domestic deliveries to industrial customers,
which, added to deliveries via virtual pipeline to PSR
Pemuco, represents 75% of Quintero LNG Loading
Yard deliveries.

Gas Management Summary
During 2018, ENAP was the recipient of 32% of
the total deliveries of natural gas by Terminal GNL
Quintero, both via gas pipeline and via tanker truck
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LNG QUINTERO TERMINAL: COMPARISON OF DELIVERIES 2017-2018
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HISTORY: ENAP AND
LIQUEFIED NATURAL GAS
In May 2004, the Government of Chile
commissioned ENAP to lead the development
of an LNG import project that would allow the
country to obtain greater independence and
security of supply by diversifying its energy
matrix.
Thus, a group of consumers was formed that
generated the necessary demand to access
the international LNG market, creating the
companies GNL Chile and GNL Quintero for the
development, construction, and operation of the
regasiﬁcation terminal project. ENAP currently
holds a 33.3% and 20% stake, respectively, in
these companies.
The LNG regasiﬁcation terminal Quintero began
operations in September 2009 and has had a
high utilization rate, contributing signiﬁcantly
to the use of a clean and lower-cost fuel, which
has allowed attenuating the increase in the price
of electric energy during the drought period
prevailing in the country since 2010.
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PROJECT, OPERATIONS AND
ELECTRICITY MANAGEMENT
The objective of this management is the development
and implementation of electricity generation projects
to improve the efficiency and safety of operations,
make proﬁtable the company’s strategic assets,
contribute to the competition of the national
electricity market and make viable energy solutions
based on clean energy.

The Cogeneradora Aconcagua plant consists of the
installation of a natural gas turbine, with its respective
electric generator, with a capacity of 77 MW of power,
coupled to a heat recovery boiler, which will produce
125 ton/h of superheated steam at high pressure
(representing 40% of the current production of the
reﬁnery’s boilers).

Its main functions include the development of
projects, from their conceptual deﬁnition stages,
planning, execution, to their commissioning. It also
considers the operation of assets, coordinating
the energy needs of reﬁneries with the growing
regulatory requirements of the electricity sector,
which move in a direction of greater demands and
speciﬁc knowledge of the regulations. It is also in
charge of the commercialization and administration
of electricity supply contracts for ENAP’s generation
assets.

ENAP Reﬁnería Aconcagua will fully consume the
steam produced by the cogeneration plant and 35
MW of the electrical power generated, exporting the
surplus to CEN.
The cogeneration plant is located in an industrial
sector far from populated areas, surrounded only by
other industries. This land is located approximately
two kilometers east of the coastal edge of Concón
and 1.6 kilometers from the steam connection point.
It is important to note that, given the water conditions
of the Aconcagua river basin, the cogeneration plant
will not require an additional water supply, as it will
operate in a closed condensate/steam cycle with
the reﬁnery, maintaining global water consumption
with respect to the current situation.

Aconcagua Steam Generator
The Cogeneradora Aconcagua project consists of
the construction of a cogeneration plant based on
natural gas, which will produce high-pressure steam
to feed the conversion processes of the Aconcagua
reﬁnery. It will also produce electricity, fully supplying
the demand for this plant and injecting surpluses to
the National Electric Coordinator (CEN).

In 2017, all the studies needed for the connection
and synchronization of the Cogeneradora Aconcagua
project to the electrical system were managed and
approved by the CEN.

This project is part of the Government’s Energy
Agenda, which has given ENAP an active role, with
the objective of reducing energy costs, contributing
to new generation projects based on natural gas.

As of December 2018, the work on the Aconcagua
Cogenerator Plant is 99% complete. As far as safety
statistics are concerned, 1,600,000 hours without
lost time accidents were reported at the end of 2018,
a clear sign of ENAP’s commitment to the safety of
its workers.

The safe, stable operation with state-of-the-art
technology allows for a more harmonious coexistence
with the communities and the environment. The
cogeneration plant will imply the cessation of the
normal operation of two of the reﬁnery’s boilers,
fulfilling the commitment assumed with the
communities.

It is estimated that the plant will start operating
during the ﬁrst quarter of 2019.
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Some mitigation measures committed by
Environmental Qualiﬁcation Resolution 318 / 2007, to
which the project is subject, include paving the streets
of Concón, improving the air quality measurement
network, online monitoring of emissions from the
plant and the reﬁnery’s boilers.

During December 2018, the project was included
in the pricing and expansion report of the Punta
Arenas Medium-Sized System by the National
Energy Commission (Exempt Resolution N°7922018), as part of the System’s Efficient Replacement
Project from a technical-economic point of view.

The project has also ﬁnanced the construction of a
new 11,900 m2 park by means of participatory design
with the neighborhood councils involved, ensuring
the preservation of green areas and strengthening
ENAP’s relationship with its neighboring communities.

Currently, the project is in the process of developing
detailed engineering and concluding the beginning
of the installation of works and earth movements.

Vientos Patagónicos Wind Farm
Vientos Patagónicos SpA, formed by ENAP (66%)
and Pecket Energy S.A. (34%) was incorporated
on October 2018. This company will develop and
own the project Vientos Patagónicos Wind Farm,
which will add 10 MW of power and contribute up
to 18% of the renewable energy consumption to
the Punta Arenas Medium-Sized System. In this
way, the region’s abundant renewable resources
will be capitalized in a sustainable project that will
reduce the carbon footprint of the Punta Arenas
electric system.
In November 2018, the engineering, supply and
construction contract was signed with Elecnor Chile
S.A., which will be responsible for the execution
-including assembly and start-up- of the project.
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Cerro Pabellón
ENAP and ENEL are partners in Geotérmica del Norte (GDN), owner of the Cerro Pabellón power plant,
the ﬁrst geothermal plant in South America, which consists of two units, totaling an installed capacity
of 48 MW. The plant is located in the commune of Ollagüe, Antofagasta Region at 4,500 meters above
sea level and in the middle of the Atacama Desert.
The ﬁrst and the second units were synchronized to the system in March and June 2017, respectively.
In terms of actual operation, the Cerro Pabellón power plant generated 210 GWh during 2018.
During this period, ENAP and ENEL analyzed the possibility of expanding the Cerro Pabellón plant with
a third unit of installed capacity of 33 MW.
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Nueva ERA Power Plant

Reﬁnery and seeking economic optimizations, ENAP
successfully took full control of the operations and
maintenance of the Petropower cogeneration plant
at 00:00 hours on December 27, 2018.

The Nueva ERA Power Plant project is a natural
gas combined cycle power plant with an installed
capacity of 510 MW. The project is currently in the
process of environmental processing, which began
in 2016.

Energy Management Synthesis
Implementation of electricity and steam transfer
pricing

Responses to the authority’s observations received
in February 2017 were submitted on June 2018.
Thus, the results of complementary studies,
associated with the analysis of the risks to the health
of the project and prepared by the Department of
Public Health of the Pontiﬁcia Universidad Católica
de Chile, were presented.

During 2018, R&C and G&E business lines implemented
the transfer pricing for the supply of electricity and
steam from the Petropower Cogenerator to ENAP
Bío Bío Reﬁnery, and for the supply of petcoke from
the reﬁnery to the cogenerator. In the ﬁrst stage,
together with the prices, the procedures, the persons
in charge of measurement and the periodicity of
validation of the equipment involved were agreed.
Later on, progress will be made on the negotiation
of third party supply contracts. This methodology
will make it possible to improve management and
capture greater efficiencies for the company as a
whole.

In August 2018, further consultations were received
from the environmental authority. Finally, in
November 2018, a request was made to extend the
deadline for project evaluation until June 2019, to
deepen the complementary studies. These analyzes
are related to the estimation of the emissions
associated with the combustion of natural gas
and to the evaluation, based on these results, of the
mitigation, repair and/or compensation measures
in the face of the possible environmental effects
that would be generated.

ERSA Bío Bío Autoproducer Operations
Among the relevant initiatives developed by the
Energy Management’s area is the obtaining of the
autoproducer category for the Petropower Power
Plant - ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery from the second half
of 2017. This allowed ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. to enter
the electricity business as ERSA Autoproducer,
together with an important optimization of the
operational costs associated with the electricity
market.

Petropower Cogeneration Plant
The Petropower cogeneration plant uses petcoke as
fuel. It produces high-pressure steam and electricity,
which is supplied to ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery. It supplies
part of the Reﬁnery’s demand for steam and its entire
power demand, injecting the surplus energy into the
National Electric System.

During 2018, the operation of ENAP Bío Bío Reﬁnery
Autoproducer allowed supplying the steam and
electricity consumption of this subsidiary and
injecting the surplus into the National Interconnected
System. The fuel used by the Petropower
Cogenerator is supplied by the reﬁnery itself, thus
conﬁguring a dependent and integrated process.

Since ENAP’s acquisition of 100% of the property
of Petropower Energía Ltda. at the end of 2016 and
until December 26, 2018, the plant was operated
through an operation and maintenance contract with
an external supplier.
With the clear vision of ensuring the operational
continuity of the plant, safeguarding the security of
steam and electric energy supply to ENAP Bío Bío

The surpluses were supplied to the deﬁcit generators
of the spot market, with the purpose of achieving
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the instantaneous balance of supply/demand of
the electric market. The surplus was 102 GWh and
was valued at US$6 million. On the other hand, the
supply of all the reﬁnery’s electricity consumption
by the autoproducer allowed savings estimated
at US$3 million during 2018, due to a reduction
in payments for the use of transmission facilities.
DAO Plants Transfer to Free Customer
During 2018, the Energy area implemented the transfer
from the regulated customer to free customer for the
ﬁve liquid fuel storage, distribution and pumping plants
of ENAP’s Storage and Oil Pipelines Division (DAO),
which are located between Santiago and Chillán.
The work performed focused on making the transfer
to a free client, managing the materialization of toll
contracts with distribution companies, validating and
informing the National Electric Coordinator and deﬁning
internal procedures for the delivery of information and
invoicing.
The electricity supply for these plants is made from
surplus energy from the ERSA Autoproducer, which is
injected into the SEN. This change in customer type will
provide ENAP with an estimated proﬁt of US$400,000
per year.
Reliquidation of Toll Contracts Associated with
ENAP Aconcagua Reﬁnery
During 2018, the Energy area proceeded to negotiate
the updating of the Additional Toll contracts associated
with ENAP Aconcagua Refinery. This process
included the revision of the original contracts and
their harmonization with the regulations based on
the regulatory changes introduced in the General
Law of Electrical Services of 2016. The process
was successfully completed for ENAP, obtaining a
reduction in the monthly payments for these tolls.
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STORY: ENAP AND
ELECTRICITY
With the creation of the Gas and Energy business
line in 2014, the Projects, Operations and Electricity
Management began the process for entering the
electricity market, which was achieved through
the expansion of ENAP’s business line in February
2016. This allowed participating in bidding
processes for electricity supply, contracts for
the supply of energy to generators and to develop
and materialize electricity generation projects.
In 2015. the Nueva ERA Power Plant Project
entered the Environmental Assessment System
(SEA); it consists of a generator of 510 MW at
the Aconcagua Refinery and marked one of
ENAP’s relevant milestones in the electricity
market. This project has had an active process
of socialization with the communities involved,
allowing ENAP to become closer to the residents
of Concón, Quintero, and Quillota, whose concerns
and suggestions have been considered for the
implementation of the Nueva ERA Comprehensive
Program.
In 2016, after a strategic partner selection process,
an agreement was signed with the Japanese
company Mitsui with which ENAP participated
in the bidding process of Electric Distribution
Companies, a process with high participation and
competition, in which prices reached historically
low levels, achieving the objectives deﬁned in the
Energy Agenda 2014.
Other important milestones are the construction
of the Aconcagua Cogenerator, which began in
2016 and will begin operations in the ﬁrst quarter
of 2019; the commissioning of the Cerro Pabellón
Geothermal Plant in March 2017; and the signing
of the engineering, supply and construction
contract for the Vientos Patagónicos Wind Farm
in November 2018, which will begin operations in
December 2019.
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ENERGY CONTROL MANAGEMENT
Recognitions

In December 2018, ENAP’s Energy Efficiency Projects
Portfolio was created based on the results of the
Energy Audits and systematic internal surveys
and updates carried out in all operating units. It is
composed of the improvement opportunities that
present the greatest potential for proﬁtability and
technical viability of the company in this area, and
consists of a total of 28 initiatives in the engineering
stage that project future economic beneﬁts to the
year 2025 for US$23.9 million per year, with an
associated investment of close to US$65.5 million.

In May 2018, ENAP received an international energy
efficiency award for the development of energy
management systems in its units. Among the
factors that allowed it to be awarded, stands out
its recognition as a leading company in energy
efficiency and management, by certifying its
ﬁve units under the international standard ISO
50001; establishing energy efficiency indicators
as a fundamental factor for the company; deﬁning
roles and responsibilities in all its Business Units;
and setting corporate goals and promoting
collaboration between the units.

Complementarily, there are 31 initiatives
implemented that came into operation during the
period 2015-2018, which have reported to ENAP
nominal annual economic savings of US$18.5
million, with an associated investment of US$5.3
million.

The international Clean Energy Ministerial (CEM)
forum is a high-level global forum, based in
Paris, which promotes clean energy policies and
programs to increase global awareness of the
beneﬁts of energy management, and recognized
ENAP with the Energy Management Award 2018.

During 2018, the Energy Control Management
-together with the different operating unitsworks on the development of 15 energy studies
and diagnoses, with the purpose of contributing to
the generation of new initiatives to ENAP’s Energy
Efficiency Projects Portfolio, to keep it current and
updated.
In July 2018, the incorporation of the energy
efficiency variable in purchases related to signiﬁcant
uses is formalized through the document Guidelines
for the Incorporation of Energy Efficiency in
Procurement Processes, aimed at strengthening and
operationalizing ENAP’s Energy Policy. Workshops
were held to sensitize the units on the correct use
and operability of this text.
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AFFILIATED COMPANIES

COMPANY’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY

TAX IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

COMMERCIAL
ADDRESS

INCORPORATION DATE

SUBSCRIBED
AND PAID
CAPITAL

BUSINESS PURPOSE

CHAIRMAN
OF THE
BOARD

BOARD MEMBERS

ALTERNATE BOARD
MEMBERS

Alfredo Jalón;
Leonardo Ljubetic;
Juan Carlos Balmaceda;
Alejandro Alvarez;
Patricia Figueroa;
Alberto Corona;
Jorge Lembeye;
Alan Sherwin y
José Odone

REFINING & COMMERCIALIZATION (R&C)

SOCIEDAD NACIONAL
DE OLEODUCTOS S.A

A&C PIPELINE
HOLDING COMPANY

81.095.400-0

0-E

Commune of
Las Condes,
Santiago

Avenida Isabel
La Católica N° 4472,
comuna de
Las Condes.

31.05.1957

M$59.575.440

Transportation of oil-based
products and related services.

Fernando
Prado

Fernando Prado;
Lorenzo Gazmuri;
Ramiro Méndez;
Arturo Natho;
Juan Juanet;
Pablo Munita;
Pedro Barría;
Nicolás Correa;
Joaquín Cruz.

Cayman Islands

PO Box 309,
Ugland House,
Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands.

10.11.1992

MUS$ 900

General investment and ﬁnancing
company. Controls Oleoducto
Trasandino (Argentina) S.A. and
Oleoducto Transandino (Chile) S.A.

Gabriel Grzona

Gabriel Grzona;
Guillermo Rocchetti;
Gustavo Chaab;
Luis Manríquez.

Mariel Augusto;
Ricardo Aguirre;
Raúl Rodriguez;
Walter Fernandez Cicco

07.12.1992

MARG$34.143

Transportation of oil-based
products and related services.

Gabriel Grzona

Gabriel Grzona;
Miguel Ángel
Rodríguez; Guillermo
Rocchetti; Luis
Manríquez;
Walter Fernández.

Mauricio Alejandro Martín
;Roberto Abraham;
Rubén Ottosen;
Nicolás Hack;
Germán Roosen.

11.12.1992

M$16.083.334

Transportation of oil-based
products and related services.

Luis Manríquez

Luis Manríquez;
Walter Fernández;
Gabriel Grzona;
Alejandro Zubizarreta;
Guillermo Rocchetti.

Mauricio Alejandro
Martín; Pablo Ottosen;
Ricardo Aguirre;

MUS$1.403.668

Purchase, sale, import and
export hydrocarbons, reﬁne and
commercialize them, process and
industrialize them.
Participate with ENAP in a company dedicated to the exploration
and production of hydrocarbons
outside Chile.
Receive and store hydrocarbons
in facilities built to that effect and
provide related services. Build
and operate oil and gas pipelines
and provide transport services
for fuels, fuels land, and maritime
terminals.

Loreto Siva

Loreto Silva;
Fernando Massú;
Ana Holuigue;
Claudio Skármeta;
Rodrigo Azócar;
José Luis Mardones;
Marcos Varas.

Does not apply

MUS$22.120

Construction, implementation,
operation, and exploitation of a
coker unit to provide the bottom of
the barrel processing services to
ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. to transform
them into light products (diesel
and gasoline).

Pedro
Echeverría

Pedro Echeverría;
José Domingo
Ilharreborde;
José Pedro Scagliotti.

Does not apply

Does not apply

SRL under direct
administration of its
stakeholders

Does not apply

Angel Mafucci

Angel Mafucci;
Osvaldo Rosa;
Esteban Rodríguez;
Jorge Lembeye;
Francisca Díaz.

José Miguel Bambach;
Mylene Iribarne;
Luis Alberto Orlandi;
Aurelia Giacomini,
Claudia Escobar

Peter Hiller

Gerardo Passeron;
Exequiel González;
Peter Hiller;
Juan Antonio García;
Pablo Vargas.

José Barriga;
Paulina Valenzuela;
Daniel Hiller;
Antonio García E.

OLEODUCTO
TRASANDINO
ARGENTINA S.A.

0-E

Buenos Aires

Sarmiento 778, 4th
Floor, Buenos Aires.

OLEODUCTO
TRASANDINO
(CHILE) S.A.

96.655.490-8

Commune of
Santiago

Av. El Bosque Sur 69
oﬁcina 302,
Las Condes.

ENAP REFINERÍAS
S.A. (ERSA) Closed
stock company, SVS
Special Register of
Reporting Entities
Nº 95.

87.756.500-9

Commune of
Concón

Av. Borgoño 25.777
Concón.

99.519.820-7

City and
commune of
Concón

AAvenida Borgoño
25.777, commune of
Concón.

PETROPOWER
ENERGÍA LTDA.

78.335.760-7

Commune of
Providencia

Camino Ramuntcho
s/n, Hualpén.

22.12.1992

MUS$70.461

To produce and process fuel
by means of the development,
construction and operation of a
delayed coker plant, including a
co-generation plant for power,
steam, and demineralized water.

NORGAS S.A.

78.889.940-8

City and
Commune of
Viña del Mar

Calle 2 Norte N° 200,
Commune of Concón
(Concón Lipigas
Plant)

12.08.1996

M$2.758.365

Distribution of liqueﬁed gas
covering Regions I and II of Chile.
Import of gas from Argentina.

M$758.542

Production and commercialization
of second-generation biodiesel
from forest biomass, including
determining the feasibility and
performing the installation,
construction, and development of
a pilot plant.

ENERGÍA CONCÓN
S.A.

FORENERGY S.A.
(Under liquidation)

76.932.370-8

Santiago

-

16.07.1981

25.11.2002

10.08.2007
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ENAP’S DIRECTORS, CEO, OR SENIOR EXECUTIVES
IN BOARD OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES

CEO

ENAP’S
PARTICIPATING
INTEREST

BOARD
DIRECTORS

BOARD
ALTERNATE
DIRECTORS

ENAP
DIRECTORS

COMMERCIAL
RELATIONS

ACTS OR CONTRACTS
SUBSCRIBED

AMOUNT
INVESTED
MUSD

INVESTMENT
TO TOTAL ENAP
ASSETS RATIO

SESSION
PERIODICITY
ACCORDING
TO BYLAWS

REFINING & COMMERCIALIZATION (R&C)

10,06%

None

None

Pedro Barría;
Jorge Lembeye.

ENAP, through ERSA,
received product
transportation services by
pipeline.

Transportation of oil-based
products and related services
through ERSA.

10.388

0,14%

36,25%

Luis Manriquez

Walter Fernández

Luis Manríquez;
Walter Fernández.

None

None

152

0,00%

Mario Pablo Leder

35,79%

Luis Manriquez

Walter Fernández

Luis Manríquez;
Walter Fernández.

None

None

2.111

0,03%

Jaime Pulido

35,83%

Luis Manriquez

Walter Fernández

Luis Manríquez;
Walter Fernández.

ENAP received services of
crude oil transportation,
loading, lease of pipelines
and lease of crude oil
storage tanks.

Tanks and pipelines leasing
service

5.638

0,08%

Quarterly

Luis Manríquez
(chief executive
ENAP)

99,98%

Loreto Silva;
Fernando Massu;
Ana Holuigue;
Claudio Skármeta;
Rodrigo Azocar;
José Luis Mardones
y Marcos Varas.

None

Loreto Silva;
Fernando Massú;
Ana Holuigue;
Claudio Skármeta;
Rodrigo Azócar;
José Luis Mardones;
Marcos Varas.

CPurchase and sale of
products for MUS$86,208
and MUS$207,661. ENAP
paid providers on behalf
of ENAP Reﬁnerías S.A. for
MUS$1,413,186.

Current trading account.
Financing of imports of crude
oil and products through
payment made directly by
ENAP to foreign suppliers.

595.138

8,22%

Monthly

Luis Manríquez
(chief executive
ENAP)

ENAP 17,5%;
ERSA 82,5%

None

Does not apply

None

Financial Leasing for Coker
Plant in ENAP Aconcagua
Reﬁnery.

Processing services contract.

63.136

0,87%

Annually

Claudio Montes

ERSA 92,5%;
ENAP 7,5%

None

None

SRL managed
directly by the
partners.

Operation and maintenance
services of the Cogeneration power plant
through ERSA.

Operation and maintenance
contract for the co-generation
power plant.

94.338

1,30%

Morris Pessó

42

None

Claudia Escobar

Jorge Lembeye;
Francisca Díaz;
Aurelia Giacometi;
Claudia Escobar.

None

LPG Supply Contract.

1.694

0,02%

Quarterly

Paulina Valenzuela

ERSA 40,00%

None

None

José Barriga;
Gerardo Passeron.

None.
Company under liquidation
process.

None.
Company under liquidation
process.

0

0,00%

Three years,
with indeﬁnite
reelection.

Roberto Hetz

193
ENAP, ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Monthly

COMPANY’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY

TAX IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER

REGISTERED OFFICE
ADDRESS

COMMERCIAL
ADDRESS

INCORPORATION DATE

SUBSCRIBED
AND PAID
CAPITAL

BUSINESS PURPOSE

CHAIRMAN
OF THE
BOARD

BOARD MEMBERS

ALTERNATE
BOARD
MEMBERS

EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION (E&P)

ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. (SIPETROL)
Closed stock
company, SVS
Special Register of
Reporting Entities
Nº 187.

ENAP SIPETROL
ARGENTINA S.A.

PETROFARO S.A.

PETRO SERVICIO
CORP S.A.

96.579.730-0

0-E

0-E

Santiago.

Tucumán 1,
1st Floor,
Autonomous
Buenos Aires.

Tucumán 1,
1st Floor,
Autonomous
Buenos Aires.

Av. Apoquindo
2929 5th Foor,
Las Condes.

Tucumán 1,
1st Floor,
Autonomous
Buenos Aires.

Tucumán 1,
1st Floor,
Autonomous
Buenos Aires.

24.05.1990

31.07.1997

15.04.2003

-

MUS$686.657

Perform hydrocarbon exploration and
exploitation activities outside the national
territory; sell inside or outside the national
territory the hydrocarbons product of
the activities of its subsidiaries or its own;
provide consulting services in Chile and
abroad, in exploration, exploitation, beneﬁt
from hydrocarbon deposits.

Loreto Silva

Loreto Silva;
Fernando Massú;
Ana Holuigue;
Claudio Skármeta;
Rodrigo Azócar;
José Luis Mardones;
Marcos Varas.

Does not apply

MARS$15.029

The exploration and exploitation of
hydrocarbons, purchase, sale, import,
export, storage and transportation of
hydrocarbons and their derivatives;
its reﬁning and marketing; Assembly,
construction, and operation of facilities
and structures for mining and oil drilling,
production and processing; provision of
consultancy related to these activities;
operation of petrochemical plants.

Hesketh
Streeter

Roberto Abraham;
Hernán Flores;
Miguel Pesce;
Diego Blanco.

Lisandro Rojas

MARS$286.271

Study, exploration and exploitation of liquid
and/or gaseous hydrocarbons and other
minerals, their industrialization, transport
and marketing and of their derivatives.
Generation of electricity from hydrocarbons;
carry out investments and capital
contributions with the exception of
those provided for in the law on ﬁnancial
institutions, and others for which the public
competition is required.

Daniel Abraham

Daniel Abraham;
Miguel Pesce.

Walter Fernández

MARS$2.000

Execution of works for the exploration,
exploitation, study, research, leasing
of equipment, machinery and camps,
provision of services for the exploration
and exploitation of hydrocarbon deposits,
and in general, any industrial, mining and
commercial activity related to hydrocarbon
deposits.

Ariel Azar

Diego Blanco;
Gonzalo Blanco.

Does not apply

Pedro
Echeverría

Pedro Echeverría;
José Domingo Ilharreborde.

Does not apply

Diego Díaz

Does not apply

Does not apply

CLASS A:
Luis De Ridder;
Alberto Massacese;
Esteban Rivarola;
Walter Fernández;
Daniel Ciaffone;
Walter Ramón.
CLASS B:
Raúl Rodríguez;
Gustavo Di Luzio.

0-E

-

-

SIPETROL
INTERNATIONAL
S.A.

0-E

Montevideo,
Uruguay.

25 de mayo
455, 4th Floor,
Montevideo

27.12.1989

MUS$66.747

Abroad: Investments; International trade
operations; Financial operations; commercial and industrial operations in various
areas; all kinds of real estate transactions.
In the country, it can carry out activities
permitted by Law Nº11,073.

EOP OPERACIONES
PETROLERAS S.A.

0-E

-

-

-

MUS$4.243

Hydrocarbon activity including exploration,
exploitation, transport, and marketing of
hydrocarbons.

TERMINALES
MARÍTIMAS
PATAGÓNICAS S.A.

0-E

-

-

06.01.1994

MUS$14.360

Provides hydrocarbons storage and
shipping services

Federico
Caldora

CLASS A:
Gustavo Monti;
Daniel Valencio;
Rodolfo Berisso;
Néstor Falivene;
Eduardo Tapia.
CLASS B:
Andrés Scarone;
José Miguel Márquez.

COMPAÑÍA LATINOAMERICANA
PETROLERA S.A.

96.668.110-1

City and
commune of
Santiago.

-

31.12.1992

M$3.101.208

Exploration and production of hydrocarbons
abroad.

Lorenzo
Gazmuri

Lorenzo Gazmuri Schleyer;
Leonardo Ljubetic;
Federic Chaveyriat;
Heskeet Streeter,

Ramiro Méndez;
Juan Carlos
Carrasco;
Ramón Concha;
Lisandro Rojas.

MEGP 20

Commercial development of the discoveries
in the area of the East Ras Qattara contract,
signed with the Egyptian General Petroleum
Corporation for the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons.

Mahmoud Abd
El-Fattah

Mahmoud Abd El-Fattah;
Abd El-Latif Negm;
Khaled El Sheshtawy
Tarek Mahmoud Abbas Abd
Elaal Youssef;
Kamel Al Sawi Nevine
Hussein;
Adel Abu El-Azm;
Jorge Torres.

Does not apply

PETROSHAD

-

-

-

-
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ENAP’S DIRECTORS, CEO, OR SENIOR EXECUTIVES
IN BOARD OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES

CEO

ENAP’S
PARTICIPATING
INTEREST

BOARD
DIRECTORS

BOARD
ALTERNATE
DIRECTORS

ENAP
DIRECTORS

COMMERCIAL RELATIONS

AMOUNT
INVESTED
MUSD

ACTS OR CONTRACTS
SUBSCRIBED

INVESTMENT
TO TOTAL ENAP
ASSETS RATIO

SESSION
PERIODICITY
ACCORDING TO
BYLAWS

EXPLORATION & PRODUCTION (E&P)

Julio Aranis (chief
executive ENAP)

ENAP 99,613 %
ERSA 0,386%

Loreto Silva;
Fernando Massú;
Ana Holuigue;
Claudio Skármeta;
Rodrigo Azócar;
José Luis
Mardones;
Marcos Varas.

Eduardo Tapia

ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. 99,5 %;
ENAP 0,5%

Hesketh Streeter;
Roberto Abraham;
Miguel Pesce;
Diego Blanco.

Lisandro Rojas

Hesketh Streeter;
Roberto Abraham;
Miguel Pesce;
Diego Blanco;
Lisandro Rojas.

Does not apply

ENAP SIPETROL
ARGENTINA S.A.
50%

Daniel Abraham;
Miguel Pesce.

Walter
Fernández

Daniel Abraham;
Miguel Pesce;
Walter Fernández.

None

None

2.009

0,03%

Without
information

Does not apply

ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. 99,5%;
ENAP 0,5%

Ariel Azar Nuñez;
Diego Blanco;
Gonzalo Blanco.

None

Ariel Azar;
Diego Blanco;
Gonzalo Blanco.

None

No hay

246

0,00%

Without
information

Does not apply

ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. 100%

None

None

Pedro Echeverría;
José Domingo
Ilharreborde.

None

None

158.684

2,19%

Without
information

Does not apply

ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. 99%;
ERSA 1%

None

None

None

None

None

1.549

0,02%

Without
information

Daniel Scalise

ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. 13,79%

None

None

Eduardo Tapia;
Walter Fernández.

ENAP, through SIPETROL,
received hydrocarbon storage
and shipping services.

None

7.664

0,11%

Without
information

Ramón Concha

ENAP 20%
ENAP SIPETROL
S.A. 20% "

Heskeet Streeter

No hay

Heskeet Streeter;
Lisandro Rojas.

No hay

No hay

233

0,00%

Tres años,
con reelección
indeﬁnida.

Joint Venture
managed by
the Chairman
Mahmoud Abd
El-Fattah, jointly
with the General
Manager, Adel Abu
El-Azm.

SIPETROL
INTERNATIONAL
S.A. 50% (en
comunidad con
KUWAIT ENERGY
COMPANY);
50% EGYPTIAN
GENERAL
PETROLEUM
CORPORATION.

None

None

None

None

None

-

0,00%

Without
information

NNone

Loreto Silva;
Fernando Massú;
Ana Holuigue;
Claudio Skármeta;
Rodrigo Azócar;
José Luis Mardones;
Marcos Varas.

Purchase and sale of services
for MUS$1,689 and MUS$801.
In addition gave loans
and collected loans
for MUS$22,092 and
MUS$116.588, respectively.

Current trading account.
Provision of oilﬁeld and
administrative services

685.065

9,46%

Three years,
with indeﬁnite
reelection.

ENAP’s provision of services
of a different nature (e.g.
consultancy) and sporadic
internal sales of products to
ENAP (crude oil).

Crude oil sales to ENAP
Reﬁnerías S.A. for an annual
amount during 2018 of
ThUS$103,810.

54.901

0,76%

Without
information
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DIRECTORIO DE LA SOCIEDAD

COMPANY

TAX IDENTIFICATION
NUMBER
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OFFICE
ADDRESS

COMMERCIAL
ADDRESS

INCORPORATION DATE

SUBSCRIBED
AND PAID
CAPITAL

BUSINESS PURPOSE

CHAIRMAN OF
THE BOARD

BOARD MEMBERS

ALTERNATE BOARD
MEMBERS

GAS & ENERGY (G&E)

GAS DE CHILE S.A

INNERGY
HOLDINGS S.A.

GASODUCTO
DEL PACÍFICO
ARGENTINA S.A.

GASODUCTO DEL
PACÍFICO S.A.

Commune of
Santiago.

Av. Apoquindo
2929 5th Floor,
Las Condes.

Ciudad de
Concepción.

O’Higgins 940,
Suite 10011002,
Concepción,
Chile.

0-E

Ciudad de
Buenos Aires,
Argentina.

Juan Domingo
Perón 555
Piso 5º,
Buenos Aires,
Argentina.

96.762.250-8

Part of the
province of
Santiago over
which the
Conservator of
Commerce of
Santiago has
jurisdiction.

96.694.400-5

96.856.650-4

Juan Sebastián
Elcano 1995,
Hualpén,
Talcahuano,
Chile.

15.03.1994

23.01.1998

25.08.1995

07.08.1995

M$961.694

Exploit, store, transport, distribute,
market, import, export and be the
intermediary of all kinds of fuels
and by-products or derivatives, and
especially natural gas in any form
or state.

MUS$182.513

Stockholding in companies whose
purpose is to buy, sell, market and
supply natural gas, or build, exploit,
and operate networks for the transportation of natural gas.

MARS$155.811

Operate the gas pipeline to transport
natural gas from Argentina to Chile
and carry out all activities related to
that service.

Klaus Luhrmann

Klaus Luhrmann;
Carmen Figueroa;
Rafael Salas;
Mauricio Midon;
Pablo Sobarzo;
Gonzalo Soto;
Jorge Lembeye;
Francisca Correa;
Roberto Piriz.

Pablo Silva;
Ernesto Peñaﬁel;
Gonzalo Ojeda;
Francisco Sánchez;
María Teresa Rojas;
Juan Ignacio Vinagre;
David Minchot;
Bernardo Busel;
Jorge Quintanilla.

Horacio Cristiani

Horacio Cristiani;
Gabriel Wilkinson;
Uriel O’Farrell;
Agustín Siboldi;
Mauricio Midón;
Carmen Figueroa;
Jorge Lembeye;
Roberto Piriz;
Alejandro Fernández.

Pablo Sobarzo;
Matías Hepp;
Rafael Salas;
Gonzalo Soto;
Klaus Lührmann;
Walter Fernández,
Yasna Ross;
Juan Ignacio Vinagre;
Marcos Miguel Browne.
Pablo Silva;
Ernesto Peñaﬁel;
Gonzalo Ojeda;
María Teresa Rojas;
Francisco Sánchez;
David Minchot;
Juan Ignacio Vinagre;
Bernardo Busel;
Patricio Pérez Cotapos;
Claudia Escobar.

Construction, ownership, exploration
and technical and commercial
operation of gas pipelines to transport
natural gas.

Klaus Luhrmann

Thomas Keller

Thomas Keller;
Juan Eduardo Vásquez;
Goncalo Morais;
Joao Faroa Conceicao;
Rodrigo Azócar.

Rodrigo Pérez;
Sebastián Fernández;
Marta Almeida;
Joao Pedro Pires;
Óscar Santibáñez.

Juan Oliva

Juan Oliva;
Luis Arancibia;
Rodrigo Azócar.

Alex Díaz;
Gonzalo Romero;
Yasna Ross.
Carlos Ruiz de Gauna
Ruiz-Garma;
Iñigo Echaniz;
Antonio Manzano;
Javier Alfaro;
María Cecilia Menghini;
Cristina Sarmiento;
Fernando Promis.

96.806.130-5

Santiago.

-

14.10.1996

MUS$21.266

GNL CHILE S.A.

76.418.940-K

Santiago.

Rosario Norte
532, Suite
1303,
Las Condes.

16.11.2005

MUS$3.026

Natural gas import and
commercialization services.

Santiago.

Rosario Norte
532, oﬁcina
1604,
Las Condes.

09.03.2007

Does not apply

MUS$105.842

ELECTROGAS S.A.

76.788.080-4

Pedro Echeverría;
José Domingo
Ilharreborde;
José Pedro Scagliotti.

Klaus Luhrman;
Carmen Figueroa;
Mauricio Midón;
Pablo Sobarzo;
Rafael Salaz;
Gonzalo Soto;
Roberto Piriz;
Jorge Lembeye;
Yasna Ross;
Óscar Santibáñez.

A closely-held corporation whose
purpose is to provide service for the
transportation of natural gas and
other fuels on its own or through third
parties. To achieve this goal it will build,
operate, and maintain gas pipelines,
oil pipelines, or multipurpose pipelines
and the complementary facilities.

GNL QUINTERO
S.A.

Pedro Echeverría

MUS$114.058

Development, construction, operation
and maintenance of a liqueﬁed natural
gas regasiﬁcation terminal.

José Antonio de
las Heras

Jose Antonio De
Las Heras;
Jesús Saldaña;
Carlos Ródenas;
Luis Romero;
Jorge Carey;
Juan Camargo;
Claudio Skármeta.

Valter Moro

Valter Moro;
Ali Shakhtur Said;
Giuseppe Di Bello;
Pedro Echeverría.

Liliana Schnaidt;
Francesco Tutoli;
Adrien Coudurier;
Jorge Leal.

GEOTERMICA DEL
NORTE S.A.

96.971.330-6

Santiago.

Avenida Santa
Rosa N° 76,
Piso 17, Comuna
de Santiago,

29.12.2000

MU$488.236

Research, exploration, and exploitation
of geothermal deposits located in
Regions I, II and III; the commercialization, through any of its forms, of all
products, by-products, raw materials,
elaborated, semi-processed or not,
that derive directly or indirectly from
the activities indicated above; the
generation, transmission, distribution
and commercialization of electric
energy in any of its sources; and the
company may also carry out any other
activity related, directly or indirectly, to
the previous ones that allow a better
use of the social organization.

EMPRESA
NACIONAL DE
GEOTERMIA S.A.

99.577.350-3

Santiago.

Avenida Santa
Rosa N°76,
17th Floor,
Santiago,

05.01.2001

MU$23.269

Research, exploration, development,
and exploitation of Geothermal energy,
including all of the complementary
activities.

Ali Shakhtur Said

Valter Moro;
Carlos Reyes;
Rodrigo Lobos;
Ali Shaktur.

Gonzalo Paredes Saieg;
Liliana Schnaidt;
Francesco Tutoli.

VIENTOS
PATAGÓNICOS
SpA

76.942.837-2

Santiago.

Apoquindo
2929, Piso 5,
Las Condes,
Santiago.

17.08.2018

MUS$460

Design, development, construction,
funding, testing, exploitation,
operation and maintenance of the
wind farm project.

Does not apply

Does not apply

Does not apply
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ENAP’S DIRECTORS, CEO, OR SENIOR EXECUTIVES
IN BOARD OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES

CEO

PENAP’S
PARTICIPATING
INTEREST

BOARD
DIRECTORS

BOARD
ALTERNATE
DIRECTORS

ENAP
DIRECTORS

COMMERCIAL RELATIONS

ACTS OR CONTRACTS SUBSCRIBED

AMOUNT
INVESTED
MUSD

INVESTMENT
TO TOTAL ENAP
ASSETS RATIO

SESSION
PERIODICITY
ACCORDING
TO BYLAWS

GAS & ENERGY (G&E)

Patricio
Pérez
Cotapos

ENAP 95%
ERSA 5%

None

None

Pedro Echeverría;
José Domingo
Ilharreborde;
José Pedro
Scagliotti.

None

None

4.415

0,06%

Four times a year

ENAP, through ERSA, received
transportation capacity,
operation, maintenance and
administration of PSR, storage
capacity in gas pipeline and
sale of natural gas to Innergy.

Agreement to assign natural gas
transportation capacity.

6.939

0,10%

Monthly

Patricia
Palacios

25%

None

None

Jorge Lembeye;
Francisca Castro;
Jorge Quintanilla;
Bernardo Busel.

Mauricio
Midón

22,8%

None

None

Jorge Lembeye;
Yasna Ross.

None

Natural gas storage contract.

10.365

0,14%

Monthly

None

None

Yasna Ross,
Jorge Lembeye;
Óscar Santibáñez;
Patricio Pérez
Cotapos;
Claudia Escobar;
Bernardo Busel.

None

Natural gas supply contract (ERSA sells
to INN).

3.058

0,04%

Monthly

Rodrigo Azócar

Óscar
Santibáñez

Rodrogo Azócar;
Óscar Santibáñez.

Electrogas provided gas
transportation services to
ENAP and its subsidiary ERSA.
It also provided ERSA operation
services of El Colmo measuring
station.

Zone 1 and Zone 2 gas transportation
agreement

4.901

0,07%

Once every two
months.

Rodrogo Azócar;
Óscar Santibáñez.

Through ERSA, ENAP
purchased natural gas to GNL
Chile S.A. for MUS$418,479.

Gas Sales Agreement between ERSA and
GNL Chile S.A. (GNLC).
SPA between ERSA, GNLC, and BG LNG
Trading.

4.399

0,06%

Ordinary sessions
should be held
every three
months, but they
are currently
held every two
months.

8.445

0,12%

Quarterly

Patricia
Palacios

Alan Fischer

Mario
Camacho

25%

15%

33,33%

Rodrigo Azócar

Óscar
Santibáñez

Antonio
Bacigalupo

20%

Claudio
Skármeta

Fernando
Promis

Claudio Skármeta;
Fernando Promis.

ENAP maintained commercial
relations with this company
through GNL Chile S.A

Sales and Purchase Agreement between
ERSA and GNLQ
- Stock Options Agreement between ENAP
and GNLQ
-Assignment of Environmental Permits
Agreement from ERSA to GNLQ.
- Authorization Agreement, ERSA a GNLQ.
- TUA Direct Agreement between ERSA,
among others, and GNLQ.
- Umbrella Arbitration Agreement.
- Company Guarantee from ENAP to CB&I.
- Second Amendment to Umbrella
Arbitration Agreement.
- Fast Track Period Operational Protocol.
- Assignment, Acceptance, and Other:
Engineering, Supply, and Construction
Agreement and Umbrella Agreement for
Engineering, Supply, and Construction from
ENAP and Metrogas to GNL Quintero S.A.,
dated June 15, 2010, with Montaje Industrial
Consorcio Echeverría Izquierdo, Parés y
Álvarez Ltda.

Guido
Cappetti

15,41%

None

None

Pedro Echeverria;
Jorge Leal.

None

None

77.368

1,07%

Once every two
months.

Guido
Cappetti

49%

None. Not
informed to the
SVS as chief
executives

None. Not
informed to the
SVS as chief
executives

Claudio Montes;
DessyCarlos Reyes;
Rodrigo Lobos;
Gonzalo Paredes.

None

None

1.432

0,02%

Once every two
months.

No aplica

66%

Does not apply

Does not apply

Does not apply

-

-

280

0,00%
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Auditores y Consultores Limitada
Rosario Norte 407
Rut: 80.276.200-3
Las Condes, Santiago Chile
Phone: (56) 227 297 000
Fax: (56) 223 749 177
deloittechile@deloitte.com www.deloitte.cl

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Chairwoman and Board of Directors of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Empresa Nacional del
Petróleo and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
of December 31, 2018, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows, for the years then ended, and the related notes
to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"); this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
Chile. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit includes performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the entity’s consolidated financial statements to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
An audit also includes assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of the significant estimates made by the Company’s Management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB").

March 26, 2019
Santiago, Chile

Daniel Joignant P.
RUT: 10.732.096-2

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

EMPRESA NACIONAL DEL PETRÓLEO
2018

Deloitte
Auditores y Consultores Limitada
Rosario Norte 407
Rut: 80.276.200-3
Las Condes, Santiago
Chile
Fono: (56) 227 297 000
Fax: (56) 223 749 177
deloittechile@deloitte.com
www.deloitte.cl

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Chairman and Board of Directors of
Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Empresa Nacional del
Petróleo (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the
related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Chile.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
Company's consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit also includes assessing the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Other Matters
Translation of the financial statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English solely for
the convenience of English speaking readers.

Santiago, Chile
March 26, 2019

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)
ASSETS

12.31.2018

12.31.2017

ThUS$

ThUS$

525,086
127,909
7,627
781,407
39,234
932,000
159,987
2,573,250
-

91,496
807
24,328
822,299
33,137
1,038,985
217,733
2,228,785
40,991

2,573,250

2,269,776

21,101
27,125
15,861
132,222
4,588
3,166,860
96,803
7,279
1,192,951

14,749
27,707
30,578
135,160
3,082
3,240,672
129,316
7,370
911,340

Total non-current assets

4,664,790

4,499,974

TOTAL ASSETS

7,238,040

6,769,750

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets
Other current non-financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Due from related companies
Inventories
Current tax assets
Current assets other than assets classified as held for sale
Non current assets classified as held for sale

Notes

6
7
8
9
10
11
12
15

Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Other non-current financial assets
Other non-current non-financial assets
Non current receivable
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Intangible assets other than goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment property
Deferred tax assets

7
8
9
13
14
16
20
12

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Other current financial liabilities
Lease liability
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies
Other short-term accruals
Current tax liabilities
Current accruals for employee benefits

Notes

21
16
22
10
23
12
24

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

1,037,320
37,307
811,497
18,665
2,600
157,315
106,733

960,210
42,178
866,214
20,082
1,165
105,682
59,844

2,171,437

2,055,375

3,689,282
62,128
132
160,623
23,908
69,716
30,000

3,558,352
88,849
756
129,190
22,856
96,444
2,363

Total non-current liabilities

4,035,789

3,898,810

Total liabilities

6,207,226

5,954,185

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Other non-current financial liabilities
Lease liability
Other non-current accounts payable
Other non-current accruals
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals for employee benefits
Other non-current non-financial liabilities

21
16
22
23
12
24

Equity:
Paid-in capital
Other reserves
Accumulated deficit

25
25
25

1,632,332
(82,296)
(519,514)

1,232,332
(128,950)
(287,961)

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company
Non - controlling interest

26

1,030,522
292

815,421
144

Total equity

1,030,814

815,565

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

7,238,040

6,769,750

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) PER FUNCTION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Notes

Revenues from ordinary activities
Cost of sales

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

28
29

01.01.2017
31.12.2017
ThUS$

8,304,856
(7,964,016)

6,420,163
(5,913,237)

340,840

506,926

45,742
(236,877)
(135,643)
(262,240)

41,070
(229,446)
(111,891)
(107,809)

(Loss) income from operational activities

(248,178)

98,850

Other income
Financial income
Financial expense
Equity in earnings of associates recorded using the equity method
Exchange differences

2,511
5,900
(243,746)
17,968
(41,227)

7,733
4,557
(206,191)
18,697
(2,131)

(506,772)

(78,485)

275,794

102,140

Net (loss) income

(230,978)

23,655

Attributable net (loss) income:
Net (loss) income attributable to owners of parent company
Net (loss) income attributable to non - controlling interest

(230,945)
(33)

22,707
948

(230,978)

23,655

Gross margin
Other revenues
Distribution cost
Administrative expenses
Other expenses, per function

30
31

32
13
34

(Loss) before taxes
Income tax benefit

12

26

Net (loss) income
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) PER FUNCTION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Net (loss) income

01.01.2018
12.31.2018

01.01.2017
31.12.2017

ThUS$

ThUS$

(230,978)

23,655

2,140

(6,539)

2,140

(6,539)

(2,555)

1,350

9,510
12,605
22,115

23,111
(6,960)
16,151

19,560

17,501

(309)

2,353

(13,316)

(1,759)

8,075

11,556

Total comprehensive (loss) income

(222,903)

35,211

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to owners of parent company
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to non - controlling interest

(222,870)
(33)

34,263
948

Total comprehensive (loss) income

(222,903)

35,211

Components of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to income or loss before tax
Components of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to income or loss before tax
Actuarial gain (loss) on employee benefit plan
Total other comprehensive loss that will not be reclassified to income or loss before tax
Components of other comprehensive income (loss) that will be reclassified to income or loss before tax
Currency translation differences
Gain (loss) on currency translation differences, before taxes
Cash Flow Hedges
Gain from cash flow hedges, before taxes
Reclassification adjustments on cash flow hedges before tax
Other comprehensive income, before taxes, cash flow hedges
Other components from other comprehensive income, that will be reclassified to income or loss before taxes (loss)
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to income or loss
Income tax relating to actuarial gain (loss) on employee benefit plan
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified to income or loss
Income taxes related to cash flow hedges
Other comprehensive income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)

Changes in other reserves

Paid in
capital
ThUS$

Reserves for
exchange
differences for
translation
ThUS$

Reserves for
cash flow
hedges
ThUS$

Actuarial
reserves on
employee
defined
benefit plan
ThUS$

Other
miscellaneous
reserves
ThUS$

Total
other
reserves
ThUS$

Accumulated
deficit
ThUS$

Net equity
attributable to
the owners of the
Parente Company
ThUS$

Non controlling
interest
ThUS$

Total
Equity
ThUS$

Opening balance at 01/01/2018
Increase (decrease) due to changes in accounting policies (Note 3.3)
Increase (decrease) due to correction of errors

1,232,332
-

(76,141)
-

(46,093)
41,539
-

(11,498)
-

4,782
-

(128,950)
41,539
-

(287,961)
8,011
-

815,421
49,550
-

144
-

815,565
49,550
-

Restated initial balance

1,232,332

(76,141)

(4,554)

(11,498)

4,782

(87,411)

(279,950)

864,971

144

865,115

8,799
8,799
8,799

1,831
1,831
1,831

(2,960)
(2,960)

8,075
8,075
(2,960)
5,115

(230,945)
(230,945)
(8,619)
(239,564)

(230,945)
8,075
(222,870)
400,000
(11,579)
165,551

(33)

400,000
400,000

(2,555)
(2,555)
(2,555)

(33)
181
148

(230,978)
8,075
(222,903)
400,000
(11,398)
165,699

Final balance at 12/31/2018

1,632,332

(78,696)

4,245

(9,667)

1,822

(82,296)

(519,514)

1,030,522

292

1,030,814

Opening balance at 01/01/2017
Increase (decrease) due to correction of errors
Restated initial balance
Changes in Equity

1,232,332
1,232,332

(77,491)
(77,491)

(60,485)
(60,485)

(7,312)
(7,312)

(1,256)
(1,256)

(146,544)
(146,544)

(287,612)
(23,062)
(310,674)

798,176
(23,062)
775,114

9,146
9,146

807,322
(23,062)
784,260

1,350
1,350
1,350

14,392
14,392
14,392

(4,186)
(4,186)
(4,186)

6,038
6,038

11,556
11,556
6,038
17,594

22,707
22,707
6
22,713

22,707
11,556
34,263
6,044
40,307

948
948
(9,950)
(9,002)

23,655
11,556
35,211
(3,906)
31,305

(76,141)

(46,093)

(11,498)

4,782

(128,950)

(287,961)

815,421

144

815,565

Changes in Equity
Comprehensive income
(Loss)
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Comprehensive (loss) income
Issuance of equity
Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes
Total changes in equity

-

-

Comprehensive income
Income
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income
Increase (decrease) due to transfers and other changes
Total changes in equity
Final balance at 12/31/2017

1,232,332

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - DIRECT METHOD
FOR THE YEARS ENDED AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of US dollars - ThUS$)
Notes
Net cash flows provided by operating activities
Proceeds from sales of goods and services
Other receipts (payments) from operating activities
Payments to suppliers for goods and services
Payments to and on behalf of employees
Other payments for operating activities
Dividends paid
Dividends received
Interest paid
Interest received
Income taxes paid
Other inflows in cash

12.31.2018
ThUS$

31.12.2017
ThUS$

12,643,203
75,855
(9,310,118)
(375,361)
(2,510,603)
18,367
(1,328)
176
(42,200)
40,593

9,430,765
51,295
(6,312,407)
(405,786)
(2,328,794)
(3,282)
16,398
(2,067)
11
(8,523)
428

538,584

438,038

2,250
(571,842)
30,419
3,350
2,789

(8,514)
(726,033)
2,300
(275)
17,648
2,629
674
2,454

Cash flows used in investing activities

(533,034)

(709,117)

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of equity
Proceeds from long-term loans
Proceeds from short-term loans
Proceeds from obligations with the public
Loan payments
Payments of obligations with the public
Payments of finance lease liabilities
Interest paid
Other (outflows) inflows in cash

400,000
100,000
541,556
673,572
(794,169)
(215,258)
(42,178)
(180,154)
(31,288)

100,209
560,581
843,884
(903,007)
(83,585)
(37,987)
(171,970)
(10,211)

Cash flows provided by financing activities

452,081

297,914

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents, before the effect of changes in the exchange rate

457,631

26,835

Effects of variation in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Effects of variation in the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Increase in cash and cash equivalents of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

(24,041)
433,590
91,496

(1,443)
25,392
66,104

525,086

91,496

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Other collections charges for the sale of equity or debt instruments of other entities
Other cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments of other entities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceed from sale of intangible asset
Cash advances and loans to third parties
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Collections from the reimbursement of advance payments and loans granted to third parties
Collections from related entities
Interest received

14

1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (hereinafter “ENAP” or the “parent company”) is the parent entity of the group of companies
(hereinafter the “ENAP Group”) referred to in these consolidated financial statements.
ENAP was created through Law 9,618, dated June 19, 1950 and is 100% owned by the Republic of Chile. The addresses of ENAP
are Av. Apoquindo 2929 Floor 5, Las Condes, in Santiago and José Nogueira 1101, in Punta Arenas. On October 04, 2002, ENAP
was registered in the Register of Securities of the Commission for the Financial Market, under No. 783. In accordance with the
foregoing, the Company is subject to the rules and oversight of the commission.
ENAP's corporate purpose is the exploration, production and marketing of hydrocarbons and their derivatives; it may also
participate in companies whose activities are related to geothermal energy and the production, transportation and marketing of
electric energy and power.
On December 1, 2017, the Corporate Governance of ENAP was changed. Law 21,025 provides a clear governance system to the
Company, clearly establishing the roles of decision-making, supervision and execution of decisions made. Therefore, the number
of directors was reduced from 8 to 7. And the first recommendation item of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD) was implemented; this means excluding the Chilean Minister of Energy from corporate governance and
establishing a professional model with no union representation.
Also, the Law establishes the need to have in place a five-year business and development plan, which is prepared by the
management and execution bodies and presented to the shareholders' meeting. This plan should be updated on an annual basis.
The Law also includes a capitalization of up to US$ 400 million, which was carried out on August 3, 2018, resources that were
used to amortize debt and cover investment needs.
The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, were approved by its Board of Directors
at Ordinary Meeting held on March 26, 2019.
2.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

The main activity of ENAP, in accordance with the Law 9.618 and its subsequent amendments, is the exploration, exploitation or
benefit from sites that contain hydrocarbons, activity that it is empowered to develop inside and outside the national territory; it
also can participate in companies with activities related to geothermal energy and the production, transportation and marketing of
energy and electric power.
Its main subsidiary ENAP Refinerías S.A. (“ERSA”) is a private company, which officially began operating in January 2004. It
was created by a merger between Petrox S.A. Refinería de Petróleo (Petrox) and Refinería de Petróleo de Concón S.A. (RPC).
Petrox, now ERSA; its registered address is Avenida Borgoño 25,777, Concón. Its line of business is the import, processing,
storage and marketing of hydrocarbons and its derivatives and all other activities that are directly or indirectly related and which
are expressed in detail in the third article of its statutes.
The direct subsidiary ENAP Sipetrol S.A. performs one or more of the upstream activities abroad. ENAP Sipetrol S.A. has a
branch in Ecuador and subsidiaries in Argentina, Ecuador and Uruguay. Through the subsidiary in Uruguay, it participates in
production activities through joint ventures in Egypt.
The subsidiaries ENAP Refinerías S.A. and ENAP Sipetrol S.A. are privately held corporations, voluntarily registered in the
Special Register of Reporting Entities of the Commission for the Financial Market, under numbers 95 and 187 respectively, which
are regulated by the General Standard No. 364.
Our business is organized in three independent business lines: (i) “Exploration and Production” (E&P) (ii) “Refining and
Marketing” (R&C) y (iii) “Gas and Energy” (G&E).
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Accounting policies
These consolidated financial statements are stated in thousands of US dollars and were prepared from the accounting records kept
by ENAP and its subsidiaries. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”).
Preparation of these consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions by the
Management of the ENAP Group. These estimates are based on the best knowledge of Management on the amounts reported,
events or transactions. The detail of significant accounting estimates is shown in Note 5.
The following describes the main accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been developed in accordance with International Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and have been applied consistently over the years over which these consolidated financial statements are
presented, except for the early application of IFRS 9 “financial instruments” as of January 1, 2018 (see note 3.3).
a. Basis of preparation – These consolidated financial statements of the ENAP Group include the statement of financial position
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the statement of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position of the ENAP Group and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and the results of its operations, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for financial instruments which
are measured at fair value, and cash and cash equivalents and assets acquired through a business combination, as explained in the
policies described. The historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration delivered in an asset exchange.
b. Basis of consolidation – These consolidated financial statements of ENAP include all the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses
and cash flows of ENAP and ENAP–controlled entities, whether subsidiaries or structured entities, after eliminating intercompany
transactions.
The financial statements of controlled entities use US Dollars as their functional currency and presentation currency.
i) Subsidiaries: Subsidiaries are those companies over which ENAP directly or indirectly exercises control, control is achieved
when the Company: i) has power over the investee, ii) is exposed, or has rights, to the variable returns from its involvement with
this investee; and iii) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when ENAP obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when ENAP loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of income or loss and other comprehensive income from the date ENAP gains control until the date when
the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
Income or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the noncontrolling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the noncontrolling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
the Group’s accounting policies.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Detailed in the following chart are the direct and indirect subsidiaries, which are included in the consolidation of the ENAP Group.
Relationship with
Company
Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Ceop Caupolicán y Brotula
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Sipetrol International S.A.
EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Vientos Patagónicos SpA.

Domicile

the parent company

Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Argentina
Uruguay
Ecuador
Chile
Chile
Chile

Direct Subsidiary
Direct Subsidiary
Direct Subsidiary
Direct Subsidiary
Indirect Subsidiary
Indirect Subsidiary
Indirect Subsidiary
Indirect Subsidiary
Indirect Subsidiary
Indirect Subsidiary
Direct Subsidiary

Shareholder percentage
12.31.2018

12.31.2017

99.98%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

99.98%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%
100.00%

66.00%

-

Changes during 2018:
Ceop Caupolicán y Brótula.
On June 29, 2018, ENAP purchased 49% of the ownership interest in CEOP (Oil operation and explotation contract) Caupolicán
from PetroMagallanes. With this acquisition, the new interest ownership in CEOP Caupolicán is: ENAP 99% (Operator) and
PetroMagallanes Operaciones Ltda. 1%. Also, the purchase agreement included the 99% interest ownership in CEOP Brótula, and
PetroMagallanes Operaciones Ltda. with the remaining 1% interest ownership. As of December 31, 2017, CEOP Caupolicán
investment was accounted for as a joint operation.
Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A.
On August 6, 2018, ENAP transferred its 5% interest in Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A. to Enap Refinerías S.A. as a
result of the foregoing Enap Refinerías S.A. became the sole shareholder of the company with 100% of the shares.
On August 16, 2018, the company was dissolved in accordance with article 103 No. 2 of the Public Company Law.
Vientos Patagónicos SpA
On August 17, 2018, the stock company Vientos Patagónicos SpA was incorporated, with a share capital of 8 million dollars,
divided into eight million nominative shares of equal value and without par value, ENAP subscribed five million two hundred and
eighty thousand shares and two million seven hundred and twenty thousand shares were subscribed by Pecket Energy S.A.,
The purpose of the company is the design, development, construction, financing, testing, operation and maintenance of the wind
energy generation project "Nuevo Parque Eólico Cabo Negro" located in the municipality of Punta Arenas, Magallanes Region.
Changes and transfers of interests during 2017:
Petrofaro S.A.
On January 12, 2017, Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. transferred to YPF S.A. the 50% stake of Petrofaro S.A. for ThUS $ 5,355;
after this operation the Group has joint control of that Company.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
On December 19, 2017, ENAP sold 2,219,987 shares of Productora de Diesel S.A. to its subsidiary ENAP Refinerías S.A.,
representing 10.00% ownership in the corporate capital, for ThUS$ 3,086, equivalent to the book value of the shares. Through this
purchase, all of the shares of Productora de Diesel S.A. are now owned by ENAP Refinerías S.A. This resulted in the dissolution
of the company in accordance with Article 103 No. 2 of the Public Company Law.
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Petrosul S.A.
On October 30, 2017, ENAP sold 1,579 shares of Petrosul S.A. to its subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A., representing 15.79%
ownership in the corporate capital, for ThUS$ 1,786, equivalent to the book value of the shares. Through this purchase, all of the
shares of Petrosul S.A. are now owned by Enap Refinerías S.A. This resulted in the dissolution of the company in accordance with
Article 103 No. 2 of the Public Company Law.
Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A.
On December 29, 2017, S.K. Inversiones Petroquímicas S.A. sold Enap Refinerías S.A. 900,000 shares of Compañía de
Hidrógeno del Bío-Bío S.A., representing 90% ownership in the corporate capital, for ThUS$ 8,514, equivalent to the book value
of the shares. As a result of this operation, Enap Refinerías S.A. now owns 95% of ownership in Compañía de Hidrógeno del BíoBío SA. ENAP parent company still owns 5% of ownership. Both companies have a consolidated ownership of 100% in said
company.
ii) Joint Operation: A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
certain rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
The Group as a joint operator recognizes in relation to its interest in a joint operation:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

See note 18 “Participation in joint operation.”
c. Business Combination - Consolidation of the operations of the parent company and subsidiaries has been carried out in
accordance with the following basic principles:
At the date of the acquisition of control, assets acquired and liabilities assumed of the adquiree are recorded at fair value, except
for certain assets and liabilities that are recorded in accordance with the valuation principles established under IFRS. In the event
of a positive difference between the fair value of the consideration transferred plus the amount of any non-controlling interest and
the fair value of the subsidiary's assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, corresponding to the parent's interest, the
resulting difference is recorded as goodwill. If the difference is negative, the resulting gain is recorded as a credit to results, after
reassessing whether all assets acquired and liabilities assumed have been correctly identified and a review of the procedures used
to measure these amounts has been performed.
For each business combination, the Group chooses whether to value the non-controlling interests of the acquiree at fair value or by
the pro rata share of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.
If it is not possible to determine the fair value of all assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the group will
report the provisional values recorded. During the measurement period, one year from the date of acquisition, the provisional
amounts recognized will be retroactively adjusted and additional assets or liabilities will also be recognized to reflect new
information obtained on facts and circumstances that existed at the date of acquisition, but which were not known by the
administration at that time.
The value of non-controlling interest in equity and comprehensive income of subsidiaries is presented under "Total Equity: Noncontrolling interests" in the consolidated statement of financial position and the "Gain (loss) attributable to non-controlling
interests" and the "Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests " in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
d. Functional currency - The functional and presentation currency of the ENAP Group is the US Dollar. The functional
currency, dollar, for each entity of the ENAP Group is determined as the currency of the main economic environment in which it
operates. Transactions other than those performed in the entity’s functional currency will be converted at the exchange rate in
effect on the date of the transaction.
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional one will be converted at the year-end exchange
rates. Net equity is kept at the historical exchange rate at the date of acquisition or contribution. Gains or losses from the
conversion will be included in net income or losses for the year.
e. Foreign currency translation and indexation - Assets and liabilities denominated in Chilean pesos, in Unidades de Fomento
(UF) and other currencies are translated into US dollars at the closing rates of exchange, as per the following detail:

Chilean Peso
Argentinian Peso
Egyptian Pound
UF
Swiss Franc
EURO

12.31.2018

12.31.2017

US$

US$
694.77
37.74
17.85
0.03
0.98
0.87

614.75
18.57
17.74
0.02
0.97
0.83

f. Offsetting balances and transactions - As a general standard, assets and liabilities, income and expenses, are not offset in the
financial statements, except for those cases in which offsetting is required or is allowed by some standard and based on
management intention to net settle.
At the level of balances in the statement of financial position, the following entries have been offset:
▪

▪

The assets and current tax liabilities are presented net at the level of subsidiary, when the latter has a legally applicable right
to offset current tax assets with current tax liabilities when they relate to taxes demanded by the same taxation authority, and
the latter allows the entity to liquidate or receive a single net payment.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if, and only if, they relate to income taxes corresponding to the same tax
administration, provided that the entity has the legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets, against current tax
liabilities.
Derivative instruments fair value is netted when (a) the associated contracts for offsetting upon liquidation of the operation;
and (b) Managements intent is to offset such differences.

g. Foreign currency - Transactions in a currency other than a company’s functional currency are considered to be foreign
currency transactions and they are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the operation where an updated exchange
rate is applied should the transaction not be settled in subsequent closes.
h. Property, plant and equipment - Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, excluding regular maintenance costs and
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes their purchase price plus all costs directly related to placing the asset in service
and bringing it into an operating condition, as provided by management, and the initial estimate of any cost (legal or constructive)
involved in dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the physical site where it is located.
Financing interest costs directly attributable to the purchase or construction of assets requiring a substantial period of time before
being ready for use or sale will also be capitalized as a property, plant and equipment cost.
The costs of repair, preventive or corrective maintenance are charged to profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred. It
should be noted that some property, plant and equipment items of ENAP Group require periodic reviews (major overhauls ). The
Company follows a policy of componentization with respect to such assets when they meet the criteria for capitalization.
Stand-by parts and equipment are recognized in accordance with IAS 16 and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the
assets.
The capital spare parts are recognized in accordance with IAS 16 and depreciated over an estimated useful life of 36 to 60 months.
Whenever there is an indication that there might be an impairment of the value of the assets, their recoverable value is compared
to their carrying amount.
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Any impairment or reversal of impairment arising as a result of such a comparison will be recorded and charged or credited to net
income, as appropriate.
i. Exploration and production of hydrocarbons - The exploration operations are recorded in conformity with the standards
established in IFRS 6 “Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources.”
The Hydrocarbon Exploration and Production operations are recorded in conformity with the successful-efforts method. The
accounting treatment of the various costs incurred under this method is as follows:
i) Costs from the acquisition of new rights or interests in areas with proven or unproven reserves are capitalized in Property,
Plant and Equipment, when incurred.
ii) Costs involved in acquiring interests in exploration areas are capitalized at purchase cost, if no reserves are found, these
previously capitalized expenses are expensed in the statement of income.
iii) The exploration costs, as for example geology and geophysics expenses, costs associated with maintaining unproven reserves
and other exploration-related costs, prior to drilling are charged to income when incurred.
iv) Drilling costs incurred in prospecting campaigns, including stratigraphic test wells, are capitalized and presented in the item
Properties, Plant and Equipment, pending the decision as to whether proven reserves justifying their commercial development are
discovered. If no proven reserves have been found, these initially capitalized costs are charged to profit or loss.
v) The drilling costs of wells leading to a positive discovery of commercially workable reserves are capitalized and presented in
Property, Plant and Equipment.
vi) Development costs incurred in extracting proven reserves and treating and storing the oil and gas (including the drilling costs
of production wells and developing dry wells, platforms, recovery improvement systems, etc.) are capitalized and presented in
Property, Plant and Equipment.
vii) Costs for the future abandonment and dismantling of oil fields are calculated on a field by field basis and capitalized at
present value. This capitalization is credited to Non-current accruals.
Investments capitalized according to the above criteria are amortized as follows:
▪ Investments relating to the acquisition of proven reserves are amortized over the estimated commercial life of the
deposit according to the unit of production method, which takes into account the annual production and proven reserves
from the field to the start of the depreciation period.
▪ Investments related to unproven reserves or fields in the process of being evaluated are not amortized. These investments are
analyzed at least once a year, or earlier if there is any indication of impairment, and in case of impairment, this is recognized and
charged to income for the period.
▪ Costs from drillings and subsequent investments made to develop and extract the reserves of hydrocarbons are amortized
using the units of production method.
Changes in estimates of reserves are considered in calculating the amortization on a prospective basis.
j. Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment, except those related to hydrocarbon exploration and production activities, are
depreciated using the straight line method by distributing the acquisition cost of the assets less the estimated residual value over
the estimated useful life of the assets. The main components of property, plant and equipment and their useful lives are presented
below:
Years of useful life
Buildings
Refining and adjacent plants
Industrial equipment
Computer equipment of technology information
Fixed facilities and accessories
Motor vehicles
Improvements to leased assets - buildings
Investments in exploration and production
Other property, plant and equipment

Between 30 - 50
Between 10 - 30
Between 10 - 18
Between 4 - 6
Between 10 - 20
7
Between 5 - 10
Depletion Rate
Between 3 - 20
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Property, plant and equipment related to hydrocarbon exploration and production activities are amortized using the unit of
production amortization method (depletion rate). The residual value and useful life of the fixed assets are reviewed every year and
their depreciation begins when the assets are in a condition to be used.
Land is recorded separately from any buildings or facilities that may be constructed on it, and has an indefinite useful life;
therefore, it is not subject to depreciation.
ENAP Group evaluates, when there are factors of indication of impairment, the existence of possible impairment in the value of
the assets of property, plant and equipment.
In case of impairment, ENAP Group calculates the "recoverable amount" for each cash generating unit through the methodology
of discounting future cash flows based on a real discount rate before tax and projections that consider a horizon of 5 years plus the
perpetuity for the R&C line and a 32-year horizon without perpetuity for the E&P line. In December 2018, the corresponding
annual impairment test was performed, concluding that the assets of the E&P portfolio in the Magallanes Area of the subsidiary in
Argentina and in Magallanes Chile were impaired by ThUS$29,032 and ThUS$150,800, respectively.
During 2017, Management identified impairment in the oil fields Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra (Argentina) and at the Main
Camp Cañadón Perdido, which are detailed in Note 17.
k. Associates - Associates are companies over which the ENAP Group has significant influence; significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method of accounting an investment in an associate is initially recognized in the consolidated
statements of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the income or loss and the other
comprehensive income of the associate.
When ENAP's participation in the losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds its participation in these, the entity discontinues
recognizing its participation in further losses. The participation in an associate or joint venture will be the carrying amount of the
investment in the associate or joint venture determined according to the equity method together with any long-term involvement
that, in fact, is part of the net investment of the entity in the associate or joint venture.
An investment is an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group´s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.
When the Company reduces its participation in an associate and continued using the equity method, the effects that had been
previously been recognized in other comprehensive income must be reclassified to profit or loss according to the proportion of the
decrease of participation in such associate.
l. Non-current assets or groups of assets to dispose of – Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it is considered that
their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than continued use. This condition is considered fulfilled
only when the sale is highly probable, it is available for immediate sale in its current condition and is expected to be completed
within one year from the date of classification. The total of these assets is recorded on a single line and valued at the lower of book
value and fair value less costs to sell.
Liabilities that form part of the assets held for sale will be presented separately from other liabilities. Assets and liabilities are not
offset.
m. Impairment of non-financial assets – At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
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generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the highest between the fair value less the cost required for its sale and the value in use.
When evaluating the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax interest rate that reflects the
current market valuations with respect to the time value of money and the risks that are specific to the asset, for which the
estimated future cash flows have not been adjusted. Also, the fair value less the costs of selling the asset is usually calculated for
operating assets based on a discounted cash model, considering a number of variables such as investment projections and price
projections.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in
income or loss.
When an impairment loss subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in income or loss.
i. Financial Assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under an agreement that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognized financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortized cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
Classification of financial assets
Financial assets are classified as follows:
•

Debt instruments which are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and that
have contractual cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortized cost.

•

Debt instruments which are held within a business model whose objective is collecting the contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets and whose contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding are generally measured at FVTOCI.

All other financial assets that do not comply with the above conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”).
Despite the aforegoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial
asset:
•

The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income that would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit or loss;

•

The Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that meets the amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency.
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Amortized cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortized cost of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.
The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortized cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortized cost.. For
financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that are credit-impaired. For
financial assets that are, interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognizes interest income by applying the credit-adjusted
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the
gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer creditimpaired.
Interest income is recognized in profit or loss and is included in the "financial income" line item.
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for
trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies.
A financial asset is held for trading if:
•
•
•

it has been acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
on initial recognition is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the “Reserve of gains and losses on financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”
in equity. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments; instead, they
will be transferred to equity.
The Group has designated all investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading as at FVTOCI on initial application of
IFRS 9.
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Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group, and the
amount of dividend can be reliably measured, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery from the investment cost.
Dividends are included in the ‘other income’ line item the statement of profit or loss.
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
Specifically:
•

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment that is
neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognized in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognized in
profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘financial income’ line item.
Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:
•
•
•

for financial assets measured at amortized cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognized in profit or loss in the ‘foreign exchange gains and losses’;
for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences on the
amortized cost of the debt instrument are recognized in profit or loss in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.
for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are
recognized in profit or loss in the ‘foreign exchange gains and losses and;

ii. Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at amortized cost
or at FVTOCI, trade receivables, sundry debtors and other debtors. No impairment loss is recognized for investments in equity
instruments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial asset.
The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for trade receivables, sundry debtors and other debtors. The expected credit losses on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 months ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an
actual default occurring.
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Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organizations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations.
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:
•
•

•
•
•
•

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instruments internal or external (if available) credit rating;
significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair
value of a financial asset has been less than its amortized cost;
existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor‘s ability to meet its debt obligations ;
an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;
an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as
per the globally understood definition.
For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to which a loan commitment relates; for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.
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Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.
•
•

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Company).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts,
the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn
down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.
For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse
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the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other
party.
For undrawn loan commitments, the expected credit loss is the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan, and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive if the loan is drawn down.
Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:
•

•
•
•
•

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables and amounts due
from customers are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed for expected credit losses on
an individual basis);
Past-due status;
Nature, size and industry of debtors;
Nature of collaterals for finance lease receivables; and
External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12 mounth ECL at the current reporting date.
The Group recognizes an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for financial instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which
the loss allowance is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the “Reserve of gains and losses on financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset
in the statement of financial position.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial
asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received, if applicable.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt
instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the “Reserve of gains and losses on
financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on
derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the “Reserve of gains and losses on financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income” is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.
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iii. Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group’s entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, ii) held for trading, or iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•
•
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or
on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
•
•

•

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise;
or
the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract to
be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognized in profit
or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is included in the ‘financial income/cost’ line item.
However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognized in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognized in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk that are recognized in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial
liability.
Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments issued by the Group that are designated by the Group as at
fair value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortized cost
Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (2) held-for-trading, or (3)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortized cost of a
financial liability.
Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts issued by a Group’s entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are subsequently measured at the higher of:
•
•

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 (see o.2); and
the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognized in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortized cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the amortized cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognized in the ‘foreign exchange gains and losses’ line item in profit or loss for financial
liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the
spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange
component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is recognized in profit or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss.
iv. Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to volatility risks in interest rates and exchange
rates, including foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps. A more detailed explanation of derivative financial
instruments is included in the Note "Financial liabilities".
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition
in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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Embedded derivatives
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL. Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain
financial asset hosts within the scope of IFRS 9 are not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently
measured as either amortized cost or FVTPL as appropriate.
v. Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and ICE
Brent crude commodity risk in fair value hedges or cash flow hedges as appropriate. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm
commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.
At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships
meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:
• there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
• the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and
• the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the Group
actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.
If a hedging relationship fails to meet the hedging effectiveness requirement for the hedging ratio, but the risk management
purpose for that designated hedging relationship remains unchanged, the Group will adjust the hedging ratio of the hedging
relationship (this is referred to in IFRS 9 as "rebalancing the hedging relationship") so that it complies with the required criteria
again.
The Group designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward elements) as the hedging
instrument for all of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts.
Fair value hedges - (time spread swap - Inventories)
Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments are recognized in profit or loss, except when the hedging instrument hedges an
equity instrument designated to be measured at FVTOCI, in which case changes in fair value are recognized in other
comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of a hedged item (commodity risk of ICE Brent crude, which is part of the inventories of raw materials and
products) is adjusted by the change in fair value attributable to the risk hedged with a corresponding effect on profit or loss. For
debt instruments measured at FVTOCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted since it is already at fair value, but the gain or loss
from the hedge is recognized in profit or loss instead of other comprehensive income. When the hedged item is an equity
instrument designated at FVTOCI, the gain or loss from the hedge remains in other comprehensive income to match that of the
hedging instrument.
When the gains or losses from hedging are recognized in profit or loss, they are recognized in the same line as that of the hedged
item.
The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part of it) fails to meet the accounting
requirements (after rebalancing the hedging relationship, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. The fair value adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item that arises from the hedged risk is amortized in profit or loss from that date.

17

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Cash flow hedges - (cross currency swap - exchange rate and interest rate)
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualified hedging instruments that are designated and
considered as cash flow hedges is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the line "Cash flow hedge
reserve" in equity, limited to the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged item from the beginning of the hedge. The gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion of the hedging instrument is recognized immediately in profit and loss, and is included in
the item "other gains (losses)".
The amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in
the periods in which the hedged item fluctuations are recognized in profit or loss, in the same line item where the recognized
hedged item effect is recorded. However, when a forecasted transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a nonfinancial liability, the gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
eliminated from equity and directly included in the initial cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. This is not a
reclassification adjustment. Therefore, it does not affect other comprehensive income. Additionally, if the Group expects that part
or all of accumulated loss in other comprehensive income will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.
The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedge relationship (or a part of it) fails to meet the classification
requirements (after rebalancing the hedging relationship, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognized in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity until that date remains in equity and is recognized when the forecasted
transaction is finally recognized in profit or loss. When the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss
accumulated in equity is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
o. Recognition of revenue – Revenue is recognized by ENAP Group, considering the price established in the transaction for the
compliance with each of the performance obligations. ENAP Group recognizes revenue when performance obligations have been
fulfilled for the transfer of the goods and services committed to the customer.
The following is a description of principal activities – separated by reportable segments – from which the Group generates its
revenue. For more detailed information about reportable segments, see Note “Revenues from ordinary activities.”
R&C segment:
The R&C segment principally generates revenue from the sale of refined products. This usually occurs: when the customer
obtains control of the products sold, and there is no pending obligation to be fulfilled. The sales of refined products are covered
by annual sales contracts which establish commitments for both parties through an annual delivery schedule including fines in case
of non-compliance. The time in which a customer obtains control occurs for deliveries from tank to tank at the time the products
pass through the flange to the entrance of the facilities of the buyer’s plant. In case of deliveries from tank to pipeline, this occurs
in the outlet flange of the plant of the seller. In both cases, the flange is the point where the delivery of the products and the
transfer of title and risk to the customer occur. There is no financing component.
E&P segment:
The E&P segment principally generates revenue from the sale of crude oil and natural gas. This occurs when the company
transfers control of the products sold to the customer, and there is no pending obligation to be fulfilled. The sales of oil and gas
are covered by annual or spot sales contracts, which establish commitments for both parties (i.e. sales price calculation usually
based on international price bases; quality discounts or bonuses; delivery schedules; fines in case of non-compliance). The time at
which a customer obtains control is when the products are delivered in the indicated place in accordance with the agreed
conditions. In the sales by means of pipelines, it takes place with the measurement of the units in the pipeline in the delivery point.
And in the case of marine terminals, it takes place with the disconnection of the cargo hose. In all the cases, inspectors certify the
delivery. There are no financing component.
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G&E segment:
The G&E segment principally generates revenue from the sale of liquefied natural gas (LNG) through pipeline to power
generation clientsand industries. This usually occurs when the customer obtains control of the products sold, and there is no
pending obligation to be fulfilled. The sales of LNG are covered mainly by sales contracts, which establish commitments for both
parties (i.e. Price, Quantity, annual delivery schedule; penalties in case of non-compliance). The specific time at which a customer
obtains control takes place when the products have been shipped to the delivery point, which is Quillota reception station for
Santiago customers, and the receiving station in the Satellite Plant for Regasification of ENAP in the town of Pemuco (8 th Region)
for customers in the south of Chile. There is no financing component.
Other operating income:
i)
ii)

Income from dividends: Dividends are recognized when the right of the ENAP Group to receive payment is established.
Interest income: Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method.

p. Inventories – Raw materials, work in progress, finished goods and materials are valued initially at cost. After initial
recognition, they are valued at the lesser of net realizable value and cost. The ENAP Group uses the first-in first-out (FIFO)
method for all the inventory items, except for materials which are valued using the Weighted Average Cost method.
The net realizable value represents the estimated price of sale at year-end less all estimated finishing costs and costs that will be
incurred in the marketing, selling and distributing processes.
In the event that the cost of raw materials is part of the hedged item of a fair value hedging strategy, the gain or loss associated
with the hedged price risk is part of the cost of the inventories.
q. Provision for employee benefits – Costs associated with employees’ contractual benefits, related to services rendered by
employees during the year, are charged to income for the respective year. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in “Actuarial
reserves on defined benefit plans” in Equity reserves.
The obligations recognized for the concept of severance payments arise as a consequence of the collective agreements signed with
the employees of the Group, which states the commitment agreed to by the company. The ENAP Group recognizes the cost of
employee benefits according to an actuarial calculation, as required by IAS 19 "Employee benefits”, which includes variables such
as life expectation, salary increases, etc. To determine this calculation as of December 31, 2018 an annual discount nominal rate of
5.37% has been used (6.02% at December 31, 2017).
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense related to the Variable Remunerations System (VRS) that is applicable to all
its executives, with the sole exception of the General Manager. This system is based on the annual net income of the Company,
departmental results and goal accomplishment for each management area. A provision is recorded when the company is
contractually obliged or when an implicit obligation arises.
t. Provisions and contingent liabilities – Provisions are recorded for current, legal or assumed obligations arising as a result of a
past event, whose payment is expected to involve a disbursement of resources and whose amount and time of payment can be
reliably estimated.
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events and whose existence can only be confirmed when one or
more uncertain future events occur that are not entirely under the Company’s control; or a present obligation arising from past
events that has not been accounted for because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and incorporate economic benefits; or because the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably measured.
The ENAP Group does not record contingent assets or liabilities, except for those stemming from onerous contracts, which are
recorded as a provision and then reviewed at each balance sheet date and, if necessary, adjusted to reflect the best estimate at the
time.
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u. Income taxes and deferred taxes – The Parent Company and its Chilean subsidiaries determine the tax base and calculate their
income taxes in conformity with the legal provisions in force during each period. In the case of the foreign subsidiaries, these
submit their tax returns individually, in conformity with current tax standards in their respective countries.
The deferred taxes generated by temporary differences and other events giving rise to differences between the accounting and tax
base of assets and liabilities are recorded in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. Current and deferred income tax is recorded
in the income statement unless related to an item recognized in Other comprehensive income, directly in equity or resulting from a
business combination.
The company does not record deferred taxes on the temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates,
provided that the timing in which temporary differences are reversed is controlled by the Company and the temporary difference
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
Income tax is recorded in the consolidated income statement or in the net equity of the consolidated statement of financial position
according to the nature of the underlying transaction. The differences between the accounting value of assets and liabilities, and
their tax basis generates, where aplicable, deferred tax assets or liabilities which are calculated using the tax rates that are expected
to be in force when the assets and liabilities are realized.
The variations generated in the year in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded in the income statement or directly in the net
equity of the financial statement, as appropriate.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is expected that the Company will have sufficient future taxable income to recover
the temporary differences.
t. Leases – The Group has early adopted IFRS 16 – Leases, for which it measured current lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
derived from leases previously classified as operating leases, by reference to the lease payments for the remainder of the term of
the lease using the option to record the asset at an amount equal to the liability to the extent allowed by IFRS 16 – Leases: C8 (b).
It also determined the incremental interest rate at the date of the initial application (January 1, 2017) in accordance with the term
of the lease and the nature of the right-of-use asset. The right-of-use asset recorded at the date of initial measurement will trigger
depreciation expense throughout the shortest of the period of the contract or the useful life of the asset.
u. Issued capital – Issued capital is contributions and/or capitalized profits, authorized through rulings and/or decrees issued by
the Ministry of Finance, which constitute the legal obligation that gives rise to its registration.
v. Distribution of dividends – The dividend distribution policy used by ENAP is the one established through official letters
and/or decrees issued by the Ministry of Finance, which constitutes the legal obligation that gives rise to its registration.
w. Environment – The accounting policy of ENAP Group related to the recognition of environmental commitments establishes
that when these are part of a capital project they are capitalized as part of the project, and when they are not part of a capital
project, they are recognized with charge to income for the year.
x. Commercial creditors and other accounts payable – Commercial creditors and other accounts payable are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost.
y. Cash and cash equivalents – The cash flow statement recognizes cash movements throughout the year, determined by the
direct method. In these cash flow statements the following expressions are used:
▪

Cash and cash equivalents: The ENAP Group considers liquid financial assets, deposits or liquid financial investments, which
may be easily converted into cash within no more than three months and where the risk of a change in their value is
insignificant, to be cash equivalents.
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▪

▪
▪

Operating activities: these are the activities that constitute the main source of ordinary income of the ENAP Group, as well as
other activities that cannot be classified as investment or financing activities. “Other payments for operating activities”
includes ThUS$ 2,510,541 for the payment of specific tax on fuel in subsidiary ENAP Refinerías S.A., for the year 2018 and
ThUS$2,330,489 for the year 2017.
Investing activities: these correspond to activities of acquisition, sale or disposal through other methods of long-term assets
and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents.
Financing activities: these are the activities that cause variations in the composition of the net equity, and of the financial
liabilities.
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are shown in the following table:

Liabilities generated from financial activities

Balance as
of
01/01/2018
(1)

Cash flows of financing
activities

Non-cash financing activities
Exchange
difference

Banks loans (Note 23.b.ii)

ThUS$
814,192

From
ThUS$
641,556

Used
ThUS$
(794,169)

Public bonds - non guarantee (Note 23.b.iii)

3,624,545

673,572

(215,258)

131,027
79,825

(31,288)

(42,178)
-

61,728

4,649,589

1,283,840

(1,051,605)

4,162

Leasing liabilities (Note 18 & Note 23.b.iv )
Derivatives instruments (Note 23.a)
Total

ThUS$
3,051

New financial
instruments
ThUS$

(60,617)

Balance as
of
Other changes
12/31/2018
(2)
(1)
ThUS$
4,657

ThUS$
669,287

(35,945)

3,986,297

10,586

10,586
(39,247)

110,021
71,018

10,586

(59,949)

4,836,623

(1) Balance corresponding to the current and non-current portion
(2) Includes interest accrual

3.2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
a) New and revised IFRS effective in the current year:
New Standards
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

New Standards
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018

Amendments to IFRS
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions (Amendments to IFRS 2)

Mandatory Effective Date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018

Applying IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Overlay approach to be applied when IFRS 9 is first applied.
Contracts” (Amendments to IFRS 4)
Deferral approach effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 and only available for three years after
that date.
Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle
(amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018

New Interpretations
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Mandatory Effective Date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018

The application of IFRS 9 has had no effect on the amounts reported in these interim consolidated financial statements, except for
"hedge accounting" for Time spreads swaps (see Note 3.3).
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b) New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective:
New Standards
IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

Effective date
Periodos anuales iniciados en o después del 1 de enero de 2021

Amendments to IFRS
Mandatory Effective Date
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate Effective date deferred indefinitely
or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to
IFRS 9)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2019

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments
to IAS 28)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2019

Annual improvements — 2015-2017 cycle (Amendments to IFRS 3,

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2019

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS
19)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2019

Definition of a business (amendments to IFRS 3)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2020

Definition of material (amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2020

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

Annual periods beginning on or after January 01, 2020

New Interpretations
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Mandatory Effective Date
Annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019

IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 23)

Management is evaluating the impact of the application of IFRS 17, IFRIC 23, nevertheless it is not possible to provide an
accurate estimation of the effects that these Standards will have prior to completing a detailed analysis.
3.3 Adoption of IFRS No. 9 “financial instruments”.
IFRS 9 became effective as of January 1, 2018, replacing IAS 39, and its application did not have any significant impacts on the
interim consolidated financial statements of ENAP, except for the application of fair value hedge accounting instead of cash flow
hedges associated with time spread swap instruments. The Group carried out a detailed evaluation of the three aspects of the
standard and its impact on the interim consolidated financial statements of the Group. The evaluation is summarized as follows:
(i) Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 introduced a new classification approach for financial assets, based on two concepts: the characteristics of the contractual
cash flows of the financial asset and the Company's business model. Under this new approach, the four classification categories of
IAS 39 were replaced by the following three categories:
- Amortized cost, if the financial assets are held within a business model, the objective of which is to obtain contractual cash flows
and where payments represent solely principal and/or interest on principal outstanding;
- Fair value through other comprehensive income, if financial assets are held in a business model, the objective which is achieved
by obtaining contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where payments represent solely principal and/or interest on
principal outstanding; or
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- Fair value through profit or loss, which is a residual category that includes financial instruments which are not classified under
one of the two aforementioned categories, including financial instruments held for trading and financial instruments designated at
fair value on initial recognition.
With respect to financial liabilities, IFRS 9 retains to a large extent, with respect to the financial liabilities of the Company, the
accounting treatment of IAS 39. IFRS 9 makes limited changes, under which most of these liabilities are measured at amortized
cost, and allows the designation of a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, if certain requirements are met.
However, the standard introduced new provisions for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, under which, in
certain circumstances, changes in fair value related to the variation of "entity’s own credit risk" will be recognized in other
comprehensive income.
(a) Bond repurchase costs:
The adoption of IFRS 9 in relation to financial liabilities had an impact on ENAP, as a result of the repurchase of bonds in the
international market during August 2016. This transaction generated gains and losses due to the non-substantial modification of
contractual flows that, under IAS 39, were recognized as part of the transaction cost, and that under IFRS 9, are recognized as part
of the results for the year.
As a result of the foregoing, the effects of the first application of the new standard implied recognizing an adjustment to the bond
obligation balances at the transition date as indicated below:
Effects IFRS 9 Other non-current financial liabilities as of January 1, 2018:

ThUS$

Balance item Other non-current financial liabilities as of January 1, 2018 under pre IFRS 9
accounting criteria

3,558,352

Transition adjustments to IFRS 9

(11.136)

Balance of Other non-current financial liabilities as of January 1, 2018 adjusted to IFRS 9

3,547,210

(b) As of January 1, 2018, considering the new IFRS 9 guidelines, the Group adjusted its hedge accounting strategy with respect to
commodity price risk (Brent crude oil inventory) from a cash flow hedge in accordance with IAS 39 to a fair value hedge in
accordance with IFRS 9, and recognized a credit to its accumulated deficit, net of taxes, of ThUS$3,125, according to the
following detail:
Effects IFRS 9 Assets, liabilities and reserves for derivative instruments as of January 1,
2018
Balance of inventories (net of deferred tax) as of January 1, 2018 under pre IFRS 9
accounting criteria
Balance of equity (reserves / retained earnings (accumulated deficit)) as of January 1, 2018
under pre IFRS 9 accounting criteria
Transition adjustments to IFRS 9
Transition adjustments to IFRS 9 Hedging reserves
Total transition adjustment to IFRS 9
Balance of inventories (net of deferred tax) as of January 1, 2018 adjusted to IFRS 9
Equity (reserves / retained earnings (accumulated deficit)) as of January 1, 2018 adjusted to
IFRS 9

ThUS$
12,467
33,706
38,424
(41.549)
3,125
50,891
4,718

(c) New classification requirements:
Based on the assessment made, the Group has determined that the new classification requirements do not have an impact on the
accounting of its financial assets. Loans and receivables are held to obtain contractual cash flows that represent only principal and
interest payments, therefore, they meet the criteria to be measured at amortized cost under IFRS 9.
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Below is a table with a new classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 at the date of initial application, January 1,
2018:
01-01-2018
Carrying
Value
ThUS$

Correction of
additional value
under IFRS 9
ThUS$

01-01-2018
Carrying
Value
ThUS$

91,496

0

807

Trade and other
receivables

Original measurement
category under IAS 39

New measurement
category under IFRS 9

91,492

At fair value through
profit or loss

At fair value through
profit or loss

0

807

At fair value through
profit or loss

At fair value through
profit or loss

852,877

0

852,877

Loans and accounts
receivable

Amortized cost

Due from related
companies

33,137

0

33,137

Loans and accounts
receivable

Amortized cost

Other financial assets,
non-current

13,788

0

13,788

Held to maturity

At fair value through
profit or loss

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash
Equivalents
Other financial assets,
current

Below is a table with a new classification of financial liabilities under IFRS 9 and IAS 39 at the date of initial application, January
1, 2018:

Financial Liabilities
Interest accruing loans
Due to related
companies
Trade and other
payables
Lease liabilities

01-01-2018
Carrying
Value
ThUS$

Correction of
additional
value due to
changes in the
contractual
flows
ThUS$

01-01-2018
Carrying
Value
ThUS$

4,438,738

(31.817)

4,406,921

20,082

0

20,082

866,970

0

866,970

131,027

0

131,027

Original
measurement
category under
IAS 39
Loans and accounts
payable
Loans and accounts
payable
Loans and accounts
payable
Loans and accounts
payable

New measurement
category under
IFRS 9
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

(ii) Impairment
The new impairment model of IFRS 9 (simplified method) is based on expected credit losses, unlike the incurred loss model
established by IAS 39. This means that impairment is recorded on a basis distinct from that which was defined as a loss event
requiring impairment analysis under IAS 39.
The new impairment model is applied to financial assets measured at amortized cost or measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, except for investments in equity instruments. Impairment provisions are measured:
▪
▪

Las pérdidas crediticias esperadas en los próximos 12 meses, o
Based on the expected credit losses over the life of the asset, if a significant increase in the credit risk of a financial
instrument occurred on the date of presentation of the financial statements, since the initial recognition.
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The standard allows applying a simplified approach to trade accounts receivable, contractual assets or accounts receivable for
leases, so that the impairment is always recognized in connection with the expected losses over the entire life of the asset.
As of January 1, 2018, the new impairment model has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
(iii) Hedge accounting
IFRS 9 introduced a new hedge accounting model with the purpose of aligning accounting more closely with companies' risk
management activities and establishing a more principles-based approach. The new approach makes it possible to better reflect the
risk management activities in the financial statements, allowing more elements to be eligible as hedged items: risk component in
non-financial items, net positions and aggregate exposures (i.e. a combination of a non-derivative exposure and a derivative).
The most significant changes with respect to hedging instruments, compared to the hedge accounting method used in IAS 39,
relate to the possibility of deferring the time value of an option, the forward points of forward contracts and the difference of the
monetary base in other comprehensive income, until the moment in which the hedged item impacts profit or loss.
IFRS 9 eliminated the quantitative requirement of the evidence of effectiveness included in IAS 39, under which the profit or loss
should be within the range of 80% -125%, allowing the evaluation of effectiveness to be aligned with risk management through of
the demonstration of the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, and offers
the possibility of rebalancing the hedging relationship if the risk management objective remains unchanged. However,
retrospective ineffectiveness should continue to be valued and recognized in profit or loss.
When applying IFRS 9 for the first time, the Group could choose as an accounting policy to continue applying the hedge
accounting requirements of IAS 39, instead of the requirements of IFRS 9, until the regulations regarding “macro hedging” are
published and adopted. The Group chose to apply the requirements of IFRS 9 on the date of its adoption, that is, January 1, 2018.
4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEDGE DEFINITION

During the normal course of its business and financing activities, ENAP is exposed to different financial risks that could have a
significant effect on the economic value of its cash flows and assets and, therefore, on its net income.
The Group has organization and information systems, managed by Corporate Financial Management, to identify such risks,
calculate their magnitude, propose mitigating measures to the Board, implement such measures and control their effectiveness.
A definition of the risks faced by the Company is presented, including their features and value for ENAP, and a description of the
mitigating measures currently being used by the Company, if applicable.
a) Market risk
This is the possibility that the fluctuations of market variables, such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, prices or
indices of crude oil and by-products, etc., may cause financial losses due the devaluation of cash flows or assets or the revaluation
of liabilities, as a result of their being denominated in, or indexed to, such variables.
a.1) Interest rate risk - ENAP’s financing structure considers a mixture of sources of funds subject to fixed rates (mainly bonds)
and variable rates (bilateral loans, syndicated loans, notes payable or forfeiting, short-term bank loans and suppliers credit).
The portion of financing subject to a variable interest rate, usually consisting of the 3 or 6 month LIBOR floating rate plus a
spread, exposes the company to changes in its financial expenses due to fluctuations in the LIBOR rate.
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ENAP's total financial debt as of December 31, 2018 is summarized in the table below, separating the fixed rate debt from the
floating rate debt – Previous hedge:

In millions of US dollars

Fixed Rate

Current bank debt

Floating Rate

Total

-

367

367

Non-current bank debt
International bonds
Local bonds

18
3,280
803

279
-

297
3,280
803

Total

4,101

646

4,748

Note: The data in the attached table corresponds solely to the principal, not to any accrued interest or other concepts. The
international and local bonds are presented at face value, and not on an amortized cost basis as on the balance sheet. The local
bonds denominated in UF are presented at their face value equivalent to US$ as of December 31, 2018.
Risk mitigating instruments:
In order to reduce the variability of its financial expenses, ENAP obtained several hedging instruments for some of the debt items
in the above table.
Interest rate swaps were obtained to swap floating rate of ThUS$ 85,368 of the long-term bank debt for fixed rate.
Residual risk exposure:
Considering the existence of the hedge instruments indicated above, the net balance of obligations of the Group whose financing
cost is fully subject to fluctuations in the LIBOR rate is ThUS$ 646,333, which amounts to 13.61% of the total. As such, a 1%
increase in the applicable LIBOR rate (quarterly or half yearly, depending on the type of debt) would generate an annual increase
of about ThUS$ 6,463.
a.2) Exchange rate risk: The functional currency of the ENAP Group is the US dollar. However, there are some relevant items of
the financial statements denominated in local currency (Chilean pesos or UF - inflation index-linked unit of account), such as sales
invoicing and financial obligations, and in Swiss Francs (CHF). These are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations as a result of
fluctuations in the Chilean peso/USD, UF/USD or CHF/USD parties.
Mitigating measures:
The exposure of the exchange rate variations from invoicing is minimized basically via a product pricing policy, based on import
parity pricing, a mechanism whereby the local sale price for products is recalculated on a weekly basis in accordance with the
current exchange rate for accounts receivable.
Other main balance sheet items exposed are local bonds (denominated in UF - inflation index-linked unit of account) and accounts
receivable relating to local sales (denominated in pesos). The ENAP Group carries out hedging operations to mitigate the
exchange rate risk associated with both items.
The principal owed under ENAP’s local bonds as of December 31, 2018 was UF 20,250,000 (equivalent to ThUS$ 803,442 as of
December 31, 2018). Based on that amount and the CLP/USD and CLP/UF parities in effect on that date, a change of $50 in the
CLP/USD exchange rate would produce the following effects on the bond’s value measured in dollars:
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Variation in
Bond valuation ThUS$

Exchange rate
Increase $50 ($744.77)

53,939

Decrease en $50 ($644.77)

(62,305)

In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has entered into cross-currency swap contracts, whereby the company receives cash flows in
UF from the other parties equal to the cash flows payable to the bond holders and pays them fixed cash flows in US dollars,
thereby being free from the above exchange rate risk. The notional amount covered is ThUS$ 878.175.
The balance of accounts receivable from local sales as of December 31, 2018 was ThUS$ 540.997. As such an increase of CLP
$50 in the exchange rate would produce a reduction of ThUS$ 36.320 in the dollar value of the accounts receivable.
In order to minimize this risk, ENAP has a hedging policy in place, which consists of entering into weekly forward exchange rate
contracts for an amount equivalent to 100% of the estimated sales for the corresponding week and for terms based on the
estimated collection dates of the respective invoicing.
a.3) Commodities price risk: ENAP’s Downstream business line consists mainly of buying crude oil in the international markets
for refining and the subsequent sale of its by-products in the domestic market, based on import parity prices.
The refining margin obtained by ENAP is subject to the fluctuation in the international prices of crude oil of refined products and
their fluctuations (international margin or “crack spread”). Considering an average level of refining of 66 million barrels per year,
a variation of USD 1/barrel in the crack spread all things being equal, would have a quarterly effect on net income of ThUS$
66,000.
The central strategy of the ENAP Group in confronting the risk of a variation in the refining margin is to orient its investments
toward increasing its flexibility in production and the quality of its products. Until now, no derivative contracts have been signed
to set the refining margin, but market price levels are constantly being monitored.
Moreover, due to the time elapsing between the purchase of crude oil and the sale of refined products, ENAP is also exposed to a
time spread or risk that prices at the time of sale of the products are below the price prevailing at the time of purchase of the crude
oil. Earnings or losses for this reason increase the volatility of ENAP’s Group operating income.
On average, ENAP imports about 5.5 million barrels of crude oil per month. A drop of US$ 1/barrel in the price of the by-product
during the refining inventory cycle has an immediate effect of ThUS$5,500 on refining margin per month.
The hedging policy to mitigate the risk of inventory devaluation (crude oil shipments) consists of entering in time-spread swap
hedge contracts, which are intended to move the financial pricing window of a crude oil shipment (which is usually during the
days that are near the loading date) and adjust it to the dates when the refined products made from that crude oil are priced. This
will bring inventory costs in line with the prices of the products that will be sold. This mitigates quite well the time spread to
which the company is naturally exposed. However, it should be mentioned that these instruments, by their nature and mode of
operation, protect against the fluctuation in the crude oil prices but do not fully ensure the full elimination of effects on income as
a result of the volatility in the prices of raw material.
At this time, Brent crude oil is the most relevant marker in the oil market and has direct effects on the prices of the products that
ENAP uses as a reference to determine the sales prices of the products that we produce, because these sales prices are strongly
correlated to this marker. For that reason, when the trading area awards purchases of crude oil priced on the WTI (West Texas
Intermediate), a “differential swap” is contracted to financially transfer a WTI position to an ICE Brent position and thus maintain
the standard of optimization that prevailed at the time the purchase of that crude oil was awarded.
Furthermore, the E&P business Line consists mainly in the exploration and exploitation activities of hydrocarbon reserves and
their sales in the international market. Consequently, its results are directly related with international oil and gas prices.
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In order to mitigate such risk, ENAP centers its efforts on constant operational improvements in order to maintain a cost efficient
structure. The Company does not systematically use derivatives as a hedging mechanism for the sales of its own production,
although certain specific operations of this kind have been performed.
b) Liquidity risk
This risk arises from the funds required to meet capital expenditure commitments and the normal operation of the business, debt
maturities, derivatives settlement etc. The Group has a financial policy with guidelines to manage this risk, consisting in long-term
committed credit facilities and temporary financial investments, for amounts sufficient to meet projected requirements for a period
which requirements correlate with the situation and the expectations of the debt and capital markets.
The Market Risk Management and Financial Transactions Department and the Corporate Finance Department, both reporting to
Financial Management, continuously monitor the Group’s funding requirements.
In addition to the balance sheet balances, the Group has additional liquidity resources currently available: (i) a committed credit
line for US$ 150 million with Santander Bank, NA (ii) a committed credit line for Ch$ 25,000 million with Banco de Chile (iii) a
committed credit line for Ch$ 25,000 million with Banco Santander and (iv) uncommitted credit lines for approx. US$ 1,000
million with different domestic and foreign banks.
The projected needs mentioned above include net financial debt maturities, i.e., after financial derivatives. The table below shows
the balance of financial obligations at December 31, 2018:
In millions of U.S. dollars

2019

2020

2021

Current bank debt
Non-current bank debt
International bonds
Local bonds

367
69
115
387

69
174
-

55
410
-

Total

938

243

465

2022

2024

2023

5
5

Total

onwards

100
-

2,580
417

367
297
3,280
803

100

2,997

4,748

For more details on the features and conditions of financial debts and derivatives, see note “Financial liabilities”.
The following table shows the maturity profile of the financial obligations (additional to those presented in the above table) of the
ENAP Group as of December 31, 2018:
2024
onwards
In millions of U.S. dollars
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Total
Trade payables
Accouts payable to related entities
Hedging derivatives

810
19
46

-

Total

875

-

25

-

-

-

810
19
71

25

-

-

-

900

c) Credit risks
This risk refers to the ability of third parties to fulfill their financial obligations towards ENAP. There are three different
categories:
c.1) Financial assets - These are the balances of cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, operations with repurchase agreements
and marketable securities as a whole. ENAP’s ability to recover these funds at maturity depends on the creditworthiness of the
bank in which they are deposited. In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has a financial policy specifying the creditworthiness
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parameters that must be met by financial institutions in order to be considered eligible as a depositary of the above products, as
well as each institution’s concentration ceilings.
c.2) Obligations of counter-parties in derivatives - These are the ENAP market values of current derivative contracts with
banks. In order to mitigate this risk, ENAP has a derivative management policy specifying creditworthiness parameters that must
be met by financial institutions in order to be considered eligible as counter-parties to derivative contracts.
c.3) Trade debtors - The risk of uncollectibility of Group trade debtors is significantly low, insofar as nearly all local sales
(>95%) are invoiced to the 4 main fuel distributors or liquefied petroleum gas distributing companies.
Meanwhile, the incorporation of new clients is subject to an analysis of their financial creditworthiness and their approval by
ENAP’s Credit Committee. This committee coordinates the collection actions required, if payments are delinquent.
As of December 31, 2018, the total exposure of the Group to accounts receivable amounts to ThUS$ 685,314 as indicated in Note
“Trade receivables and other receivables”.
There are no guarantees for significant amounts to cover such exposure, because as indicated above, almost all sales correspond to
distributing companies of fuel or liquefied petroleum gas, with whom the Group operates based on credit sales without guarantees.
The estimation of the doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2018 amounts to ThUS$ 4,269.
Information regarding capital management is included in Note “Equity”.

5.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINLY

Responsibility for the information and estimates
Corporate Management of the ENAP Group is responsible for the information contained in these consolidated financial
statements.
In these consolidated financial statements the Corporate Management of the ENAP Group and its consolidated entities have used
estimates to quantify some of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and commitments recorded therein.
Regardless of the fact that these estimates were made with the best information available at the time, they may possibly need to be
revised in future years as a result of future events (upwards or downwards). This would be done prospectively, as stipulated in
IAS 8, by recognizing the effect of the change in the estimate if the review affects this year only, or in the year of review and
future years if the change affects both.
In applying the accounting policies of the ENAP Group, which are described in Note 3, management makes future estimates and
judgments regarding the book values of its assets and liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on past
experience and on other factors considered relevant. The results could differ from these estimates.
Management has made estimates and judgments that have significant effects on the figures presented in the financial statements.
Any changes in assumptions and estimations could have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Key sources of estimation uncertainly and judgments made by Management are detailed below:
1. Impairment of assets – At year-end or on such date on which it is considered necessary, we analyze the value of assets to
determine whether there is any sign that such assets have suffered an impairment loss. In case such evidence exists, an estimate of
the recoverable amount of such asset is performed to determine, in each case, the amount of the necessary adjustment. In case of
identifiable assets that do not generate independent cash inflows, the recovery of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs is estimated. As of December 31, 2018 an impairment test was performed on the assets of the E&P portfolio in the
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Magallanes Area of the subsidiary in Argentina and in Magallanes Chile, determining a gross impairment with a charge to other
expenses of ThUS$29,032 and ThUS$150,800, respectively. In year 2017 the subsidiary in Argentina carried out an impairment
test on the investments in Pampa del Castillo-La Guitarra and Cañadón Perdido Central Camp oil fields. The subsidiary calculated
gross impairment charged to other expenses for ThUS$ 34,389 and ThUS$ 21,800, respectively.
2. Useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment – ENAP Group Management estimates the useful lives that are used to
calculate the respective depreciation charges for its fixed assets. This estimate is based on technical studies prepared by internal
and external experts. Where there are indications which recommend changes in the useful lives of these assets, it must be done
using technical estimates for this purpose. Management will increase the charge for depreciation when the useful lives are less
than the estimate or write off technically obsolete assets that are abandoned or sold. The ENAP Group reviews the estimated
useful lives of its property, plant and equipment assets at the end of each annual financial reporting year.
3.
Provision for obsolescence of materials and spare parts – Materials and spare parts presented under Inventories can be
affected by various factors such as technological changes, abandonment, environmental exposure, among others, for which the
ENAP Group makes estimates and judgments in order to determine obsolescence provision with the most updated information
available. These estimates are regularly reviewed on the basis of additional information and greater experience which may
possibly affect the values determined.
4.
Reserves of crude oil and gas - Estimates of reserves of crude oil and gas are an integral part of the ENAP Group's
decision-making process. The volume of reserves of crude oil and gas is used for calculating the depreciation, using the production
unit ratios, and also for evaluating the recoverability of the investment in Upstream assets (E&P). The determination of the oil and
gas reserve is made through the appropriate use of the principles and techniques of geological evaluation and petroleum
engineering that agree with the recognized practices in the industry and in accordance with the definitions established by the
PRMS in 2007 ( Petroleum Resources Management System). These studies carried out by our specialists are regularly audited by
specialized and world-renowned companies.
5. Fair value of derivative instruments and other financial instruments – The fair value of the financial instruments not
traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The ENAP Group uses its judgment to select a variety of
methods and make assumptions based mainly on existing market conditions at each balance sheet date. The assumptions for
derivative financial instruments are based on market rates quoted and adjusted to the specific characteristics of the instrument.
Other financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash flow analysis based on assumptions supported, whenever
possible, by observed market prices or rates.
6. Provisions for litigation and other contingencies – The final cost for claims and lawsuits could vary due to estimates based
on different interpretations of the regulations, opinions and final evaluations of the amount of damages. Therefore, any change in
the circumstances involved could have a significant effect on the amount of the contingency provision recorded.
7. Provisions for environmental remediation – The ENAP Group makes estimates and relies on its judgment when recording
costs and stipulating provisions for environmental remediation and clean-up. These estimates and judgments are based on current
information about expected remediation costs and plans, the timing of disbursements, the interest rate used for discounting future
flows, etc., in order to calculate their fair value. The costs of environmental provisions could differ from the estimates due to
changes in laws and regulations, the discovery and analysis of the conditions at the location, and also changes in clean-up
technology. Therefore, any change in the factors or circumstances involved in this provision, and also in the standards and
regulations, could have a significant effect on the provisions recorded for such costs.
8. Calculation of income tax and deferred tax assets – Tax assets and liabilities are reviewed regularly and balances are
adjusted as appropriate. The ENAP Group considers that an adequate provision has been made for future tax effects, based on
facts, circumstances and current tax laws. Also, tax loss carryforwards of Chilean companies at the date of these consolidated
financial statements have been estimated as totally recoverable by management. However, the tax position might change, creating
different results with an impact on the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements.
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6.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 this item is composed of:
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Detail:

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Cash
Bank
Time deposits and mutual funds
Repurchase agreements

76
167,577
328,572
28,861

372
71,719
19,405
-

Total

525,086

91,496

Cash and cash equivalents by currency of origin is as follows:
Detail:

12.31.2018

12.31.2017

ThUS$

ThUS$

Currency

Cash and cash equivalents

US$

Cash and cash equivalents

Ch$

Cash and cash equivalents

AR$

Cash and cash equivalents

EG £

Total

94,721
425,288
2,251
2,826

62,949
12,126
10,352
6,069

525,086

91,496

Time deposits and repurchase agreement expire in a period of less than three months from the date of acquisition and accrue
market interest for this type of investment. In cash and cash equivalents there are no cash flows subject to restrictions. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 there are no bank overdrafts presented as cash and cash equivalents.
7.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the detail is as follows:
Current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Detail:
Cash Flow Hedges derivatives
Investments in other companies
Other receivable

(a)
(b)

Total

Non-Current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

127,909
-

807

8,496
12,571
34

953
13,762
34

127,909

807

21,101

14,749

12.31.2018
ThUS$
7,664
4,901
6

12.31.2017
ThUS$
7,664
6,091
7

12,571

13,762

(a) See detail in Note “financial liabilities”.
(b) The detail of investment in other companies at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Detail:
Terminales Marítimos Patagónicos S.A.
Electrogas S.A.
Asociación Gremial de Industriales Químicos C.P.A.

Country
Argentina
Chile
Chile

Total
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Ownership
2018
2017
%
%
13.79
13.79
15.00
15.00
N/A
N/A
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The ENAP Group classifies its financial assets using the following categories: amortized cost, fair value with changes through
other comprehensive income, and fair value with changes through profit or loss, as itemized below as of December 31, 2018 and
2017:

Current
Non-Current
12.31.2018 12.31.2017 12.31.2018 12.31.2017
Other financial asset

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

Financial asset measured at amortised cost
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

119,059

807
-

34
12,571

34
13,762

Total

119,059

807

12,605

13,796

8.

OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS CURRENT AND NON- CURRENT

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the detail of this is as follows:

Detail:

12.31.2018
ThUS$

Current

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Non-Current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Prepaid vessel lease
Prepaid expenses of Torquemada Substation
Prepaid insurance
Platinum incorporated in catalyst
Other

5,005
479
765
1,378

5,075
582
16,867
1,804

2,230
23,978
917

2,812
23,978
917

Total

7,627

24,328

27,125

27,707

9.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 this item is composed as follows:
Current
Detail:

Non-Current

12.31.2018

12.31.2017

12.31.2018

12.31.2017

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

Trade debtors
Sundry debtors
Other receivables
Allowance for doubtful accounts

685,314
51,959
48,403
(4,269)

711,154
65,464
60,826
(15,145)

6,185
182
9,494
-

15
30,563
-

Total

781,407

822,299

15,861

30,578

The fair values of trade receivables, sundry debtors and other receivables approximate to their book value.
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a) Age of overdue accounts receivable but not impaired: The maturity of non-impaired overdue accounts receivable, is
detailed below:
12.31.2017
12.31.2018
ThUS$
ThUS$
Over 1 day to 5 days
Over 6 days to 30 days
Over 31 days to 60 days
Over 61 days to 90 days
Over 91 days to 1 year
Over 1 year
Total

48,014
15,979
9,215
6,428
35,418
4,377

17,992
3,888
6,557
12,593
32,836
15,531

119,431

89,397

The amounts included bear interest, calculated using the maximum conventional rate published in the Official Newspaper of Chile
(Diario Oficial de Chile).
The average collection period from customers at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is around 20 days for the R&C segment, the G&E
segment has an average collection of 15 and 20 days and between 60 and 90 days for the E&P segment, except for government
accounts receivable.
b) Allowance for doubtful accounts: The allowance for doubtful accounts by aging of receivables As of December 31, 2018
and 2017 is as follows:
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
Antigüedad de la provisión
ThUS$
ThUS$
Over 1 year

(4,269)

(15,145)

Total

(4,269)

(15,145)

Considering the creditworthiness of debtors and historical collection performance, the ENAP Group has estimated that the
provision for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2018 and 2017, is sufficient.
10. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED COMPANIES
The accounts receivable, accounts payable and transactions with related parties are the following:
a) Accounts receivable, current and non-current:
Current:
Tax Number

Company

Country

Relationship

61.979.830-9

Ministerio de Energía

Chile

Indirect

76.418.940-K
0-E

GNL Chile S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico Argentina S.A.

Chile
Argentina

96.762.250-8

Gasoducto del Pacífico Chile S.A.

96.861.390-1
81.095.400-0

Innergy Soluciones Energéticas S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

Currency

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

$

19,586

21,252

Associate
Associate

US$
US$

15,524
256

6,687
510

Chile

Associate

US$

2,308

2,933

Chile
Chile

Associate
Associate

US$
US$

890
670

801
954

39,234

33,137

Total
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b) Current accounts payable:
Tax Number

12.31.2018

12.31.2017

ThUS$

ThUS$

Company

Country

Relationship

Currency

81.095.400-0

Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A.

Chile

Associate

US$

3,949

2,350

76.418.940-K

GNL Chile S.A.

Chile

Associate

US$

14,716

12,050

61.704.000-k
-

Codelco
Others

Chile
-

Indirect
-

US$
US$

-

5,680
2

18,665

20,082

Total

At each period-end, the balances receivable from and payable to related companies, current, originate mainly from transactions in
the consolidated lines of business. They are agreed in Chilean pesos and dollars, their terms for collection and/or payment do not
exceed 60 days and, in general, they have no indexation adjustment or interest clauses.
c) Transactions with related companies:

Tax Number
76.418.940-K

78.889.940-8
81.095.400-0

96.856.650-4

Company

Country

Relationship

Description of the transaction

GNL Chile S.A.

Chile

Associate

Purchase of natural gas

Norgas S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.

Innergy Holding S.A.

Chile
Chile

Chile

Associate
Associate

Associate

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Effect in income
(Debit) / Credit
01.01.2018
01.01.2017
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

418,479

338,698

-

-

Advances on gas purchases
Dividend received

67,403
1,783

54,055
1,100

-

-

Dividend accrued
Dividend received
Purchase of services
Sale of services
Dividend received
Dividend accrued

1,230
422
47,111
3,648
670

1,500
45,770
1
3,809
1,099

-

Purchase of services
Sale of products

96.861.390-1

Innergy Soluciones Energéticas S.A.

Chile

Associate

Partial payment promissory notes

96.856.700-4
76.788.080-4
96.655.490-8

Innergy Transportes S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile) S.A.

Chile
Chile
Chile

Associate
Associate
Associate

96.762.250-8

Gasoducto del Pacífico Chile S.A.

Chile

Associate

Plant operation
Dividend received
Purchase of services
Dividend received
Dividend received

61.979.830-9

Ministerio de Energía

Chile

Indirect

Gas subsidy

61.704.000-k

Codelco

Chile

Indirect

Purchase of energy
Purchase of intangible

4,684

2,304

12,580

10,611

-

-

-

María Loreto Silva Rojas
Fernando Massú Tare
Rodrigo Cristóbal Azócar Hidalgo
Ana Beatriz Holuigue Barros
José Luis Mardones Santander
Claudio Fernando Skármeta Magri
Marcos Mauricio Varas Alvarado

Tax
number

Position

8.649.929-0
6.783.826-2
6.444.699-1
5.717.729-2
5.201.915-K
5.596.891-8
10.409.044-3

President
Vice president
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Subtotal
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1

-

2,474

1,273

675

-

-

1,903
9,196
4,353
625

1,339
5,745
4,156
1,176
-

-

-

90,309

95,292

90,309

95,292

-

8,259

-

(8,259)

1,507

-

-

-

d) Remuneration of the Board of Directors

Actual members of the Board
Name

-

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$
32
4
23
25
27
26
23

-

160

-
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Former members of the Board
Name
Andrés Ignacio Rebolledo Smitmans
Eduardo Bitrán Colodro
Gonzalo Armando de la Carrera Correa (1)
Jorge Fierro Andrade
María Isabel González Rodríguez
Carlos Carmona Acosta
Bernardita Piedrabuena Keymer
Paul Schiodtz Obilinovich
Alberto Salas Muñoz
Alejandro Jadresic Marinovic

Tax
number

Position

8.127.608-0
7.950.535-8
7.037.855-8
9.925.434-3
7.201.750-1
9.003.935-0
10.173.277-0
7.170.719-9
6.616.223-0
7.746.199-k

President
Vice president
Vice president
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Subtotal
Total

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$
13
4
4
4
4
4
4
-

12
15
15
13
13
8
10

37

86

197
OK

86

(1) Mr. Gonzalo de la Carrera was part of the Board of Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (new Corporate Government) as Vice President,
officialized on April 3, 2018; presenting his resignation on September 10, 2018.

On December 1, 2017, Law No. 21,025 became effective, establishing a New Corporate Governance for ENAP and a new
governance system for the Company, clearly establishing the roles of decision-making, supervision and execution of decisions
made. As a result, on March 20 and 28, 2018, the ENAP Board of Directors was fully replaced by application of Supreme Decrees
Nos. 51, 52 and 53.
Board compensation bears no relationship to the Company’s performance.
Key management personnel – The executive area’s gross remuneration, paid during the year 2018, amounts to ThUS$ 2,724 and
takes into account the executive positions of ENAP Group; the gross remuneration paid during the year 2017, amounted to ThUS$
2,973. The positions considered in the reported amounts are those executives who have authority and responsibility to plan, direct
and control the entity activities. The company has no accrued obligations for the Executives under the concept of long term
benefits.
Incentive plans for executives – ENAP has a Variable Remunerations System (VRS) that is applicable to all its executives, with
the sole exception of the General Manager, and at the end of each year it provisions an estimate of such disbursement during the
first quarter of the following year.
The purpose of this bonus plan is to encourage them to add value to the company, improve teamwork and individual performance.
The incentive factors considered in this model are the following:
-

The financial results obtained by the company.
The results per area, including the goals achieved for each management area.
Individual performance results.
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11. INVENTORIES
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 this item was composed as follows:

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Crude oil in inventories
Crude oil in transit
Finished products
Products in transit
Material in warehouse

282,719
61,561
480,652
42,746
64,322

365,851
64,383
492,122
39,833
76,796

Total

932,000

1,038,985

Detail:

As of December 31, 2018, the fair value hedging instruments impacts related to the hedged item (crude oil stock in inventory) are
recognized as part of the cost of the crude oil and finished products inventories, for ThUS$ 47,305 and ThUS$ 105,599
respectively.

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Additional Inventory Information
Inventory costs recognized as cost of sales during the year

(7,413,083)

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$
(5,328,924)

12. CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, DEFERRED TAX AND INCOME TAX BENEFITS
a) Current tax assets and liabilities: The detail As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

12.31.2018
ThUS$

Current tax assets:

12.31.2017
ThUS$

VAT fiscal credit
Recoverable tax, foreign
Specific tax on fuel
Customs duties
Monthly provisional payments, net
Recoverable taxes, other

143,530
9,700
2,716
2,620
1,421

193,766
13,895
1,237
1,423
4,015
3,397

Total

159,987

217,733
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12.31.2018
ThUS$

Current tax liabilities:

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Specific tax on fuel
Withholding taxes
Royalties and exploitation rights
Income tax payable
Other taxes

113,257
2,783
7,743
33,153
408

63,630
5,054
7,115
28,412
1,471

Total

157,344

105,682

b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities: The origin of the deferred taxes recorded As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as
follows:

Temporary differences:

12.31.2018
Assets
Liabilities
ThUS$
ThUS$

Related to tax loss carryforwards
Related to impairment
Related to net realizable value of inventories
Related to provisions
Related to property, plant and equipment
Related to right of use
Related to leasing liabilities
Related to reserves for derivatives hedges
Related to material accruals
Related to deferred expenses
Related to obligations for severance benefits
Related to others

1,101,809
111,636
36,778
84,595
61,854
28,503
487
9,418
4,096
6,534

Total

1,445,710

Financial statements presentation, is as follows:

150,766
27,742
97,331
828
-

913,883
92,939
51,904
43,972
19,071
22,431
-

116,705
43,457
85,929
1,998
7,627

276,667

1,144,200

255,716

12.31.2018
Assets
Liabilities
ThUS$
ThUS$

Presentation of deferred taxes in financial statements

1,192,951

Movements in deferred taxes:
Amount recognized in income of the year
Amount recognized in other comprehensive income
Amount recognized in retained earnings
Related to other
Changes in deferred taxes assets and liabilities
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12.31.2017
Assets
Liabilities
ThUS$
ThUS$

23,908

12.31.2017
Assets
Liabilities
ThUS$
ThUS$
911,340

22,856

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

317,713
(13,316)
(18,949)
(4,889)

142,295
594
(23,062)
4,123

280,559

123,950
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c) Current tax benefit (expenses)
All companies of the ENAP Group individually submit their tax returns, in compliance with the tax laws in their countries.
The current tax and deferred tax benefit (expense) for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is the following:

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

(Expense) benefit for income taxes:

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

(Expense) - current tax
Other (expense) for current taxes

(41,919)
-

(38,706)
(1,449)

(Expense) for current taxes, net, total

(41,919)

(40,155)

Deferred benefit for taxes related to the creation and reversal of temporary differences

317,713

142,295

Benefit for deferred taxes, net, total

317,713

142,295

Benefit for income taxes

275,794

102,140

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

(Expense) for income taxes by source

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

(Expense) for current taxes, net, foreign
(Expense) for current taxes, net, national

(19,457)
(22,462)

(10,565)
(29,590)

(Expense) for current taxes, net, total

(41,919)

(40,155)

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

(Expense) benefit for deferred taxes by source

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

(Expense) benefit for deferred taxes, net foreign
Benefit for deferred taxes, net, national

(8,427)
326,140

29,523
112,772

Benefit for deferred taxes, net, total

317,713

142,295
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d) Reconciliation of the income tax rate
The reconciliation from the statutory tax rate in Chile to the effective tax rate applicable to the ENAP Group is as follows:

(Expense) income for taxes using the legal rate
Tax effects of rates in other jurisdictions
Tax effect of ordinary income, not taxable
Tax effect of expenses, not deductible from taxes
Tax effect of changes in the tax rate
Tax decree Law N° 2398
Tax effect dividends without credit subsidiaries and associates
Other (decrease) increase in charge for legal taxes
Adjustment to tax expenses using the legal rate, total
Income tax benefit for the year

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$
126,693
14,957
4,492
(756)
172,783
(25,972)
(16,403)
149,101

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$
19,621
15,514
12,595
(2,082)
2,745
72,937
(23,384)
4,194
82,519

275,794

102,140

Additional information:
The legal rate used in Chile is 25% in 2018 and 2017. Tax rates for other jurisdictions are: Argentina, 30% in 2018 and 35% in
2017; Ecuador, 25% in 2018 and 22% in 2017; since the Uruguayan subsidiary is not operating in that country, it is subject to a
special regime without tax; Egypt, the joint operation agreement with EGPC grants a special regime without tax for ENAP.
ENAP Parent is subject, additionally, to a 40% rate corresponding to a single tax imposed on the companies of the Chilean State,
in accordance with Decree Law N° 2.398.
Tax Reform in Chile
On September 29, 2014, the law was published in the official gazette N ° 20,780 "tax reform that modifies income taxation system
and introduces different adjustments in the tax system".
Among these, a progressive increase in the rate of first category tax was introduced for the fiscal years 2014, 2015 and 2016,
increasing the rate to 21%, 22.5% and 24% respectively. From 2017 onwards, the increase in this tax rate will depend on the
regime chosen by the taxpayer, i.e., if the attributed income regime has been chosen, the rate will be 25% from 2017 onwards; and
if the partially integrated regime has been chosen, the rate will be 25.5% in 2017 and 27% from 2018 onwards.
Among the main changes, these laws specify, in Article 14, two systems of taxation: the attributed income system and the partially
integrated system. In the case of taxpayers that are corporations, these may only benefit from the partially integrated income
system mentioned above.
Among the main changes, these laws specify, in Article 14, two systems of taxation: the attributed income system and the partially
integrated system. In the case of taxpayers that are corporations, these may only benefit from the partially integrated income
system mentioned above. Similarly, through Circular No. 66 issued in 2015, the Internal Revenue Service instructed that of public
companies are excluded from the application of Article 14 due to the lack of a direct or indirect link with people who have the
quality of owners, community members, partners or shareholders and are taxed with final taxes, as all of their income is subject to
taxation under Article 2 of the DL No. 2,398. While, as a rule, public companies are required to determine their actual income
through full accounting, such obligation is for the sole purpose of determining the income subject to the First Category Tax, under
the rules contained in Title II of the Income Tax Law relating to such tax, whose rate in these cases is 25%.

39

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Regarding other increases (decreases) made to the legal tax rate, these are permanent differences for the year, arising mainly from
the accrued income in subsidiaries and related entities and associates, and to ENAP´s single tax rate mentioned above, in
accordance with Decree Law N° 2.398.
IRS Ruling No. 470 - dated March 5, 2018
Accumulated losses for tax purposes were adjusted as a result of Ruling No. 470 dated March 5, 2018 issued by the Chilean
Internal Revenue Service, which refers to the application of the 2014 new Tax System. This ruling confirmed that taxpayers that
are “state-run companies and their subsidiaries" are levied with taxation at the general rate of 25% set forth in Article 20 of the
Income Tax Law. The Group originally recorded deferred taxes at the 27% rate according to the semi-integrated system included
in the Tax Reform from September 2014, which is not applicable. Consequently, deferred tax assets for ThUS$ 23,062 related to
the subsidiaries ENAP Refinerías S.A. and Enercon S.A. were reduced increasing accumulated losses from prior years.
Tax Reform in Argentina
On December 29, 2017, Law No. 27,430 on Tax Reform was published in the Official Gazette of the Argentine Republic and
became effective the day after its publication. One of the main changes of the Tax Reform is the reduction of the income tax rate
levied on undistributed business profits from 35% to 25% as from January 1, 2020, with a transition scheme for fiscal years
starting from January 1, 2018 and up to and including December 31, 2019, in which the rate will be 30%.
13. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
Below is a description of the investments accounted for using the equity method and their movement as of December 31, 2018 and
2017:
a) Detail of the investments:

Companies
Main Activity
A&C Pipeline Holding
Investment and financing in general.
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.Exploration and exploitation projects related to oil, gas and derivatives.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Exploration and exploitation of geothermal energy.
Forenergy S.A.
Biodiesel production and comercialization.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Transport natural gas.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A. Transport natural gas.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Cayman) Ltd.
Investing and financing in general.
Geotermica del Norte S.A.
Exploration and exploitation of geothermal energy.
GNL Chile S.A.
Storage, processing and regasification capacities of liquid natural gas.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Operation and maintenance of a LNG regasification terminal.
Innergy Holding S.A.
Exploit and operate all kinds of transport networks of natural gas.
Norgas S.A.
Import, export and purchase of LPG and its sale.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A. Construction and exploitation of an oil pipeline between Argentina and
Chile.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Construction and exploitation of an oil pipeline between Argentina and
Chile.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Transport fuels and their derivatives.

b) Movement of investments:
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Country
Cayman I.
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Cayman I.
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina

Currency
USD
CLP
USD
CLP
USD
USD
USD
USD
USD
USD
USD
CLP
USD

Ownership
2018 2017
%
%
36.25 36.25
40.00 40.00
49.00 49.00
40.00 40.00
25.00 25.00
22.80 22.80
22.80 22.80
15.41 15.41
33.33 33.33
20.00 20.00
25.00 25.00
42.00 42.00
35.79 35.79

Chile

USD

35.83

35.83

Chile

CLP

10.06

10.06
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As of December 31, 2018

Companies
A&C Pipeline Holding
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Cayman) Ltd.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Total
As of December 31, 2017

Companies
A&C Pipeline Holding
Compañía Latinoamericana Petrolera S.A.
Empresa Nacional de Geotermia S.A.
Forenergy S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Chile) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Argentina) S.A.
Gasoducto del Pacífico (Cayman) Ltd.
Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
GNL Chile S.A.
GNL Quintero S.A.
Innergy Holding S.A.
Norgas S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Argentina) S.A.
Oleoducto Trasandino (Chile ) S.A.
Sociedad Nacional de Oleoducto S.A.
Total

Opening
balance
01.01.2018
ThUS$

Addition
ThUS$

152
255
1,338
27
2,872
9,770
1
75,330
4,654
9,712
8,730
2,164
2,484
5,930
11,741

-

135,160

-

Opening
balance
01.01.2017
ThUS$

Equity in
earnings
(loss)
ThUS$
-

Translation
Difference
ThUS$

Other
Increase
(Decrease)
ThUS$

Final
balance
12.31.2018
ThUS$

2,038
1,258
9,699
459
179
(302)
77
3,698

(1,513)
(9,196)
(421)
(3,410)

(228)
(1,641)

(1)
(1,770)
(2,250)
(71)
(369)
-

152
233
1,432
3,058
10,365
77,368
4,399
8,445
6,939
1,694
2,111
5,638
10,388

17,968

(14,540)

(1,898)

(4,468)

132,222

7
74
186
595

Addition
ThUS$

Dividends
received
ThUS$

Equity in
earnings
(loss)
ThUS$

Dividends
received
ThUS$

(29)

Translation
Difference
ThUS$

20
(27)
-

Other
Increase
(Decrease)
ThUS$

Final
balance
12.31.2017
ThUS$

152
243
1,518
239
2,578
8,025
1
73,543
5,956
6,529
5,646
1,835
2,479
2,106
10,782

-

(10)
(180)
294
1,745
5
836
1,298
7,146
3,084
168
5
533
3,773

(2,600)
(6,614)
(479)
(3,992)

(228)
(25)
1,178

2,651
186
3,770
-

152
255
1,338
27
2,872
9,770
1
75,330
4,654
9,712
8,730
2,164
2,484
5,930
11,741

121,632

-

18,697

(13,685)

947

7,569

135,160
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c) Additional information on investments accounted by the equity method:
Fair Value
None of the investments accounted by the equity method is traded publicly, so the fair value is not presented.
Interest below 20% in Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. and Geotermica del Norte S.A.
The ENAP Group exercises a significant influence over Sociedad Nacional de Oleoductos S.A. even though it holds less than
20%. The reason is the relatively important transactions between the investor and the investee. It also is involved in commercial
and financial decisions.
Regarding the investment in the company Geotérmica del Norte S.A., even though it holds less than 20%, the Group maintains one
director, out of a total of four and maintains significant influence.
Changes and/or modification in share in associates
- At December 31, 2018, Forenergy S.A. was in liquidation process.
- In the year ended December 31, 2017, in Geotérmica del Norte S.A. capital increases were made of ThUS$ 80,000, ENAP did
not participate in these contributions, reducing its equity interest to 15.41%.
d) Detail of financial information
The summary of the financial statements of the equity method investees is as follows:

Companies

Ownership
%

Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
Gnl Chile S.A.
Gnl Quintero S.A.
Sonacol S.A.
Other investments

15.41
33.33
20.00
10.06
-

Total

Companies

Ownership
%

Geotérmica del Norte S.A.
Gnl Chile S.A.
Gnl Quintero S.A.
Sonacol S.A.
Other investments
Total

15.41
33.33
20.00
10.06
-

Current
Assets
ThUS$

Non-current
Assets
ThUS$

As of December 31, 2018
Current
Non-current
Liabilities
Liabilities
ThUS$
ThUS$

Revenues
ThUS$

Income /
(Loss)
ThUS$

32,000
108,892
417,165
9,007
62,873

500,618
386
870,966
282,562
129,741

30,133
96,079
39,170
74,137
11,954

423
1,206,734
114,180
65,610

33,122
1,104,723
211,421
83,686
37,311

177
3,773
48,496
36,762
5,156

629,937

1,784,273

251,473

1,386,947

1,470,263

94,364

As of December 31, 2017
Current
Non-current
Liabilities
Liabilities
ThUS$
ThUS$

Revenues

Current
Assets
ThUS$

Non-current
Assets
ThUS$

ThUS$

Income /
(Loss)
ThUS$

69,092
115,907
352,336
8,534
81,279

446,221
242
899,672
306,222
109,647

26,068
102,185
35,759
67,180
17,498

415
1,167,692
130,884
51,719

12,718
1,059,970
196,260
80,932
35,204

5,421
3,895
35,731
37,501
22,035

627,148

1,762,004

248,690

1,350,710

1,385,084

104,583
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Changes in property, plant and equipment items As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented below:
Current year

Land
ThUS$

Buildings,
Net
ThUS$

Plant and
Equipment, Net
ThUS$

Installations
ThUS$

Works in
Progress
ThUS$

Initial balance as of January 1, 2018
Additions
Exploratory dry holes and exploratory campaigns
Withdrawals and write-offs
Impairments
Depreciation expenses
Geological studies and unabsorbed costs
Transfers
Other increases (decreases)
Change, Total

230,342
-

11,678
(1,309)
3,690
2,381

1,223,352
38,786
(20,214)
(231,336)
142,074
61,400
(9,290)

44,907
549
(964)
(8,321)
2,348
(6,388)

435,035
179,374
(25,286)
(159,814)
6,290
564

Ending balance as of December 31, 2018

230,342

14,059

1,214,062

38,519

Prior Year

Land
ThUS$

Buildings,
Net
ThUS$

Plant and
Equipment, Net
ThUS$

Installations
ThUS$

Investment in
Exploration &
Production
ThUS$

Others
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

1,250,806
348,326
(26,878)
(1,666)
(179,832)
(209,731)
(5,253)
(23,576)
4,883
(93,727)

44,552
7,521
(373)
(13,060)
35,278
3,282
32,648

3,240,672
574,556
(26,878)
(48,503)
(179,832)
(463,757)
(5,253)
75,855
(73,812)

435,599

1,157,079

77,200

3,166,860

Works in
Progress
ThUS$

Investment in
Exploration &
Production
ThUS$

Others
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Initial balance as of January 1, 2017
Additions
Exploratory dry holes and exploratory campaigns
Withdrawals and write-offs
Impairments
Depreciation expenses
Geological studies and unabsorbed costs
Transfers
Other increases (decreases)
Change, Total

230,342
-

11,593
(1,356)
1,441
85

1,313,078
21,607
(856)
(218,789)
96,819
11,493
(89,726)

48,381
(8,170)
4,696
(3,474)

326,887
207,828
(99,684)
4
108,148

1,166,774
428,252
(40,479)
(8,592)
(56,189)
(186,251)
(1,896)
(5,477)
(45,336)
84,032

40,584
13,610
(11,476)
2,205
(371)
3,968

3,137,639
671,297
(40,479)
(9,448)
(56,189)
(426,042)
(1,896)
(34,210)
103,033

Ending balance as of December 31, 2017

230,342

11,678

1,223,352

44,907

435,035

1,250,806

44,552

3,240,672

The balances of the items As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented below:
Property, Plant and Equipment, Gross
Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration and Production
Other
Total
Property, Plant and Equipment, Acumulated Depreciation
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Installations
Investment in Exploration and Production
Other
Total
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12.31.2018
ThUS$
230,342
75,702
3,599,332
120,630
445,825
4,468,353
197,094

12.31.2017
ThUS$
230,342
72,026
3,468,808
130,128
435,035
4,756,728
154,609

9,137,278

9,247,676

12.31.2018
ThUS$
61,643
2,395,496
82,111
3,311,274
119,894

12.31.2017
ThUS$
60,348
2,245,456
85,221
3,505,922
110,057

5,970,418

6,007,004
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Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Land
Buildings
Plant and Equipment
Installations
Works in Progress
Investment in Exploration and Production
Other
Total

12.31.2018
ThUS$
230,342
14,059
1,203,836
38,519
445,825
1,157,079
77,200

12.31.2017
ThUS$
230,342
11,678
1,223,352
44,907
435,035
1,250,806
44,552

3,166,860

3,240,672

No assets included in property, plant and equipment have been encumbered, whether by mortgage or as pledge.
Additional information
a) Works in progress: As of December 31, 2018, works in progress correspond mainly to construction of the co-generating
plant in the Aconcagua Refinery and maintenance of tanks and pipes.
b) Decommissioning, withdrawal or restoration costs: As part of its fixed asset costs the Group has included
decommissioning costs of platforms and oil fields.
c) Interest capitalization: The ENAP Group during the year ended December 31, 2018 has capitalized interest in the amount
of ThUS$ 9,945 from the financing used in the construction of the Aconcagua Refinery Cogeneration Plant and the PIAM Project
in Argentina (ThUS$ 11,162 for the year ended December 2017).
d) Insurance: The Group has insurance policies to cover any potential risks to property, plant and equipment, as well as any
potential claims that could be filed in connection with their use. These insurance policies are sufficient to cover any pertinent risks.
Additionally, the loss that might occur as a consequence of business interruption is covered.
e) Depreciation expense: The charge to income for depreciation included in cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative
expenses is as follows:
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

ThUS$

In cost of sales
In distribution cost
In administrative expenses

452,744
9,747
1,266

411,458
13,553
1,031

Total

463,757

426,042

f)

Asset impairment: See Note 17.

g) Other increases (decreases): As of December 31, 2018, a reversal of the provision for obsolescence of capitalizable spare
parts for ThUS$ 58,700 is included, in accordance with IAS 16. As of December 31, 2017, the reclassification of catalysts from
the item "Other non-current financial assets", as well as the reclassification to "Non-current assets classified as held for sale" of
investments of the subsidiary Sipetrol Argentina in the Pampa del Gastillo-La Guitarra oilfields, were mainly included.
h) Investment in exploration and production through joint operations and operating contracts
The following is a detail of the investments in E&P through joint operations which are part of the Investment in the E&P item of
property, plant and equipment of the Group:
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Operaciones Conjuntos

Ownership
percentage
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
%
%

a. Explotation
Área Magallanes (*)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido
Cam 2A Sur (*)
East Rast Qattara (*)
Petrofaro S.A. (*)

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.50
50.00

50.00
50.00
50.00
50.50
50.00

b. Exploration
Bloque 2 - Rommana

40.00

40.00

Total

Net amount of the
investment, before

Less: Cumulative

Net amount of the
investment in

impairment losses
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

impairment losses
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

joint operations
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

420,642
69,249
109
24,327
3,728
518,055

365,835
87,374
119
22,037
2,567
8,447
486,379

29,032
18,392
1,719

42,700
-

-

8,447

49,143

51,147

391,610
50,857
109
24,327
2,009
468,912

365,835
44,674
119
22,037
2,567
435,232

Additionally, at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the subsidiaries of Enap Sipetrol SA, the subsidiaries of Enap Sipetrol SA, in
Argentina and Ecuador, operate the following businesses associated with oilfield development and exploitation contracts, which
are recorded as follows:

Other Business

Pampa Del Castillo (*)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito
Mauro Dávalos Cordero
Intracampos
El Turbio Este

Ownership percentage
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
%
%
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

Total

Net amount of the
investment, before
impairment losses
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Less: Cumulative
impairment losses
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Net amount of the
investment in joint
operations
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

27,618
105,754
62,967
3,263

28,799
92,874
49,031
2,057

-

-

27,618
105,754
62,967
3,263

28,799
92,874
49,031
2,057

199,602

172,761

-

-

199,602

172,761

(*) Note 18 and 19 explain and provide the status of each of these projects.
15. AVAILABLE – FOR – SALE ASSETS
As of December 31, 2018, there are no assets available for sale; as of December 31, 2017, ThUS$ 40,991 is presented,
corresponding to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. which was sold on July 24, 2018, 95% of its interest in the Pampa del Castillo
block, a deposit that had been operating since 2001, to the Argentine company CAPEX S.A. Operation in which the Argentinean
company acquired almost the entire Exploitation Concession for a price of US$ 33 million.
16. RIGHTS-OF-USE AND LEASE OBLIGATIONS
The Group has early adopted, from January 1, 2017, IFRS 16 "Leases" opting for the measurement of assets equal to liabilities for
lease and determined the incremental interest, according to the lease term and the nature of the right of use asset. The right of use
asset recorded at the date of initial application triggers depreciation expenses through the shortest of the period of the contract or
the useful life of the asset.
a) Right of use assets - on December 31, 2018, the movement of the right-of-use assets under IFRS 16, is as follows
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Land
Operation
Contracts
ThUS$

Shipping
operation
contracts
ThUS$

Air Operation
Contracts
ThUS$

Buildings
ThUS$

Others
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Net balance as of 01.01.2018
Amortization of the year
Additions

22,627
(4,697)
-

75,406
(29,058)
10,586

9,090
(1,643)
-

14,542
(1,616)
-

7,651
(6,085)

129,316
(43,099)
10,586

Final balance as of December 31, 2018

17,930

56,934

7,447

12,926

1,566

96,803

Air Operation
Contracts
ThUS$

Buildings
ThUS$

Others
ThUS$

Land
Operation
Contracts
ThUS$

Shipping
operation
contracts
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Net balance as of 01.01.2017
Amortization of the year
Additions

24,843
(4,697)
2,481

39,800
(27,140)
62,746

10,733
(1,643)
-

(135)
14,677

13,734
(6,084)
1

89,110
(39,699)
79,905

Final balance as of December 31, 2017

22,627

75,406

9,090

14,542

7,651

129,316

b) Leases liabilities: The following is a breakdown of expiration of lease liabilities:

As of December 31, 2018
Leases associated with
Land Operation Contracts
Shipping operation contracts
Air Operation Contracts
Buildings Contracts
Other
Total
As of December 31, 2017
Leases associated with
Land Operation Contracts
Shipping operation contracts
Air Operation Contracts
Buildings Contracts
Other
Total

Current
Total
ThUS$
4,595
28,017
1,589
1,502
1,604

+ 1 to 3 year
ThUS$
2,770
22,627
3,373
3,115
-

37,307

31,885

Current
Total
ThUS$
4,406
28,622
1,528
1,467
6,155

+ 1 to 3 year
ThUS$
6,157
37,988
3,242
3,041
1,604

42,178

52,032

Non - current
+ 3 to 5 year
+ 5 year
ThUS$
ThUS$
2,133
9,172
7,690
2,775
3,268
5,205
15,866

Total
ThUS$
14,075
30,317
6,148
11,588
-

14,377

62,128

Non - current
+ 3 to 5 year
+ 5 year
ThUS$
ThUS$
2,250
10,263
9,761
3,459
1,036
3,190
6,858
-

Total
ThUS$
18,670
47,749
7,737
13,089
1,604

18,660

18,157

88,849

As of December 3!, 2018, the liquidity risk associated with these maturities is covered with the operational flow of the company.
The company has no restrictions associated with leases.
ENAP group holds certain agreements, which contain renewal options and for which there is reasonable certainty that such option
would be exercised (either indefinitely or for a fixed period), the lease period used for measuring the liability and corresponding
asset correspond to the contract term plus the period over which the renewal option is considered reasonable certain of being
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exercised, unless the useful life of the asset involved is shorter, in which case the useful life of the asset is considered to be the
term of the contract.
There are no conventions incorporated into lease agreements to be fulfilled by the company through the life of these contracts.
The company does not have any other cash flow that is exposed with regard to previously reported lease liabilities.
The following table shows the continuity of the period of our lease liabilities and cash flows:
Balance and cash flows for
the year ended
12.31.2018
Leasing liabilities
Opening net balance
Liabilities incurred
Interest expense
Principal payments
Interest payments
Final net balance
Total cash outflow

12.31.2017

ThUS$
131,027
10,586
4,051
(42,178)
(4,051)

ThUS$
89,110
79,904
4,168
(37,987)
(4,168)

99,435

131,027

(42,178)

(37,987)

17. IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND PROVISIONS
i)

Asset impairment

On December 31, 2018, the measurement of the recoverable value of the assets of the E&P business line portfolio through the
"value in use" method determined an impairment adjustment for Enap Magallanes of ThUS$ 150,800 and for Área Magallanes
(Argentina) of ThUS$ 29,032 (See Note 31); the discount rates used in the current estimates correspond to 6.4% for Enap
Magallanes and 9.4% for Área Magallanes (Argentina). The main events and circumstances that have led to the recognition of
these impairment losses are due to an increase in the supply of natural gas in Argentina from price incentives granted by the
government to enhance the development of unconventional gas reserves, this resulted in a drop in market prices in that country,
and recovery expectations, which under current market conditions, are not expected in the medium term. In addition, following the
decision of the Argentinean government to reopen natural gas exports, ENAP Magallanes ceased to be the only supplier of natural
gas in Chile as of October 2018. Considering the foregoing, the investments projected for 2019 and subsequent years were reassessed, as well as the level of drilling of wells, considerations of the development of a relevant area for the potential business in
unconventional gas, estimation of long-term prices for the sale of companies and residences, and the effects of changes in the
context of the players that participate in the development of the industry. The estimate is based on investment flows up to 2030
and thereafter a projection of the last flow is made for 20 years which covers approximately the existing reserves.
As of December 31, 2017, the measurement of the recoverable value of the assets of the E&P business line portfolio through the
"value in use" method determined an impairment adjustment for Pampa del Castillo for ThUS$ 34,413 and Campamento Central
Cañadon Perdido for ThUS$ 21,776.
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ii) Abandonment of dry exploratory wells with no commercially exploitable reserves
Exploration and Production Investments within property, plant and equipment, shows decreases due to the abandonment of dry
exploratory wells with no commercially exploitable reserves. They are itemized below:
Accumulated
01.01.2018
01.01.2017
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Exploratory dry holes and exploratory campaigns
Abandonment of tanks, environmental remediation and others

26,878
14,172

40,479
-

Total result for exploratory campaigns and dry holes

41,050

40,479

The charges mentioned above are included in the statements of comprehensive income under the section “other expenses by
function.”
18. PARTICIPATION IN JOINT OPERATION
Detail of the main joint exploitation and exploration operations through which revenues are obtained and expenses are incurred, is
presented below. The assets and liabilities of each of the joint operations are detailed below at December 31, 2018 and 2017:
Joint operations

Current assets
in joint operations
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Non-current assets
in joint operations

12.31.2017
ThUS$

12.31.2018
ThUS$

Current liabilities
in joint operations

12.31.2017
ThUS$

12.31.2018
ThUS$

Non-current liabilities
in joint operations

12.31.2017
ThUS$

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

a. Exploitation
Área Magallanes (a)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (b)
Cam 2A Sur (c)
East Rast Qattara (d)
Petrofaro ( e)

54,702
11,173
165
56,202
8,156

92,235
37,485
44
41,519
10,480

403,509
54,524
224
24,331
4,103

371,585
47,541
134
22,066
2,858

181,361
2,199
4,962
3,581

236,999
35,443
5,556
2,291
6,135

233,319
45,498
7,026
7,953

196,747
13,623
11,527
1,664

13
-

19
-

25
-

(78)
-

181
-

(107)
4
229

190
-

(96)
-

130,411

181,782

486,716

444,106

192,284

286,550

293,986

223,465

b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (a)
Bloque 2 - Rommana
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman
Total

The amounts specified below detail the ordinary revenue, costs of sales and net income (loss) of each of the joint operations at
December 31, 2018 and 2017:
Joint operations
a. Exploitation
Área Magallanes (a)
Campamento Central Cañadón Perdido (b)
Cam 2A Sur (c)
East Rast Qattara (d)
Petrofaro ( e)
b. Exploration
E2 (ex CAM3 y CAM1) (a)
Bloque 2 - Rommana
Bloque 8 - Sidi Abd El Rahman
Consorcio Bloque 28
Total

Ordinary Revenue
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Cost of sales
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

162,009
34,365
70,319
1,789

90,622
48,715
58,859
-

472

523

(164)
-

268,954

198,719

161,628
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112,839
28,199
716
18,229
1,809

82,716
68,551
(64)
15,499
-

Net income (loss)
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$
(18,509)
(815)
1,706
51,092
1,831

605
(14,183)
(632)
42,347
-

321
-

(68)
-

(196)
(126)
-

167,023

35,237

27,815
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a) Exploitation
(a) Magallanes area
On January 4, 1991, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. entered into a Temporary Company Union (joint operation)
contract, for hydrocarbon development and drilling activities in the Magallanes Block Area, located in the eastern mouth of the
Magallanes Strait, Argentina.
On November 17, 2014, the Company, represented by its General Manager and by YPF’s president and CEO, signed a private
agreement that extends the relationship between both companies until November 14, 2027, with the possibility of a new extension
until the year 2042. This agreement allows extending the depreciation period of the proven reserves. As a result of this agreement,
the depreciation of the proven reserves is extended by the new term of the agreement.
ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A., as operator of this contract, is responsible for performing all operations and activities in this area.
(b) Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido
In December 2000, ENAP Sipetrol S.A. (later ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A.) signed an agreement with YPF S.A. whereby the
latter assigns and transfers to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. 50% of the concession that YPF S.A. holds for exploiting
hydrocarbons in the areas known as Campamento Central - Cañadón Perdido in the province of Chubut, Argentina, which is
subject to Law 24,145 and its regulations. YPF S.A. operates this concession.
On December 26, 2013, YPF S.A. and Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. obtained from the province of Chubut the extension of this
exploitation concession for an additional period of 10 years until 2027, which may be extended for an additional period of 20
years, until 14 November 2047.
(c) Cam 2A Sur
A regulatory decision 14 dated January 29, 1999, awarded YPF and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. the right to explore the area
known as CAM 2A Sur. On October 7, 2002, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. entered into a Temporary Company
Union (joint operation) in the Tierra del Fuego Province.
The exploitation concession’s term is 25 years (expires in 2028), which can be extended for an additional period of 10 years.
(d) East Rast Qattara - Egypt
As part of the bidding process opened in 2002 by the Egyptian General Petroleum Company (EGPC) for tenders to be submitted
for various blocks in the Western Desert, the East Rast Qattara block was awarded to the subsidiary Sipetrol International S.A.,
together with the Australian company Oil Search Ltd., on April 16, 2003.
The contract was signed on March 30, 2004 in the presence of the Egyptian Oil Ministry, with an ownership interest of 50.5% for
Sipetrol International S.A., Egyptian branch, as the operator, and 49.5% for Oil Search Ltd. In December 2007 the exploitation
stage started, which has a term of 20 years, with possible extension.
(e) Petrofaro - Faro Vírgenes Area
On May 19, 2016, the subsidiary, Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. acquired Arpetrol International Financial Company, parent
company and controller of 100% of the shares of Petrofaro S.A. (Ex Arpetrol Argentina S.A.), which is the owner of the CA-11
Área Faro Vírgenes, in the Austral basin concession, granted by the province of Santa Cruz until 2026. The gas treatment plant
Faro Virgenes is located within the concession, forming part of the PIAM, located next to the reservoir Area Magallanes project
and pipeline General San Martín.
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On January 12, 2017 Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. transferred to YPF S.A. 50% of the shares of that company for US$5.4 million,
obtaining joint control of the company acquired from this date.
b) Exploration
(a) E2 (Ex CAM 3 y CAM 1) - Argentina
The CAM-1 (Cuenca Austral Marina 1) area was awarded on September 4, 2003 to ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and RepsolYPF S.A.. The area is located in the Atlantic Ocean in southern Argentina and is adjacent to other concessions where ENAP
Sipetrol Argentina S.A. is currently exploring and producing hydrocarbons.
On September 26, 2006, ENARSA, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. and YPF S.A. signed a joint operation agreement, whereby the
parties agreed to enter into a Temporary Company Union with each party holding a 33.33% interest. ENARSA, as the owner of
CAM 1 (hereinafter E2), contributed this block, and ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A., jointly with YPF S.A., contributed the CAM 3
block. ENAP Sipetrol and Repsol YPF expressly reverted CAM-3 to the Energy Secretariat, so that the latter could then award it
to the new consortium.
Within the framework of the agreement signed, the Energy Secretariat accepted the transfer of the CAM-3 area to ENARSA,
which, together with the former CAM-1 area, now make up the E2 area that is the subject of the agreement.
On March 31, 2008, the parties signed the E2 Area Hydrocarbon Exploration and Exploitation Temporary Company Union (joint
operation), with the purpose of regulating the rights and obligations of ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A., YPF S.A. and Energía
Argentina S.A. (ENARSA) as partners and co-participants in exploring and exploiting the E2 area. The exploration permit finishes
in 2018, which can be extended for an additional period of 5 years, until September 25, 2023.
(b) Consorcio Bloque 28
On April 16, 2014, EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A. (42%), Petroamazonas (51%) y Belorusneft (7%), hereon the Block 28
Consortium, and the Ministry of Oil of Ecuador, subscribed to service contract for the exploration and exploitation of
hydrocarbons (crude oil) at Block 28, located in the central west part of eastern Ecuador which is in the sector called Zona
Subandina (foothill) and which comprises the provinces of Napo and Pastaza which extends over an area of 1,750 km2. EOP
Operaciones Petroleras S.A. is the Consortium Operator.
For the exploratory phase a minimum investment was agreed upon and this consisted of 2 phases ((US$17.35 and US$8.15
million), the risk of this investment to be borne exclusively by the private partners of the Consortium (Enap: 85.71% and
Belorusneft: 14.29%), with an option to cancel their participation depending on the results of each phase. In the event of success at
the exploratory stage, in the first years of the development stage Petroamazonas must pay the partners the portion taken on b y
them in the exploratory stage by means of the production percentage rights of the Block. The negotiated fee amounts to US$ 52.9
/ barrel.
The minimum investment commitment includes all of the geoscience studies, environmental studies, permits, licensing, civil
works, as well as the perforation in the Prospecto Mirador. At this date the geoscience studies are ongoing, as well as
environmental studies prior to obtaining the environmental license.
c)

Agreements of ENAP in Chile – CEOP (Special Operation Contract):

In addition to the participation of Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. in exploration and exploitation operations, ENAP in Chile, in the
Magallanes area, developed in conjunction with private companies Special Contracts of Oil Operation (CEOP), operations which
are detailed below.
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Dorado Riquelme Block:
On August 26 2009, the Special Operations Contract was signed for the exploration and exploitation of the Bloque Dorado
Riquelme hydrocarbon reservoirs, between the government of Chile and Methanex Chile S.A. and the Empresa Nacional del
Petróleo (ENAP). The Joint Operating Agreement between the parties involved in the block operation was endorsed, with 50%
participation from Methanex and 50% from ENAP, the latter operating the concession.
At a meeting on July 23, 2014 it was decided not to continue with the exploration stage, thus continuing with the block’s
exploitation stage only.
In January 2018, the drilling equipment was moved to the location of the Cahuil 2 Ex D well, starting drilling on January 31st and
ending on March 17th. The equipment is moved to the location of the Cahuil 3 Ex B well, starting drilling on March 25, ending on
May 4. Between the months of January and March, the location for the drilling equipment in the location of the Cahuil F well was
built, initiating the drilling of the Cahuil 4 Ex F well, ending on June 25, 2018.
During June 2018 the Environmental Impact Statements were approved to carry out hydraulic fracturing and construct flow lines
in the wells: Cahuil B, Cahuil D, Cahuil E and Cahuil F.
Hydraulic fracturing has been performed in the Cahuil 2 Ex D, 3 Ex B and 4 Ex F wells.
As of December 31, 2018, the construction of the Cahuil Flow Plant = 95 %, construction of Cahuil Flow Line 4 to Cahuil Central
= 100 %; Cahuil Well 2 (ex D) in production since 10/12/2018; Cahuil Well 3 (ex B) in production since 29/12/2018; Cahuil Well
4 (ex F) in production since 06/11/2018.
At the end of December 2018, the accumulated investment in the Dorado Riquelme Block was ThUS$ 315,000.
Lenga Block:
On July 28, 2008 the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon reservoir, Lenga
block, was signed between the government of Chile and the companies Apache Chile Energía Spa and the Empresa Nacional del
Petróleo (ENAP). On June 15, 2009, the Joint Operating Agreement was signed between the parties partaking in the Block with a
50% participation of ENAP and 50% from Apache Chile Energía Spa, the latter operating the concession. At the end of 2011,
Apache Chile Energía SpA transferred its interest in the CEOP for the Lenga Block to Methanex, and the transfer the role of
Concession Operator in the CEOP for the Lenga Block, from Apache Chile Energía SpA to ENAP. These were then approved by
the Ministry of Energy and General Comptroller of the Republic of Chile.
At the end of 2014 a letter was sent to the Minister of Energy communicating the contractor’s decision to terminate the agreement
with the State and return the oil field exploitation area of the CEOP Lenga Block, which was accepted on January 8, 2015, thus
terminating the agreement.
There is no activity in the year 2018.
Coirón Block
On July 28, 2008, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the hydrocarbon reserve Coirón
Block was signed between the government of Chile and the companies Pan American Energy Chile Limitada and ENAP.
Subsequently, on November 10, 2008, the Joint Operating Agreement was signed between the parties involved in the block
operation with a 50% participation from ENAP and 50% from Pan American Energy Chile Ltda., the latter being the concession
operator.
On September 14, 2015 ENAP transferred part of its interests in the CEOP to Conocophillips South America Ventures LTD.
(Conocophillips), with the interests of the participants remaining as follows a) PAE, 50%; b) ENAP, 45%; and c) Conocophillips,
5%. Then, on September 17, 2015 ENAP acquired the total interest of PAE in the CEOP, with the current interests of the
participants remaining as follows a) ENAP, 95%; and b) Conocophillips, 5%.
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Finally, in the context of the assignment contracts, ENAP ceded 44% of the Contractor's rights, interests and obligations to COP
Chile, which was approved by the Ministry of Energy and the Taking of Reason by the General Comptroller of the Republic
(November 17, 2016). After this process, the participation of the partners was as follows: ENAP 51% and COP Chile 49%.
On December 13, 2016, both partners signed the Joint Operating Agreement (JOA) for the Coirón Block operation. The CEOP
Coirón Block includes a maximum term of 35 years, counted from the date of its entry into force.
As of December 31, 2018 no operational activities in the block have been conducted.
Flamenco Block
On November 7, 2012 the Special Operations Contracts (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Flamenco Block
hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark (Concession Operator) and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo
(ENAP), both with a 50% interest. Afterwards, as of December 3, 2012, the Joint Operating Agreement (JOA) was signed between
both parties in order to operate the Block.
In October 2015, the Geopark Operator proposed CEOP to pass to the second exploratory stage. ENAP decided not to pass to that
stage, given the results of the drilled wells. During November, Geopark sent a letter to the Ministry of Energy indicating the
moving on to the second exploratory stage as well as the ENAP’s decision.
On April 30 was closed the well Chercán X-1.
As of December 2018, no operational activities have been conducted in the block, nor have new investments been made in the
block.
Isla Norte Block
On November 7, 2012 the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Isla Norte Block
hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark TdF (Concession Operator) with a 60% interest and the Empresa
Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with a 40% interest. Afterwards, on December 3, 2012; the Joint Operating Agreement (JOA) was
subscribed between both parties in order to operate the Block.
ENAP’s investment in this phase amounts to US$ 1.3 million. In August 2015, the Ministry of Energy accepted the Consortium’s
request with regard to extending the first exploratory period for 18 months, in order to complete the block’s studies.
As of December 2018, no operational activities have been conducted in the block, nor have new investments been made in the
block.
Campanario Block
On January 9, 2013, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Campanario Block
hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, Geopark TdF(Concession Operator) with a 50% interest and the Empresa
Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with the remaining 50% interest.
ENAP’s investment in this stage is US$ 2.9 million. In August 2015, the Ministry of Energy accepted the request of the
Consortium regarding the extension of the first exploratory period for a 18-month term, in order to complete the block studies.
Currently, the Operator is working on updating the geological and geophysical models that will allow to more accurately define
the new well proposals.
December 2016 Coordination Committee, presented the 2017 working plan where studies planned for 2016 will be completed and
will continue with the analysis of the existing information. This is being done in order to evaluate new prospects in Terciario,
Tobifera and Springhill. As of June 31, 2018, no operational activities have conducted in the block, nor have new investments
been made in the block.
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San Sebastián Block
As of January 4, 2013, the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the San Sebastián Block
hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile,YPF Tierra del Fuego (Operator) with a 40% interest; Wintershall with a 10%
interest and the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with the remaining 50%.
In this CEOP, the partner bears 100% of the investment during the first exploratory period.
During December 2015, the status of the project up-to-date and the consortium move to the following period were reviewed.
Wintershall and ENAP decided not to move on to the following stage.
To date, ENAP is in the process of block exit.
Marazzi – Lago Mercedes Block
On January 7, 2013 the Special Operations Contract (CEOP) for the exploration and exploitation of the Marazzi – Lago Mercedes
Block hydrocarbon field was signed by the State of Chile, YPF Tierra del Fuego (Concession Operator) with a 50% interest and
the Empresa Nacional del Petróleo (ENAP) with the remaining 50%.
In this CEOP, the partner bears 100% of the investment during the first exploratory period.
During December 2015, the status of the project up-to-date and the consortium move to the following stage were reviewed. YPF
and ENAP decided not to move on to the following stage. The area is currently in the process of reverting to the State. There is no
activity in the year 2018.
19. OTHER BUSINESS
The following is a detail of the information as of and for the year ended 2018 and 2017 of the financial statements of the Other
Businesses, which are part of the Investment in the E&P item of property, plant and equipment of the Group:

Projects

Current assets
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Pampa Del Castillo (a)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (b)

ThUS$

Non-current assets
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

ThUS$

Current liabilities
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

ThUS$

Non-current liabilities
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

8,994

39,460
10,404

39,546

34,775

35,430

21,052
34,522

934

Mauro Dávalos Cordero (b)
El Turbio Este

39,026
1,484

45,143
1,664

171,591
2,191

150,887
2,057

153,733
3,637

149,790
2,057

4,052
1,377

Total

49,504

96,671

213,328

187,719

192,800

207,421

6,363

Projects

Ordinary Revenue
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Pampa Del Castillo (a)
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (b)
Mauro Dávalos Cordero (b)

El Turbio Este
Octans Pegaso
Total

ThUS$

Ordinary Cost
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

ThUS$

Net Income (loss)
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$

ThUS$

64,445
61,220
92,641
1,014
-

51,837
54,001
69,428
-

49,586
26,817
39,083
45
864

60,172
31,086
29,888
-

(50)
24,037
33,923
(430)
(1,399)

(31,803)
16,538
29,355
-

219,320

175,266

116,395

121,146

56,081

14,090
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The main operations for exploitation activities are detailed next.
a) Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra
On September 25, 2001, Pecom Energía S.A. assigned to Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. 100% of the rights to the exploitation
concession of the hydrocarbon area referred to as Pampa del Castillo - La Guitarra, located in the province of Chubut, Argentina.
On May 15, 2015, the extension of the Concession for 10 more years was announced, with an additional extension option of 20
years.
On July 24, 2018, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina sold 95% of its interest ownership in Pampa del Castillo block, an oilfield that had
been operating since 2001, to the Argentine company CAPEX S.A. In this transaction the Argentine company will acquire almost
the entire Exploitation Concession for US$ 33 million.
b) Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito y Mauro Dávalos Cordero e Intracampos
On October 7, 2002, a contract was signed with Empresa de Petróleos del Ecuador - PETROECUADOR and its subsidiary
Empresa Estatal de Exploración y Producción de Petróleos del Ecuador - Petroproducción, to exploit and develop the oilfields
Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito (PBH) and Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC), located in the eastern Ecuador basin. By means of this
specific service contract, the Company committed to make investments in the development of these fields for an amount estimated
in US$90 million, which include drilling 16 wells (9 in PBH and 7 in MDC), the construction of a production station in MDC, the
adaptation of facilities and a camp. At the same time, it acquired the exploration and operations rights, assuming 100% of the
operation and management costs of the fields.
On August 8, 2006, the MDC field contract with PETROECUADOR was modified, and ENAP SIPEC agreed to increase the
investment program to include the drilling of 7 wells and expansion of production facilities. These new wells will certify
additional reserves, increasing current reserves from 31.6 to 57.0 million barrels of crude oil.
These contracts stipulated that ENAP Sipetrol S.A. could exploit a maximum of 57 million barrels in MDC and 20.1 million
barrels in PBH.
On July 27, 2010, the Reform to the Hydrocarbon Law and the Internal Taxation Law was enacted in Ecuador. The first transitory
provision provides that existing contracts, including for MDC and PBH, had to be amended within 180 days and the reformed
model had to be adopted for hydrocarbon exploration and exploitation services contained in Article 16 of the Hydrocarbon Law.
According to the aforesaid first Transitory Provision, ENAP Sipetrol S.A. began the renegotiation of the MDC and PBH contracts,
which concluded on November 23, 2010 with the signature of two amendments to the Service Contracts for the Exploration and
Exploitation of Hydrocarbons (crude oil) in the Mauro Dávalos Cordero (MDC) Block and Paraíso, Biguno, Huachito and
Intracampos (PBHI) Block in the Ecuadorian Amazon Region.
According to governing law, those amendments were registered with the Department of Hydrocarbons on December 15, 2010.
The effective date of the amendment was January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the terms of the contracts signed on October 7, 2002
were in effect through December 31, 2010. The terms of the amendments governed became effective on January 1, 2011,
effective for 15 years.
On April 2015, the Company signed two contracts with the Government of Ecuador. The first contract corresponds to an extension
of the effectiveness of Bloque Paraíso Biguno Huachito e Intracampos (PBHI) until 2034, granted by the Ecuadorian Government.
The second contract, signed in the form of Consortium, composed by ENAP SIPEC, the Ecuadorian state oil company
Petroamazonas and Belorusneft, grants ENAP SIPEC the right to perform exploratory activities as operator sequentially, that is, to
gradually commit more investments according to the results as they are obtained.
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c)

El Turbio Este

On September 5, 2017 by means of Decree 0774/2017, the Government of the Province of Santa Cruz awarded the Exploration
Permit for the “El Turbio Este” area to Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
As it was established in the "Participation and Bid Group Agreement" signed with ConocoPhillips South America Ventures Ltd.,
the transfer of 50% of the ownership in the exploration permit and the investment commitments, and a joint operating agreement
to carry out the exploratory activities associated with the area are being negotiated.
The extension of the approval of the assignment in accordance with the provisions in art. 72 of the Hydrocarbons Law No. 17,319,
is in process before the Application Authority (Energy Institute of Santa Cruz).
Likewise, the Unión Transitoria de Empresas contract (UTE, similar to a joint venture) entered into between this company and
Conoco-phillips South America Ventures Ltd was registered with the General Inspection of Justice to jointly conduct the
exploratory activities committed to in the Exploration Permit for the area.
20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
The detail is as follows:
12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Opening balance
Depreciation expense

7,370
(91)

7,461
(91)

Final Balance

7,279

7,370

Investment properties of the ENAP Group are mainly land and properties held for operating leasing. The company has selected the
cost method of accounting to measure its investment property after the initial recognition. The depreciation method in use is the
straight-line method and the useful life period assigned to such items ranges between 10 and 20 years.
21. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Details of the ENAP Group’s financial liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows:
As of December 31, 2018

Item

Financial liabilities
classified as held for
trading
ThUS$

Financial liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
ThUS$

Hedging financial
derivatives
ThUS$

Total other
financial liabilities
ThUS$

Other current financial liabilities
Current lease liabilities (Note 16)
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies

-

991,317
37,307
811,497
18,665

46,003
-

1,037,320
37,307
811,497
18,665

Total current financial liabilities

-

1,858,786

46,003

1,904,789

Other non-current financial liabilities
Non current lease Liabilities (Note 16)
Other accounts payable, non-current

-

3,664,277
62,128
132

25,451
-

3,689,728
62,128
132

Total non-current financial liabilities

-

3,726,537

25,451

3,751,988
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As of December 31, 2017

Item

Financial liabilities
classified as held for
trading
ThUS$

Financial liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
ThUS$

Hedging financial
derivatives
ThUS$

Total other
financial liabilities
ThUS$

Other current financial liabilities
Current lease liabilities (Note 16)
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Due to related companies

-

882,194
42,178
866,214
20,082

78,016
-

960,210
42,178
866,214
20,082

Total current financial liabilities

-

1,810,668

78,016

1,888,684

Other non-current financial liabilities
Non current lease Liabilities (Note 16)
Other accounts payable, non-current

-

3,556,544
88,849
756

1,808
-

3,558,352
88,849
756

Total non-current financial liabilities

-

3,646,149

1,808

3,647,957

a) Hedging derivatives
The ENAP Group, in compliance with financial risk management policy described in Note 4, acquires financial derivatives to
cover its exposure to the interest rate variations, currency (exchange rate) and commodities (crude oil and imported products).
The interest rate derivatives are used to fix or limit the variable interest rate of the financial obligations and are interest rate swaps.
The currency derivatives are used to fix the exchange rate for the US dollars in comparison to the Chilean peso (CLP) and Unidad
de Fomento (UF), due to investments or existing obligations in currencies other than the US dollar. These instruments are mainly
in Forwards and Cross Currency Swaps.
Crude oil derivatives are intended to hedge against a negative variation in the price of crude oil shipments from the moment of
purchase until the sale of the products refined from that crude oil. The derivative instruments are time spread swaps.
i) Presentation of assets and liabilities
The detail of the hedging instruments, considering the nature of the operations, is as follows:

Derivative assets
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Margin call guarantees
Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Margin call guarantees
Time spread swap hedging
Fair value hedge
Total

12.31.2018
Current
Non-Current
ThUS$
ThUS$
8,850
119,059
127,909
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Current
ThUS$

12.31.2017
Non-Current
ThUS$

8,496
-

-

-

(1,950)
1,950

-

953

-

-

-

953

8,496
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12.31.2018
Current
Non-Current
ThUS$
ThUS$

Derivative liabilities
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Margin call guarantees
Swap differential (WTI / Brent)
Cash flow hedge
Time spread swap hedging
Cash flow hedge
Fair value hedge
Total

Current
ThUS$

12.31.2017
Non-Current
ThUS$

45,659

25,005

31,843

1,808

-

-

1,675
(1,675)

3,972
(3,972)

354

-

-

-

-

-

46,173
-

-

46,013

25,005

78,016

1,808

ii) Fair value of hedging derivatives
The detail of the hedging instruments portfolio of ENAP is as follows:
Detail of
hedge instruments

Cross-Currency Swap
SWAP
TSS
SDI
Forward

Description of
hedge instruments

Exchange rate and interest rate
Interest rate swap
Time spread swap
Differential WTI -Brent
Exchange rate

Description of instruments
against which is hedged

Obligations (bonds)
Bank loans
Inventories
Inventories
Trade receivables

Total

Fair value of the instruments
under which the hedge is held
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$
(62,168)
119,059
(354)
8,850

(17,720)
953
(46,173)
(15,931)

65,387

(78,871)

iii) Effect in net income of hedging derivatives
The amounts recorded in comprehensive income as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 that were transferred from net equity to the
income statement during the year were as follows:
Accumulated

Debits recognized in Other comprehensive income during the year
(Credits) to results during the year
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01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

8,799

14,392

(116,171)

(740)
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iv) Other data on financial instruments
The maturities of hedges are detailed below:
As of December 31, 2018

Financial derivatives
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Total

Notional
Fair
Value
ThUS$
(53,318)
(53,318)

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024
onwards

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

1,085,000
1,085,000

-

192,000

-

-

256,175

303,706

-

-

-

-

303,706

192,000

-

-

256,175

Total
ThUS$
1,533,175
303,706
1,836,881

Fair value
ThUS$
SDI hedging: Cash flow hedge

(354)

TSS hedging: Fair value hedge

119,059

As of December 31, 2017

Financial derivatives
Exchange rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Interest rate hedging
Cash flow hedge
Total

Notional
Fair
Value
ThUS$
(33,651)
953
(32,698)

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

2023
onwards
ThUS$

877,000

430,000

-

192,000

-

256,175

-

-

303,706

-

-

-

877,000

430,000

303,706

192,000

-

256,175

Total
ThUS$
1,755,175
303,706
2,058,881

Fair value
ThUS$
TSS hedging: Fair value hedge

(46,173)

The contractual notional amount of the contracts entered into does not represent the risk taken on by ENAP, as this amount is only
the nominal basis on which the settlement of the derivative is calculated.
v) Hierarchies of Fair Value
The ENAP Group calculates the fair value for the financial derivatives by using market parameters, which are adjusted to the
maturity profile of each operation.
The forward operations hedging the exchange rate exposure of the accounts receivable from sales invoices in Chilean pesos are
recorded using as reference the forward peso-US dollar curve available in the market.
The cross currency swap operations hedging the exposure to the fluctuation of the US dollar of the financial liabilities
denominated in UF are recorded at the present value of the future flows in UF (asset) and US dollar (liability). To calculate such
present values the rate curves of the UF and market LIBOR are used, which are adjusted to the relevant dates of the flows included
in each operation.
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The interest rate swap operations hedging the exposure to the fluctuation of the LIBOR rate of the financial liabilities that accrue a
variable rate based on LIBOR are recorded at the present value of future flows. To calculate such present values the rate curves of
the market LIBOR are used, which are adjusted to the relevant dates of the flows included in each operation.
The operations with options on ICE Brent, hedging the exposure to the variation of the international price of the crude oil imports
of ENAP, are recorded by using financial tools provided by well-known financial information platforms. Such tools use the future
curves of the ICE Brent prices in the market, adjusting these to the maturity profile of each operation.
The financial instruments recognized at fair value in the statement of financial situation are classified according to the following
hierarchies:
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the assets or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 inputs are unobservable significant inputs for the asset or liability.
Total
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Financial instruments measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Hedge assets - Cash flow hedge
Total

Financial instruments rank
Level 2
Level 3
ThUS$
ThUS$

119,059
17,346
136,405

-

119,059
17,346
136,405

-

71,018
71,018

-

71,018
71,018

-

Total
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Level 1
ThUS$

953
953

-

953
953

-

79,824
79,824

-

79,824
79,824

-

Hedge Liabilities - Cash flow hedge
Total

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Level 1
ThUS$

Hedge assets - Cash flow hedge
Total
Hedge Liabilities - Cash flow hedge
Total

Financial instruments rank
Level 2
Level 3
ThUS$
ThUS$

b) Loans accruing interest
i) Summary of loans - The detail of the loans accruing interest as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is the following:
Current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Borrowings from financial institutions
Bank overdrafts (a)
Bonds payable

441,203
550,104

549,122
68,981
264,091

228,084
3,436,193

196,089
3,360,455

Total

991,307

882,194

3,664,277

3,556,544
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(a) Bank overdrafts: As of December 31, 2018 there are no bank overdrafts and as of December 31, 2017 the overdraft for
ThUS$ 68,981 corresponds to the Parent Company.
ii) Detail of loans accruing interest - The detail per currency and maturity of the loans from financial entities (guaranteed and not
guaranteed) accruing interest as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is the following:
As of December 31, 2018

Creditor name
BNP Paribas (Cesce) (1)
The Bank of New York Mellon (2)
The Bank of Nova Scotia (3)
The Bank of Nova Scotia (4)
Banco Itaú Argentina S.A.
BBVA - Banco Francés S.A.
Scotiabank Chile
Banco de Chile
Itaú Corpbanca

Interests
payment

Nominal
rate

Effective
rate

Half-yearly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity

2.87%
Libor + 1.85%
Libor + 1.40%
Libor + 1.125%
3.90%
6.00%
2.87%
2.85%
3.03%

5.19%
4.66%
4.21%
3.93%
3.90%
6.00%
2.87%
2.85%
3.03%

Nominal
value
ThUS$

Up to 3
months
ThUS$

68,682
150,000
80,000
100,000
32,000
29,500
160,000
100,000

Creditor name
BNP Paribas (Cesce)(1)
The Bank of New York Mellon (2)
The Bank of Nova Scotia (3)
Citibank NA
Banco Itaú Argentina S.A.
Banco Santander Río S.A.
BBVA - Banco Francés S.A.
BBVA Chile
Banco de Crédito e Inversiones
Scotiabank Chile

Interests
payment
Half-yearly
Quarterly
Quarterly
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity

Nominal
rate
4.07%
3.18%
2.73%
3.25%
3.50%
5.00%
2.90%
1.48%
1.44%
1.80%

Effective
rate
5.19%
3.18%
2.73%
2.50%
3.50%
5.00%
2.50%
1.48%
1.44%
1.80%

Nominal
value
ThUS$
68,682
150,000
80,000
32,000
63,500
9,000
25,000
100,000
160,000
100,000

Total

Total
ThUS$

From 1 to
3 years
ThUS$

Non-current
From 3 to
5 years
5 years
and more
ThUS$
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

11,093
5,505
53
41,678
16,112
-

7,054
30,000
16,000
51,077
160,761
102,266

7,054
41,093
21,505
53
41,678
16,112
51,077
160,761
102,266

10,755
69,602
42,424
-

5,303
100,000
-

-

10,755
69,602
47,727
100,000
-

74,441

367,158

441,599

122,781

105,303

-

228,084

99,884

Current
From 3 to
12 month
ThUS$
3,585
30,000
10,667
160,345
-

Total
ThUS$
7,336
38,736
12,011
32,034
63,581
9,015
25,047
101,133
160,345
99,884

From 1 to
3 years
ThUS$
14,341
79,617
42,462
-

Non-current
From 3 to
5 years
5 years
and more
ThUS$
ThUS$
3,274
29,856
26,539
-

Total
ThUS$
17,615
109,473
69,001
-

344,525

204,597

549,122

136,420

Total

As of December 31, 2017

Current
From 3 to
12 month
ThUS$

Up to 3
months
ThUS$
3,751
8,736
1,344
32,034
63,581
9,015
25,047
101,133

59,669

-

196,089

The nominal interest rates presented are annual.
Other information related to loans from financial entities as of December 31, 2018:
Creditor name

Tax
Number

Currency

Country

Company

Tax
Number

Country

Guarantee

BNP Paribas (Cesce) (1)
The Bank of New York Mellon (2)
The Bank of Nova Scotia (3)
The Bank of Nova Scotia (4)
Banco Itaú Argentina S.A.
BBVA - Banco Francés S.A.
Scotiabank Chile
Banco de Chile
Itaú Corpbanca

0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
97018000-1
97004000-5
97023000-9

US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar

Spain
EE.UU.
Canada
Canada
Argentina
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile

ENAP
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

92604000-6
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6

Chile
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile

No Guarranty
Guarranty of Enap
Guarranty of Enap
Guarranty of Enap
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty

Tax
Number
92604000-6
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
92604000-6
92604000-6
92604000-6

Country
Chile
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile

Guarantee
No Guarranty
Guarranty of Enap
Guarranty of Enap
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty
No Guarranty

Other information related to loans from financial entities as of December 31, 2017:
Creditor name
BNP Paribas (Cesce)(1)
The Bank of New York Mellon (2)
The Bank of Nova Scotia (3)
Citibank NA
Banco ITAU Argentina S.A.
Banco Santander Río S.A.
BBVA - Banco Francés S.A.
BBVA Chile
Banco de Crédito e Inversiones
Scotiabank Chile

Tax
Number
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
0-E
97032000-8
97006000-5
97018000-1

Currency
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar

Country
Spain
EE.UU.
Canada
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile

Company
ENAP
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
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(1) BANCO BNP PARIBAS Y SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE
On 2010, ENAP entered into two loan agreements, with BNP Paribas and Société Générale for ThUS$ 78,258 and ThUS$ 100,000
where each hold 50% of the participation, in order to construct an alkylation plant for Refinería Aconcagua. Both credits function
as revolving credit lines, from which they can make partial withdrawals when they comply with certain conditions. Annual interest
rate is 4.07% and Libor + 150 basis points, with maturities in 2021 and 2017 respectively. The loan corresponding to Société
Générale Bank was fully repaid in October 2017.
(2) BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON
On July 6, 2016, ENAP Sipetrol Argentina S.A. signed a loan agreement to finance the Magallanes Incremental Project (PIAM)
with Citibank, N.A. (Citi) and Banco Bilbao Viscaya Argentaria, S.A. (BBVA), with the Bank of New York Mellon as
administrative agent. The contract is guaranteed by ENAP. The amount isUS$150 million , which will be disbursed in stages at the
request of our Company for a year. The payment term is 5 years (with a unpaid period of 18 months) and the agreed rate is Libor
quarterly plus 1.85% applicable margin.
(3) THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA
On March 3, 2017, Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. signed a credit agreement with The Bank of Nova Scotia, as second financing of
the project Incremental Area Magallanes (PIAM) for US$ 80,000,000. The contract is guaranteed by ENAP. The credit has a
period of availability of 6 months to make disbursements. The payment term is 5 years, with equal quarterly repayments from the
18th month, the agreed rate is quarterly LIBOR plus 1.4% of applicable margin.
(4) THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA
Con fecha 21 de septiembre de 2018, Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. firmó un contrato de crédito con The Bank of Nova Scotia por
MUS$100.000, el que cuenta con garantía de ENAP. El plazo de pago es de 5 años, con amortización al vencimiento, la tasa
pactada es LIBOR trimestral más 1,125% de margen aplicable.
iii) Detail of Bonds Payable
The detail and maturities of the bonds payable As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 classified as current and non-current is
indicated in the following table:
As of December 31, 2018

Description

Country

Current

Currency

Nominal
Value
(ThUS$)

Nominal
Rate

Effective
Rate

Up to 3
months
ThUS$

From 3 to 12
month
ThUS$

B-ENAP - B ( a.1 )

Chile

UF

9,750

4.55%

4.28%

395,096

Tipo 144 A ( b.1 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.2 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.3 )
B-ENAP - E ( a.2 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.5 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.6 )
B-ENAP - F ( a.3 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.7 )

USA
USA
USA
Chile
USA
USA
Chile
USA

US$
US$
US$
UF
US$
US$
UF
US$

115,308
174,411
410,281
4,000
600,000
700,000
6,500
600,000

6.25%
5.25%
4.75%
3.70%
4.38%
3.75%
2.05%
4.50%

6.58%
5.46%
5.12%
4.28%
4.56%
5.50%
2.20%
4.74

3,467
3,725
10,758
8,175

Tipo 144 A ( b.8 )

USA

US$

680,000

5.25%

5.38%

Total

5,454
426,675

61

115,223
1,392
1,511
4,518
785
123,429

Non-current
From 1 to 3
years
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$
395,096
118,690
3,725
1,392
1,511
4,518
10,758
785
8,175
5,454
550,104

173,955
406,814
580,769

From 3 to 5
years
ThUS$
-

5 years and
more
ThUS$
152,917
595,053
598,440
259,445
576,228

Total
ThUS$
173,955
406,814
152,917
595,053
598,440
259,445
576,228

-

673,341

673,341

-

2,855,424

3,436,193
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As of December 31, 2017

Description

Country

Current

Currency

Nominal
Value
(ThUS$)

Nominal
Rate

Effective
Rate

B-ENAP - B ( a.1 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.1 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.2 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.3 )
B-ENAP - E ( a.2 )
SIX Swiss ( b.4 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.5 )
Tipo 144 A ( b.6 )
B-ENAP - F ( a.3 )

Chile
USA
USA
USA
Chile
Swit.
USA
USA
Chile

UF
US$
US$
US$
UF
CHF
US$
US$
UF

9,750
115,308
174,411
410,281
4,000
215,000
600,000
700,000
6,500

4.55%
6.25%
5.25%
4.75%
3.70%
2.88%
4.38%
3.75%
2.05%

4.28%
6.58%
5.46%
5.12%
4.28%
2.88%
4.56%
5.50%
2.20%

Tipo 144 A ( b.7 )

USA

US$

600,000

4.50%

4.74%

Up to 3
months
ThUS$

From 3 to 12
month
ThUS$

9,043
3,504
3,564
10,570
-

9,043
3,504
3,564
1,384
1,634
220,716
4,714
10,570
862

-

34,781

From 1 to 3
years
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

1,384
1,634
220,716
4,714
862

8,100

Total

Non-current

8,100

229,310

264,091

From 3 to 5
years
ThUS$

425,400
114,902
173,475
-

405,231
-

713,777

405,231

5 years and
more
ThUS$
168,045
594,244
618,309
285,248

Total
ThUS$
425,400
114,902
173,475
405,231
168,045
594,244
618,309
285,248

575,601

575,601

2,241,447

3,360,455

Other information related to public obligations as of December 31, 2018:
Tax
Number

Creditor Name

Local / Foreign

Company

Country

Tax
Number

Interest
payment

Principal payment

Maturity

Guarantee

( a.1 )

Banco de Chile

97.004.000-5

Local

ENAP

Chile

92.604.000-6

Half-yearly

At maturity

1-12-2019

Not guarantee

( b.1 )
( b.2 )
( b.3 )
( a.2 )
( b.5 )
( b.6 )
( a.3 )
( b.7 )
( b.8 )

Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Banco de Chile
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Santander Corredores de Bolsa Limitada
Bank of New York Mellon

0-E
0-E
0-E
97.004.000-5
0-E
0-E
97.036.000-K
0-E

Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Local
Foreign
Foreign
Local
Foreign

Half-yearly

Several payments

7-8-2019
8-10-2020
12-6-2021
10-1-2033
10-30-2024
8-5-2026
5-8-2027
9-14-2047
11-6-2029

Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee

Foreign

92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6

At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity

0-E

Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

Bank of New York Mellon

ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

Interest
payment

Principal payment

Maturity

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Annually
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity
At maturity

1-12-2019
7-8-2019
8-10-2020
12-6-2021
10-1-2033
12-5-2018
10-30-2024
8-5-2026
5-8-2027

Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee
Not guarantee

Half-yearly

At maturity

9-14-2047

Not guarantee

Not guarantee

Other information related to public obligations as of December 31, 2017:
Creditor Name
( a.1 )
( b.1 )
( b.2 )
( b.3 )
( a.2 )
( b.4 )
( b.5 )
( b.6 )
( a.3 )
( b.7 )

Banco de Chile
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Banco de Chile
Credit Suisse AG
Bank of New York Mellon
Bank of New York Mellon
Santander Corredores de Bolsa Limitada
Bank of New York Mellon

Tax
Number
97.004.000-5
0-E
0-E
0-E
97.004.000-5
0-E
0-E
0-E
97.036.000-K
0-E

Local / Foreign
Local
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Local
Foreign
Foreign
Foreign
Local
Foreign

Company
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP
ENAP

Country
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile

Tax
Number
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6
92.604.000-6

Guarantee

a) Local bonds
1. On January 15, 2009, the Company registered at the Securities Register of the Commission for the Financial Market (formerly
known as Superintendency of Securities and Insurance) under No. 303, the issuance of indexed UF bonds in the local market.
The placement of bonds in the local market was performed during January, 2009 and amounted to UF 9,750,000. The maturity
period is 10 years, the payments of interests are semiannual, the annual interest rate is of U.F. + 4.33%.
This bond was fully amortized on January 12, 2019.
2. On January 17, 2013 the Company placed indexed bonds in “unidades de fomento” (U.F.) in the local market, chargeable to the
line registered under No. 585 in the Securities Register of the Commission for the Financial Market dated May 7, 2009.
The bond placement amounted to UF 6,000,000 and was performed in two subseries:
- D Class Bonds: for an amount of UF 2,000,000; the maturity period is 5 years, only with a single final repayment on October 1,
2017 and semi-annual interest payments. The coupon interest rate is 3.4% annually and the yield at issue was 3.75% annually. The
bond was fully paid.
- E Class Bonds: for an amount of UF 4,000,000, the maturity period is 21 years, only with a single final repayment on October 1,
2033 and semi-annual interest payments. The coupon interest rate is 3.7% annually and the yield at issue was 4.09% annually.
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3. On May 18, 2017, the Company made a bond placement in Unidades de Fomento (UF), in the local market, against the
corresponding line registered in the Commission for the Financial Market (formerly known as Securities Registry of the
Superintendency of Securities and Insurance) under the No. 823, date October 16, 2015.
The bonds placement amounted to UF 6,500,000, for a 10-year term, with a single final repayment on May 8, 2027 and semiannual interest payments. The coupon interest rate is 2.05% per annum, and the placement rate was 1.87% annual.
b) International bonds:
1. On December 31, 2009, ENAP issued and placed 144 A-type bonds in the United States market at a 6.25% interest annually
for ThUS$ 300,000.
The maturity period is 10 years. Interest is paid on a semiannual basis and the repayment of principal will be performed upon
maturity (bullet). On August 5, 2016 a prepayment of principal was made for ThUS$ 184,692.
2. On August 5, 2010, the company issued and placed144 A type bonds in the US market, at a yearly interest rate of 5.25% for
ThUS$ 500,000.
The maturity period is 10 years. Interest is paid on a semiannual basis and the repayment of principal will be performed upon
maturity (bullet). On August 5, 2016 a prepayment of principal was made for ThUS$ 325,589.
3. On December 1, 2011, ENAP issued and placed a ThUS$500,000 144 A bond in the US market at an interest rate of 4.75%
annually.
The bond issue expires in 10 years. Interest payments are semi-annual and the principal will be repaid at maturity. On August 5,
2016 a prepayment of principal was made for ThUS$ 89,719.
4. On December 5, 2013; ENAP issued and placed a bond on the public Swiss stock market (SIX Swiss Exchange AG, in Zurich)
with an interest rate of 2.875% annually and a spread of 2.28% for ThCHF $215,000.
The 5-year maturity with annual interest payments and principal amortization at maturity. This bond was fully amortized on
December 05, 2018.
5. On October 27, 2014, ENAP issued and placed a 144 A bond in the United States market, a 4.375% per annum, for ThUS$
600,000.
The bond matures within 10 years. Interest payments are semi-annual and principal repayment will be upon maturity.
6. On August 5, 2016, ENAP issued and placed a 144 A bond in the US market, at an interest rate of 3.75% per annum for ThUS $
700,000.
The maturity is 10 years. Interest payments are semi-annual and the repayment of principal will be made on maturity.
The proceeds from this placement were mainly used to prepay bonds previously issued in international markets, maturing in 2019,
2020 and 2021 (see b.1, b.2 and b.3), and prepayment expenses related to the transaction.
7. On September 14, 2017, ENAP made the issuance and placement of a bond of type 144 A in the US market, at an interest rate
of 4.50% per annum for ThUS$ 600,000.
The expiration term is 30 years. The interest payments are semiannual and the amortization of the capital will be made at maturity.
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8. On November 6, 2018, ENAP issued and placed a 144 A type bond in the U.S. market at an annual interest rate of 5.25% for
an amount of ThUS$680,000. The interest payments are semi-annual and the principal payment will be made in three equal
installments in the years 2027, 2028 and 2029.
The term of maturity is 11 years, with semi-annual payments of interest and amortization of principal in three installments during
the last three years of validity of the bonds.
22. TRADE CREDITORS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
a)

The detail is as follows:
Current
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2017
12.31.2018
ThUS$
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Trade accounts payable
Other creditors
Other payables

791,446
12,428
7,623

823,373
35,700
7,141

132
-

756
-

Total

811,497

866,214

132

756

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

b) Detail of future maturities:

Up to 30 days
Between 31 and 60 days
Between 61 and 90 days
Between 91 and 180 days
Over 180 days

799,014
2,281
4,348
5,180
674

860,026
624
930
413
4,221

Total

811,497

866,214

23. OTHER ACCRUALS
i) Detail - As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the detail is as follows:
Current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Detail:
Dismantling, restoration and rehabilitation costs
Onerous contracts
Other provision

(a)

Total

Non-current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

2,600

1,165

149,191
9,723
1,709

117,781
9,723
1,686

2,600

1,165

160,623

129,190

(a) This provision covers the estimated disbursements which the ENAP Group should perform in the future for environmental
remediation at its platforms and wells. At the end of concessions, the exploitation zones can then be used for other ends. This
provision is calculated using the present value method.

64

ENAP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ii) Movement: Movement of provisions, described by concept, is as follows:
Dismantling
restoration and
rehabilitation costs
ThUS$

Onerous
contracts
ThUS$

Other
accruals
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Initial balance as of January 1, 2018
Additional provision
Used provision
Reversals of provisions
Other increase (decrease)

117,781
40,520
(2,954)
(6,156)
-

9,723
-

2,851
1,482
(24)

130,355
42,002
(2,954)
(6,156)
(24)

Ending balance as of December 31, 2018

149,191

9,723

4,309

163,223

Dismantling
restoration and
rehabilitation costs
ThUS$

Onerous
contracts
ThUS$

Other
accruals
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Initial balance as of January 1, 2017
Additional provision
Used provision
Reversals of provisions

112,068
12,300
(6,587)
-

13,919
(4,196)
-

3,654
197
(619)
(381)

129,641
12,497
(11,402)
(381)

Ending balance as of December 31, 2017

117,781

9,723

2,851

130,355

24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ACCRUALS
The detail of the provisions for employee benefits as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is the following:
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Detail:
Severance payments
Adjustment plan of manpower
Share in profits and bonus for employees
Vacation accrual
Other provision
Total

(a)
(b)
(c)
( d)

Current

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Non-current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

11,181
35,432
31,705
20,235
8,181

12,750
23,501
19,442
4,151

69,716
-

96,444
-

106,734

59,844

69,716

96,444

(a) It refers to severance indemnities in any event due from the ENAP Group to employees, which are detailed in the collective
contracts current at that date. The liability recognized in the balance sheet is the present value of the obligations on those
defined benefits (severance indemnities) at the presentation date of the consolidated financial statements.
The severance indemnity obligation is estimated annually based on an actuarial model prepared by an independent actuary,
following the Projected Credit Unit method. The present value of the severance indemnity obligations is determined by
discounting the future estimated cash flows using the interest rate of the corporate bond class E denominated in the currency
in which benefits will be paid and taking into consideration the obligations’ maturity dates.
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(b) This amount includes the Adjustement plan manpower accruals,
(c) This is the profit sharing scheme at the Ecuador branch, established by law and the variable bonus relating to production in
refineries, which is established in the current collective agreements contracts, and participation in profits and other benefits
established in collective agreements and labor contracts as the case may be.
(d) These are other benefits for personnel, such as legal compensation, vacation accruals, etc.
24.1 Current employee provisions continuity movement - The movement of current employee provisions continuity during the
year detailed by item is as follows:

Severance
payments

Adjustment
plan
manpower

Current
Share in profits
and bonus
for employees

Vacation
accruals

Other
accruals

Total

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

ThUS$

As of December 31, 2018

Initial balance as of January 1, 2018
Additional accruals
Used accruals
Reclassification from non-current
Transfer to adjustment plan of manpower

12,750
6,291
(11,782)
9,004
(4,500)

Increase (decrease) in the foreign currency exchange
Ending balance as of December 31, 2018

(582)
11,181

As of December 31, 2017

35,432
-

23,501
50,049
(40,493)
-

19,442
14,529
(12,936)
-

4,151
19,271
(14,764)
-

59,844
125,572
(79,975)
9,004
(4,500)

-

(1,352)

(800)

(477)

(3,211)

35,432

31,705

20,235

8,181

106,734

Adjustment
plan
manpower
MUS$

Severance
payments
MUS$

Current
Share in profits
and bonus
for employees
MUS$

Vacation
accruals
MUS$

Other
accruals
MUS$

Total
MUS$

Initial balance as of January 1, 2017
Additional accruals
Used accruals
Increase (decrease) in the foreign currency exchange
Reclassification from non-current

828
2,799
(3,643)
16
12,750

-

20,690
51,323
(49,106)
594
-

20,850
19,097
(22,020)
1,515
-

6,517
12,812
(15,633)
455
-

48,885
86,031
(90,402)
2,580
12,750

Ending balance as of December 31, 2017

12,750

-

23,501

19,442

4,151

59,844

Note: Part of the used accrual of “Share in profit and bonus for employee” in the mandatory share payable to the Ecuador State
and subcontractors is included.
Profit Sharing and Bonus Plan - The entity recognizes a liability and an expense for bonds and profit sharing, based on a
formula that takes into account the profit or loss for the year after making certain adjustments. A provision is recognized when the
entity is obligated through the collective bargaining agreements of the personnel or contractually.
24.2 Movement of the non-current severance indemnities
The movement of the severance indemnities associated with past services and interest are immediately recognized in the income
statement. Actuarial gains and losses from adjustments and changes in the actuarial assumptions are recognized in equity in the
year they arise. Non-current severance indemnities are detailed as follows:
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Non-current
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$

Movement:
Opening balance
Service costs
Interest costs
Actuarial gain / loss
Paid benefits
Increase (decrease) in foreign exchange rate
Reclassification to current portion
Total

96,444
869
5,169
159
(12,211)
(12,303)
(8,411)

92,841
1,536
6,096
6,561
(6,997)
9,157
(12,750)

69,716

96,444

Severance and Termination Benefits – These indemnities are paid when the employment relationship is terminated before the
normal date of retirement. Severance and termination benefits are recognized according to current collective agreements. Benefits
that mature over 12 months after the year end are discounted to their present value.
24.3 Actuarial Assumptions
The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the non-current severance indemnities are as follows:
Assumptions:
Nominal discount rate Chile
Real discount rate Ecuador
Wages nominal increase estimate rate Chile
Wages nominal increase estimate rate Ecuador
Volunteer retirement rate Chile
Volunteer retirement rate Ecuador
Lay-offs turnover rate Chile
Lay-offs turnover rate Ecuador
Mortality index Chile
Mortality index Ecuador
Women retirement age
Men retirement age

12.31.2018
5.37%
4.25%
4.70%
1.50%
2.29%
1.50%
0.10%
8.73%
RV-2014
IESS2002
60
65

12.31.2017
6.02%
4.02%
5.30%
2.00%
2.29%
2.00%
0.10%
8.92%
RV-2014
IESS2002
60
65

On an annual basis, the Company has reviewed its actuarial assumptions in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee benefits”,
changing the discount rate it applied in reference to new curves of market interest rates. See sensitivity effect in Note 24.4.Mortality assumptions were determined according to the actuarial advice provided by our independent actuary, according to the
information available and representative of the country. The turnover assumptions arise from internal analysis by the Company’s
management.
24.4 Sensitivity Analysis
The following detail shows the effects of sensitivity analysis of the discount rate used to determine the actuarial value of the
severance indemnity provision:
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Chile

Sensitivity analysis

Carrying amount

Actuarial value ThUS$
Discount rate
Percentage sensitivity
Sensitivity in ThUS$
Ecuador

78,677
5.37%
-

82,795
4.37%
-19.00%
4,118

Carrying amount

Actuarial value ThUS$
Discount rate
Percentage sensitivity
Sensitivity in ThUS$

73,184
6.37%
19.00%
(5,493)

Sensitivity analysis

2,220
4.25%
-

2,370
3.75%
-10.00%
150

2,081
4.75%
10.00%
(139)

25. EQUITY
a) Changes in equity:
Capital Increase - On August 3, 2018, the Ministry of Finance, through Supreme Decree No. 1639 dated November 6, 2017,
made an extraordinary capital contribution to the Company in the amount of ThUS$ 400,000, according to article 6 of Law No.
21,025.
Dividend distribution policy - The dividend distribution policy that governs ENAP, established by Finance Ministry Resolution
No. 25 of August 11, 2005, established that ENAP had to transfer a minimum amount of resources to the National Treasury,
whether as income tax (40%) and/or as anticipated profits calculated as 14% of equity, using retained earnings from prior years.
By Order N° 1,292 dated June 15, 2012 the Finance Ministry authorized a policy of profit distribution in order to contribute to the
equity company’s stability and recomposition, which establishes the obligation to maintain a review of the Company's financial
situation in order to decide whether it is appropriate to authorize the capitalization of the profits of the subsidiaries and of the
parent company, as long as the tax loss situation is maintained, this review is performed annually in a consistent manner since the
promulgation of the official notice.
b) Paid-in capital
The detail of the paid in capital as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is the following:
12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Paid-in capital
Extraordinary capital contribution - Supreme Decree No.1,639 - 06.11.2017

1,632,332
-

1,232,332
400,000

Authorized capital

1,632,332

1,632,332

-

Capital increase yet to be paid
Total

1,632,332

(400,000)
1,232,332

ENAP is a state-owned company, 100% property of the Republic of Chile and its capital is not divided into shares
Capital management
The main purpose of capital management, referring to management of the company’s equity, is management of ENAP Group’s
capital, according to the following detail:
•

Ensure the normal functioning of its operations and the continuity of its business in the long-term and secures the supply
of liquid fuel for the country
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•
•

Ensure the financing of new investments in order to maintain continuous growth in the future and full compliance with
the specifications of the fuels authorized in Chile
Maintains an adequate capital structure according to the economic cycles that impact the business and the corresponding
nature of the industry

For these purposes, and considering the current capital strengthening at ENAP, its value and evolution are controlled and reported
to the Company’s Board of Directors every month. They decide in each case the steps to be followed, communication with the
Ministry of Finance, and management of the Company.
c)

Other Reserves

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 this item is composed as follows:
12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Foreign exchange differences on translation (i)
Cash flow hedge (ii)
Actuarial reserves in defined benefit plans
Available for sale
Other sundry reserves (iii)

(78,696)
4,245
(9,667)
1,822

(76,141)
(46,093)
(11,498)
1,190
3,592

Total

(82,296)

(128,950)

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

i) Foreign exchange differences on translation

Balance at the beginning of the year
Results of changes in investees with accounting in foreign currency

(76,141)
(2,555)

(77,491)
1,350

Total

(78,696)

(76,141)

ii) Cash flow hedging
Total
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Composition of other reserves in the cash flow hedge of:
Cross-currency swap, bonds and lease
SWAP interest rate bank loans
Forward of foreign exchange contracts
Swap differential - SDI
Time spread swap (TSS) (1)
Deferred income tax derivatives
Total

Movement
2018
ThUS$

Total
12.31.2018
ThUS$

(3,881)
(3,971)
(403)
(56,907)
19,069

19,317
2,759
393
(354)
56,907
(28,684)

15,436
(1,212)
(10)
(354)
(9,615)

(46,093)

50,338

4,245

(1) The movement for the year 2018, of the cash flow hedges associated with Time Spread Swap, were reversed on January 1,
2018, because as of this date, the Company adopted IFRS 9 “Financial instruments", and these instruments and their hedging
strategy were classified as fair value hedges in association with a hedging strategy change, recognizing the changes in fair value of
the hedging instrument in the profit or loss for the year.
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iii) Other sundry reserves
12.31.2018
ThUS$
Opening balance
Changes in GNL Quintero S.A. reserves
Changes in Geotérmica del Norte S.A. reserves
Changes in Oleoducto Trasandino Chile S.A. reserves
Changes in Cía.Hidrógeno de Bio Bio S.A. reserves, due to purchase
Total

12.31.2017
ThUS$

3,592
(1,770)
-

(2,446)
2,651
951
3,895
(1,459)

1,822

3,592

d) Accumulated deficit
12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

Balance at the beginning of the year
(Loss) income for the year
Other changes in accumulated deficit

(287,961)
(230,945)
(608)

(310,674)
22,707
6

Total

(519,514)

(287,961)

26. NON – CONTROLLING INTEREST
The detail by company of the participation of third parties in the equity and results of subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, is the following:
Non - controlling
Income (loss) attributable
interest in equity
to non - controlling interest
Entity
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
12.31.2018
12.31.2017
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
ThUS$
Compañía de Hidrógeno del Bio-Bio S.A.

-

-

-

933

Vientos Patagónicos S.A.

176

Enap Refinerías S.A.

116

144

(29)

15

Total

292

144

(33)

948

-

(4)

-

27. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Segment criteria
The segment structure used by ENAP and defined by the Board of Directors of ENAP, and in accordance of IFRS 8, is firstly
related to its business lines and secondly, according to its geographical distribution.
Main segments of the consolidated group:
▪
E&P includes exploration for hydrocarbons (oil and natural gas) and geothermal resources, as well as their development,
production and marketing, inside and outside Chile, in Argentina, Ecuador and Egypt. Abroad, ENAP operates through its
subsidiary Enap Sipetrol S.A. and in Chile through ENAP in Magallanes Region where it manages hydrocarbon exploration and
production assets in the XII Region. Furthermore, it conducts gas exploration through Special Operations Contracts (CEOP) on the
Coirón, Caupolicán, Lenga and Dorado-Riquelme Blocks, in alliance with Pan American Energy LLC, Greymount and Methanex
respectively, all located in the Magallanes Region.
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▪
R&C includes Refining, Optimizing, Logistics, Trading, Market Development and Sales. ENAP’s Refining and Commercial
activities are managed by the subsidiary ENAP Refinerias S.A.. Its business is purchasing crude oil on the international market
and subsequently refining and selling the finished products.
ENAP Refinerías S.A.’s crude oil supply is mostly obtained from South America and Europe. ENAP Refinerías S.A. is the only
company in Chile that refines petroleum and the most important one on the Pacific coast of Central and South America. It has
three refineries:
Aconcagua Refinery located in the Valparaiso Region, Bio Bio Refinery in the Bio Bio Region and Gregorio Refinery in the
Magallanes Region. These refineries have the facilities needed to receive and store the raw material, among them there are 5
seaport terminals located at Quintero, San Vicente, Easter Island, Cabo Negro and Gregorio, these last two in the Magallanes
Region.
Liquid and gas fuel storage and transport, its wholesale and export is the Storage and Pipeline Department’s responsibility (DAO,
for its acronym in Spanish: Dirección de Almacenamiento y Oleoducto) which manages the logistics infrastructure.
▪
Gas & Energy, among the measures taken by Management to adopt the implementation of the Government’s energy agenda,
on July 14, 2014, a third segment in ENAP was constituted, intended to promote the use of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) in the
national energy matrix, along with the addition of new electric power generation capacity. It includes gas marketing processes and
activities through pipelines, virtual pipelines and GNL Móvil, management of new electric energy projects.
The Board of Directors and General Manager of ENAP are in charge of the decision making process regarding the administration,
allocation of resources and regarding the performance assessment of each of the above described operating segments.
The following is the information by segments regarding these activities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:
As of December 31, 2018

E&P
ThUS$

R&C
ThUS$

G&E
ThUS$

(1)
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Revenues
Revenues, intercompanies
Cost of sales
Cost of sales, intercompanies

646,648
129,600
(493,430)
(60,435)

7,365,367
199,922
(7,182,878)
(292,330)

292,841
136,259
(287,708)
(113,016)

(465,781)
465,781

8,304,856
(7,964,016)
-

Gross margin

222,383

90,081

28,376

-

340,840

Other income by function
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses by function

25,557
(43,747)
(34,299)
(233,187)

12,720
(188,305)
(48,352)
(28,388)

Income (loss) operating activities

(63,293)

(162,244)

Other income (expenses)
Financial income
Financial costs
Participation in the earnings of associates
Exchange differences
Income (loss) before taxes
(Expense) revenues for income taxes
Income (loss)
Income (loss) attributable to:
Income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent company
Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests
Income (Loss)

71

6,237
(4,825)
(1,629)
28,159

1,228
(51,363)
(665)

45,742
(236,877)
(135,643)
(262,240)

(50,800)

(248,178)

2,510

(60)

-

61

2,511

6,138
(26,541)
3
(22,671)

790
(89,043)
3,968
8,802

-

(1,028)
(128,150)
(314)
(22,270)

5,900
(243,746)
17,968
(41,227)

(103,854)

(237,787)

(202,501)

(506,772)

85,225

58,585

137,372

275,794

(18,629)

(179,202)

31,982

(65,129)

(230,978)

(18,520)
(109)

(181,216)
2,014

31,982
-

(63,191)
(1,938)

(230,945)
(33)

(18,629)

(179,202)

31,982

(65,129)

(230,978)

(12)
14,311
(5,088)
37,370
(5,388)
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As of December 31, 2017

E&P
ThUS$

R&C
ThUS$

G&E
ThUS$

(1)
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Revenues
Revenues, intercompanies
Cost of sales
Cost of sales, intercompanies

556,569
73,542
(475,755)
(30,411)

5,618,934
141,071
(5,189,370)
(184,202)

244,660
79,832
(248,112)
(79,832)

(294,445)
294,445

6,420,163
(5,913,237)
-

Gross margin

123,945

386,433

(3,452)

-

506,926

Other income by function
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other expenses by function

5,678
(46,742)
(31,055)
(104,852)

20,149
(174,285)
(39,811)
(2,524)

14,442
(3,419)
(4,683)
-

801
(5,000)
(36,342)
(433)

41,070
(229,446)
(111,891)
(107,809)

Income (loss) operating activities

(53,026)

189,962

2,888

(40,974)

98,850

2,300
-

6,748
(51)
(110,355)
18,649
9,089

7,733
4,557
(206,191)
18,697
(2,131)

5,188

(116,894)

(78,485)

116,117

102,140

Other income (expenses)
Financial income
Financial costs
Participation in the earnings of associates
Exchange differences

3,220
(13,198)
(5)
(10,722)

Income (loss) before taxes

(73,731)

(Expense) revenues for income taxes
Income (loss)
Income (loss) attributable to:
Income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent company
Income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests
Income (Loss)

(1,315)
1,388
(82,638)
53
(498)
106,952

20,531

(31,888)

(2,620)

(53,200)

75,064

2,568

(777)

23,655

(52,958)
(242)

72,541
2,523

2,568
-

556
(1,333)

22,707
948

(53,200)

75,064

2,568

(777)

23,655

(1) This column contains the elimination adjustments on consolidation, the transactions of revenues and costs for the purchase/sale
of products and raw material between the companies of the ENAP Group as the most relevant items. Also included are the costs
not distributed to the segments such as administrative costs associated with corporate items, results of associates, other gains and
losses and finance income and costs.
A detail of income by products and geographical area is as follows:
Sale by products

E&P
ThUS$

12.31.2018
R&C
G&E
ThUS$
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

E&P
ThUS$

12.31.2017
R&C
G&E
ThUS$
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

Crude
Gas
Liquefied petroleum gas
Gasoline
Kerosene
Diesel
Fuel Oil
Petrochemical
Other products
Other sales
Sale of services

210,577
255,380
9,193
171,498

210,300
2,563,418
836,796
3,047,666
420,601
59,091
217,447
10,048
-

292,841
-

210,577
548,221
210,300
2,563,418
836,796
3,047,666
420,601
59,091
217,447
19,241
171,498

185,582
226,356
3,439
141,192

143,157
2,258,416
476,732
2,202,782
362,150
47,147
95,307
33,243
-

230,074
14,586
-

185,582
456,430
143,157
2,258,416
476,732
2,202,782
362,150
47,147
109,893
36,682
141,192

Total

646,648

7,365,367

292,841

8,304,856

556,569

5,618,934

244,660

6,420,163
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Geographical sales

E&P
ThUS$

12.31.2018
R&C
G&E
ThUS$
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

E&P
ThUS$

12.31.2017
R&C
G&E
ThUS$
ThUS$

Total
ThUS$

National
Foreign

195,408
451,240

7,175,914
189,453

287,439
5,402

7,658,761
646,095

183,769
372,800

5,504,809
114,125

202,489
42,171

5,891,067
529,096

Total

646,648

7,365,367

292,841

8,304,856

556,569

5,618,934

244,660

6,420,163

The marketing of refined products by ENAP Refinerias S.A. is channeled through wholesale distribution companies of fuels and
other products. This subsidiary has contracts to supply its major clients, ensuring an adequate supply of fuel throughout the
country. The ENAP Group’s main clients at a national level are Copec, Esmax, Enex, Lipigas, Abastecedora de Combustibles S.A.
and Methanex.
Assets and liabilities for by Operating Segments
Currently the ENAP Group does not control and record its assets by reportable segments in its internal reporting system;
consequently such information is not used by the Board as part of the decision-making process and allocation of resources. The
financial liabilities of ENAP are centralized and controlled at a corporate level and are not presented by operating segment.
28. REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
The detail of this item as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

Detail:

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Sale of crude oil
Sale of natural gas
Gas subsidy income (1)
Sale of refined products
Sale of oil services
Other operating income

210,577
457,912
90,309
7,355,319
171,498
19,241

185,582
361,138
95,292
5,600,277
141,192
36,682

Total

8,304,856

6,420,163

(1) The Ministry of energy is empowered to compensate ENAP for a maximum amount of ThCh$ 58,521,878 for 2018 and ThCh$
66,701,945 for 2017, according to the Public-Sector Budget Act passed by the National Congress.
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29. COSTS OF SALES
The detail of this item as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Crude oil and gas cost
Cost of refined products (1)
Cost on service sale
Other operating costs

684,891
6,728,192
88,863
462,070

552,738
4,776,186
88,049
496,264

Total

7,964,016

5,913,237

(1) Cost of refined products for the year 2018 includes net loss from fair value hedges for Time Spread Swaps of ThUS$ 97,738
(debit amounts to ThUS$ 71,520 as of December 31 , 2017), which were intended to financially move the price window of the
crude oil shipments and adjust it to the dates on which the refined product prices are agreed, thus having costs that are in line with
the products to be sold, mitigating the time spread to which the Company is naturally exposed by means of the cost of sales
hedging.
30. DISTRIBUTION COSTS
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, distribution costs are detailed as follows:

Logistics services
Oil pipeline transportation
Maritime transportation
Ground products transportation
Personnel
Other
Total
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01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

21,287
39,623
73,780
22,770
27,289
52,128

11,124
35,916
81,242
21,058
25,642
54,464

236,877

229,446
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31. OTHER EXPENSES BY FUNCTION
The detail of this item as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Cost of exploratory campaigns
Impairment loss in E&P Investments
Provisions
Dry exploration and abandoned wells
Properties, plant and equipment write-off
Exploration costs and others

16,841
179,832
1,122
24,209
24,000
16,236

17,099
56,189
23,340
11,181

Total

262,240

107,809

32. FINANCIAL COSTS
The detail of this item as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Interest from overdraft and bank borrowings
Interest from bonds payable
Interest from lease obligations
Expenses for interest account payable and other non financial liabilities
Other expense related to interests

38,054
172,748
4,051
24,872
620

38,617
146,745
4,168
13,515
2,866

Total expenses for interests

240,345

205,911

6,007
7,339
(9,945)

9,301
2,141
(11,162)

243,746

206,191

Loss (income) for swap derivatives
Accrued interests for swap
Less: Capitalized interest
Total
33. PERSONNEL COSTS
The detail of this item as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is as follows:

01.01.2018
31.12.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
31.12.2017
ThUS$

Wages and salaries
Short term benefits for employees
Other personnel expenses
Other long-term benefits

188,319
153,647
14,297
57,049

183,198
138,257
14,923
29,811

Total

413,312

366,189
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34. EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the detail of the assets and liabilities generating exchange differences which are (debited)
credited to net income are as follows:

01.01.2018
12.31.2018
ThUS$

01.01.2017
12.31.2017
ThUS$

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Forward income (loss)
Due from related companies, current
Income tax, net
Trade creditors and other accounts payable
Current accruals
Non-current accruals
Other financial liabilities, current and non-current
Income (loss) hedging other financial liabilities, current and non-current
Other

(18,952)
(71,343)
60,111
2,441
(41,939)
11,503
4,374
11,127
71,318
(61,728)
(8,139)

(4,016)
41,656
(41,973)
(256)
8,071
982
(2,101)
(7,778)
(96,163)
101,633
(2,186)

Total

(41,227)

(2,131)

35. FOREIGN CURRENCY
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the detail of the assets and liabilities in other currencies is as follows:

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables, current

Current tax assets

Other financial assets, non-current
Accounts receivable, non-current
Investments recorded using the equity method

Currency
Chilean Pesos
Argentinian Peso
Egyptian Pound
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentinian Peso
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentinian Peso
UF
Chilean Pesos
UF
UF

Total
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Functional
Currency
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
Dollar
US

12.31.2018
ThUS$

12.31.2017
ThUS$

425,288
2,251
2,826
610,093
1,650
18,264
88,443
51,554
16,210
3,113
13
9,663
221

12,126
10,352
6,069
595,505
1,830
7,541
95,144
76,460
38,224
15
12,010
314

1,229,589

855,590
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Functional
Liabilities
Other financial liabilities, current
Trade creditors and other accounts payable

Current tax liabilities

Current accruals for employee benefits

Other non-financial liabilities, current
Other financial liabilities, non-current
Other accruals, non-current
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current accruals for employee benefits
Other non financial liabilities, non-current

Currency
UF
Swiss Franc
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentinian Peso
Euro
Canadian Dollar
Yen Japonés
Libra esterlina
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentinian Peso
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentinian Peso
Argentinian Peso
UF
Swiss Franc
Argentinian Peso
Chilean Pesos
Argentinian Peso
Chilean Pesos
UF
Argentinian Peso

Total

Currency
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar

Up to 90
days
ThUS$

12.31.2018
1 year up
91 days to
1 year
to 5 years
ThUS$
ThUS$

397,966
63,392
650
21,892
2,269
11
556
134,946
2,093
51,034
35,788
2,679
21
-

45,085
-

713,297

45,085

-

-

More than
5 years
ThUS$
-

Up to 90
days
ThUS$

25,005
1,463
9,575
8,855
11,405
7,177

412,362
23,000
24,236
-

9,316
1,868
92,350
3,681
50,235
1,774
1
406
45
85,997
2,188
3,270
30,672
12,697
2,811
52
-

63,480

459,598

297,363

12.31.2017
91 days to
1 year up
1 year
to 5 years
ThUS$
ThUS$

More than
5 years
ThUS$

2,496
220,716
1,813

-

-

437,289
13,772
8,654
4,534
12,696
15,471
2,364

426,720
(8,179)
33,347
32,876
-

225,025

494,780

484,764

-

36. ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION
The following section contains a brief description of projects related to enhancement and/or investments in productive processes,
verification, compliance with ordinances and laws regarding processes and industrial installations and any other that may directly
or indirectly affect the environment:
Enap Ecuador allocates in its Annual Management Plan (referred to as PAG) investments that reinforce compliance, initiatives and
best environmental practices for an environmentally responsible and sustainable operation in order to continue with the
certification of Carbon Neutral The focus is on continuing the certification of Carbon Neutral. The focus is on constantly
monitoring the environmental elements, be they physical, abiotic (air, water and soil) or biotic, to preserve the flora and fauna. All
these activities are part of monitoring the Environmental Management Plan (referred to as PMA) in Mauro Dávalos Cordero
(MDC) and Paraíso Biguno Huachito e Intracampos (PBHI), which include environmental control groups, integrated waste
management, and characterization and remediation of environmental liabilities. 2018 operational initiatives include a photovoltaic
energy generation system to be implemented in the ENAP SIPEC base camp, the investments in our operations in Ecuador in
environmental Initiatives and Projects, for the closing as of December 31, 2018 is ThUS$ 1,860.
In ENAP Sipetrol Argentina, the resources allocated to environmental projects and initiatives are for aspects of current operations
and management of new projects. Current operations aspects include, waste transport and treatment, treatment of liquid effluents,
environmental monitoring and filing and maintaining permits before the authorities. This also includes expenses required to keep
the contingency plan against spills active, including specialized consulting for the preparation and agreements with companies
specialized in responding to possible spills. The management of new projects includes performing environmental studies (impact
assessments and monitoring campaigns) and fees for obtaining new environmental permits. The amount used by Enap Sipetrol
Argentina for environmental projects and initiatives, as of December 31, 2018 is ThUS$ 3,670.
In ENAP Magallanes, the activities for the exploration and production of fossil fuel deposits are performed through the
Exploration & Production line and refining, logistics and commercialization activities associated with the exploitation of refining
assets and maritime terminals through the Refining & Commercialization line; to develop these activities requires executing
different initiatives that comply with the commitments established in the environmental procedures of our Projects and
environmental regulations that apply to our activity. The amount used by ENAP Magallanes for environmental projects and
initiatives as of December 31, 2018 was ThUS$ 790.
In the Aconcagua Refinery, the environmental projects and initiatives defined for 2018 are part of a long-term work plan, and are
aimed at activities that identify and implement improvements in noise emissions, the monitoring of atmospheric emissions, the
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execution of the compliance plan submitted to the Superintendency of Environment. The amount used for environmental projects
by the Aconcagua Refinery as of December 31, 2018 is ThUS$ 1,750.
In Bío Bío Refinery, the focus and resources allocated to Bío Bío environmental projects and initiatives are mainly for the
execution of a series of commitments with the Concepción Court of Appeals (ICA) and the Superintendency of Environment
(SMA). The projects and initiatives concerning the Court of Appeals of Concepción involve an odor mitigation program, mainly
for management of odors produced by the oil refining activity in neighboring communities. The amount used for the Bío Bío
Refinery environmental projects as of December 31, 2018 is ThUS$ 28,370.
37. LAWSUITS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS
There are several pending lawsuits and legal actions against ENAP Group derived from the nature of its operations. These
lawsuits are mainly related to civil, tax and labor matters.
At the time of presenting these consolidated financial statements, no additional accounting provisions have been made additional
to those shown in “Other accruals”. In the opinion of the company’s management and its legal counsel the portion not provided of
these lawsuits do not represent a probable loss, in accordance with IAS 37.
Pending lawsuits that could result in a materiality exceeding ThUS$ 5,000 or having a material adverse effect, and their status at
the date of these consolidated financial statements, are detailed as follows:
In Chile:
Enap Refinerías S.A. (Aconcagua):
Parties: Francisco Acevedo and Others with Armadores de la Motonave LR Mimosa, and Others.
Case No.: 17-2014, to which the following Case No. have been added: Case No.17-2014 Volume I (ex 22-2014); Case No.172014 Volume II (ex 23-2014); Case No.17-2014 Volume III (ex 1-2015); 17-2014 Volume IV (ex C-17-2014); Case No.17-2014
Volume V (ex 8-2015); and Case No.17-2014 Volume VI (ex 9-2015), Case No.17-2014 Volume VII; Case No.17-2014 Volume
VIII; Case No.17-2014 Volume IX; Case No.17-2014 Volume X; Case No.17-2014 Volume XI. Case No.17-2014 Volume XII
(ex 1-2017); Case No.17-2014 Volume XIII (ex 2-2017); and Case No.17-2014 Volume XIV (ex 3-2017). Minister of Court of
Appeals of Valparaiso Mr. Droppelmann, acting as Unipersonal Court.
Matter: Compensation for damages according to the Navigation Law.
Amount: ThUS$ 115,000.
Brief description of facts: Civil lawsuit for damages compensation regulated by article 153 of the Navigation Law, to obtain an
indemnity for consequential damages, loss of profits and moral damages allegedly suffered by fishermen and others, due to
pollution caused by the oil spill in the Quintero Bay by the tanker Mimosa at a time when it was being towed by a deep-sea tug on
September 24, 2014 at the Monoboya Maritime Terminal.
Current status: On October 02 and 17, 2017, the cases No.1-2017, No. 2-2017 and No.3-2017 were added to the present case,
becoming Case No. 17-2014 Volume XII, Case No.17-2014 Volume XIII and Case No.17-2017 Volume XIV, respectively. The
suspension of the present case as well as those were added was ordered until it is certified that all arrive at the same state. In
December 2017, cases No. 17-2014, Volume XII and XIV were answered by the defendants and a conciliation hearing was
scheduled for April 11, 2018. In case No. 17, volume XIII, the Court considered the lawsuit against the defendants to have not
been remedied as a result of a motion to dismiss, a resolution that was revoked by the Court of Appeals on the merits of the
plaintiff's appeal. The defendants responded to the lawsuit within the month of June 2018. In order to continue with the
proceeding, the Tribunal sets a new conciliation hearing date for July 11 and 12, 2018, in which the parties involved in all the
volumes did not reach an agreement; pending the Court's determination to call for conciliation again or to continue with the
proceeding. Likewise, the party of the tugboat Mimosa has requested the return of the letters of guarantee granted to that effect to
the other parties (one of them is Enap Refinerías S.A.). The Court granted the request and ordered the holders to return the letters.
This decision is appealed and the Court of Appeals of Valparaíso rejects the appeal presented by Enap Refinerías S.A. in this case.
On December 3, 2018, the Court enforced an injunction against ERSA for the delay in the delivery of the letters, imposing a fine
of 1 UTM on the latter; an appeal for reconsideration and appeal in subsidy was filed on December 11, the first one being rejected
and the matter will be brought before the Court of Appeals.
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Parties: Municipality of Quintero with Enap Refinerías S.A. and other
RIT No: D-13-2014. Second Environmental Court of Santiago.
Matter: Action for declaration and reparation of environmental damage.
Amount: Undetermined.
Brief description of facts: As a consequence of the oil spill in the Quintero Bay caused by the tanker Mimosa, at a time when it
was being towed by an offshore tugboat on September 24, 2014 at ENAP's Monoboya Maritime Terminal, damage to the
environment would have occurred.
Current status: Closing arguments are made. The Municipality of Puchuncaví took part as a third party, which was accepted by
the Court. The Municipality of Quintero requested an expert opinion in accordance with Article 42 of Law 20,600. The Court
denied the status of the case, given that it has not yet summoned to pronounce the sentence. On March 7, 2018, the parties were
summoned to hear the sentence. On March 13, 2018, the Court rejected the claim for reparation of environmental damage because
there are no elements in the file that prove the existence of significant damage to the environment. The Municipality of Quintero
challenged the ruling dated April 3, 2018, pending a decision of the Court on its admissibility. The appeals were declared
admissible and ordered to be submitted to the Supreme Court. On June 12, 2018, a file was submitted to the Supreme Court, and
the Court declared the appeals admissible. On July 17, 2018, the Supreme Court issued the resolution "Related Judicial Orders"
and on July 27 of the same year, the Municipality of Quintero filed a report in law entitled "Content of the concept "significant" in
the definition of environmental damage", prepared by the Doctor of Law (c) of the University of Chile, Ezio Costa Cordella.
Parties: Union of independent workers, artisan fishermen, shellfish catchers, and other related occupations of Caleta
Horcón and others with Aes Gener S.A. and Others
RIT No: D-30-2016. Second Environmental Court.
Amount: Undetermined
Matter: Action for declaration and reparation of environmental damage.
Brief description of facts: On July 1, 2016, the plaintiffs filed before the Environmental Court a lawsuit for declaration and
material reparation of the alleged environmental damage generated by the companies located in the sector of Ventana, V Region,
during all the years in which they have operated in the sector. Among these companies is ENAP, one of those sued for its
subsidiary Enap Refinerías S.A.
Current status: On December 6, 2017, the plaintiff presented to the Court the bases of a pre-agreement to which the parties
would have arrived. The Court ordered the suspension of the procedure and the notification of the resolution that received the test
case to one of the defendants, in compliance with the decision of the Court of Appeals of Santiago hearing the appeal of the
referred resolution. The Environmental Court again orders the plaintiff to notify the defendant company that it is still pending,
maintaining the suspension of the procedure. Under penalty of fine, the Court orders the plaintiff to notify one of the defendants of
the resolution that received the case on trial.
Parties: Harry Andrés Jerez Díaz on behalf of Mr. Jacobo Silva Silva y Otros with PGC, shipowner of the tanker PGC
Ikaros Nassau and Enap Refinerías S.A.
Case No.: 7-2016, in which case No. 7-2016 Volume I (ex 7-2016), Case No. 7-2016 Volume II (ex 8-2016), Case No. 7-2016
Volume III (ex 1-2018 in which Enap Refinerías S.A. is not a party, since it is not being sued) and Case No. 7-2016 Volume IV
(ex 4-2017) have been grouped. Minister of Court of Appeals of Valparaiso Mr. Cancino, acting as Unipersonal Court.
Matter: Compensation for damages according to the Navigation Law.
Amount: ThUS$ 38,300.
Brief description of facts: Civil lawsuit for damages regulated by article 153 of the Navigation Law, to obtain compensation for
loss of profits and moral damages allegedly suffered by fishermen and others, due to the pollution caused on May 15, 2016 by the
oil spill in the Quintero Bay by the tanker Ikaros while loading product at the Multicrude Maritime Terminal.
Current status: Due to the grouping of the case No. 7-2016 Volume II, the procedure of Volume I was suspended until the last
case reaches the same procedural state. In the case Volume II , dilatory exceptions were opposed, which were remedied by the
plaintiff. The defendant tanker PGC Ikaros answered the claim. At the request of the defendant, the case No. 1-2018 is added to
case 7-2016, under the name of Volume III. At the request of the defendant, the grouping of case No.4-2017 to case 7-2016 is
ordered, under the name of Volume IV. The applicant has requested that the case be dealt with progressively. In this last volume,
dated October 5, the Court issued a decision leaving the orders in order to resolve the dilatory exceptions opposed by the
defendants.
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Parties: Administrative Summary Investigation for the hydrocarbon spill of May 14, 2016 in relation to tanker Ikaros and
Enap Refinerías S.A.
Case Number: N/A
Court: Maritime Prosecuting Office of Valparaíso/Marítime Governor of Valparaíso.
Matter: Infringement of Navigation Law and Regulations for the Control of Aquatic Pollution.
Amount: 290,000 gold pesos
Brief description of facts: At the facilities of Enap Quintero Multicrude Marine Terminal, the Crude Oil Tanker Íkaros, while
loading the product "slurry oil” faced a rapid deterioration of weather conditions, which forced to stop the loading procedure, and
the hose that linked the ship to the Terminal was disconnected. Once the restrictions were lifted due to bad weather, the presence
of the product on the seabed was detected.
Current status: It is under investigation by the maritime authority, which has requested information and carried out procedures,
but has not yet notified any resolution.
The Maritime Prosecutor issued his report recommending to the Maritime Governor the application of fines to Enap Refinerías
S.A. of 290,000 gold pesos and to the tanker Ikaros (Captain, First and Second Officer) a total of 250,000 gold pesos. On
November 16, 2018, Enap Refinerías S.A. Filed in writing the corresponding discharges before the Maritime Governor of
Valparaiso, pending the resolution of the matter by the Maritime Authority.
Parties: Francisco Javier Chahuán Chahuán with Enap Refinerías S.A.
Case Number: RP-7266-2018
Court: Court of Appeals of Valparaíso.
Matter: Remedy of Protection due to pollution event in the Bay of Quintero.
Amount: Unspecified, request for the closure of the works of the Maritime Terminal of Quintero until there are sufficient
guarantees that similar episodes will not occur again in the area.
Brief description of facts: As of August 21, 2018, residents of the districts of Quintero and Puchuncaví began to seek care in the
medical centers of the area, with symptoms of intoxication, which occurred until the end of September of the same year. Without
prejudice to the fact that to date there is no certainty about the components or materials that caused the mentioned episode and
symptoms in the population, the environmental authority and the Senate of the Republic that in the present intervenes as recurrent,
blame Enap Refinerías S.A. for what happened.
Current status: Although the case was ready for the corresponding allegations to be made, the Court has deemed it convenient to
request background information from the Public Prosecutor's Office in order to consider the theory it has elaborated about what
happened. The latter refuses to provide the information because the file is still in the investigation stage.
Parties: Municipality of Puchuncaví with Enap Refinerías S.A.
Case Number: RP-7475-2018.
Court: Court of Appeals of Valparaíso.
Matter: Remedy of Protection due to pollution event in the Bay of Quintero.
Amount: Unspecified, request for the closure of the works of the Maritime Terminal of Quintero until there are sufficient
guarantees that similar episodes will not occur again in the area.
Brief description of facts: As of August 21, 2018, residents of the districts of Quintero and Puchuncaví began to seek care in the
medical centers of the area, with symptoms of intoxication, which occurred until the end of September of the same year. Without
prejudice to the fact that to date there is no certainty about the components or materials that caused the mentioned episode and
symptoms in the population, the environmental authority and the municipal authorities blame Enap Refinerías S.A. for what
happened.
Current status: Although the case was ready for the corresponding allegations to be made, the Court has deemed it convenient to
request background information from the Public Prosecutor's Office in order to consider the theory it has elaborated about what
happened. The latter refuses to provide the information because the file is still in the investigation stage.
Sanctioning procedure of the Environmental Superintendence with ERSA-A Aconcagua Refinery. Administrative Record
F-30-2018.
Case Number: F-30-2018
Court: Environmental Superintendence
Matter: Infringement of Environmental Qualification Resolution 53/2005
Amount: 12,000 UTA maximum applicable amount of the fine .
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Brief description of facts: After inspecting and applying a pre-procedural provisional measure in Terminal Quintero for possible
intoxications that occurred in people from the city of Quintero, by means of exempt resolution N° 1 /F-30-2018, the
Environmental Superintendence decided to initiate a sanctioning process for 3 facts, one of them being a possible very serious
infraction and the other two being possible minor infractions of environmental regulations.
Current status: Within the established period of time, discharges were filed with respect to the facts that could constitute an
infraction of environmental regulations.
Enap Refinerías S.A. (Biobío)
Parties: Mendoza Mendoza, Luis with Enap Refinerías S.A. and others.
Case Number: 4-2007, Minister of the Court of Appeals of Concepción, Mrs. Juana Godoy. To this cause were added all the
indemnifying claims filed and notified in time and form. The procedure followed in the aforementioned trial corresponds to a
special ordinary trial under article 153 of the Navigation Law.
Brief description of facts: The claims seek for compensation of damages based on tort liability as a result of the spill in St.
Vincent's Bay.
Current status: On April 28, 2017, the Unipersonal Court issued the judgment that was brought to the attention of the parties on
May 2, and notified by writ dated May 8, 2017.
This ruling rejected the claims of the plaintiffs Municipality of Talcahuano; Nippon Yusen Kaisha; and Yotuku Shipping
Corporation S.A., and accepted the claim Case No. 25-2007 (Volume X), whose 69 plaintiffs shall be compensated in the total
amount of CLP$479 million for moral damages. The sentence rejected consequential damages and loss of profit. It also ordered
Enap Refinerías S.A. to pay the legal and personal costs. ERSA filed a cassation and appeal on May 12, which were accepted for
processing. The plaintiff filed an appeal to join the appeal for which they seek to raise the amounts of sentence. Such contingency
may amount to $6,517,108, equivalent to US$9,794,125 (TC 665.41), if the appeal is upheld in its entirety. This scenario is
possible and will depend on the evidence provided to the Court of Appeals (also “ICA”) of Valparaíso. As of October 13, 2017,
the appeals have been declared admissible, but have not yet been scheduled for their hearing and sentence. On June 7, 2018, the
ICA of Valparaíso decreed the procedures suggested by the rapporteur, so the case returns to the Minister of the ICA of
Concepción to complete its processing. As of September 30, 2018, the case was tabled, with a hearing set for October 4, 2018. On
December 7, 2018, Enap Refinerías S.A. filed a cassation appeal in the form and joint appeal of the complementary sentence. As
of December 31, 2018, it is awaiting the hearing and ruling of the appeals.
Parties: Carte with Enap Refinerías S.A., ENAP and others.
Case Number: 1999-2014, 1st Civil Court of Talcahuano.
Matter: Claim for compensation of damages.
Amount: ThUS$ 35,289.
Brief description of facts: Neighbors of the ERSA-Hualpén plant, after processing a prejudicial measure for the exhibition of
documents, filed a claim for compensation for non-contractual civil damages for moral damages.
Current status: On September 25, 2018, the sentence revokes the decision that had accepted the dilatory exceptions. On
September 30, 2018 pending the issuance of the order for compliance and answer the lawsuit. On October 6, 2018, Enap
Refinerias S.A. answers the lawsuit. On October 17, 2018, the lawsuit is deemed answered and a transfer is conferred for the
reply. On October 24, 2018, the plaintiff submits its reply. On October 25, 2018, the reply is deemed to have been evacuated and a
transfer is granted for the rejoinder. On October 31, 2018, the rejoinder is pending.
On November 3, 2018 was submitted the rejoinder.
On November 5, 2018, a conciliation hearing is scheduled for November 16, 2018 at 09:00 hours. On November 10, 2018 actor
asked to set a new date for conciliation for the month of December 2018. On November 12, 2018 is set new date for conciliation
hearing on December 7, 2018 at 09:00 hours. On November 12, 2018, Enap Refinerias S.A. requests that a deadline be set to
comply with Article 9 of the Code of Civil Procedure. On November 15, 2018 the Court grants 18 days to comply with the order.
On November 20, 2018, Enap Refinerías S.A. filed an appeal to challenge the order against this last resolution. On November 21,
2018, the Court accepts the challenge of the order. On November 23 and December 3, 2018, the plaintiffs' lawyers ratify their
actions. On December 5, 2018, other plaintiffs were notified. On December 7, 2018, a conciliation hearing is held, without
achieving an agreement. On December 17, 2018 the case is asked to be started. On December 17, 2018 the case is started As of
December 31, 2018, pending notification of the resolution that started the trial.
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Parties: "FICA and Others with ENAP REFINERÍAS S.A. AND OTHERS".
Case Number: 3341-2018
Court: 2nd Civil Court of Talcahuano.
Matter: Civil claim for compensation for damages.
Amount: CLP$4,795,000,000 (137 plaintiffs, CLP$35,000,000 each).
Brief description of facts: Neighbors of the ERSA-Hualpén plant are demanding compensation for damages for allegedly having
been affected by innumerable odor phenomena in recent years
Current status: A lawsuit is filed on 25 September 2018. On September 27, 2018, the power of attorney is accredited. On
October 03, 2018, the lawsuit is filed. On October 08, 2018 the demand is notified. On December 6, 2018, the power of attorney is
authorized and exceptions are filed. On December 13, 2018 notification of pleading is performed. On December 19, 2018 the
judicial order enter for sentence. On December 20, 2018 the sentence is issued, accepting the delays (this sentence is not yet
notified to the parties, the court was asked to remedy this error). As of December 31, 2018 pending that the Court notifies the state
the ruling of the dilatory objections granted.
Commercial Commitments:
The Company has the following commercial commitments related to its operations:
GNL CHILE S.A.
On May 31, 2007, ENAP Refinerías S.A. signed a natural gas sales agreement (GSA) with GNL Chile S.A. This contract
guarantees the LNG supply for the operation of its Aconcagua Refinery in Concón. The supply of LNG started in August 2009.
The contract obligations assumed by ENAP Refinerías S.A. under the LNG Supply Contract have been guaranteed by its parent
company, Empresa Nacional del Petróleo.
This contract has a 21-year term, starting on the Early Commercial Operation Date (ECOD), allowing ERSA unrestricted access to
4.3 million cubic meters or natural regasified gas per day. On December 14, 2012, a new amendment to the Gas Sales Agreement
was signed, caused by the signing of a new GNL supply agreement on the same date between GNL Chile S.A. and BG Trading, its
LNG supplier. This amendment allows ENAP Refinerías S.A. to have access to quantities of natural gas under new commercial
conditions from January 1, 2013. These commercial conditions establish a Take or Pay clause of 29,693,766 MMBtu’s annually.
To obtain the designated daily capacity, both of regasified natural gas, Enap Refinerías S.A. acquired the commitment to pay
annually for the duration of the Gas Sales Agreement around THUS$ 55,000 to GNL Chile S.A., which from May 31, 2007 holds
the Terminal Use Agreement with GNL Quintero S.A. Under this scheme, the annual amount specified is subsequently paid by
GNL Chile S.A. to GNL Quintero S.A.
LINDE GAS S.A.
The main terms that the parties established that ERSA some plants to Linde S.A. included the operation and maintenance. The
term of the supply agreement was set at 20 years, with a monthly tariff (TFM) of US$ 1,150,000. from the effective date,
according to the approvals indicated below. In amount to ThUS$ 40,600 ERSA sell these plants.
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Restrictions:
ENAP - At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has no restrictions or covenants to comply with its creditor banks and
public bonds.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A. - According to applicable Argentine legislation the company must allocate 5% of the year’s
income to building a statutory reserve, which is an account forming part of the net shareholders’ equity, until such reserve is equal
to 20% of the adjusted paid-in capital.
Pledges from third parties:
ENAP - On December 31, 2018 and 2017 ENAP Group has not received pledges from third parties.
38. GUARANTEES COMMITTED WITH THIRD PARTIES
Direct Guarantees:
ThUS$

Creditor of the guarantee

Description

Type of Guarantee

BBVA

Guarantee Financial Loan (Guarantee granted by ENAP to the subsidiary Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.)

Personal guarantee on first demand

55,000

Bank of Nova Scotia

Guarantee Financial Loan (Guarantee granted by ENAP to the subsidiary Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.)

Personal guarantee on first demand

69,333

Bank of Nova Scotia

Guarantee Financial Loan (Guarantee granted by ENAP to the subsidiary Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.)

Personal guarantee on first demand

100,000

Citibank

Guarantee Financial Loan (Guarantee granted by ENAP to the subsidiary Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.)

Personal guarantee on first demand

55,000

BG GLOBAL ENERGY-GNL

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until March 02,
2019.
Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until March 02,
2019.

Letter of Credit

22,717

Letter of Credit

22,076

Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until January 30,
2019.
Guarantee the lease of platinum for work at ERSA Plant, valid until March 31, 2019.
Issuer: EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A. Benificiary: Secretaría de Hidrocarburos de Ecuador.
Guarantees 20% of the minimum investments of Phase I of Exploration of the Service Contract for the
Hydrocarbon Exploration and Exploitation in Block 28, Ecuador, valid until June 13, 2019.

Letter of Credit

21,104

Letter of Credit
Stand-by Letter of Credit as counterguarantee for the issue of guarantee
abroad

5,600
2,975

Guarantees faithful performance of investment and exploration work committed to CEOP Coirón Block.
Valid until Novembre 16, 2019.
Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until February 28,
2019.
Guarantees full compliance with the contract of sale of Liquefied Natural Gas, valid until january 30,
2020.
Guarantees the abandonment of CEOP Coirón Block well. Valid until May 24, 2019.

Bank guarantee in foreign currency

2,891

Letter of Credit

1,500

Letter of Credit

1,500

Bank guarantee

946

Guarantees the performance of the project in the process of rating and expansion of the medium-sized
systems of Aysen, Palena, General Carrera, Punta Arenas, Puerto Natales, Porvenir, Puerto Williams,
Cochamó y Hornopoirén, for the period 2019-2022. Valid until April 26, 2019.
Guarantees the performance of the project in the process of rating and expansion of the medium-sized
systems of Aysen, Palena, General Carrera, Punta Arenas, Puerto Natales, Porvenir, Puerto Williams,
Cochamó y Hornopoirén, for the period 2019-2022. Valid until October 08, 2019.
Guarantees the abandonment of CEOP Cuapolican Block well. Valid until June 05, 2019.

Bank guarantee

905

Bank guarantee

905

Bank guarantee

799

Guarantees the abandonment of CEOP Cuapolican Block well. Valid until June 05, 2019.
Miscellaneous minor guarantees. (ENAP, ERSA and Enap Sipetrol S.A.)
Pledge of 1,010,000 shares of Energía Concón S.A. shares owned by ENAP Refinerias S.A.,
guaranteeing the payment of the loan obtained to finance the project which is valid until 2020.

Bank guarantee in foreign currency
Miscellaneous
Pledge of shares

BG GLOBAL ENERGY-GNL
BG GLOBAL ENERGY-GNL
UOP LLC
Secretaría de Hidrocarburos de
Ecuador
Ministerio de Energía
BG GLOBAL ENERGY-GNL
BG GLOBAL ENERGY-GNL
Ministerio de Energía
EMPRESA ELÉCTRICA DE
MAGALLANES
EMPRESA ELÉCTRICA DE
MAGALLANES
Ministerio de Energía
Ministerio de Energía
Other payables
Citibank (*)
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39. CONSOLIDATION SCOPE
a) Below is a detail of the percentage interest held in companies that have been consolidated:
Company

Country

Functional
currency

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A. ( 1 )
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol International S.A.
EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A.
Vientos Patagónicos SpA ( 2 )

Chile
Chile
Argentina
Chile
Chile
Chile
Chile
Argentina
Uruguay
Ecuador
Chile

US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
Chilean Peso
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
US Dollar
Chilean Peso

Ownership percentage
12.31.2018
31.12.2017
99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
66%

99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
-

Porcentaje
Percentage with voting rights
12.31.2018
31.12.2017
99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
66%

99,98%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
-

Relationship
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Direct subsidiary

(1) and (2) See change in ownership percentage of Subsidiaries in Note 3.1.b.i.

b) The business of consolidated companies:
Company

Activity

Enap Refinerías S.A.

Purchase and refining of crude oil and by-products

Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol International S.A.
EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A.
Vientos Patagónicos SpA

Exploration, production and marketing of hydrocarbons and render advisory services in Chile and abroad
Petroleum services
Import, export and operation in general of all kinds of fuels and by-products, specially natural gas in any of its
phases.
Feasibility study
Construction and operation of an industrial plant, located in the facilities of Enap Refinerías S.A., in the district
of Talcahuano and destined to the production of high quality hydrogen
Construction and operation of a plant for the production of energy and steam.
Generation of Uniones Transitorias de Empresas (UTE) [similar to Joint Ventures], collaboration groups, joint
venture, consortiums or other kinds of associations to explore, exploit and transport hydrocarbons
Make and administrate investments. One or more of the activities related to the exploration, exploitation or
benefits from fields containing hydrocarbons.
Surface geological studies, and drilling of exploratory well.

Design, construction, operation and maintenance of the wind energy generation project called “Nuevo Parque Eólico Cabo
Negro”.
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c) Summary financial information on subsidiaries, including the structured entity
As of December 31, 2018

Assets

Company

Current
ThUS$

Noncurrent
ThUS$

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol International S.A.
EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A.
Vientos Patagónicos SpA

1,674,799
193,601
269
649
160,104
112,401
76,170
66,126
1,105
2,051

2,269,084
1,039,642
3,809
124,896
59,649
464,576
99,659
986
460

As of December 31, 2017

Assets

Company

Current
ThUS$

Noncurrent
ThUS$

Enap Refinerías S.A.
Enap Sipetrol S.A.
Petro Servicios Corp. S.A.
Gas de Chile S.A.
Petrosul S.A.
Energía Concón S.A.
Productora de Diesel S.A.
Cía. de Hidrógeno del Bío - Bío S.A.
Petropower Energía Ltda.
Enap Sipetrol Argentina S.A.
Sipetrol International S.A.
EOP Operaciones Petroleras S.A.

1,697,231
328,753
339
713
102,009
3,575
85,906
179,723
87,704
1,119

2,255,855
863,177
5,065
163,030
8,228
61,714
424,097
97,394
781

Liabilities
Noncurrent
Coriente
ThUS$
ThUS$
3,105,092
245,335
24
43
202,008
63,314
190,482
7,101
543
-

140,719
302,844
19,856
14,398
295,363
2,063

Liabilities
Noncurrent
Coriente
ThUS$
ThUS$
2,995,794
338,349
43
190,232
1,610
44,190
305,078
7,362
370

140,482
231,751
17,643
2,609
15,712
223,465
-

Revenues
ThUS$
7,502,728
555,050
11,844
1,654
13,936
261,832
138,817
-

Revenues
ThUS$
5,755,489
379,487
410
14,218
254
2,789
49,383
196,601
58,859
-

Expenses
ThUS$
(7,383,478)
(358,639)
(807)
(3,802)
(282,209)
(95,845)
(2)
-

Expenses
ThUS$
(5,378,041)
(265,099)
(1,210)
(35,931)
(186,391)
(15,500)
(1)

Income
(loss) of
the year
ThUS$
(150,948)
62,783
(94)
(664)
8,573
673
6,619
(20,377)
57,638
(682)
(12)

Income
(loss) of
the year
ThUS$
75,262
12,351
(65)
282
318
3,301
160
1,131
11,743
(46,204)
41,770
(1,025)

40. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Between January 1, 2019 and the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, there have been no subsequent events
that could significantly affect their reasonableness.
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